## **One-Dimensional Dyadic Wavelets**

Peter M. Luthy Hrvoje Šikić Fernando Soria Guido L. Weiss Edward N. Wilson

Author address:

COLLEGE OF MOUNT SAINT VINCENT E-mail address: peter.luthy@mountsaintvincent.edu

UNIVERSITY OF ZAGREB E-mail address: hsikic@math.hr

UNIVERSIDAD AUTÓNOMA DE MADRID E-mail address: fernando.soria@uam.es

WASHINGTON UNIVERSITY IN ST. LOUIS *E-mail address:* guido@math.wustl.edu

WASHINGTON UNIVERSITY IN ST. LOUIS *E-mail address*: enwilson@math.wustl.edu

# Contents

Chap	ter 1. Principal Shift-Invariant Spaces: Preliminaries and Auxiliary	
	Results	1
1.	Basic Notions and Set Inclusion	1
2.	Relationship Between Two Principal Shift-Invariant Spaces	7
3.	Three Types of Principal Shift-Invariant Spaces	12
4.	Coefficients	15
5.	Maximal Principal Shift-invariant Spaces	20
6.	Direct Analysis Sum	27
7.	Redundancy Remarks	33
Chap	ter 2. MRA Structure	37
1.	Dilations and Shift-invariant Spaces	37
2.	Dilation Invariances	47
3.	Filter Analysis, FO Case.	58
4.	Smith–Barnwell Filters, FO Case	73
5.	Multiplicative Structure in the Class of FO Filters	91
6.	Structure of $D(\langle \varphi \rangle)$ : FO Case	97
7.	Pre-GMRA	112
8.	Filter Analysis, Non-FO Case	118
9.	Pre-GMRA Core	128
Chap	ter 3. Wavelet Structure	133
1.	The Space of Negative Dilates	133
2.	Orthogonality	137
3.	General Case	145
Biblic	ography	149

## Abstract

The theory of wavelets has been thoroughly studied by many authors; standard references include books by I. Daubechies, by Y. Meyer, by R. Coifman and Y. Meyer, by C.K. Chui, and by M.V. Wickerhauser. In addition, the development of wavelets influenced the study of various other reproducing function systems. Interestingly enough, some open questions remained unsolved or only partially solved for more than twenty years even in the most basic case of dyadic orthonormal wavelets in a single dimension. These include issues related to the MRA structure (for example, a complete understanding of filters), the structure of the space of negative dilates (in particular, with respect to what is known as the Baggett problem), and the variety of resolution structures that may occur. In this article we offer a comprehensive, yet technically fairly elementary approach to these questions. On this path, we present a multitude of new results, resolve some of the old questions, and provide new advances for some problems that remain open for the future.

In this study, we have been guided mostly by the philosophy presented some twenty years ago in a book by E. Hernandez and G. Weiss (one of us), in which the orthonormal wavelets are characterized by four basic equations, so that the interplay between wavelets and Fourier analysis provides a deeper insight into both fields of research. This book has influenced hundreds of researchers, and their effort has produced a variety of new techniques, many of them reaching far beyond the study of one-dimensional orthonormal wavelets. Here we are trying to close the circle in some sense by applying these new techniques to the original subject of one-dimensional wavelets. We are primarily interested in the quality of new results and their clear presentations; for this reason, we keep our study on the level of a single dimension, although we are aware that many of our results can be extended beyond that case.

Given  $\psi$ , a square integrable function on the real line, we want to address the following question: What sort of structures can one obtain from the affine wavelet family  $\{2^{j/2}\psi(2^{j}x-k): j,k \in \mathbb{Z}\}$  associated with  $\psi$ ? It may be too difficult to directly attack this problem via the function  $\psi$ . We argue in this article that the appropriate object to study is the principal shift invariant space generated by  $\psi$  (these spaces were introduced by H.Helson decades ago and applied very successfully in the approximation theory by C. de Boor, R.A. DeVore, and A. Ron, with more recent applications to wavelets introduced by A. Ron and Z. Shen). With this goal in mind, in Chapter 1, we present a very detailed study of principal

Received by the editor March 12, 2018.

The research of H.S. was supported by a Marie Curie International Outgoing Fellowship within the 7th European Community Framework Programme (FP7-PEOPLE-2013-IOF-622890-MoLeGro) and the Croatian Science Foundation (project 3526).

F.S. was partially supported by grants MTM2013-40846-P and MTM2016-80474-P.

#### ABSTRACT

shift invariant spaces and their generating families. These include the relationships between principal shift invariant spaces, various basis-like and frame-like properties of their generating families, their classifications based on additional translation invariances, convergence properties of various reproducing families with emphasis on the case of unconditional convergence, and the special properties of maximal principal shift invariant spaces.

Given a principal shift invariant space V and the dyadic dilation D, our approach is that the entire theory can be developed by considering two basic relationships between V and D(V). Chapter 2 is devoted to the first of these two cases, the one in which the space V is contained within D(V). In this chapter, we completely resolve this case via an emphasis on generalized filter studies. We show that the entire generalized MRA theory is a natural consequence of this approach, with a detailed classification of all the special cases of what we term as Pre-GMRA structures. Special attention is devoted to the analysis of the general form of a filter associated with the space V. The theory splits into two subcases, based on the filter properties with respect to dyadic orbits; we distinguish the "full-orbit" case and the "non full-orbit" case. In both cases we introduce new Tauberian conditions which provide complete characterizations of "usable" filters. This approach further splits into the analysis of low frequencies versus high frequencies. There is a fundamental new result here which shows that, based on the "ergodic properties" of  $\widehat{\psi}$ , the two frequency regimes exhibit radically different behavior; low frequencies allow completely localized adjustments while high frequencies can only be treated in a global sense. Various known results, like the Smith-Barnwell condition, the Cohen condition and its generalizations, the Lawton condition and its generalizations, are extracted naturally from our general approach. A multitude of new technical results are presented, with many examples and counter-examples exhibited to illustrate various subtle points of the theory.

The third and final chapter is devoted to the second case, i.e., when the space V is not contained in D(V). This naturally leads to the space of negative dilates, and the theory again splits into two subcases, based on whether the original function  $\psi$  is contained within the space of its negative dilates or not. This is very much in the spirit of the Baggett problem, and we find it somewhat striking that the entire theory can be built based on such a simple property. We end the article with a partial resolution of the Baggett problem, but the problem remains open when taken in its full scope.

## CHAPTER 1

## Principal Shift-Invariant Spaces: Preliminaries and Auxiliary Results

## 1. Basic Notions and Set Inclusion

Let  $L^2(\mathbb{R})$  denote the usual space of square-integrable, complex-valued functions on  $\mathbb{R}$ . We denote the usual inner product and norm on  $L^2(\mathbb{R})$  by  $\langle \cdot, \cdot \rangle$  and  $\|\cdot\|$ , respectively. For a general Hilbert space X, we denote the inner product and norm by  $\langle \cdot, \cdot \rangle_X$  and  $\|\cdot\|_X$ , respectively. For a measurable subset A of  $\mathbb{R}$ , we use |A|to denote the Lebesgue measure of A.

For a function  $\psi \in L^2(\mathbb{R})$ , we study reproducing function systems built from  $\psi$  using translations and dilations. We begin with the study of translations. For  $a \in \mathbb{R}$ , we denote by  $T_a : L^2(\mathbb{R}) \to L^2(\mathbb{R})$  the unitary operator defined pointwise by  $(T_a f)(x) := f(x-a)$ . For the majority of existing applications, one is only interested in a discrete family of translations, and so we focus on the integer translations first; write

(1.1) 
$$\mathcal{B}_{\psi} := \{ T_k \psi : k \in \mathbb{Z} \}.$$

The family  $\mathcal{B}_{\psi}$  generates a closed subspace of  $L^2(\mathbb{R})$  defined by

(1.2) 
$$\langle \psi \rangle := \overline{\operatorname{span}\mathcal{B}_{\psi}}$$

where the closure is with respect to the usual norm topology on  $L^2(\mathbb{R})$ . The space  $\langle \psi \rangle$  is obviously invariant under integer translations in the sense that  $T_k \langle \psi \rangle \subseteq \langle \psi \rangle$  for each integer k. We shall say that, for a general closed subspace V of  $L^2(\mathbb{R})$  is a *shift-invariant space* (or SIS for short) if  $T_k V \subseteq V$  for every integer k. Clearly, spaces of the form  $\langle f \rangle$  represent the "smallest" non-trivial shift-invariant spaces, and so we call  $\langle \psi \rangle$  the *principal shift-invariant space generated by*  $\psi$ . These spaces have been studied by many authors over the last several decades: for early developments of these spaces, see [Hel64]; for applications in approximation theory see [dBDR94]; for more recent connections with wavelet theory, see [RS95], [Bow00], [WW01], [HŠWW10b], [HŠWW10a].

A principal shift-invariant space  $\langle \psi \rangle$  is a closed subspace of  $L^2(\mathbb{R})$ ; hence,  $\langle \psi \rangle$ is a Hilbert space and  $\mathcal{B}_{\psi}$  is its generating set. In the trivial case when  $\psi \equiv 0$ , we have  $\mathcal{B}_{\psi} = \{0\} = \langle \psi \rangle$ . If  $\psi \neq 0$ , then  $\mathcal{B}_{\psi}$  is linearly independent (see [**ŠS07**] for a simple argument). It follows then that  $\langle \psi \rangle$  is an infinite-dimensional subspace of  $L^2(\mathbb{R})$  when  $\psi \neq 0$ . However, the standard notion of dimension is not the most suitable one for the study of shift-invariant spaces. As we discuss below, there is a natural notion of "SIS dimension" such that the principal shift-invariant spaces are "one-dimensional". We need the Fourier transform to describe it. We will use

## 2 1. PRINCIPAL SHIFT-INVARIANT SPACES: PRELIMINARIES AND AUXILIARY RESULTS

the standard version of the Fourier transform, i.e., for  $f \in L^1(\mathbb{R}) \cap L^2(\mathbb{R})$ ,

$$\widehat{f}(\xi) = \int_{\mathbb{R}} f(x) e^{-2\pi i x \xi} dx.$$

The Plancherel formula guarantees that  $\hat{\cdot}$  is an isometry on  $L^2(\mathbb{R})$  and  $(\hat{f})^{\vee} = f$ , where  $\cdot^{\vee}$  denotes the inverse Fourier transform.

Recall that  $\widehat{T_af}(\xi) = e^{-2\pi i a\xi} \widehat{f}(\xi)$ . For  $a = k \in \mathbb{Z}$ , we denote the function  $\xi \mapsto e^{2\pi i k\xi}$  by  $e_k$ . Observe that  $e_k : \mathbb{R} \to \mathbb{C}$  is a 1-periodic function and, as such, can be also considered as a function on the one-dimensional torus,  $\mathbb{T} := \mathbb{R}/\mathbb{Z}$  (we shall employ such "dual" treatment whenever we are dealing with 1-periodic functions on  $\mathbb{R}$ ).

Given an SIS  $V \subseteq L^2(\mathbb{R})$  and a countable generating set  $\Phi$  for V, there is a measurable, 1-periodic function  $\dim_{V,\Phi} : \mathbb{R} \to \mathbb{N} \cup \{\infty\}$  whose value at  $\xi$  is defined to be the dimension of the subspace of  $\ell^2(\mathbb{Z})$  spanned by  $\{(\widehat{\varphi}(\xi+k))_{k\in\mathbb{Z}} : \varphi \in \Phi\}$ . It is not hard to show that, actually,  $\dim_{V,\Phi}$  is independent of the choice of  $\Phi$ ; that is, if  $\Phi$  and  $\Phi'$  are both countable generating sets for V, then  $\dim_{V,\Phi} = \dim_{V,\Phi'}$  almost everywhere. Thus we define<sup>1</sup>  $\dim_V$ , the *dimension function of* V, to be  $\dim_{V,\Phi}$  for some choice of countable generating set  $\Phi$ :

(1.3) 
$$\dim_V := \dim_{V,\Phi}$$
 which is independent of the choice of  $\Phi$ 

It is of interest to consider the following "1-periodic" sets (most of our formulae are in the a.e. sense, and we shall omit the "a.e." to simplify the notation):

$$Z_V := \{\xi \in \mathbb{R} : \dim_V(\xi) = 0\}$$
$$U_V := Z_V^c = \{\xi \in \mathbb{R} : \dim_V(\xi) \neq 0\}$$
$$I_V := \{\xi \in \mathbb{R} : \dim_V(\xi) = \infty\}.$$

Obviously, for  $V = \{0\}$ , we have  $Z_V = \mathbb{R}$ , while for  $V = L^2(\mathbb{R})$ , we have  $I_V = \mathbb{R}$ . It is well known (see [**ŠSW08**] for example) that  $I_{\langle\psi\rangle} = \emptyset$  and

(1.4) 
$$\dim_{\langle\psi\rangle} = \chi_{U_{\langle\psi\rangle}},$$

i.e.  $\dim_{\langle \psi \rangle}$  takes only the values 0 and 1. This shows that principal shift-invariant spaces are "one-dimensional" in the sense of  $\dim_V$  — and, in particular,  $\langle \psi \rangle$  is "much smaller" than  $L^2(\mathbb{R})$ .

EXAMPLE 1.5. For a measurable set  $E \subseteq \mathbb{R}$ , we denote by  $L^2(E)^{\vee}$  the space defined by

$$L^{2}(E)^{\vee} := \{ f \in L^{2}(\mathbb{R}) : \text{the support of } f \subseteq E \}.$$

Since  $\widehat{T_k f} = e_{-k} \widehat{f}$  for each  $k \in \mathbb{Z}$ , it is easy to see that  $L^2(E)^{\vee}$  is an SIS. For E = [a, b] with  $a, b \in \mathbb{R}$  such that a < b and  $b - a \in \mathbb{N}$ ,

(1.6) 
$$\dim_{L^2([a,b])^{\vee}}(\xi) \equiv b - a.$$

In particular, if  $a < b \in \mathbb{R}$  with a < b and  $b-a \leq 1$ , then  $L^2([a,b])^{\vee} = L^2((a,b])^{\vee} = L^2((a,b))^{\vee} = L^2((a,b))^{\vee}$  is a principal shift-invariant space. If b-a = 1, then  $\dim_{L^2([a,b])^{\vee}} \equiv 1$ . Observe also that we have the following orthogonal sum

$$L^{2}(\mathbb{R}) := \bigoplus_{n \in \mathbb{Z}} L^{2}([n, n+1))^{\vee}.$$

•
/ \
< 2
~

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup>For an alternative definition of the dimension function, see the end of Remark 2.9

It follows from Equation (1.4) that the analysis of the function  $\dim_{\langle \psi \rangle}$  is essentially the analysis of the set  $Z_{\langle \psi \rangle}$ . Although this is helpful, it is often "too crude" a tool for the analysis of the finer properties of  $\langle \psi \rangle$ . With this purpose in mind, we go back to some ideas from [**dBDR94**] (see also [**HŠWW10a**] for general properties). We consider the *bracket product* which introduces an "inner-product like" structure into an SIS. For  $\varphi, \psi \in L^2(\mathbb{R})$ , we make the following definition:

(1.7) 
$$[\varphi,\psi](\xi) := \sum_{k \in \mathbb{Z}} \widehat{\varphi}(\xi+k) \overline{\widehat{\psi}(\xi+k)} \text{ for } \xi \in \mathbb{R}.$$

It is well known that  $[\varphi, \psi]$  is a 1-periodic function, belongs to  $L^1(\mathbb{T})$  and exhibits many properties analogous to inner products, although the bracket product is now function-valued in the sense that  $[\cdot, \cdot] : L^2(\mathbb{R}) \times L^2(\mathbb{R}) \to L^1(\mathbb{T})$ .

We now take a moment to suggest a replacement "scalar multiplication" for this bracket product. For  $\varphi \in L^2(\mathbb{R})$  and  $m \in L^{\infty}(\mathbb{T})$ , we define  $m \bullet \varphi$  via

$$m \bullet \varphi = (m\widehat{\varphi})^{\vee}$$

The above formula actually makes sense for m in a larger class of 1-periodic functions; it is not hard to see that if m is 1-periodic, the function  $m \bullet \varphi$  will be well defined if and only if  $m \in L^2(\mathbb{T}, [\varphi, \varphi])$ , which is the collection of functions on  $\mathbb{T}$ which are square-integrable with respect to the measure  $[\varphi, \varphi](\xi)d\xi$  (see [LWW15] for more details). In this context, a shift-invariant space can be viewed as a module over  $L^{\infty}(\mathbb{T})$  (or some potentially larger collection of functions), with the scalar multiplication given by this  $\bullet$  operation. Many computations point to the utility of this point of view; for example, consider that for  $m \in L^{\infty}(\mathbb{T})$ 

(1.8) 
$$[m \bullet \varphi, \psi] = m[\varphi, \psi]$$

and

(1.9) 
$$[\varphi, m \bullet \psi] = \overline{m}[\varphi, \psi].$$

We emphasize that these two identities make sense for m in spaces larger than  $L^{\infty}(\mathbb{T})$  — the first identity holds precisely when  $m \in L^{2}(\mathbb{T}, [\varphi, \varphi])$ , and the second identity holds when  $m \in L^{2}(\mathbb{T}, [\psi, \psi])$ .

Since  $[\varphi, \psi] \in L^1(\mathbb{R})$ , it has well-defined Fourier coefficients. In fact, for each  $k \in \mathbb{Z}$ ,

(1.10) 
$$[\varphi,\psi]^{\wedge}(k) = \langle \varphi, T_{-k}\psi \rangle_{L^2(\mathbb{R})}.$$

We will often use  $[\psi, \psi]$  and so we introduce the following special notation for it:  $p_{\psi} := [\psi, \psi]$  whenever  $\psi \in L^2(\mathbb{R})$  and we call it the periodization function for  $\psi$ (see [**ŠSW08**] for several basic properties).

REMARK 1.11. There is a natural question to ask here regarding the relationship of  $\langle \psi \rangle$  and  $p_{\psi}$ . On the one hand, we will see many examples of  $\varphi$  and  $\psi$  such that  $\langle \varphi \rangle = \langle \psi \rangle$  and  $p_{\varphi} \neq p_{\psi}$  as well as examples of  $\varphi$  and  $\psi$  so that  $p_{\varphi} = p_{\psi}$  but  $\langle \varphi \rangle \neq \langle \psi \rangle$ .

On the other hand, however, it is well known (e.g. **[WW01**], for example) that there exists an isometric isomorphism  $\mathcal{I} = \mathcal{I}_{\psi} : L^2(\mathbb{T}, p_{\psi}) \to \langle \psi \rangle$  given by

(1.12) 
$$\mathcal{I}(m) = m \bullet \psi;$$

 $L^2(\mathbb{T}, p_{\psi})$  is the class of square integrable functions with respect to the measure  $p_{\psi}(\xi)d\xi$ . Furthermore, for every  $k \in \mathbb{Z}$ ,

(1.13) 
$$\mathcal{I}_{\psi}(e_{-k}) = T_k \psi.$$

Hence the analysis of  $\mathcal{B}_{\psi}$  within  $\langle \psi \rangle$  is equivalent to the analysis of the exponentials  $\{e_k : k \in \mathbb{Z}\}$  within weighted space  $L^2(\mathbb{T}, p_{\psi})$ . For more details, generalizations, and some extensions, one may consult [**HŠWW10b**], [**HŠWW10a**], [**MŠWW13**].

Observe that, despite the previous remark, we do have some precise connections between  $\dim_{\langle\psi\rangle}$  and  $p_{\psi}$  in the sense that

(1.14) 
$$Z_{\langle\psi\rangle} = \{\xi \in \mathbb{R} : p_{\psi}(\xi) = 0\}.$$

Beyond that,  $\dim_{\langle\psi\rangle}$  and  $p_{\psi}$  may differ substantially; for example, the first function is integer-valued while the second need not be.

We now turn our attention to set inclusion properties of principal SIS. Observe that

$$(\{\langle\psi\rangle:\psi\in L^2(\mathbb{R})\},\subseteq)$$

forms a partially ordered set. There is a single minimal element,  $\langle 0 \rangle = \{0\}$ , but there are many maximal elements. Recall  $\langle \psi \rangle$  is a maximal principal SIS if the following is valid:

(1.15) if 
$$\varphi \in L^2(\mathbb{R})$$
 and  $\langle \psi \rangle \subseteq \langle \varphi \rangle$ , then  $\langle \psi \rangle = \langle \varphi \rangle$ .

It follows directly from [**HŠWW10b**] that it is easy to characterize the maximal principal SIS:

**PROPOSITION 1.16.** The following are equivalent:

(1)  $\langle \psi \rangle$  is a maximal principal SIS; (2)  $\dim_{\langle \psi \rangle} \equiv 1$ ; (3)  $p_{\psi}(\xi) > 0$  for almost every  $\xi \in \mathbb{R}$ .

The following example shows that the conclusion of Zorn's Lemma is trivially fulfilled in this partially ordered set.

EXAMPLE 1.17. Given  $\psi \in L^2(\mathbb{R})$ , define  $\varphi \in L^2(\mathbb{R})$  via

$$\widehat{\varphi}(\xi) := \begin{cases} 1 & \text{if } \xi \in [0,1) \cap Z_{\langle \psi \rangle} \\ \widehat{\psi}(\xi) & otherwise. \end{cases}$$

It follows that  $\langle \psi \rangle \subseteq \langle \varphi \rangle$ , that  $\langle \varphi \rangle$  is maximal and that  $\langle \psi \rangle = \langle \varphi \rangle$  if and only if  $\langle \psi \rangle$  is a maximal principal SIS. Observe that, in any case, if we take  $m(\xi) := \chi_{U_{\langle \psi \rangle}}(\xi)$ , then we have  $m \bullet \varphi = \psi$ .

Regarding set inclusions, we need to first characterize when it is that  $\langle \varphi \rangle \subseteq \langle \psi \rangle$  for  $\varphi, \psi \in L^2(\mathbb{R})$ . In essence, the answer is given already in [**dBDR94**], and we provide a brief sketch with some additional details.

Obviously, given  $\varphi, \psi \in L^2(\mathbb{R})$ , one has that  $\langle \varphi \rangle \subseteq \langle \psi \rangle$  if and only if  $\varphi \in \langle \psi \rangle$ , i.e. if and only if there exists an  $m \in L^2(\mathbb{T}, p_{\psi})$  such that  $\varphi = m \bullet \psi$ . Furthermore, it is not difficult to find m in terms of  $\varphi$  and  $\psi$ . Using (1.8) we have

$$[\varphi, \psi] = [m \bullet \psi, \psi] = mp_{\psi}.$$

This directly proves the following lemma.

LEMMA 1.18. If  $\varphi, \psi \in L^2(\mathbb{R})$  and  $\langle \varphi \rangle \subseteq \langle \psi \rangle$ , then  $\varphi = m \bullet \psi$ , where m is given by

$$m := \frac{[\varphi, \psi]}{p_{\psi}} \chi_{U_{\langle \psi \rangle}}.$$

We would like to emphasize a small (but somewhat subtle) issue regarding how m depends on our knowledge of  $\psi$ . Suppose that  $\psi \in L^2(\mathbb{R})$  is given. If we want to construct functions  $\varphi$  within  $\langle \psi \rangle$ , then, as described above, we have to make sure that we consider 1-periodic functions m which belong to  $L^2(\mathbb{T}, p_{\psi})$  and then apply the formula  $\varphi := m \bullet \psi$ . If, however, the function  $\varphi \in L^2(\mathbb{R})$  is also given, then we observe that we can always calculate the right hand side in Lemma 1.18. Hence we can produce a 1-periodic, measurable function m such that  $m = \frac{[\varphi, \psi]}{p_{\psi}} \chi_{U_{\langle \psi \rangle}}$ . First of all, it is not a priori clear whether this m actually belongs to  $L^2(\mathbb{T}, p_{\psi})$  or not. In order to understand this issue we apply the Cauchy-Schwarz inequality for the bracket product:

$$\left|\frac{[\varphi,\psi]}{p_{\psi}}\chi_{U_{\langle\psi\rangle}}\right|^2 p_{\psi} = |[\varphi,\psi]|^2 \frac{1}{p_{\psi}}\chi_{U_{\langle\psi\rangle}} \le p_{\varphi}.$$

Since  $p_{\varphi} \in L^1(\mathbb{T})$ , we deduce that, for every  $\varphi, \psi \in L^2(\mathbb{R})$ ,

(1.19) 
$$m := \frac{[\varphi, \psi]}{p_{\psi}} \chi_{U_{\langle \psi \rangle}} \in L^2(\mathbb{T}, p_{\psi})$$

In particular,  $m \bullet \psi \in \langle \psi \rangle$ . Observe, though, that  $m \bullet \psi$  may not equal  $\varphi$ . Thus in order to understand whether  $\varphi$  belongs to  $\langle \psi \rangle$  we first ask whether there is a 1-periodic, measurable function  $\widetilde{m}$  such that  $\widehat{\varphi} = \widetilde{m}\widehat{\psi}$ , and, if the answer to this question is positive, then we would like to know if this is enough to deduce that  $\varphi$ belongs to  $\langle \psi \rangle$ . Actually, it is since

$$\int_{\mathbb{T}} |\widetilde{m}|^2 p_{\psi} = \int_{\mathbb{R}} |\widetilde{m}|^2 |\widehat{\psi}|^2 = \int |\widehat{\varphi}|^2 = \|\varphi\|_{L^2(\mathbb{R})} < \infty.$$

In particular, it has to be that  $\widetilde{m}\chi_{U_{\langle\psi\rangle}} = m\chi_{U_{\langle\psi\rangle}}$ , while the values of  $\widetilde{m}$  on  $Z_{\langle\psi\rangle}$  are irrelevant.

To this short analysis, we add a discussion of what one can conclude in the case of equality in the Cauchy–Schwarz inequality.

PROPOSITION 1.20. If  $\varphi, \psi \in L^2(\mathbb{R})$ , then the following are equivalent:

- (a)  $\langle \varphi \rangle \subseteq \langle \psi \rangle;$
- (b)  $\varphi \in \langle \psi \rangle$ ;
- (c) There exists a 1-periodic, measurable function  $m : \mathbb{R} \to \mathbb{C}$  such that  $\widehat{\varphi} = m\widehat{\psi}$ ; (d)  $U_{\langle \varphi \rangle} \subseteq U_{\langle \psi \rangle}$  and  $|[\varphi, \psi]|^2 = p_{\varphi}p_{\psi}$ .

The case of equality, when  $\langle \varphi \rangle = \langle \psi \rangle$ , is then an easy consequence of this proposition:

COROLLARY 1.21. If  $\varphi, \psi \in L^2(\mathbb{R})$ , then the following are equivalent:

- (a)  $\langle \varphi \rangle = \langle \psi \rangle;$
- (b)  $U_{\langle \varphi \rangle} = U_{\langle \psi \rangle}$  and there exists a 1-periodic, measurable function  $m : \mathbb{R} \to \mathbb{C}$  such that  $\widehat{\varphi} = m \widehat{\psi}$ ;
- (c)  $U_{\langle \varphi \rangle} = U_{\langle \psi \rangle}$  and  $|[\varphi, \psi]|^2 = p_{\varphi} p_{\psi}$ .

## 6 1. PRINCIPAL SHIFT-INVARIANT SPACES: PRELIMINARIES AND AUXILIARY RESULTS

Let us briefly comment on the function m which appears in 1.21b. Using Lemma 1.18 we obtain that, for  $\xi \in U_{\langle \psi \rangle} = U_{\langle \varphi \rangle}$ , we have  $m(\xi) \neq 0$  and

$$m(\xi) = rac{[arphi, \psi](\xi)}{p_{\psi}(\xi)} ext{ and } rac{1}{m(\xi)} = rac{[\psi, arphi](\xi)}{p_{arphi}(\xi)}.$$

Since  $\varphi = m \bullet \psi$  and  $\psi = \frac{1}{m} \bullet \psi$ , for  $\xi \in U_{\langle \psi \rangle} = U_{\langle \varphi \rangle}$ , we obtain

$$\frac{\widehat{\varphi}(\xi)\widehat{\psi}(\xi)}{[\varphi,\psi](\xi)} = \frac{|\widehat{\psi}(\xi)|^2}{p_{\psi}(\xi)} \text{ and } \frac{\widehat{\psi}(\xi)\overline{\widehat{\varphi}(\xi)}}{[\psi,\varphi](\xi)} = \frac{|\widehat{\varphi}(\xi)|^2}{p_{\varphi}(\xi)}.$$

Observe that on the right sides of these two equalities we have real values and that, using  $[\psi, \varphi] = \overline{[\varphi, \psi]}$ , we obtain

$$\frac{|\widehat{\psi}(\xi)|^2}{p_{\psi}(\xi)} = \frac{|\widehat{\varphi}(\xi)|^2}{p_{\varphi}(\xi)}.$$

In other words, we have proved the following result.

LEMMA 1.22. If 
$$\varphi, \psi \in L^2(\mathbb{R})$$
 satisfy  $\langle \varphi \rangle = \langle \psi \rangle$ , then for every  $\xi \in U_{\langle \varphi \rangle} = U_{\langle \psi \rangle}$ ,

$$\frac{|\widehat{\psi}(\xi)|^2}{p_{\psi}(\xi)} = \frac{\widehat{\varphi}(\xi)\widehat{\psi}(\xi)}{[\varphi,\psi](\xi)} = \frac{\widehat{\psi}(\xi)\overline{\widehat{\varphi}(\xi)}}{[\psi,\varphi](\xi)} = \frac{|\widehat{\varphi}(\xi)|^2}{p_{\varphi}(\xi)}.$$

In particular,  $\operatorname{ssupp} \widehat{\varphi} = \operatorname{ssupp} \widehat{\psi}$ , where by ssupp we denote the *set support*, defined by

$$\operatorname{ssupp} f := \{\xi \in \mathbb{R} : f(\xi) \neq 0\}.$$

It follows from Lemma 1.22 that both ssupp $\widehat{\psi}$  and the function  $\xi \mapsto \frac{|\widehat{\psi}(\xi)|^2}{p_{\psi}(\xi)} \chi_{U_{\langle\psi\rangle}}(\xi)$ really only depend on the principal shift-invariant space  $\langle\psi\rangle$  rather than the function  $\psi$ . This relationship has been employed by several authors, including, for example, [**dBDR94**], [**BMM99**], [**Rze00**], and [**BR05**]. Using the notation from [**Rze00**] and [**BR05**], for  $\psi \in L^2(\mathbb{R})$ , we denote the spectral function of  $\langle\psi\rangle$  by  $\sigma_{\langle\psi\rangle}$ and define it by

(1.23) 
$$\sigma_{\langle\psi\rangle}(\xi) := \frac{|\psi(\xi)|^2}{p_{\psi}(\xi)} \chi_{U_{\langle\psi\rangle}}(\xi) \text{ for } \xi \in \mathbb{R}$$

Observe that  $\sigma_{\langle \psi \rangle} : \mathbb{R} \to [0, \infty)$ , that  $\sigma_{\langle \psi \rangle} \in L^1(\mathbb{R})$ , and

(1.24) 
$$\sum_{k\in\mathbb{Z}}\sigma_{\langle\psi\rangle}(\xi+k) = \chi_{U_{\langle\psi\rangle}}(\xi) = \dim_{\langle\psi\rangle}(\xi).$$

One can also check some of the basic properties of the spectral function (see **[BR05]** for details). If  $\varphi, \psi \in L^2(\mathbb{R})$ , then

(1.25) 
$$\langle \varphi \rangle \subseteq \langle \psi \rangle$$
 implies that  $\sigma_{\langle \varphi \rangle} \leq \sigma_{\langle \psi \rangle}$ ;

furthermore, if, for some  $\xi \in \mathbb{R}$ , one has  $\sigma_{\langle \varphi \rangle}(\xi) < \sigma_{\langle \psi \rangle}(\xi)$ , then  $\sigma_{\langle \varphi \rangle}(\xi) = 0$ . Using the spectral function we can also test the inclusion property for principal shift-invariant spaces. More precisely, if  $\varphi, \psi \in L^2(\mathbb{R})$ , then  $\langle \varphi \rangle \subseteq \langle \psi \rangle$  if and only if

$$\{\xi \in \mathbb{R} : \widehat{\psi}(\xi) = 0\} \cup \{\xi \in \mathbb{R} : [\varphi, \psi](\xi) = 0\} \subseteq \{\xi \in \mathbb{R} : \widehat{\varphi}(\xi) = 0\}, \text{ and}$$
(1.26) for every  $\xi \in \mathbb{R}$  such that  $[\varphi, \psi](\xi) \neq 0$ , one has  $\frac{\widehat{\varphi}(\xi)\overline{\widehat{\psi}(\xi)}}{[\varphi, \psi](\xi)} = \sigma_{\langle \psi \rangle}(\xi).$ 

Similarly, we can test the equality case as well. If  $\varphi, \psi \in L^2(\mathbb{R})$ , then  $\langle \varphi \rangle = \langle \psi \rangle$  if and only if

$$U_{\langle \varphi \rangle} = U_{\langle \psi \rangle} = \{ \xi \in \mathbb{R} : [\varphi, \psi](\xi) \neq 0 \}, \text{ and for every } \xi \in U_{\langle \psi \rangle}$$

(1.27) one has 
$$\sigma_{\langle \varphi \rangle}(\xi) = \frac{\widehat{\varphi}(\xi)\psi(\xi)}{[\varphi,\psi](\xi)} = \sigma_{\langle \psi \rangle}(\xi).$$

If we already have an inclusion, then the equality case is very easy to check. More precisely, if  $\varphi, \psi \in L^2(\mathbb{R})$  are such that  $\langle \varphi \rangle \subseteq \langle \psi \rangle$ , then

(1.28) 
$$\langle \varphi \rangle = \langle \psi \rangle$$
 if and only if  $\sigma_{\langle \varphi \rangle} = \sigma_{\langle \psi \rangle}$  if and only if  $U_{\langle \varphi \rangle} = U_{\langle \psi \rangle}$ .

Observe also that if  $\varphi, \psi \in L^2(\mathbb{R})$  and  $\langle \varphi \rangle = \langle \psi \rangle$ , then

(1.29) 
$$\operatorname{ssupp}\widehat{\varphi} = \operatorname{ssupp}\psi = \operatorname{ssupp}\sigma_{\langle\psi\rangle};$$

we denote any of the above equal sets by ssupp $\langle \psi \rangle$ . Obviously,

(1.30) 
$$\xi \in U_{\langle \psi \rangle}$$
 if and only if there exists a  $k \in \mathbb{Z}$  such that  $\xi + k \in \text{ssupp}\langle \psi \rangle$ .

Although these properties are often very useful, one must be careful in applying them properly. Consider the following example.

EXAMPLE 1.31. Take  $\psi \in L^2(\mathbb{R})$  and define  $\varphi \in L^2(\mathbb{R})$  so that  $\widehat{\varphi} = |\widehat{\psi}|$ . It is easy to see that, for many choices of  $\psi$ , we will have  $\langle \varphi \rangle \neq \langle \psi \rangle$ . On the other hand it is obvious that for any choice of  $\psi$ , this choice of  $\varphi$  satisfies  $p_{\varphi} = p_{\psi}, U_{\langle \varphi \rangle} = U_{\langle \psi \rangle}$ , and  $\sigma_{\langle \varphi \rangle} = \sigma_{\langle \psi \rangle}$ . Observe also that

$$\varphi \in \langle \psi \rangle$$
 if and only if  $\langle \varphi \rangle = \langle \psi \rangle$  if and only if  $\psi \in \langle \varphi \rangle$ .

 $\diamond$ 

## 2. Relationship Between Two Principal Shift-Invariant Spaces

In this section we analyze the relationship between a pair of principal shiftinvariant spaces,  $\langle \varphi \rangle$  and  $\langle \psi \rangle$ , generated by  $\varphi, \psi \in L^2(\mathbb{R})$ . We begin by studying the intersection of two such spaces. Recall that if V and W are shift-invariant spaces, then  $V \cap W$  is a shift-invariant space as well. In particular,  $\langle \varphi \rangle \cap \langle \psi \rangle$  is a shift-invariant space, and

 $\dim_{\langle \varphi \rangle \cap \langle \psi \rangle} \le \min\{\dim_{\langle \varphi \rangle}, \dim_{\langle \psi \rangle}\} \le 1.$ 

It follows that  $\langle \varphi \rangle \cap \langle \psi \rangle$  is a principal shift-invariant space. It makes sense to consider  $U_{\langle \varphi \rangle \cap \langle \psi \rangle}$ . Using this approach we can describe  $\langle \varphi \rangle \cap \langle \psi \rangle$  completely, as the following theorem shows.

THEOREM 2.1. If  $\varphi, \psi \in L^2(\mathbb{R})$ , then (a)  $U_{\langle \varphi \rangle \cap \langle \psi \rangle} = \{\xi \in \mathbb{R} : 0 \neq | [\varphi, \psi](\xi) |^2 = p_{\varphi}(\xi) \cdot p_{\psi}(\xi) \}.$ (b)  $\langle \varphi \rangle \cap \langle \psi \rangle = \langle \chi_{U_{\langle \varphi \rangle \cap \langle \psi \rangle}} \bullet \varphi \rangle = \langle \chi_{U_{\langle \varphi \rangle \cap \langle \psi \rangle}} \bullet \psi \rangle.$ 

PROOF. Let us denote by  $H = H(\varphi, \psi)$  the set

$$H(\varphi,\psi) = \{\xi \in \mathbb{R} : 0 \neq |[\varphi,\psi](\xi)|^2 = p_{\varphi}(\xi) \cdot p_{\psi}(\xi)\}.$$

Obviously, this is a measurable and 1-periodic set. Keeping in mind the fact that  $\langle \varphi \rangle \cap \langle \psi \rangle$  is a principal shift-invariant space, observe that, in order to prove the entire theorem, it is enough to establish that

$$\langle \varphi \rangle \cap \langle \psi \rangle = \langle \chi_H \bullet \varphi \rangle$$

since one can freely interchange the roles of  $\varphi$  and  $\psi$  and  $U_{\langle \varphi \rangle \cap \langle \psi \rangle}$  is precisely the set where the periodization function of  $\langle \varphi \rangle \cap \langle \psi \rangle$  is positive (here by periodization function of  $\langle \varphi \rangle \cap \langle \psi \rangle$ , we mean  $p_{\alpha}$ , where  $\langle \varphi \rangle \cap \langle \psi \rangle = \langle \alpha \rangle$ , keeping in mind the comment immediately preceding the statement of the theorem).

Using Proposition 1.20d, we obtain  $\langle \chi_H \bullet \varphi \rangle \subseteq \langle \varphi \rangle \cap \langle \psi \rangle$ . For the reverse inclusion, consider  $\eta \in \langle \varphi \rangle \cap \langle \psi \rangle$ , and, without loss of generality, we may assume  $\eta \neq 0$ . By Lemma 1.18, there exist  $\nu \in L^2(\mathbb{T}, p_{\varphi})$  and  $\mu \in L^2(\mathbb{T}, p_{\psi})$  such that  $\eta = \nu \bullet \varphi = \mu \bullet \psi$ . It follows that

$$p_{\eta} = |\nu|^2 p_{\varphi} = |\mu|^2 p_{\psi}$$

Hence, if  $p_{\eta}(\xi) > 0$ , then  $p_{\varphi}(\xi) > 0$  and  $p_{\psi}(\xi) > 0$ , and, by Lemma 1.18, we also obtain

$$0 \neq \mu(\xi) = \frac{[\eta, \psi](\xi)}{p_{\psi}(\xi)} = \frac{\nu(\xi)[\varphi, \psi](\xi)}{p_{\psi}(\xi)} = \frac{\frac{[\eta, \varphi](\xi)}{p_{\psi}(\xi)}[\varphi, \psi](\xi)}{p_{\psi}(\xi)}$$
$$= \mu(\xi)\frac{[\psi, \varphi](\xi)[\varphi, \psi](\xi)}{p_{\varphi}(\xi)p_{\psi}(\xi)} = \mu(\xi)\frac{|[\varphi, \psi](\xi)|^2}{p_{\varphi}(\xi)p_{\psi}(\xi)}.$$

Thus if  $p_{\eta}(\xi) > 0$ , then  $\xi \in H$ . It follows that if  $p_{\eta}(\xi) > 0$ , then

$$\begin{split} |[\eta, \chi_H \bullet \varphi](\xi)|^2 &= |\mu(\xi)|^2 |[\psi, \chi_H \bullet \varphi](\xi)|^2 \\ &= |\mu(\xi)|^2 \chi_H^2 |[\psi, \varphi](\xi)|^2 \\ &= |\mu(\xi)|^2 p_{\psi}(\xi) p_{\varphi}(\xi) \text{ (by definition of } H) \\ &= p_{\eta}(\xi) p_{\varphi}(\xi) \\ &= p_{\eta}(\xi) p_{\chi_H \bullet \varphi}(\xi) \text{ (since } \xi \in H). \end{split}$$

By Proposition 1.20d, we conclude that  $\eta \in \langle \chi_H \bullet \varphi \rangle$ .

COROLLARY 2.2. If  $\varphi, \psi \in L^2(\mathbb{R})$ , then one has  $\langle \varphi \rangle \cap \langle \psi \rangle = \{0\}$  if and only if  $|U_{\langle \varphi \rangle \cap \langle \psi \rangle}| = 0$ .

REMARK 2.3. (i) Obviously, one always has  $U_{\langle \varphi \rangle \cap \langle \psi \rangle} \subseteq U_{\langle \varphi \rangle} \cap U_{\langle \psi \rangle}$ . The reverse inclusion is not necessarily true (see the example in (iii), below). We will discuss some special cases when the reverse inclusion is true later in this section.

- (ii) The spectral function does not seem particularly helpful in characterizing the intersection,  $\langle \varphi \rangle \cap \langle \psi \rangle$ . It is easy to see that  $\xi \in U_{\langle \varphi \rangle \cap \langle \psi \rangle}$  implies  $\sigma_{\langle \varphi \rangle}(\xi) = \sigma_{\langle \psi \rangle}(\xi)$ . However, the reverse implication is not necessarily true; see (iii), below.
- (iii) Consider  $\varphi, \psi \in L^2(\mathbb{R})$  such that

$$\widehat{\varphi} = \frac{1}{\sqrt{2}} \left( \chi_{[0,1/2)} + \chi_{[1,3/2)} \right)$$

and

$$\widehat{\psi} = \frac{1}{\sqrt{2}} \left( \chi_{[0,1/2)} - \chi_{[1,3/2)} \right).$$

It follows that  $p_{\varphi} = p_{\psi} = \chi_{[0,1/2)}$ , that  $[\varphi, \psi] \equiv 0$ , that  $\sigma_{\langle \varphi \rangle} = \sigma_{\langle \psi \rangle} = \frac{1}{2} \left( \chi_{[0,1/2)} + \chi_{[1,3/2)} \right)$ , and that  $U_{\langle \varphi \rangle} = U_{\langle \psi \rangle} = \bigcup_{k \in \mathbb{Z}} ([0,1/2) + k)$ . Nonetheless, one also has  $U_{\langle \varphi \rangle \cap \langle \psi \rangle} = \emptyset$ .

- (iv) Considering the other extreme, observe that we obtain easily the following:  $U_{\langle \varphi \rangle \cap \langle \psi \rangle} = \mathbb{R}$  if and only if both  $\langle \varphi \rangle$  and  $\langle \psi \rangle$  are maximal and  $\langle \varphi \rangle = \langle \psi \rangle$ .
- (v) Furthermore, it is also easy to see that  $\langle \varphi \rangle \neq \langle \psi \rangle$  implies  $|Z_{\langle \varphi \rangle \cap \langle \psi \rangle}| > 0$ . In particular, unless both  $\langle \varphi \rangle$  and  $\langle \psi \rangle$  are maximal and equal, it is impossible for  $\langle \varphi \rangle \cap \langle \psi \rangle$  to be a maximal principal shift-invariant space.

Consider now a very special case, where  $\varphi, \psi, \eta \in L^2(\mathbb{R})$ , and  $\langle \varphi \rangle \subseteq \langle \eta \rangle$  and  $\langle \psi \rangle \subseteq \langle \eta \rangle$ . Then there exist  $\nu, \mu \in L^2(\mathbb{T}, p_\eta)$  such that  $\varphi = \nu \bullet \eta$  and  $\psi = \mu \bullet \eta$ . It follows that

$$|[\varphi, \psi]|^2 = |\nu \overline{\mu}[\eta, \eta]|^2 = |\nu|^2 p_{\eta} |\mu|^2 p_{\eta} = p_{\varphi} p_{\psi}.$$

Hence, in this special case, the expression above is non-zero if and only if both  $p_{\varphi}$  and  $p_{\psi}$  are positive. Furthermore, if  $p_{\varphi}(\xi) > 0$  and  $p_{\psi}(\xi) > 0$ , then  $\xi \in U_{\langle \varphi \rangle \cap \langle \psi \rangle}$ . In other words, we have proven the following:

PROPOSITION 2.4. Suppose that  $\varphi, \psi, \eta \in L^2(\mathbb{R})$  satisfy  $\langle \varphi \rangle \subseteq \langle \eta \rangle$  and  $\langle \psi \rangle \subseteq \langle \eta \rangle$ . Then

$$U_{\langle \varphi \rangle \cap \langle \psi \rangle} = U_{\langle \varphi \rangle} \cap U_{\langle \psi \rangle}.$$

Moving beyond the intersection relationship, one should study another important relationship between principal shift-invariant spaces: orthogonality. The condition for orthogonality in the setting of principal shift-invariant spaces has been known for a long time (see, for example, [**dBDR94**]):  $\langle \varphi \rangle \perp \langle \psi \rangle$  if and only if  $[\varphi, \psi] \equiv 0$  almost everywhere. Using this, we abuse notation somewhat and denote, for  $\varphi, \psi \in L^2(\mathbb{R})$ , the set

(2.5) 
$$U_{\langle \varphi \rangle \perp \langle \psi \rangle} := \{ \xi \in \mathbb{R} : [\varphi, \psi](\xi) = 0 \}.$$

Obviously,  $U_{\langle \varphi \rangle \perp \langle \psi \rangle}$  is measurable, 1-periodic, and satisfies

(2.6) 
$$U_{\langle \varphi \rangle \perp \langle \psi \rangle} \cap U_{\langle \varphi \rangle \cap \langle \psi \rangle} = \emptyset;$$

moreover,  $\langle \varphi \rangle$  and  $\langle \psi \rangle$  are orthogonal to one another if and only if  $U_{\langle \varphi \rangle \perp \langle \psi \rangle} = \mathbb{R}$ . Using this criterion, it is straightforward to prove that

(2.7) 
$$\langle \chi_{U_{\langle \varphi \rangle \perp \langle \psi \rangle}} \bullet \varphi \rangle \perp \langle \psi \rangle \text{ and } \langle \chi_{U_{\langle \varphi \rangle \perp \langle \psi \rangle}} \bullet \psi \rangle \perp \langle \varphi \rangle$$

and

(2.8) 
$$\langle \chi_{U_{\langle \varphi \rangle \perp \langle \psi \rangle}} \bullet \varphi \rangle \perp \langle \varphi \rangle \cap \langle \psi \rangle \perp \langle \chi_{U_{\langle \varphi \rangle \perp \langle \psi \rangle}} \bullet \psi \rangle$$

REMARK 2.9. Orthogonality is often used in the theory of shift-invariant spaces. It is crucial that the bracket product,  $[\cdot, \cdot]$ , has many properties analogous to the inner product — this enables one to apply the Gram–Schmidt process. We illustrate this briefly here. Given shift-invariant spaces  $V, W \subseteq L^2(\mathbb{R})$ , it is obvious that an ordinary sum V + W (we will use  $\oplus$  to denote the orthogonal sum) of these spaces is again a shift-invariant space. In particular, for  $\varphi, \psi \in L^2(\mathbb{R})$  we have

$$\langle \varphi \rangle + \langle \psi \rangle = \langle \varphi, \psi \rangle$$

where, for any  $\mathcal{E} \subseteq L^2(\mathbb{R})$ , we denote by  $\langle \mathcal{E} \rangle$  the intersection of all shift-invariant spaces which contain  $\mathcal{E}$ . We define  $\eta_1, \eta_2 \in L^2(\mathbb{R})$  by

$$\eta_1 := \varphi + \chi_{Z_{\langle \varphi \rangle} \cap U_{\langle \psi \rangle}} \bullet \psi$$

and

$$\eta_2 := \chi_{(U_{\langle \varphi \rangle} \cap U_{\langle \psi \rangle}) \backslash U_{\langle \varphi \rangle \cap \langle \psi \rangle}} \bullet \left( \psi - \frac{[\psi, \varphi]}{p_{\varphi}} \bullet \varphi \right),$$

and obtain the following properties:

 $\begin{array}{ll} (1) & \eta_1 \perp \eta_2; \\ (2) & \langle \varphi \rangle + \langle \psi \rangle = \langle \varphi, \psi \rangle = \langle \eta_1, \eta_2 \rangle = \langle \eta_1 \rangle \oplus \langle \eta_2 \rangle. \\ (3) & U_{\langle \eta_2 \rangle} \subseteq U_{\langle \eta_1 \rangle} = U_{\langle \varphi \rangle} \cup U_{\langle \psi \rangle}. \end{array}$ 

The dimension function is particularly suitable for orthogonal sums of shift-invariant spaces. If  $V, W \subseteq L^2(\mathbb{R})$  are orthogonal shift-invariant spaces, then (see, for example [**Bow00**])

(2.10) 
$$\dim_{V\oplus W} \equiv \dim_V + \dim_W.$$

In particular,

$$\dim_{\langle \varphi, \psi \rangle} = \dim_{\langle \eta_1 \rangle \oplus \langle \eta_2 \rangle} = \dim_{\langle \eta_1 \rangle} + \dim_{\langle \eta_2 \rangle},$$

and it follows easily that

(2.11) 
$$\dim_{\langle\varphi,\psi\rangle}(\xi) = \begin{cases} 0 & \text{if } \xi \in Z_{\langle\varphi\rangle} \cap Z_{\langle\psi\rangle}; \\ 1 & \text{if } \xi \in (Z_{\langle\varphi\rangle} \cap U_{\langle\psi\rangle}) \cup (U_{\langle\varphi\rangle} \cap Z_{\langle\psi\rangle}) \cup (U_{\langle\varphi\rangle\cap\langle\psi\rangle}); \\ 2 & \text{if } \xi \in (U_{\langle\varphi\rangle} \cap U_{\langle\psi\rangle}) \setminus U_{\langle\varphi\rangle\cap\langle\psi\rangle} \end{cases}$$

Orthogonal sums may also be used to extend the spectral function from principal shift-invariant spaces to general shift-invariant spaces. Recall (see, for example [**Bow00**]) that, for every shift-invariant space  $V \subseteq L^2(\mathbb{R})$ , there exists a countable family  $\mathcal{F} \subset L^2(\mathbb{R})$  such that

(2.12) 
$$V = \bigoplus_{f \in \mathcal{F}} \langle f \rangle$$

We may then define the spectral function,  $\sigma_V$ , by

(2.13) 
$$\sigma_V = \sum_{f \in \mathcal{F}} \sigma_{\langle f \rangle}$$

For example, by selecting  $\theta_1$  and  $\theta_2$  via

$$\theta_i := \left(\frac{1}{\sqrt{p_{\eta_i}}}\chi_{U_{\langle \eta_i \rangle}}\right) \bullet \eta_i \text{ for } i = 1, 2,$$

we obtain

(2.14) 
$$\sigma_{\langle\varphi,\psi\rangle} = \sigma_{\langle\eta_1\rangle\oplus\langle\eta_2\rangle} = \sigma_{\langle\theta_1\rangle\oplus\langle\theta_2\rangle} = |\widehat{\theta_1}|^2 + |\widehat{\theta_2}|^2.$$

This same structure provides us an alternative definition for the dimension function. Suppose that, as above,  $V = \bigoplus_{f \in \mathcal{F}} \langle f \rangle$ . We assume that  $|\mathcal{F}| = \infty$ ; the case when  $\mathcal{F}$  has finite cardinality is handled the same way with minor changes in notation. Let  $(f_i)_{i=1}^{\infty}$  denote an enumeration of  $\mathcal{F}$ . We define the family  $\mathcal{G} = \{g_i : i = 1, 2, ...\}$  via the formula

$$g_i := \left(\frac{1}{\sqrt{p_{f_i}}}\chi_{\langle f_i\rangle}\right) \bullet f_i.$$

Then

$$\dim_V = \sum_{i=1}^{\infty} p_{g_i}.$$

In the specific case when  $V = \langle \varphi, \psi \rangle$ , one obtains

(2.15) 
$$\dim_{\langle \varphi, \psi \rangle} = p_{\theta_1} + p_{\theta_2}$$

We can think of  $\{\theta_1, \theta_2\}$  as being something like a "shift-invariant space analog of an orthonormal basis" for  $\langle \varphi, \psi \rangle$ .

With the above discussion in mind, it is straightforward to prove the following list of results:

COROLLARY 2.16. If  $\varphi, \psi \in L^2(\mathbb{R})$  are such that  $\langle \varphi \rangle$  and  $\langle \psi \rangle$  are both maximal principal shift-invariant spaces, then

$$\dim_{\langle \varphi, \psi \rangle}(\xi) = \begin{cases} 1 & \text{if } \xi \in U_{\langle \varphi \rangle \cap \langle \psi \rangle}; \\ 2 & \text{otherwise} \end{cases}$$

COROLLARY 2.17. If  $\varphi, \psi \in L^2(\mathbb{R})$ , then  $\langle \varphi, \psi \rangle$  is a principal shift-invariant space if and only if

$$U_{\langle \varphi \rangle \cap \langle \psi \rangle} = U_{\langle \varphi \rangle} \cap U_{\langle \psi \rangle}$$

Compare the above result to Proposition 2.4

COROLLARY 2.18. If  $\varphi, \psi \in L^2(\mathbb{R})$  are such that  $\langle \varphi, \psi \rangle$  is a principal shiftinvariant space, then  $\langle \varphi, \psi \rangle = \langle \eta \rangle$ , where

$$\eta = \varphi + \chi_{Z_{\langle \varphi \rangle} \cap U_{\langle \psi \rangle}} \bullet \psi.$$

Furthermore, in this case the following are equivalent:

 $\begin{array}{ll} (a) \ \langle \eta \rangle = \langle \varphi \rangle \oplus \langle \psi \rangle; \\ (b) \ \langle \varphi \rangle \perp \langle \psi \rangle; \\ (c) \ \langle \varphi \rangle \cap \langle \psi \rangle = \{0\}; \\ (d) \ U_{\langle \varphi \rangle} \cap U_{\langle \psi \rangle} = \emptyset. \end{array}$ 

As the last step of our analysis, consider the 1-periodic, measurable set given by

$$\mathbb{R} \setminus \left( U_{\langle \varphi \rangle \cap \langle \psi \rangle} \cup U_{\langle \varphi \rangle \perp \langle \psi \rangle} \right) = \left( U_{\langle \varphi \rangle} \cap U_{\langle \psi \rangle} \right) \setminus \left( U_{\langle \varphi \rangle \cap \langle \psi \rangle} \cup U_{\langle \varphi \rangle \perp \langle \psi \rangle} \right)$$

$$(2.19) = \{ \xi \in \mathbb{R} : 0 < |[\varphi, \psi](\xi)|^2 < p_{\varphi}(\xi) \cdot p_{\psi}(\xi) \}.$$

We shall say that the set in Equation (2.19) contains those points  $\xi$  at which the spaces  $\langle \varphi \rangle$  and  $\langle \psi \rangle$  are "at an angle" and denote this set with the following suggestive notation:

$$(2.20) U_{\langle \varphi \rangle \angle \langle \psi \rangle} := \mathbb{R} \setminus \left( U_{\langle \varphi \rangle \cap \langle \psi \rangle} \cup U_{\langle \varphi \rangle \perp \langle \psi \rangle} \right).$$

Clearly, we have

(2.21) 
$$\langle \varphi \rangle = \langle \chi_{U_{\langle \varphi \rangle \cap \langle \psi \rangle}} \bullet \varphi \rangle \oplus \langle \chi_{U_{\langle \varphi \rangle \perp \langle \psi \rangle}} \bullet \varphi \rangle \oplus \langle \chi_{U_{\langle \varphi \rangle \perp \langle \psi \rangle}} \bullet \varphi \rangle,$$

and a similar formula holds for  $\psi$ . For generic functions  $\varphi, \psi \in L^2(\mathbb{R})$ , there will be sets of positive measure at which the spaces  $\langle \varphi \rangle$  and  $\langle \psi \rangle$  are "parallel"  $(\xi \in U_{\langle \varphi \rangle \cap \langle \psi \rangle})$ , "perpendicular"  $(\xi \in U_{\langle \varphi \rangle \perp \langle \psi \rangle})$ , and "at an angle"  $(\xi \in U_{\langle \varphi \rangle \angle \langle \psi \rangle})$ . It is sometimes helpful to think of principal shift-invariant spaces as analogs of vectors in a vector space, but one must be careful: unlike vectors in a vector space, principal shift-invariant spaces can, in some sense, be parallel, perpendicular, and at an angle simultaneously. This fact underlies many of the difficulties related to the analysis of shift-invariant spaces. We provide the following diagram as a visualization tool to aid in understanding these relationships — technically, it would be more accurate to draw this scheme in 4-dimensional space, but we must settle for a 3-dimensional approximation. 121. PRINCIPAL SHIFT-INVARIANT SPACES: PRELIMINARIES AND AUXILIARY RESULTS



3. Three Types of Principal Shift-Invariant Spaces

It is sometimes useful to consider translations other than translations by integers. One natural question to ask is, given a  $\psi \in L^2(\mathbb{R})$  and an  $\alpha \in \mathbb{R}$ , when will  $T_{\alpha}\psi \in \langle \psi \rangle$ ? In other words, when will  $\langle \psi \rangle$  be invariant under  $T_{\alpha}$ ? Without loss of generality, since  $\langle \psi \rangle$  is invariant under integer translations already and  $T_kT_{\alpha} = T_{\alpha}T_k$ , we may restrict our attention to those  $\alpha \in (0, 1)$ . The aforementioned question was first treated in [ACH<sup>+</sup>10]. Extensions and generalizations to groups and lattices can be found in [ACP11], [ACP10], and [ŠW11] (see also [Ive15] and [BHP15] and the references therein). We shall follow the approach given in [ŠW11], including the notation. For example, if  $\mathcal{L} \subseteq \mathbb{R}$  is a countable lattice, then we make the following definition:

$$\langle \psi \rangle_{\mathcal{L}} := \overline{\operatorname{span}\{T_{\ell}\psi : \ell \in \mathcal{L}\}}.$$

This space obviously satisfies  $T_{\ell}\langle\psi\rangle_{\mathcal{L}} = \langle\psi\rangle_{\mathcal{L}}$ , and so we refer to  $\langle\psi\rangle_{\mathcal{L}}$  as the principal  $\mathcal{L}$ -invariant subspace generated by  $\psi$ . In particular,  $\langle\psi\rangle = \langle\psi\rangle_{\mathbb{Z}}$ , and principal shift-invariant spaces are principal  $\mathbb{Z}$ -invariant spaces in this context.

Suppose that  $\psi \in L^2(\mathbb{R})$  and that  $\alpha = m/n$ , with m, n positive integers such that m < n. Since, in this case,  $T_{\alpha} = (T_{1/n})^m$ , it is really enough to consider the case where  $\alpha = 1/n$  with n > 1. First, observe that the question under consideration depends on the principal shift-invariant space rather than the generator; in particular, if  $\langle \psi \rangle = \langle \varphi \rangle$ , then  $T_{\alpha}\varphi \in \langle \varphi \rangle$  if and only if  $T_{\alpha}\psi \in \langle \psi \rangle$ . Second, notice that our present analysis requires understanding the relationship between the lattice  $\mathbb{Z}$  and the "super-lattice"  $\frac{1}{n}\mathbb{Z}$ . Obviously, it is always true that

(3.1) 
$$\langle \psi \rangle = \langle \psi \rangle_{\mathbb{Z}} \subseteq \langle \psi \rangle_{\frac{1}{2}\mathbb{Z}}.$$

Furthermore,  $T_{1/n}\psi \in \langle \psi \rangle$  if and only if  $\langle \psi \rangle = \langle \psi \rangle_{\frac{1}{n}\mathbb{Z}}$ .

Following [ŠW11], for a function  $\psi \in L^2(\mathbb{R})$ , we define the following set:

(3.2) 
$$\mathcal{T}_{\langle\psi\rangle} := \left\{ n \in \{2, 3, 4, \ldots\} : T_{1/n} \psi \in \langle\psi\rangle \right\}$$

Based on the properties of this set, we distinguish *three types* of principal shift-invariant spaces:

- Type 1:  $\mathcal{T}_{\langle \psi \rangle} = \emptyset;$
- Type 2:  $\mathcal{T}_{\langle\psi\rangle}^{\forall\forall} \neq \emptyset$ , with  $\mathcal{T}_{\langle\psi\rangle}$  a finite set;
- Type 3:  $\mathcal{T}_{\langle \psi \rangle}$  is an infinite set.

There is a complete characterization of these three types given in  $[\mathbf{\tilde{S}W11}]$  as well as techniques for constructing examples of each type. Let us emphasize only a few

details. If ssupp  $\langle \psi \rangle$  contains the interval [0,2) (recall that ssupp  $\langle \psi \rangle$  is defined to be ssupp  $\hat{\psi}$ ), then  $\langle \psi \rangle$  is a Type 1 space. In particular,

(3.3) ssupp 
$$\langle \psi \rangle = \mathbb{R}$$
 implies  $\langle \psi \rangle$  is of Type 1,

so that, for example,  $\langle \chi_{[0,1]} \rangle$  is of Type 1 since  $\widehat{\chi_{[0,1]}} = \operatorname{sinc}(x)$ . It turns out that  $\langle \psi \rangle$  is of Type 2 if and only if there exists an integer n > 1 such that

(3.4) 
$$\mathcal{T}_{\langle\psi\rangle} = \{m \in \{2, 3, 4, ...\} : m|n\},\$$

where m|n is the usual notation for "*n* is divisible by *m*". Let us also point out that  $\langle \psi \rangle$  is of Type 3 if and only if

(3.5) 
$$T_{\alpha}\psi \in \langle \psi \rangle$$
 for every  $\alpha \in \mathbb{R}$ 

it is particularly simple to construct  $\psi$  so that  $\langle \psi \rangle$  is of Type 3. For example, take an arbitrary  $f \in L^2(\mathbb{R})$  and suppose that  $\{A_k : k \in \mathbb{Z}\}$  forms a partition of [0, 1). Define the set H by

$$H := \bigcup_{k \in \mathbb{Z}} (A_k + (k-1)).$$

Then if we let  $\psi := \chi_H \bullet f$ , one has that  $\langle \psi \rangle$  is of Type 3.

REMARK 3.6. The characterization of these three types of behavior depends on the properties of ssupp  $\langle \psi \rangle$ . However, it is not possible to distinguish the type of a space  $\langle \psi \rangle$  based solely on the properties of  $p_{\psi}$  or  $U_{\langle \psi \rangle}$ . For example, it is not hard to construct square-integrable functions  $\psi_1, \psi_2$ , and  $\psi_3$  so that  $U_{\langle \psi_i \rangle} = \mathbb{R}$  and  $p_{\psi_i} \equiv 1$  for i = 1, 2, 3 but so that

- ssupp  $\langle \psi_1 \rangle = [0, 2)$  so that  $\langle \psi_1 \rangle$  is of Type 1.
- ssupp  $\langle \psi_2 \rangle = [0, 1/2) \cup [3/2, 5/2)$  so that  $\langle \psi_2 \rangle$  is of Type 2.
- ssupp  $\langle \psi_3 \rangle = [0, 1)$  so that  $\langle \psi_3 \rangle$  is of Type 3.

The fact that the type of a shift-invariant space  $\langle \psi \rangle$  cannot be distinguished solely on the basis of  $p_{\psi}$  may seem counterintuitive, particularly when we think of  $\langle \psi \rangle$  in terms of its image under the isometry with  $L^2(\mathbb{T}, p_{\psi})$ . Observe, however, that, for a non-integer  $\alpha$ , the function  $T_{\alpha}\psi$  might not lie within  $\langle \psi \rangle$ . The best one can do, at least a priori, is to attempt to understand  $\langle \psi \rangle$  in the wider context of  $L^2(\mathbb{R})$ , in which case  $p_{\psi}$  is very likely to be insufficient.

Let us at this point rephrase the necessary and sufficient condition under which one has  $\langle \psi \rangle_{\mathbb{Z}} = \langle \psi \rangle_{\frac{1}{2}\mathbb{Z}}$ . As before, we follow the terminology and notation from  $[\mathbf{\check{S}W11}]$ .

LEMMA 3.7. If  $\psi \in L^2(\mathbb{R})$ , then  $\langle \psi \rangle_{\mathbb{Z}} = \langle \psi \rangle_{\frac{1}{2}\mathbb{Z}}$  if and only if for almost every  $\xi \in \mathbb{R}$  and for every  $m \in 2\mathbb{Z} + 1$  one has  $\widehat{\psi}(\xi) \cdot \widehat{\psi}(\xi + m) = 0$ .

PROOF. Observe that our condition in this lemma requires that the set  $A := \{\xi \in \mathbb{R} : \text{ there exists } m \in 2\mathbb{Z} + 1 \text{ so that } \xi, \xi + m \in \text{ ssupp } \langle \psi \rangle \}$  has Lebesgue measure zero. We recall some terminology from [**ŠW11**]. For each integer j, we let

$$E_1^j := \text{ssupp } \langle \psi \rangle \cap ([0,1) + 2j)$$

and

$$E_2^j := \text{ssupp } \langle \psi \rangle \cap ([0,1) + 2j + 1).$$

We define  $F_1$  and  $F_2$  via

$$F_1 := \bigcup_{j \in \mathbb{Z}} (E_1^j - 2j)$$

and

$$F_2 := \bigcup_{j \in \mathbb{Z}} (E_2^j - (2j+1))$$

In the terminology of [**ŠW11**], ssupp  $\langle \psi \rangle$  is called a  $\frac{1}{2}$ -translation system if  $F_1 \cap F_2$ has Lebesgue measure zero, and, moreover, it was proven that  $\langle \psi \rangle_{\mathbb{Z}} = \langle \psi \rangle_{\frac{1}{2}\mathbb{Z}}$  is equivalent to ssupp  $\langle \psi \rangle$  being a  $\frac{1}{2}$ -translation system.

So, suppose first that supp  $\langle \psi \rangle$  is a  $\frac{1}{2}$ -translation system and consider  $\xi \in$ ssupp  $\langle \psi \rangle$ . Then, this  $\xi$  belongs either to some set  $E_1^{j_0}$  or to some set  $E_2^{j_0}$  but not both. Without loss of generality, suppose  $\xi \in E_1^{j_0}$ . In particular,  $\xi - 2j_0 \in F_1$ . Consider  $m \in 2\mathbb{Z} + 1$ , i.e.  $m = 2k_0 + 1$  for some  $k_0 \in \mathbb{Z}$ . If  $\xi + m \in \text{ssupp } \langle \psi \rangle$ , then  $\xi + m \in E_2^{j_0+k_0}$ , i.e.  $\xi + m - (2(j_0+k_0)+1) \in F_2$ . Since we are assuming supp  $\langle \psi \rangle$ is a  $\frac{1}{2}$ -translation system, the set  $F_1 \cap F_2$  has Lebesgue measure zero, and  $2\mathbb{Z} + 1$ is a countable set, whence A must have Lebesgue measure zero.

Now, suppose that  $|F_1 \cap F_2|$  has nonzero measure. Take  $u \in F_1 \cap F_2$ . Then there exist integers  $j_0$  and  $k_0$  so that  $u + 2j_0 \in \text{ssupp } \langle \psi \rangle$  and  $u + 2k_0 + 1 \in \text{ssupp } \langle \psi \rangle$ . Let  $\xi = u + 2j_0$  and observe that  $u + 2k_0 + 1 - \xi = 2(k_0 - j_0) + 1 \in 2\mathbb{Z} + 1$ . It follows that  $\xi \in A$ . As  $F_1 \cap F_2$  was assumed to have positive measure, it follows that A has positive measure as well.

Certainly, if  $\langle \psi \rangle_{\mathbb{Z}} = \langle \psi \rangle_{\frac{1}{2}\mathbb{Z}}$ , then  $\mathcal{T}_{\langle \psi \rangle}$  is nonempty; thus  $\langle \psi \rangle$  must be either of Type 2 or Type 3. Using the ideas from [ŠW11], it is straightforward to see that for every  $\varphi, \psi \in L^2(\mathbb{R})$ , one has

(3.8) 
$$\langle \varphi \rangle \subseteq \langle \psi \rangle \text{ implies } \mathcal{T}_{\langle \psi \rangle} \supseteq \mathcal{T}_{\langle \psi \rangle};$$

in particular, taking a shift-invariant subspace of a principal shift-invariant space can only increase the type or keep the type the same. Various possibilities occur, as the following example indicates.

EXAMPLE 3.9. In the following, we always have non-trivial  $\varphi_i, \psi_i \in L^2(\mathbb{R})$  with  $\langle \varphi_i \rangle \subseteq \langle \psi_i \rangle$ . Let  $\varepsilon$  be any element of the interval (0, 1/2]. We only give the relevant support sets, but the construction of the generating functions follows directly from them.

- ssupp  $\langle \psi_1 \rangle = [0, \varepsilon] \cup [1 + \varepsilon, 1 + 2\varepsilon] \cup [2, 2 + \varepsilon] \cup [3 + \varepsilon, 3 + 2\varepsilon] \cup [4 + \varepsilon, 4 + 2\varepsilon],$ 1. with  $\mathcal{T}_{\langle \psi_1 \rangle} = \emptyset$ .
- ssupp  $\langle \varphi_1 \rangle = [0, \varepsilon] \cup [2, 2 + \varepsilon]$ , with  $\mathcal{T}_{\langle \varphi_1 \rangle} = \{2\}$ . ssupp  $\langle \psi_2 \rangle = [0, \varepsilon] \cup [1, 1 + \varepsilon] \cup [2 + \varepsilon, 2 + 2\varepsilon]$ , with  $\mathcal{T}_{\langle \psi_2 \rangle} = \emptyset$ . 2.
  - ssupp  $\langle \varphi_2 \rangle = [2 + \varepsilon, 2 + 2\varepsilon]$ , with  $\mathcal{T}_{\langle \varphi_2 \rangle} = \mathbb{R}$ .
- 3. supp  $\langle \psi_3 \rangle = [0, \varepsilon] \cup [1 + \varepsilon, 1 + 2\varepsilon] \cup [3 + \varepsilon, 3 + 2\varepsilon] \cup [6, 6 + \varepsilon], \text{ with } \mathcal{T}_{\langle \psi_3 \rangle} = \{2\}.$
- ssupp  $\langle \varphi_3 \rangle = [0, \varepsilon] \cup [6, 6 + \varepsilon]$ , with  $\mathcal{T}_{\langle \varphi_3 \rangle} = \{2, 3, 6\}$ . ssupp  $\langle \psi_4 \rangle = [0, \varepsilon] \cup [1 + \varepsilon, 1 + 2\varepsilon] \cup [2, 2 + \varepsilon]$ , with  $\mathcal{T}_{\langle \psi_4 \rangle} = \{2\}$ . 4.
  - ssupp  $\langle \varphi_4 \rangle = [1 + \varepsilon, 1 + 2\varepsilon]$ , with  $\mathcal{T}_{\langle \varphi_4 \rangle} = \mathbb{R}$ .

 $\diamond$ 

Observe also that (3.8) implies that for every  $\varphi, \psi \in L^2(\mathbb{R})$ , one has

(3.10) 
$$\mathcal{T}_{\langle \varphi \rangle \cap \langle \psi \rangle} \supseteq \mathcal{T}_{\langle \varphi \rangle} \cup \mathcal{T}_{\langle \psi \rangle}$$

Let us also recall a useful tool for analyzing larger lattices; see  $[\mathbf{\tilde{S}W11}]$  for a detailed account and further generalizations. For a function  $\psi \in L^2(\mathbb{R})$ , consider an integer n > 1 and the  $n\mathbb{Z}$ -periodization of  $|\widehat{\psi}|^2$ , i.e.

(3.11) 
$$P_{\psi,\frac{1}{n}\mathbb{Z}}(\xi) := \sum_{k\in\mathbb{Z}} |\widehat{\psi}(\xi+nk)|^2 \text{ for } \xi \in \mathbb{R}.$$

Obviously,

(3.12) 
$$p_{\psi}(\xi) = \sum_{j=0}^{n-1} P_{\psi, \frac{1}{n}\mathbb{Z}}(\xi+j) \text{ for } \xi \in \mathbb{R}.$$

Furthermore (see [ŠW11]),  $T_{\frac{1}{n}}\psi \in \langle \psi \rangle$  if and only if for almost every  $\xi \in \mathbb{R}$  and for every  $j \in \{1, ..., n-1\}$  one has that

(3.13) 
$$P_{\psi,\frac{1}{n}\mathbb{Z}}(\xi) \cdot P_{\psi,\frac{1}{n}\mathbb{Z}}(\xi+j) = 0.$$

For the special case n = 2, compare (3.13) to Lemma 3.7.

Finally, (see [**ŠW11**]), observe that for  $\langle \psi \rangle$  of Type 3, we have that, for almost every  $\xi \in \mathbb{R}$ , there exists exactly one  $k = k(\xi) \in \mathbb{Z}$  such that

$$(3.14) p_{\psi}(\xi) = |\widehat{\psi}(\xi+k)|^2$$

in other words, for  $j \in \mathbb{Z} \setminus \{k\}$ , we have  $\widehat{\psi}(\xi + j) = 0$ .

## 4. Coefficients

In the analysis-synthesis approach to the study of functions, it is important to understand the representation of a function  $\varphi \in \langle \psi \rangle$  in terms of the elements of  $\mathcal{B}_{\psi}$ . With this point of view, it is then natural and essential to study the corresponding coefficients. Here we follow results from  $[\mathbf{H}\mathbf{\tilde{S}WW10b}]$  with some simple modifications (see also the historical remarks in Section 4 of  $[\mathbf{H}\mathbf{\tilde{S}WW10b}]$ ).

Let  $\psi \in L^2(\mathbb{R})$  and consider a function  $\varphi \in \langle \psi \rangle$ . There is then a sequence  $(\varphi_n)_{n \in \mathbb{N}} \subseteq \text{span } \mathcal{B}_{\psi}$  such that  $\varphi_n$  converges to  $\varphi$  in the  $L^2(\mathbb{R})$  topology. Certainly, then, for each  $n \in \mathbb{N}$ , there is a finite set  $C_{\varphi,n} \subseteq \mathbb{Z}$  such that  $\varphi_n$  is a linear combination of the elements of  $\{T_k \psi : k \in C_{\varphi,n}\}$ . In this analysis we shall always impose a particular structure on these sets  $C_{\varphi,n}$ : we will impose the standard symmetric ordering from Fourier series. More precisely, we consider the following ordering of  $\mathbb{Z}$  given by

$$(4.1) 0, 1, -1, 2, -2, 3, -3, \dots$$

It is not difficult to see that we can always modify the sequence  $(\varphi_n)$  so that  $C_{\varphi,n} = \{-n, -n+1, ..., -1, 0, 1, ..., n-1, n\}$ , allowing some coefficients to be zero if necessary. Hence for  $\varphi \in \langle \psi \rangle$ , there are coefficients  $c_k^n = c_k^n(\varphi)$  for  $n \in \mathbb{N}$  and  $-n \leq k \leq n$  such that

(4.2) 
$$\varphi_n = \sum_{|k| \le n} c_k^n T_k \psi.$$

Among such partial sums, we shall pay special attention to the case when the coefficients  $(c_k^n)$  do not depend on n; we shall see that this is enough to cover all the interesting cases. More precisely, we consider the special case where there is a sequence  $c_k = c_k(\varphi)$  such that, for every  $n \in \mathbb{N}$ ,

(4.3) 
$$\varphi_n = \sum_{|k| \le n} c_k T_k \psi.$$

### 161. PRINCIPAL SHIFT-INVARIANT SPACES: PRELIMINARIES AND AUXILIARY RESULTS

REMARK 4.4. There is a subtle issue concerning the convergence of (4.3) which should be resolved before proceeding further. Let  $(f_{\ell})_{\ell \in \mathbb{N}}$  be an enumeration of  $\mathcal{B}_{\psi}$ according to the ordering given in (4.1). If  $(c_k)_{k \in \mathbb{Z}}$  denotes a sequence of coefficients for  $\mathcal{B}_{\psi}$ , let  $(\tilde{c}_{\ell})_{\ell \in \mathbb{N}}$  denote the enumeration of this sequence according to (4.1). Our question now is whether the convergence of the sums in (4.3) is equivalent to the convergence of the sums  $\sum_{\ell=1}^{N} \tilde{c}_{\ell} f_{\ell}$ . Obviously, the sequence of sums in (4.3) forms a subsequence of the sums  $\sum_{\ell=1}^{N} \tilde{c}_{\ell} f_{\ell}$ , and thus convergence of the latter implies convergence of the former. However, the fact that convergence of the former implies convergence of the latter requires a short argument.

The result is obvious when  $\psi$  is the zero function, so assume  $\psi \neq 0$ . Suppose that the sums  $(\varphi_n)_{n \in \mathbb{N}}$  in (4.3) converge to a function  $\varphi$ . It is worth stressing here that we are not imposing any summability criterion on the coefficients  $(c_k)_{k \in \mathbb{Z}}$ ; we only require the convergence in  $L^2(\mathbb{R})$  of the partial sums from (4.3) for some fixed  $\psi$ . In order to show that  $\left(\sum_{\ell=1}^L \tilde{c}_\ell f_\ell\right)_{L \in \mathbb{N}}$  also converge to  $\varphi$ , it is sufficient to prove that  $\lim_{n \to \pm \infty} |c_n| = 0$  (this follows from the fact that  $||T_k \psi|| = ||\psi||$ since translations are unitary). Without loss of generality, we establish only that  $\lim_{n\to\infty} |c_n| = 0$ . Suppose to the contrary that  $|c_n|$  does not converge to 0. Then there exists some  $\varepsilon > 0$  and some subsequence  $(|c_{n_k}|)$  such that  $|c_{n_k}|^2 \ge \varepsilon$ . Using (4.3), one obtains

$$0 \leftarrow \int_{\mathbb{T}} |c_{n_k} e^{-2\pi i n_k \xi} + c_{-n_k} e^{2\pi i n_k \xi} |^2 p_{\psi}(\xi) d\xi$$
  
= 
$$\int_{\mathbb{T}} |c_{n_k}|^2 |e^{-2\pi i n_k \xi}|^2 \left| 1 + \frac{c_{-n_k}}{c_{n_k}} e^{4\pi i n_k \xi} \right|^2 p_{\psi}(\xi) d\xi$$
  
$$\geq \varepsilon \int_{\mathbb{T}} \left| 1 + \frac{c_{-n_k}}{c_{n_k}} e^{4\pi i n_k \xi} \right|^2 p_{\psi}(\xi) d\xi.$$

Hence there is a subsequence  $(p_n)$  and coefficients  $(a_{p_n})$  with the property that

$$\int_{\mathbb{T}} \left| 1 - a_{p_n} e^{2\pi i p_n \xi} \right|^2 p_{\psi}(\xi) d\xi \to 0.$$

Using the mapping  $\mathcal{I}_{\psi}$ , this means that  $a_{p_n}T_{p_n}\psi \to \psi$  in  $L^2(\mathbb{R})$ . Taking norms, this guarantees that  $|a_{p_n}| \to 1$ , and, in particular, that  $(a_{p_n})$  is bounded. Since  $p_{\psi} \in L^1(\mathbb{T})$ , one can use Fourier series to deduce that

$$\int_{\mathbb{T}} \left| 1 - a_{p_n} e^{2\pi i p_n \xi} \right|^2 p_{\psi}(\xi) d\xi = (1 + |a_{p_n}|^2) \widehat{p_{\psi}}(0) - a_{p_n} \widehat{p_{\psi}}(-p_n) - \overline{a_{p_n}} \widehat{p_{\psi}}(p_n).$$

Since  $|p_n| \to \infty$ , the Riemann–Lebesgue Lemma guarantees that  $\widehat{p_{\psi}}(\pm p_n) \to 0$ , and, since  $(a_{p_n})$  is bounded, this means that  $a_{p_n}\widehat{p_{\psi}}(-p_n)$  and  $\overline{a_{p_n}}\widehat{p_{\psi}}(p_n)$  both tend to zero. Using this and the fact that  $|a_{p_n}|^2 \to 1$ , it follows that

$$0 = 2\widehat{p_{\psi}}(0) = 2 \int p_{\psi}(\xi) d\xi = 2 \|\psi\|_{L^{2}(\mathbb{R})}^{2},$$

which implies that  $\psi \equiv 0$ , contradicting our initial assumption.

Based on the above observation, whenever we have a sum ordered by (4.1), we shall denote it by

(4.5) 
$$\lim_{n \to \infty} \sum_{|k| \le n} c_k T_k \psi.$$

#### 4. COEFFICIENTS

Observe that the sum in (4.5) depends on a particular ordering of the vectors  $T_k\psi$ . Of particular importance in the present work are those sums for which the ordering is irrelevant. More precisely, if  $\varphi = \lim_{n\to\infty} \sum_{|k|\leq n} c_k T_k \psi$  exists and the convergence is *unconditional* (see [**HW96**] and [**Sin70**] for more details on unconditional convergence), we shall write

(4.6) 
$$\varphi = \sum_{k \in \mathbb{Z}} c_k T_k \psi.$$

The following result shows that such unconditional convergence is only possible for a special class of coefficients.

LEMMA 4.7. If  $\sum_{k \in \mathbb{Z}} c_k T_k \psi$  converges unconditionally and  $\psi \neq 0$ , then  $(c_k) \in \ell^2(\mathbb{Z})$ .

PROOF. Since  $\langle \psi \rangle$  is a Hilbert space, we may apply the Orlicz theorem on the unconditional sum  $\sum_{k \in \mathbb{Z}} c_k T_k \psi$  to obtain

$$\infty > \sum_{k \in \mathbb{Z}} \|c_k T_k \psi\|_{L^2(\mathbb{R})}^2 = \|\psi\|_{L^2(\mathbb{R})}^2 \sum_{k \in \mathbb{Z}} |c_k|^2.$$

Since  $\|\psi\|_{L^2(\mathbb{R})} > 0$ , the result follows.

This leads to the following natural question. Given  $0 \neq \psi \in L^2(\mathbb{R})$  and  $(c_k) \in \ell^2(\mathbb{Z})$ , what can be said about the convergence of the sums  $\sum_{|k| \leq n} c_k T_k \psi$ ? We observe first that if the limit exists, then it must lie within a particular subset of  $\langle \psi \rangle$ ; the precise statement is as follows<sup>2</sup>:

LEMMA 4.8. If  $(c_k) \in \ell^2(\mathbb{Z})$  and the limit  $\lim_{n\to\infty} \sum_{|k|\leq n} c_k T_k \psi = \varphi$  exists in the  $L^2$  sense, then there is a function  $f \in L^2(\mathbb{T})$  such that  $f\chi_{U_{\langle\psi\rangle}} = \mathcal{I}_{\psi}^{-1}(\varphi)\chi_{U_{\langle\psi\rangle}}$ almost everywhere.<sup>3</sup>

Now that we have a basic understanding of the limit when it exists, one is obviously left with the issue of determining when convergence occurs. We begin by exploring the situation when  $\psi$  is such that convergence occurs whenever the coefficient sequence is in  $\ell^2(\mathbb{Z})$ . One is lead to the following notion (used already in **[HŠWW10b**]) which we borrow from the theory of bases in Banach spaces; see **[Sin70]** or **[TL77]** for numerous results.

DEFINITION 4.9. Suppose that  $\psi \in L^2(\mathbb{R})$ . We shall say that  $\mathcal{B}_{\psi}$  has the (H)-property<sup>4</sup> or has property (H) if  $(c_k) \in \ell^2(\mathbb{Z})$  guarantees that  $\sum_{|k| \leq n} c_k T_k \psi$  converges.

Observe that Lemma 4.8 directly proves the following:

LEMMA 4.10. If  $\mathcal{B}_{\psi}$  satisfies the (H)-property, then  $L^{2}(\mathbb{T}) \subseteq L^{2}(\mathbb{T}, p_{\psi})$ ; that is, if  $f \in L^{2}(\mathbb{T})$ , then  $f \in L^{2}(\mathbb{T}, p_{\psi})$ .

 $<sup>^2 {\</sup>rm This}$  lemma can be proven by a simple modification of a subsequence argument presented in Theorem 3.10 of  $[{\rm H} {\rm \breve{S}WW10b}].$ 

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup>We know apriori that f must be in the weighted space  $L^2(\mathbb{T}, p_{\psi})$ ; the lemma guarantees that f lies in  $L^2(\mathbb{T})$ .

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup>The letter H here stands for Hilbertian.

#### 181. PRINCIPAL SHIFT-INVARIANT SPACES: PRELIMINARIES AND AUXILIARY RESULTS

The statement of this lemma makes sense whether we consider elements fas functions or equivalence classes. More precisely, if q and h are in the same equivalence class in  $L^2(\mathbb{T})$ , then they belong to the same class in  $L^2(\mathbb{T}, p_{\psi})$ . The converse of this statement is, of course, not necessarily true.

Using Lemma 3.6 from [HSWW10b], it is easy to obtain the following result:

LEMMA 4.11. Suppose that v, w are strictly positive, integrable, and 1-periodic functions (i.e. v and w are in equivalence classes of elements of  $L^1(\mathbb{T})$ ). If  $L^2(\mathbb{T},w) \subseteq L^2(\mathbb{T},v)$  as sets (not necessarily with respect to any topologies), then there exists a constant  $0 < C < \infty$  so that  $v \leq Cw$  almost everywhere (with respect to Lebesgue measure).

**PROOF.** Observe that  $\frac{1}{\sqrt{w}} \in L^2(\mathbb{T}, w)$ . Under our assumptions, we find that  $\frac{1}{\sqrt{w}} \in L^2(\mathbb{T}, v)$ , which implies that  $f := \frac{v}{w} \in L^1(\mathbb{T})$ .

It is now enough to prove that f satisfies the requirement of Lemma 3.6 from [**HŠWW10b**]. Take  $0 \leq g \in L^1(\mathbb{T})$ . It follows that  $\sqrt{\frac{g}{w}}$  belongs to  $L^2(\mathbb{T}, w)$ . By our assumption, this guarantees that  $\sqrt{\frac{g}{w}} \in L^2(\mathbb{T}, v)$ . Hence

$$\infty > \int_{\mathbb{T}} \left( \sqrt{\frac{g}{w}} \right)^2 v = \int_{\mathbb{T}} g \frac{v}{w} = \int_{\mathbb{T}} g f.$$

In other words,  $fg \in L^1(\mathbb{T})$ .

It will be useful to consider the following inclusion operator (see also [**HŠWW10b**]). Denote by  $\mathcal{M}_{\psi}$  the quotient space of classes of measurable functions on  $\mathbb{T}$  modulo  $p_{\psi}(\xi)d\xi$ -almost everywhere equivalence. Consider the inclusion operator

(4.12) 
$$J_{\psi}: L^{2}(\mathbb{T}) \to \mathcal{M}_{\psi}$$
$$J_{\psi}(f) := f.$$

Observe that the definition makes sense, since, if  $f = g d\xi$ -almost everywhere, then  $f = g p_{\psi}(\xi) d\xi$ -almost everywhere. Observe also that when the range of  $J_{\psi}$  is contained in  $L^2(\mathbb{T}, p_{\psi})$ , we may also consider  $J_{\psi} : L^2(\mathbb{T}) \to L^2(\mathbb{T}, p_{\psi})$ . Combining the techniques given above with  $[H\tilde{S}WW10b]$ , we obtain a somewhat stronger version of Theorem 3.10 from [HSWW10b]

THEOREM 4.13. Let  $\psi$  be a nonzero element of  $L^2(\mathbb{R})$ . Then the following are equivalent.

- (a) There is a constant B with  $0 < B < \infty$  so that  $p_{\psi}(\xi) \leq B$  for almost every  $\xi$ ;
- (b)  $\mathcal{B}_{\psi}$  is a Besselian family;
- (c)  $\mathcal{B}_{\psi}$  satisfies the (H)-property; (d)  $(c_k) \in \ell^2(\mathbb{Z})$  if and only if  $\sum_{k \in \mathbb{Z}} c_k T_k \psi$  converges unconditionally; (e) The range of  $J_{\psi}$  is contained in  $L^2(\mathbb{T}, p_{\psi})$ ;
- (f)  $J_{\psi}: L^2(\mathbb{R}) \to L^2(\mathbb{T}, p_{\psi})$  is a bounded, linear operator.

For a discussion of all the above terminology, consult [**HŠWW10b**].

REMARK 4.14. Let us emphasize several details.

(i) Using Lemma 4.8, we obtain that, for every  $\psi \in L^2(\mathbb{R})$ ,

$$\{(c_k) \in \ell^2(\mathbb{Z}) : \lim_{n \to \infty} \sum_{|k| \le n} c_k T_k \psi \text{ exists} \}$$
$$= \{(c_k) \in \ell^2(\mathbb{Z}) : \sum_{k \in \mathbb{Z}} c_k e^{-2\pi i k \xi} = f \text{ in } L^2(\mathbb{T}) \text{ and } f \in L^2(\mathbb{T}) \cap L^2(\mathbb{T}, p_{\psi}) \}.$$

Furthermore, from Lemma 4.7, we know that for every nonzero  $\psi$  in  $L^2(\mathbb{R})$  one has that

$$\{(c_k) \in \mathbb{C}^{\mathbb{Z}} : \sum_{k \in \mathbb{Z}} c_k T_k \psi \text{ converges unconditionally} \}$$
$$\subseteq \{(c_k) \in \ell^2(\mathbb{Z}) : \lim_{n \to \infty} \sum_{|k| \le n} c_k T_k \psi \text{ exists} \}.$$

An open question at this point is whether we have an equality in the last set inclusion. Obviously, if  $\mathcal{B}_{\psi}$  satisfies the (H)-property, then the answer is positive.

- (ii) Given a nonzero function  $\psi \in L^2(\mathbb{R})$  such that  $p_{\psi}$  is *not* bounded above, we conclude that the (H)-property is not satisfied. Hence, in this case, there are sequences  $(c_k) \in \ell^2(\mathbb{Z})$  such that the limit  $\lim_{n\to\infty} \sum_{|k|\leq n} c_k T_k \psi$  does not exist.
- (iii) Observe that  $L^2(\mathbb{T}) \cap L^2(\mathbb{T}, p_{\psi})$  can be considered as a vector space (via  $d\xi$ almost everywhere equivalence classes) which contains all of  $L^{\infty}(\mathbb{T})$ . It can also be considered as a dense subspace in both  $L^2(\mathbb{T})$  and  $L^2(\mathbb{T}, p_{\psi})$ , with respect to the norm topologies. Hence we can think of

$$J_{\psi}\big|_{L^2(\mathbb{T})\cap L^2(\mathbb{T},p_{\psi})}: L^2(\mathbb{T})\cap L^2(\mathbb{T},\psi)\to L^2(\mathbb{T},\psi)$$

as a densely defined linear operator from  $L^2(\mathbb{T})$  into  $L^2(\mathbb{T}, p_{\psi})$ . Obviously, it can be extended to a bounded operator from  $L^2(\mathbb{T})$  to  $L^2(\mathbb{T}, p_{\psi})$  if and only if

or

$$J_{\psi}\big|_{L^{\infty}(\mathbb{T})}$$
 is bounded.

 $J_{\psi}\Big|_{L^2(\mathbb{T})\cap L^2(\mathbb{T},p_{\psi})}$  is bounded

The above remark suggests that it is of interest to consider the vector space of coefficients, which we denote by

(4.15) 
$$\operatorname{Cof}_{\psi} := \{(c_k) : \lim_{n \to \infty} \sum_{|k| \le n} c_k T_k \psi \text{ exists} \}.$$

Using the standard notation  $(c_k) \in c_0(\mathbb{Z})$  if and only if  $\lim_{|n|\to\infty} c_n = 0$ , it is easy to see that

(4.16) 
$$\ell^1(\mathbb{Z}) \subseteq \operatorname{Cof}_{\psi} \subseteq c_0(\mathbb{Z}).$$

Observe also that  $\operatorname{Cof}_{\psi}$  really depends on  $p_{\psi}$  only, rather than  $\psi$ ; in other words, if  $\psi_1$  and  $\psi_2$  are functions in  $L^2(\mathbb{R})$  such that  $p_{\psi_1} = p_{\psi_2}$ , then  $\operatorname{Cof}_{\psi_1} = \operatorname{Cof}_{\psi_2}$ . Observe that unconditional convergence occurs for the coefficients within  $\ell^2(\mathbb{Z}) \cap$ 

Observe that unconditional convergence occurs for the coefficients within  $\ell^2(\mathbb{Z}) \cap$   $\operatorname{Cof}_{\psi}$  (note that  $\ell^1(\mathbb{Z}) \subseteq \ell^2(\mathbb{Z}) \cap \operatorname{Cof}_{\psi}$ ). Consider  $(c_k) \in \ell^2(\mathbb{Z}) \cap \operatorname{Cof}_{\psi}$ . Since  $(c_k) \in \ell^2(\mathbb{Z})$ , there exists an  $f \in L^2(\mathbb{T})$  such that  $f = \sum_{k \in \mathbb{Z}} c_k e^{-2\pi i k x}$  within  $L^2(\mathbb{T})$ . Since  $(c_k) \in \operatorname{Cof}_{\psi}$ , we obtain that  $f \in L^2(\mathbb{T}) \cap L^2(\mathbb{T}, p_{\psi})$ , i.e. that  $J_{\psi}(f) \in L^2(\mathbb{T}, p_{\psi})$ . Hence we have a mapping

$$\ell^2(\mathbb{Z}) \cap \operatorname{Cof}_{\psi} \ni (c_k) \to J_{\psi}(f) \in L^2(\mathbb{T}, p_{\psi}).$$

It is natural to wonder under which conditions such a mapping is a bijection. Observe that this is equivalent to determining under which conditions the following property holds:

(4.17) 
$$(c_k) \in \ell^2(\mathbb{Z}) \text{ and } \lim_{n \to \infty} \sum_{|k| \le n} c_k T_k \psi = 0 \text{ implies } (c_k) \equiv 0.$$

This property is well known (see [Sin70] and [TL77]); it states that  $\mathcal{B}_{\psi}$  (with the ordering of  $\mathbb{Z}$  given in (4.1)) is  $\ell^2(\mathbb{Z})$ -linearly independent. The question of the characterization of  $\ell^2(\mathbb{Z})$ -linear independence of  $\mathcal{B}_{\psi}$  proved to be a rather demanding one. It turns out that

(4.18)  $\mathcal{B}_{\psi}$  is  $\ell^2(\mathbb{Z})$ -linearly independent if and only if  $p_{\psi} > 0$  almost everywhere.

This result was conjectured more than ten years ago at the Wavelet Seminar at Washington University in St. Louis. If  $\mathcal{B}_{\psi}$  is a Besselian family, then the proof is quite easy (see [**ŠS07**]). However, the general case was significantly more difficult and was proved by Saliani in [**Sal13**]; she applied the celebrated Carleson theorem on the almost everywhere convergence of Fourier series and some Menšov-type techniques. For related results, see also [**Pal10**] and [**ŠS12**].

REMARK 4.19. (i) Observe that (4.17) is directly related to the question of redundancy of the family  $\mathcal{B}_{\psi}$ . Recall that for a nonzero  $\psi$ , the set  $\mathcal{B}_{\psi}$  is always linearly independent, so finite sums of elements of  $\mathcal{B}_{\psi}$  have no hope of achieving redundancy. Under property (4.17), one can achieve redundancy of countable linear combinations of elements of  $\mathcal{B}_{\psi}$  only via conditional convergence with coefficients outside  $\ell^2(\mathbb{Z})$ .

- (ii) The condition " $p_{\psi} > 0$ " can be rephrased in terms of the measure of  $Z_{\langle \psi \rangle}$ , namely  $|Z_{\langle \psi \rangle}| = 0$ . Hence property (4.17) is not just a property of  $\psi$  or  $\mathcal{B}_{\psi}$ but rather of the space  $\langle \psi \rangle$ . This fact may seem somewhat surprising.
- (iii) Obviously, the  $\ell^2$ -linear independence of  $\mathcal{B}_{\psi}$  is equivalent to  $\langle \psi \rangle$  being a maximal principal shift-invariant space. As we have already indicated, such spaces will play a special role in our theory.

## 5. Maximal Principal Shift-invariant Spaces

As we have seen in previous sections, of particular importance is the case of a principal shift-invariant space  $\langle \psi \rangle$  which is also maximal, i.e. for which  $U_{\langle \psi \rangle} = \mathbb{R}$ . Again, we mostly follow the discussion from [**HŠWW10b**] while providing some additional details. Throughout this section, we assume that  $\psi \in L^2(\mathbb{R})$  so that  $p_{\psi} > 0$ . Thinking of  $p_{\psi}$  as a weight (see [**Ste93**] or [**Gra04**] for the basic theory of weights), this assumption allows us to consider  $1/p_{\psi}$  as a (finite-valued) weight as well. Furthermore, in some cases we may consider a power of  $1/p_{\psi}$ , which, when viewed as a Fourier multiplier, has  $\langle \psi \rangle$  as an invariant subspace. With this in mind, observe that, for  $\alpha \geq 0$ , we have

(5.1) 
$$\frac{1}{p_{\psi}^{\alpha}} \in L^{2}(\mathbb{T}, p_{\psi}) \text{ if and only if } p_{\psi}^{1-2\alpha} \in L^{1}(\mathbb{T}).$$

In particular, one always has, for those  $\alpha \in [0, 1/2]$ ,

(5.2) 
$$\frac{1}{p_{\psi}^{\alpha}} \bullet \psi \in \langle \psi \rangle$$

For those  $\alpha > 1/2$ , one has  $1 - 2\alpha < 0$ , so  $p_{\psi}^{1-2\alpha}$  may or may not be in  $L^1(\mathbb{T})$ . Generally speaking, as properties of  $1/p_{\psi}$  "improve",  $\mathcal{B}_{\psi}$  has stronger "basis-

like" properties — in particular, it becomes less possible for  $\mathcal{B}_{\psi}$  to have redundancy. As we have seen, if  $1/p_{\psi} < \infty$  almost everywhere, which is equivalent to the maximality of  $\langle \psi \rangle$ , then  $\mathcal{B}_{\psi}$  is  $\ell^2$ -linearly independent. Yet further, if one imposes the stronger condition

(5.3) 
$$\frac{1}{p_{\psi}} \in L^1(\mathbb{T})$$

then  $\mathcal{B}_{\psi}$  is minimal (see [**HŠWW10b**] and the references therein for definitions and historical remarks); that is, for every  $k \in \mathbb{Z}$ ,

(5.4) 
$$T_k \psi \notin \overline{\operatorname{span}(\mathcal{B}_{\psi} \setminus \{T_k \psi\})}$$

Observe that (5.4) excludes any practical possibility of redundancy.

REMARK 5.5. It is at this point still an open question as to what happens "between"  $\ell^2$ -linear independence and minimality. One possible direction is to explore other notions of linear independence. Observe that for 2 , we have

$$\ell^2(\mathbb{Z}) \subsetneqq \ell^p(\mathbb{Z}) \subsetneqq c_0(\mathbb{Z}).$$

Let  $\ell$  denote either  $\ell^p(\mathbb{Z})$  or  $c_0(\mathbb{Z})$ . Then we say that  $\mathcal{B}_{\psi}$  is  $\ell$ -linearly independent if the following condition holds:

(5.6) 
$$(c_k) \in \ell \text{ and } \lim_{n \to \infty} \sum_{|k| \le n} c_k T_k \psi = 0 \text{ implies that } (c_k) \equiv 0.$$

If  $\mathcal{B}_{\psi}$  is minimal, then  $\mathcal{B}_{\psi}$  is  $\ell^{p}$ -linearly independent and  $c_{0}$ -linearly independent. However, the complete characterization of these notions for  $\mathcal{B}_{\psi}$  is still an open problem (see [Sla14] and [ŠS12]). 

It is well known that minimality is equivalent to the existence of a biorthogonal pair (see [HSWW10b] and the references therein); this means that, if (5.3) holds, there is a dual function  $\psi \in \langle \psi \rangle$  so that  $(\mathcal{B}_{\psi}, \mathcal{B}_{\widetilde{\psi}})$  forms a biorthogonal pair. In particular, one has

(5.7) 
$$\widetilde{\psi} = \frac{1}{p_{\psi}} \bullet \psi.$$

It is also well known that the following proposition holds (see, e.g.  $[H\check{S}WW10b]$ ).

**PROPOSITION 5.8.** If  $\psi \in L^2(\mathbb{R})$  satisfies (5.3), then the dual function  $\widetilde{\psi}$  given in (5.7) satisfies the following properties:

- (a)  $\widetilde{\psi} = \mathcal{I}_{\psi}(\frac{1}{p_{ab}});$
- $\begin{array}{l} (b) \ \langle \widetilde{\psi} \rangle = \langle \psi \rangle; \\ (c) \ p_{\widetilde{\psi}} = \frac{1}{p_{\psi}}; \end{array}$
- (d)  $\psi$  satisfies (5.3) and  $\tilde{\psi} = \psi$ ;
- (e)  $\widetilde{\psi} = \psi$  if and only if  $p_{\psi} \equiv 1$  if and only if  $\mathcal{B}_{\psi}$  is an orthonormal basis for  $\langle \psi \rangle$ .

### 221. PRINCIPAL SHIFT-INVARIANT SPACES: PRELIMINARIES AND AUXILIARY RESULTS

REMARK 5.9. Minimal systems do not allow for any redundancy. On the other hand, they allow for much better control of the coefficients. Suppose that  $\varphi = \lim_{n\to\infty} \sum_{|k|\leq n} c_k T_k \psi$ , for some sequence of scalars  $(c_k)$ . Obviously,  $\varphi \in \langle \psi \rangle$ , and we also have  $c_k = \langle \varphi, T_k \tilde{\psi} \rangle_{L^2(\mathbb{R})}$ .

Hence, for minimal  $\mathcal{B}_{\psi}$  it is of interest to study the convergence of the sequence of partial sums,

(5.10) 
$$\sum_{|k| \le n} \langle \varphi, T_k \widetilde{\psi} \rangle T_k \psi,$$

for a given  $\varphi \in \langle \psi \rangle$ . It is easy to see that if the sequence converges, then its limit must be  $\varphi$ . Since  $\varphi = \mathcal{I}_{\psi}(g)$  for some unique element  $g \in L^2(\mathbb{T}, p_{\psi})$ , it makes sense to consider the problem at the level of weighted spaces. Observe also that, for every  $k \in \mathbb{Z}$ ,

(5.11) 
$$T_k \widetilde{\psi} = \mathcal{I}_{\psi} \left( \frac{e^{-2\pi i k \xi}}{p_{\psi}} \right)$$

For the following lemma, it is useful to notice that, under our assumptions, the three measures,  $d\xi$ ,  $p_{\psi}(\xi)d\xi$ , and  $\frac{1}{p_{\psi}}d\xi$ , all generate the same family of null sets.

LEMMA 5.12. Let  $\psi \in L^2(\mathbb{R})$  satisfy (5.3). If f belongs to one of the three spaces,  $L^2(\mathbb{T})$ ,  $L^2(\mathbb{T}, p_{\psi})$ , and  $L^2(\mathbb{T}, \frac{1}{p_{\psi}})$ , then f belongs to  $L^1(\mathbb{T})$ , as well. In particular, f has well-defined Fourier coefficients via the usual integral formula.

PROOF. Without loss of generality, consider the case  $f \in L^2(\mathbb{T}, p_{\psi})$ . It follows that  $|f|\sqrt{p_{\psi}} \in L^2(\mathbb{T})$ . By (5.3), we have that  $\frac{1}{\sqrt{p_{\psi}}} \in L^2(\mathbb{T})$ . Hence

$$|f| = |f| \sqrt{p_{\psi}} \frac{1}{\sqrt{p_{\psi}}} \in L^1(\mathbb{T}).$$

Suppose now that  $\psi \in L^2(\mathbb{R})$  satisfies (5.3) and consider  $g \in L^2(\mathbb{T}, p_{\psi})$ . By Lemma 5.12, the  $k^{\text{th}}$  Fourier coefficient of g exists for every  $k \in \mathbb{Z}$  and is given by

(5.13) 
$$\widehat{g}(k) = \int_{\mathbb{T}} g(\xi) e^{-2\pi i k\xi} \frac{1}{p_{\psi}(\xi)} p_{\psi}(\xi) d\xi$$
$$= \left\langle g, \frac{e^{2\pi i k\xi}}{p_{\psi}} \right\rangle_{L^{2}(\mathbb{T}, p_{\psi})} = \left\langle \mathcal{I}_{\psi}(g), T_{-k} \widetilde{\psi} \right\rangle_{L^{2}(\mathbb{R})}$$

Thus

$$\mathcal{I}_{\psi}\left(\widehat{g}(-k)e^{-2\pi ik\xi}\right) = \widehat{g}(-k)T_k\psi = \left\langle \mathcal{I}_{\psi}g, T_k\widetilde{\psi} \right\rangle T_k\psi.$$

From this it immediately follows that the question of convergence of the sequence (5.10) is actually a question about the convergence of

(5.14) 
$$\lim_{n \to \infty} \sum_{|k| \le n} \widehat{g}(-k) e^{-2\pi i k \xi} = \lim_{n \to \infty} \sum_{|k| \le n} \widehat{g}(k) e^{2\pi i k \xi}$$

within  $L^2(\mathbb{T}, p_{\psi})$ , where  $g = \mathcal{I}_{\psi}^{-1}(\varphi)$ . In particular, under the assumption (5.3) we have (5.15)

$$\operatorname{Cof}_{\psi} = \{(\langle \varphi, T_k \widetilde{\psi} \rangle)_{k \in \mathbb{Z}} : \varphi \in \langle \psi \rangle, g = \mathcal{I}_{\psi}^{-1}(\varphi), \text{ and the limit in (5.14) exists} \}.$$

Furthermore, the unconditional convergence of (5.10) occurs if and only if

(5.16) 
$$(\widehat{g}(k))_{k\in\mathbb{Z}}\in\operatorname{Cof}_{\psi}\cap\ell^{2}(\mathbb{Z})$$

Such considerations show that it is natural to consider the following notion, which is well known (see [You01]). The (RF) in the definition stands for "Riesz-Fischer".

DEFINITION 5.17. Given  $\psi \in L^2(\mathbb{R})$ , we shall say that  $\mathcal{B}_{\psi}$  satisfies the (RF)property if for every  $(c_k) \in \ell^2(\mathbb{Z})$ , there exists a  $\varphi \in \langle \psi \rangle$ , such that for every  $k \in \mathbb{Z}$ ,  $c_k = \langle \varphi, T_k \psi \rangle_{L^2(\mathbb{R})}$ .

It is well known (see [You01]) that for biorthogonal systems, the original sequence is a Besselian family if and only if the dual sequence satisfies the (RF)property. Hence, using this result (or proving it directly since this is not so difficult within this framework) we obtain that, for every  $\psi \in L^2(\mathbb{R})$  which satisfies (5.3),

(5.18)  $\mathcal{B}_{\psi}$  is a Besselian family if and only if  $\mathcal{B}_{\tilde{\psi}}$  satisfies the (RF)-property.

Furthermore, if any of the properties in (5.18) holds, then

(5.19) 
$$\ell^2(\mathbb{Z}) \subseteq \operatorname{Cof}_{\psi}.$$

- REMARK 5.20. (i) Observe that, even for a minimal and Besselian family  $\mathcal{B}_{\psi}$ , we have, in principle,  $\operatorname{Cof}_{\psi} \setminus \ell^2(\mathbb{Z}) \neq \emptyset$ , and this set contains precisely those coefficients for which we have only conditional convergence.
- (ii) Observe also that under the condition that  $\mathcal{B}_{\psi}$  is minimal and Besselian, we still have functions (unless  $\mathcal{B}_{\psi}$  is a basis)  $\varphi \in \langle \psi \rangle$  such that the limit

$$\lim_{n \to \infty} \sum_{|k| \le n} \langle \varphi, T_k \widetilde{\psi} \rangle T_k \psi$$

does not exist.

Let us now reverse our point of view and consider the (RF)-property for  $\mathcal{B}_{\psi}$ . Using (5.18) and the fact that, for minimal systems, we have  $p_{\widetilde{\psi}} = \frac{1}{p_{\psi}}$ , we obtain the following result. If  $\psi \in L^2(\mathbb{R})$  satisfies (5.3), then  $\mathcal{B}_{\psi}$  satisfies the (RF)-property if and only if

(5.21) there exists an A with  $0 < A < \infty$  such that  $p_{\psi} \ge A$  almost everywhere.

REMARK 5.22. Observe that the last statement makes sense even without assuming (5.3). It is natural to wonder whether this statement is true without assumption (5.3). As we shall see, we have a positive answer here. Observe however, that (5.21) implies (5.3), so we do end up eventually within the framework of minimal  $\mathcal{B}_{\psi}$ .

THEOREM 5.23. If  $\psi \in L^2(\mathbb{R})$  is such that  $\mathcal{B}_{\psi}$  satisfies the (RF)-property, then  $p_{\psi}$  satisfies (5.21).

PROOF. We divide the proof into two steps. First, we reformulate the (RF)property. Observe that having  $(c_k) \in \ell^2(\mathbb{Z})$  is equivalent to having an  $f \in L^2(\mathbb{T})$ with  $\widehat{f}(k) = c_{-k}$ . Observe also that  $\varphi \in \langle \psi \rangle$  is equivalent to  $g = \mathcal{I}_{\psi}^{-1}(\varphi) \in L^2(\mathbb{T}, p_{\psi})$ . Using the isometry  $\mathcal{I}_{\psi}$  we also have

$$c_k = \langle \varphi, T_k \psi \rangle_{L^2(\mathbb{R})} = \langle g, e^{-2\pi i k \xi} \rangle_{L^2(\mathbb{T}, p_\psi)}.$$

Hence the (RF)-property can be reformulated as follows:

for every 
$$f \in L^2(\mathbb{T})$$
, there exists a  $g \in L^2(\mathbb{T}, p_{\psi})$  so that,

for every  $k \in \mathbb{Z}$ , one has  $\widehat{f}(k) = \langle g, e^{2\pi i k \xi} \rangle_{L^2(\mathbb{T}, \mathcal{P}_{th})}$ .

(5.24) Since

$$\langle g, e^{2\pi i k\xi} \rangle_{L^2(\mathbb{T}, p_{\psi})} = \int_{\mathbb{T}} g(\xi) e^{-2\pi i k\xi} p_{\psi}(\xi) d\xi,$$

and  $g \in L^2(\mathbb{T}, p_{\psi})$  implies that  $g \in L^1(\mathbb{T}, p_{\psi})$ , since  $p_{\psi}(\xi)d\xi$  is a finite measure; thus we obtain that  $gp_{\psi} \in L^1(\mathbb{T})$ . Moreover, we have that  $\widehat{f}(k) = \widehat{gp_{\psi}}(k)$  for all  $k \in \mathbb{Z}$ , and so f and  $gp_{\psi}$  are  $L^1(\mathbb{T})$  functions with equal Fourier coefficients, which guarantees that  $f = gp_{\psi}$  almost everywhere. This then proves that the (RF)-property implies that

(5.25) For every 
$$f \in L^2(\mathbb{T})$$
, there exists  $g \in L^2(\mathbb{T}, p_{\psi})$   
such that  $f = gp_{\psi} d\xi$ -almost everywhere.

There are several consequences of (5.25). We claim that (5.25) implies that  $p_{\psi} > 0 \ d\xi$ -almost everywhere. To see this, suppose, to the contrary, that  $|Z_{\langle\psi\rangle}| > 0$  and let  $f := \chi_{Z_{\langle\psi\rangle}}$ . It follows that f is a nonzero function in  $L^2(\mathbb{T})$ . By (5.25), we would get a  $g \in L^2(\mathbb{T}, p_{\psi})$  such that  $f = gp_{\psi} \ d\xi$ -almost everywhere. It follows that  $f\chi_{U_{\langle\psi\rangle}} \equiv 0 \ d\xi$ -almost everywhere, and, as a consequence, we obtain that  $f = gp_{\psi} = 0 \ d\xi$ -almost everywhere, which is a contradiction.

Since we have proved that  $p_{\psi} > 0$   $d\xi$ -almost everywhere, it makes sense to consider the function  $\frac{1}{p_{\psi}}$  on  $\mathbb{T}$ . Take  $f \equiv 1 \in L^2(\mathbb{T})$  and apply (5.25) to obtain a  $g \in L^2(\mathbb{T}, p_{\psi})$  such that  $1 = gp_{\psi} d\xi$ -almost everywhere. It follows that  $\frac{1}{p_{\psi}} \in L^2(\mathbb{T}, p_{\psi})$  and, by (5.1), that  $\frac{1}{p_{\psi}} \in L^1(\mathbb{T})$ .

Thus we have proved that  $\mathcal{B}_{\psi}$  is a minimal system. We can now apply (5.18) to conclude the proof; however, in the name of completeness, we give a short proof using the techniques from these notes. Start with  $f \in L^2(\mathbb{T})$  and use (5.25) to conclude that  $\frac{f}{p_{\psi}} \in L^2(\mathbb{T}, p_{\psi})$ , which implies that  $f \in L^2(\mathbb{T}, \frac{1}{p_{\psi}})$ . Thus we have proved that  $w :\equiv 1$  and  $v := \frac{1}{p_{\psi}}$  are both strictly positive, integrable, 1-periodic weights such that  $L^2(\mathbb{T}, w) \subseteq L^2(\mathbb{T}, v)$ . By Lemma 4.11, we conclude that there exists a constant C with  $0 < C < \infty$  so that  $v \leq Cw$ . Hence (5.21) follows with  $A := \frac{1}{C}$ .

This result essentially completes the characterization of the (RF)-property. It is easy to see that we have the following list of results.

COROLLARY 5.26. If  $\psi \in L^2(\mathbb{R})$ , then the following are equivalent:

- (a)  $\mathcal{B}_{\psi}$  satisfies the (RF)-property;
- (b) There exists a constant  $A \in (0, \infty)$  so that  $p_{\psi} \ge A$ ;
- (c)  $L^2(\mathbb{T}, p_{\psi}) \subseteq L^2(\mathbb{T})$  (in the set sense);
- (d)  $\frac{1}{p_{\psi}} \in L^1(\mathbb{T})$  and  $L^2(\mathbb{T}) \subseteq L^2(\mathbb{T}, \frac{1}{p_{\psi}})$  (in the set sense);
- (e)  $\tilde{\mathcal{B}}_{\psi}$  is a minimal system and  $\mathcal{B}_{\psi}^{r,\psi}$  satisfies the (H)-property.

REMARK 5.27. Observe that a certain "asymmetry" exists between the (RF)property and the (H)-property. The (H)-property may hold even in a non-maximal principal shift-invariant space,  $\langle \psi \rangle$  — in particular, also for non-minimal  $\mathcal{B}_{\psi}$ . By comparison, the (RF)-property is possible only within the minimal systems  $\mathcal{B}_{\psi}$ .

COROLLARY 5.28. If  $\psi \in L^2(\mathbb{R})$  is such that  $\mathcal{B}_{\psi}$  is minimal, then the following are equivalent:

- (a)  $\mathcal{B}_{\psi}$  satisfies the (RF)-property;
- (b)  $\mathcal{B}_{\widetilde{\psi}}$  satisfies the (H)-property;
- (c)  $L^{2}(\mathbb{T}, p_{\psi}) \subseteq L^{2}(\mathbb{T})$  (in the set sense); (d)  $L^{2}(\mathbb{T}) \subseteq L^{2}(\mathbb{T}, p_{\widetilde{\psi}})$  (in the set sense);
- (e)  $\ell^2(\mathbb{Z}) \subseteq Cof_{\widetilde{ab}}$ .

Let us at this point introduce yet another natural counterpart to the (H)property; it is also a well-known notion, see [Sin70] and [HSWW10b] for more details.

DEFINITION 5.29. Let  $\psi \in L^2(\mathbb{R})$ . We shall say that  $\mathcal{B}_{\psi}$  satisfies the (B)property if, for some sequence  $(c_k)$  of coefficients, whenever the limit

$$\lim_{n \to \infty} \sum_{|k| \le n} c_k T_k \psi$$

exists, one must have that  $(c_k) \in \ell^2(\mathbb{Z})$ .

REMARK 5.30. Observe that the (B)-property can be expressed in the form

(5.31) 
$$\operatorname{Cof}_{\psi} \subseteq \ell^2(\mathbb{Z});$$

one may expect this to appear as one of the characterizing statements in Corollary 5.28. However, at this point we do not know if such a result is valid or not. We know that any of the properties listed in Corollary 5.28 implies the (B)-property, within the context of minimal systems (see [**HŠWW10b**] for the proof). We also know (it is easy to see this directly) that (5.21), by itself, also implies the (B)property. The problem lies in the reverse implication. We know that it holds in the case when  $\mathcal{B}_{\psi}$  is a Schauder basis (see [Sin70] for the proof). In the more general situation, we have a couple of open questions. The first one is as follows. If  $\psi \in L^2(\mathbb{R})$  and  $\mathcal{B}_{\psi}$  satisfies the (B)-property, does it then follow that  $p_{\psi} > 0$  $d\xi$ -almost everywhere? The second question is as follows. If  $\psi \in L^2(\mathbb{R})$ , is such that  $p_{\psi} > 0 \, d\xi$ -almost everywhere and  $\mathcal{B}_{\psi}$  satisfies the (B)-property, does it then follow that  $\mathcal{B}_{\psi}$  is a minimal system? In one special case, we can answer this question; see the following proposition.

PROPOSITION 5.32. Let  $\psi \in L^2(\mathbb{R})$  be such that  $p_{\psi} > 0$  d $\xi$ -almost everywhere and such that  $\mathcal{B}_{\psi}$  satisfies the (B)-property. If, for every  $\varphi \in \langle \psi \rangle$  there exists a sequence  $(c_k) \in c_0(\mathbb{Z})$  such that  $\varphi = \lim_{n \to \infty} \sum_{|k| \le n} c_k T_k \psi$ , then  $\mathcal{B}_{\psi}$  is a Schauder basis for  $\langle \psi \rangle$ , with respect to the ordering of  $\mathbb{Z}$  according to (4.1), and  $\mathcal{B}_{\widetilde{\psi}}$  satisfies the (H)-property.

**PROOF.** Consider  $\varphi \in \langle \psi \rangle$ . By our assumption, there exists  $(c_k) \in c_0(\mathbb{Z})$  such that  $\varphi = \lim_{n \to \infty} \sum_{|k| \le n} c_k T_k \psi$ . By the (B)-property we obtain that  $(c_k) \in \ell^2(\mathbb{Z})$ . Suppose now that another sequence  $(d_k)$  satisfies  $\varphi = \lim_{n \to \infty} \sum_{|k| < n} d_k T_k \psi$ . By the (B)-property, we obtain  $(d_k) \in \ell^2(\mathbb{Z})$ . Hence we have that  $(c_k - d_k)_{k \in \mathbb{Z}} \in \ell^2(\mathbb{Z})$ and  $0 \equiv \lim_{n \to \infty} \sum_{|k| < n} (c_k - d_k) T_k \psi$ . Since  $p_{\psi} > 0$  d $\xi$ -almost everywhere implies that  $\mathcal{B}_{\psi}$  is  $\ell^2$ -linearly independent (again according to the ordering of  $\mathbb{Z}$  in (4.1)), we conclude that  $c_k = d_k$  for every  $k \in \mathbb{Z}$ .

It follows that  $\mathcal{B}_{\psi}$ , ordered by (4.1) is a basis (and, therefore, a Schauder basis) for  $\langle \psi \rangle$ . As is well known (see [**NŠ07**], for example) the dual basis is precisely  $\mathcal{B}_{\tilde{\psi}}$  (in particular, (5.3) holds) and by general results on bases (see [**Sin70**]),  $\mathcal{B}_{\tilde{\psi}}$ satisfies the (H)-property (which implies that  $p_{\psi} \geq A > 0 \ d\xi$ -almost everywhere).

REMARK 5.33. It is possible to construct  $\psi \in L^2(\mathbb{R})$  such that  $p_{\psi}$  satisfies (5.21) but is not an  $A_2$ -weight in the sense of Muckenhoupt; in other words,  $\mathcal{B}_{\psi}$  is not a basis for  $\langle \psi \rangle$  (see [**HŠWW10b**] and [**NŠ07**] for more details). It then follows that  $\mathcal{B}_{\psi}$  is a minimal system which satisfies the (B)-property but does not satisfy the assumption in Proposition 5.32 of every  $\varphi \in \langle \psi \rangle$  being represented as a limit from  $\mathcal{B}_{\psi}$ .

This also leads to a third question about the (B)-property. If  $\psi \in L^2(\mathbb{R})$  is such that  $\frac{1}{p_{\psi}} \in L^1(\mathbb{T})$  and  $\mathcal{B}_{\psi}$  satisfies the (B)-property, does it then follow that  $p_{\psi}$ satisfies (5.21)?

In the basis case, all of these properties fit nicely together. Recall first that  $\mathcal{B}_{\psi}$  is a Schauder basis (in the ordering given in (4.1)) if and only if  $p_{\psi}$  is an  $A_2$ -weight in the sense of Muckenhoupt (see [**NŠ07**] and [**HŠWW10b**] for details and further references). This is equivalent to  $\frac{1}{p_{\psi}}$  being an  $A_2$ -weight and, indeed,  $\mathcal{B}_{\tilde{\psi}}$  acts as a dual basis for  $\mathcal{B}_{\psi}$ . Using standard results (see [**Sin70**]) or our discussion above, one obtains, without much effort, the following result.

COROLLARY 5.34. If  $\psi \in L^2(\mathbb{R})$  is such that  $\mathcal{B}_{\psi}$ , ordered according to (4.1), is a Schauder basis for  $\langle \psi \rangle$ , then the following are equivalent.

- (a)  $\mathcal{B}_{\psi}$  satisfies the (B)-property;
- (b)  $\mathcal{B}_{\widetilde{\psi}}$  satisfies the (H)-property;
- (c)  $Cof_{\psi} \subseteq \ell^2(\mathbb{Z});$
- (d)  $\ell^2(\mathbb{Z}) \subseteq Cof_{\widetilde{dh}}$ .

In the terminology of Banach space basis theory, these conditions characterize when  $\mathcal{B}_{\psi}$  is a *Besselian Schauder basis* (not a Besselian family, though; see [**HŠWW10b**]), and, at the same time, when  $\mathcal{B}_{\tilde{\psi}}$  is a *Hilbertian Schauder basis*.

We assume that our reader is familiar with the notion of a *Riesz basis* (see **[HW96]** for details and further references). It is well known (see, for example, **[HŠWW10b**]) that  $\mathcal{B}_{\psi}$  is a Riesz basis for  $\langle \psi \rangle$  if and only if there are constants A and B with  $0 < A \leq B < \infty$  so that  $A \leq p_{\psi} \leq B$  almost everywhere. Observe that in this case all three measures on the torus,  $d\xi$ ,  $p_{\psi}(\xi)d\xi$ , and  $p_{\tilde{\psi}}(\xi)d\xi$ , have exactly the same family of negligible sets. The following result then follows easily from our discussion.

COROLLARY 5.35. If  $\psi \in L^2(\mathbb{R})$  is such that  $\mathcal{B}_{\psi}$ , ordered according to (4.1), is a Schauder basis for  $\langle \psi \rangle$ , then the following are equivalent:

- (a)  $\mathcal{B}_{\psi}$  is a Riesz basis for  $\langle \psi \rangle$ ;
- (b)  $\mathcal{B}_{\widetilde{\psi}}$  is a Riesz basis for  $\langle \psi \rangle$ ;
- (c)  $\mathcal{B}_{\psi}$  satisfies the (H)-property and the (B)-property;
- (d)  $L^{2}(\mathbb{T}) = L^{2}(\mathbb{T}, p_{\psi})$  on the set level;
- (e)  $L^{2}(\mathbb{T}) = L^{2}(\mathbb{T}, p_{\widetilde{\psi}})$  on the set level;

(f)  $Cof_{\psi} = \ell^2(\mathbb{Z});$ (g)  $Cof_{\widetilde{\psi}} = \ell^2(\mathbb{Z}).$ 

REMARK 5.36. As it is well known, when  $p_{\psi} \equiv 1$  (or, equivalently, when  $\psi = \tilde{\psi}$ ) we obtain that  $\mathcal{B}_{\psi}$  is an orthonormal basis for  $\langle \psi \rangle$ . Observe that, solely on the level of the set  $\operatorname{Cof}_{\psi}$ , we cannot distinguish this case from the Riesz basis case.

It is, of course, also well known that, for any maximal principal shift-invariant space  $\langle \psi \rangle$ , it is easy to construct a generating function  $\varphi$  such that  $\mathcal{B}_{\varphi}$  is an orthonormal basis for  $\langle \psi \rangle$ ; simply take

$$\varphi := \frac{1}{\sqrt{p_{\psi}}} \bullet \psi.$$

### 6. Direct Analysis Sum

As we have seen in the previous section, it is natural to consider the limits of the sums with coefficients  $\langle \varphi, T_k \widetilde{\psi} \rangle_{L^2(\mathbb{R})}$ , i.e.

(6.1) 
$$\lim_{n \to \infty} \sum_{|k| \le n} \langle \varphi, T_k \widetilde{\psi} \rangle_{L^2(\mathbb{R})} T_k \psi,$$

assuming the dual function  $\tilde{\psi}$  exists, of course.

Observe, however, that from the point of view of applications, this may not be so useful. First of all, the dual function  $\tilde{\psi}$  does not exist for many interesting choices  $\psi$ . Secondly, even when it does exist, it may not be easy to determine whether this is true or not (assuming that  $\psi$  is not given explicitly to us). Thirdly, the limit in (6.1) may not exist, and, even if it does exist, we may only have conditional convergence to this limit.

One way to simplify this approach may be by using a kind of "direct method" in selecting "analysis coefficients", i.e. to consider

(6.2) 
$$\lim_{n \to \infty} \sum_{|k| \le n} \langle \varphi, T_k \psi \rangle_{L^2(\mathbb{R})} T_k \psi.$$

Note that in the theory of Parseval frame wavelets, exactly such a choice is being utilized.

Observe that the *n*th partial sum in (6.2) exists for every  $\psi \in L^2(\mathbb{R})$  (since one does not need the dual function to exist as one does in (6.1)). Obviously, there are some basic questions about (6.2). When does it converge? What type of convergence can one expect? What is the limit? We treat the question of what the limit is first.

LEMMA 6.3. Let  $\psi \in L^2(\mathbb{R})$ ,  $\varphi \in \langle \psi \rangle$ , and  $g \in L^2(\mathbb{T}, p_{\psi})$  such that  $\mathcal{I}_{\psi}(g) = \varphi$ . If the limit  $\lim_{n\to\infty} \sum_{|k|\leq n} \langle \varphi, T_k \psi \rangle_{L^2(\mathbb{R})} T_k \psi$  exists, then it must equal  $p_{\psi} \bullet \varphi$ . (In particular, this means that  $p_{\psi} \bullet \varphi \in \langle \psi \rangle$ , i.e.  $gp_{\psi} \in L^2(\mathbb{T}, p_{\psi})$ .)

PROOF. If  $\psi = 0$ , then the statement is not interesting and trivially true. So, assume that  $\psi \neq 0$  so that  $U_{\langle \psi \rangle}$  is a set of positive Lebesgue measure. By our assumptions, the limit

$$\lim_{n \to \infty} \sum_{|k| \le n} \langle g, e^{2\pi i k \xi} \rangle_{L^2(\mathbb{T}, p_{\psi})} e^{2\pi i k \xi}$$

exists in the sense of the norm of  $L^2(\mathbb{T}, p_{\psi})$ ; let us denote this limit by h.

Since  $g \in L^2(\mathbb{T}, p_{\psi})$  and  $p_{\psi}(\xi)d\xi$  is a finite measure on  $\mathbb{T}$ , we obstain that  $g \in L^1(\mathbb{T}, p_{\psi})$ , i.e.  $gp_{\psi} \in L^1(\mathbb{T})$ . Hence  $\langle g, e^{2\pi i k \xi} \rangle_{L(\mathbb{T}, p_{\psi})} = \widehat{gp_{\psi}}(k)$  for every  $k \in \mathbb{Z}$ . It follows that

$$h_n := \sum_{|k| \le n} \langle g, e^{2\pi i k \xi} \rangle_{L^2(\mathbb{T}, p_{\psi})} e^{2\pi i k \xi} = \sum_{|k| \le n} \widehat{gp_{\psi}}(k) = S_n(gp_{\psi}),$$

where  $S_n(gp_{\psi})$  denotes the  $n^{\text{th}}$  symmetric partial sum of the Fourier series of the  $L^1(\mathbb{T})$  function  $gp_{\psi}$ .

We know that  $h_n$  converges to h in  $L^2(\mathbb{T}, p_{\psi})$ , and so  $h_n \sqrt{p_{\psi}}$  converges to  $h\sqrt{p_{\psi}}$  in  $L^2(\mathbb{T})$ . We also know that  $h_n = S_n(gp_{\psi})$ , but without assuming stronger integrability conditions on  $gp_{\psi}$  ( $L^p(\mathbb{T})$  for some  $p \geq 2$ ), we cannot guarantee that  $S_n(gp_{\psi})$  converges to g in  $L^2(\mathbb{T})$ . It may also be tempting to invoke the Carleson–Hunt theorem to get almost everywhere pointwise convergence of the Fourier series of  $gp_{\psi}$  to  $gp_{\psi}$ , but Carleson–Hunt also requires stronger integrability conditions for  $gp_{\psi}$  ( $L^p(\mathbb{T})$  for some p > 1). However, there is a relatively simple technical workaround for this issue which we describe now.

We recall that the Césaro average of a sequence  $(f_k)_{k=0}^{\infty}$  is simply the sequence of the partial averages,

$$\frac{f_0+f_1+\ldots+f_{n-1}}{n}$$

The Césaro averages of the Fourier series of  $gp_{\psi}$  are given by

$$\frac{S_0(gp_{\psi}) + S_1(gp_{\psi}) + \dots + S_{n-1}(gp_{\psi})}{n} = (gp_{\psi}) * F_n,$$

where  $F_n$  is the Féjer kernel. Classical Fourier analysis guarantees that not only does  $(gp_{\psi}) * F_n$  converge to  $gp_{\psi}$  in  $L^1(\mathbb{T})$ , but  $(gp_{\psi}) * F_n$  converges to  $gp_{\psi}$  almost everywhere<sup>5</sup> (see, e.g., Theorem 3.3.3 from [**Gra04**]).

Now, since

$$\frac{h_0\sqrt{p_{\psi}} + \dots + h_{n-1}\sqrt{p_{\psi}}}{n} = \frac{S_0(gp_{\psi}) + \dots + S_{n-1}(gp_{\psi})}{n}\sqrt{p_{\psi}} = ((gp_{\psi}) * F_n) \cdot \sqrt{p_{\psi}},$$

it follows that the Césaro averages of  $h_n\sqrt{p_{\psi}}$  converge to  $gp_{\psi}\sqrt{p_{\psi}}$  almost everywhere. Since  $h_n\sqrt{p_{\psi}}$  converges in  $L^2(\mathbb{T})$  to  $h\sqrt{p_{\psi}}$ , the Césaro averages of  $h_n\sqrt{p_{\psi}}$ must also converge to  $h\sqrt{p_{\psi}}$  in  $L^2(\mathbb{T})$ . Hence some subsequence of the Césaro averages of  $h_n\sqrt{p_{\psi}}$  must converge to  $h\sqrt{p_{\psi}}$  almost everywhere. But this subsequence must also converge to  $gp_{\psi}\sqrt{p_{\psi}}$  almost everywhere. Hence  $gp_{\psi}(\xi) = h(\xi)$  for almost every  $\xi \in U_{\langle \psi \rangle}$ . In particular, we conclude that  $gp_{\psi} \in L^2(\mathbb{T}, p_{\psi})$  and that

$$\lim_{n \to \infty} \sum_{|k| \le n} \langle \varphi, T_k \psi \rangle T_k \psi = \mathcal{I}_{\psi}(gp_{\psi}) = p_{\psi} \bullet \varphi.$$

	-	-	-	٦
L				
L				
	_	_	_	

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup>The proof of this fact is much, much easier than the Carleson-Hunt theorem — because the Féjer kernel, unlike the Dirichlet kernel, is an approximate identity, the proof that the Césaro averages of Fourier series converge almost everywhere is at the level of proving the Lebesgue Differentiation Theorem from the boundedness of the Hardy–Littlewood maximal function from  $L^1(\mathbb{T})$  to weak- $L^1(\mathbb{T})$ .

REMARK 6.4. It is perhaps worth mentioning that, under the assumption that  $\mathcal{B}_{\psi}$  is a minimal system (i.e. (5.3) holds), the proof of Lemma 6.3 is much simpler. Here is the brief argument, using the same notation as in the previous Lemma. From our assumption of convergence, it follows that, for every  $k \in \mathbb{Z}$ ,

$$\langle \mathcal{I}_{\psi}(h), T_k \psi \rangle = \langle \varphi, T_k \psi \rangle.$$

By Lemma 5.12, since  $h \in L^1(\mathbb{T})$ , we have, for every  $k \in \mathbb{Z}$ , the following two equalities:

$$\langle \varphi, T_k \psi \rangle = \widehat{gp_\psi}(-k)$$
 and  
 $\langle \mathcal{I}(h), T_k \widetilde{\psi} \rangle = \widehat{h}(-k).$ 

Since  $gp_{\psi} \in L^1(\mathbb{T})$  as well, we must conclude that  $gp_{\psi} = h$  almost everywhere.

THEOREM 6.5. If  $\psi \in L^2(\mathbb{R})$ , then the following are equivalent:

- (a) There is a constant B with  $0 < B < \infty$  so that  $p_{\psi} \leq B$  a.e.;
- (b) For every  $\varphi \in \langle \psi \rangle$ , one has  $p_{\psi} \bullet \varphi \in \langle \psi \rangle$ ;
- (c) For every  $\varphi \in \langle \psi \rangle$ , one has  $(\langle \varphi, T_k \psi \rangle)_{k \in \mathbb{Z}} \in \ell^2(\mathbb{Z})$ ;
- (d) For every  $\varphi \in \langle \psi \rangle$ , the following limit exists in  $L^2(\mathbb{R})$ :

$$\lim_{n \to \infty} \sum_{|k| \le n} \langle \varphi, T_k \psi \rangle T_k \psi.$$

Furthermore, if any of these equivalent statements hold, then the sequence in (d) converges unconditionally.

PROOF. First, the theorem is trivial if  $\psi \equiv 0$ , so we may assume that  $\psi \not\equiv 0$ . We prove that (a) implies (b), (c), (d), and that the convergence in (d) is unconditional. Let us assume that (a) holds. Consider  $\varphi \in \langle \psi \rangle$  and take  $g \in L^2(\mathbb{T}, p_{\psi})$  such that  $\mathcal{I}_{\psi}(g) = \varphi$ . Then, by the following trivial calculation,  $g\sqrt{p_{\psi}} \in L^2(\mathbb{T}, p_{\psi})$ :

$$\int_{\mathbb{T}} |g\sqrt{p_{\psi}}|^2 p_{\psi} = \int_{\mathbb{T}} |g|^2 p_{\psi} \cdot p_{\psi} \le B \int_{\mathbb{T}} |g|^2 p_{\psi} < \infty.$$

Observe now that  $g_{\sqrt{p_{\psi}}} \in L^2(\mathbb{T}, p_{\psi})$  is equivalent to  $gp_{\psi} \in L^2(\mathbb{T})$ . Since  $(c_k)_{k \in \mathbb{Z}} := \langle \varphi, T_k \psi \rangle = \widehat{gp_{\psi}}(-k)$  and  $gp_{\psi} \in L^2(\mathbb{T})$ , we conclude that  $(c_k)_{k \in \mathbb{Z}} \in \ell^2(\mathbb{Z})$ , which gives (c). Applying Theorem 4.13d, we obtain that

$$\sum_{k\in\mathbb{Z}}c_kT_k\psi=\sum_{k\in\mathbb{Z}}\langle\varphi,T_k\psi\rangle T_k\psi$$

converges unconditionally. We may now apply Lemma 6.3 to conclude that the limit is  $p_{\psi} \bullet \varphi$ , and thus (b).

Second, we establish that (d) and (c) independently imply (b). Certainly, (d) implies (b) by Lemma 6.3. We now prove that (c) implies (a) and therefore (b). Let us assume (c). Consider  $\varphi \in \langle \psi \rangle$  and take  $g \in L^2(\mathbb{T}, p_{\psi})$  such that  $\mathcal{I}_{\psi}(g) = \varphi$ . As in the proof of Lemma 6.3, we conclude that  $gp_{\psi} \in L^1(\mathbb{T})$  and that, for every  $k \in \mathbb{Z}$ , one has  $\langle \varphi, T_k \psi \rangle = \widehat{gp_{\psi}}(-k)$ . By (c) it follows that  $((\widehat{gp_{\psi}}(k))_{k \in \mathbb{Z}} \in \ell^2(\mathbb{Z}))$  which implies that  $gp_{\psi} \in L^2(\mathbb{T})$ , i.e.  $g \in L^2(\mathbb{T}, p_{\psi}^2)$ . Hence we have proved that, in the set sense,

$$L^2(\mathbb{T}, p_\psi) \subseteq L^2(\mathbb{T}, p_\psi^2).$$

Now, observe that Lemma 4.11 holds for weights w, v with exactly the same zero sets (the proof goes verbatim with 1/w considered outside the zero set). Therefore, this

minor modification of Lemma 4.11 shows that there exists a constant  $0 < C < \infty$  so that  $p_{\psi}^2 \leq C p_{\psi}$ . This obviously implies (a) and thus (b).

Finally, we prove that (b) implies (a). Let us assume that (b) is valid. Consider  $g \in L^2(\mathbb{T}, p_{\psi})$ . Since  $\mathcal{I}_{\psi}(g) \in \langle \psi \rangle$ , it follows by (b) that  $p_{\psi} \bullet \mathcal{I}_{\psi}(g) \in \langle \psi \rangle$ , which implies that  $gp_{\psi} \in L^2(\mathbb{T}, p_{\psi})$ , i.e. that  $g \in L^2(\mathbb{T}, p_{\psi}^3)$ . Hence, we have shown that, at the set level,

$$L^2(\mathbb{T}, p_\psi) \subseteq L^2(\mathbb{T}, p_\psi^3)$$

Using the same modification of the Lemma 4.11 we used above, we conclude that there exists a C so that  $p_{\psi}^3 \leq C p_{\psi}$ . This then implies that  $p_{\psi} \leq \sqrt{C}$ , which guarantees (a).

It is easy to compute the  $\ell^2(\mathbb{Z})$ -norm of the sequence  $(\langle \varphi, T_k \psi \rangle)_{k \in \mathbb{Z}}$  in the context of the previous theorem. With this purpose in mind, consider  $\psi \in L^2(\mathbb{T})$  such that  $p_{\psi} \leq B$  almost everywhere. Take any  $\varphi \in \langle \psi \rangle$ ; hence, there is a  $g \in L^2(\mathbb{T}, p_{\psi})$  such that  $\mathcal{I}_{\psi}(g) = \varphi$  (or, equivalently,  $\varphi = g \bullet \psi$ ). Since the inner product is continuous, using Theorem 6.5 we obtain

(6.6) 
$$\langle p_{\psi} \bullet \varphi, \varphi \rangle_{L^{2}(\mathbb{R})} = \sum_{k \in \mathbb{Z}} \langle \varphi, T_{k}\psi \rangle \langle T_{k}\psi, \varphi \rangle = \sum_{k \in \mathbb{Z}} |\langle \varphi, T_{k}\psi \rangle_{L^{2}(\mathbb{R})}|^{2}.$$

Observe that the left side of (6.6) can be expressed in several ways:

(6.7) 
$$\langle p_{\psi} \bullet \varphi, \varphi \rangle_{L^{2}(\mathbb{R})} = \int_{\mathbb{R}} |\widehat{\varphi}(\xi)|^{2} p_{\psi}(\xi) d\xi = \int_{\mathbb{T}} p_{\varphi}(\xi) p_{\psi}(\xi) d\xi$$
$$= \int_{\mathbb{T}} |[\varphi, \psi](\xi)|^{2} d\xi = \int_{\mathbb{T}} |g(\xi) p_{\psi}(\xi)|^{2} d\xi.$$

The function  $\xi \mapsto p_{\varphi}(\xi) \cdot p_{\psi}(\xi)$  is in  $L^1(\mathbb{T})$  since  $p_{\psi}$  is bounded above and  $p_{\varphi} \in L^1(\mathbb{T})$ .

- REMARK 6.8. (i) Comparing the sums in (6.1) and (6.2) we can see that the "natural" choice of coefficients,  $\langle \varphi, T_k \tilde{\psi} \rangle$ , is actually at a disadvantage. For convergence of (6.2), the condition  $p_{\psi} \leq B$  is sufficient, while for (6.1), one requires minimality of  $\mathcal{B}_{\psi}$  which excludes any possibility of redundancy for the system  $\mathcal{B}_{\psi}$ . Under the requirement that  $p_{\psi} \leq B$ , the sums in (6.2) converge unconditionally for every  $\varphi \in \langle \psi \rangle$ ; assuming minimality for  $\mathcal{B}_{\psi}$ , the sums in (6.1) may or may not converge for a particular  $\varphi \in \langle \psi \rangle$  and, even if they do converge, the convergence may only be conditional. For (6.2) (with  $p_{\psi} \leq B$ ), the coefficients are always in  $\ell^2(\mathbb{Z})$ , while, for (6.1), the coefficients may not be in  $\ell^2(\mathbb{Z})$ . The price we pay in (6.2) is that the limit may not be  $\varphi$ . However, we do have an explicit form for the limit.
- (ii) Observe that (c) in Theorem 6.5 is the "dual property" to the (RF)-property.
- (iii) If  $\psi \in L^2(\mathbb{R})$  is a Parseval frame wavelet (see [**ŠSW08**] for definitions and details), then  $p_{\psi} \leq 1$ .

In order to completely understand Theorem 6.5, we need to explore what happens with various conditions in individual cases (notice that the statements in the theorem are given in the form "for every  $\varphi \in \langle \psi \rangle$ "). So, consider  $\psi \in L^2(\mathbb{R})$ ,  $\varphi \in \langle \psi \rangle$ , and  $g \in L^2(\mathbb{T}, p_{\psi})$  such that  $\mathcal{I}_{\psi}(g) = \varphi$ . As we have seen in Lemma 6.3, the convergence of the sum in (6.1) immediately implies that  $p_{\psi} \bullet \varphi \in \langle \psi \rangle$ , i.e., that

(6.9) 
$$gp_{\psi} \in L^2(\mathbb{T}, p_{\psi}).$$
Let us explore the implications of the condition (6.9). Observe first that, taken by itself, this condition will not imply that  $gp_{\psi} \in L^2(\mathbb{T})$  — take, for example,  $\psi$ such that  $p_{\psi} > 0$  and  $p_{\psi}^{-1} \notin L^1(\mathbb{T})$ , then choose  $g := p_{\psi}^{-3/2}$  to obtain  $|g|^2 p_{\psi}^3 \in L^1(\mathbb{T})$ and  $|g|^2 p_{\psi}^2 = p_{\psi}^{-1} \notin L^1(\mathbb{T})$ . However, if we know, as assumed above, the condition  $g \in L^2(\mathbb{T}, p_{\psi})$  also holds, then (6.9) implies that  $|g|\sqrt{p_{\psi}} \in L^2(\mathbb{T})$  and  $|g|p_{\psi}^{3/2} \in L^2(\mathbb{T})$ , which implies that  $|g|^2 p_{\psi}^2 \in L^1(\mathbb{T})$ , i.e. that

Obviously, since  $\langle \varphi, T_k \psi \rangle = \widehat{gp_{\psi}}(-k)$ , one has that (6.10) is equivalent (under the assumption  $g \in L^2(\mathbb{T}, p_{\psi})$ ) to the condition

(6.11) 
$$(\langle \varphi, T_k \psi \rangle)_{k \in \mathbb{Z}} \in \ell^2(\mathbb{Z})$$

However, although (6.10) (or, equivalently, (6.11)) will ensure that

$$\sum_{k \in \mathbb{Z}} \langle \varphi, T_k \psi \rangle e^{-2\pi i k \xi} = g p_{\psi} \text{ in } L^2(\mathbb{T}),$$

it will not necessarily ensure the convergence in (6.1). Using Lemma 6.3, this follows from the fact that (6.10) does not imply (6.9) — take  $\psi \in L^2(\mathbb{R})$  such that  $p_{\psi} > 0$  and  $p_{\psi} \notin L^2(\mathbb{T})$ , then consider  $g := p_{\psi}^{-1/2}$  to conclude that  $|g|^2 p_{\psi}^2 = p_{\psi} \in L^1(\mathbb{T})$ , but  $|g|^2 p_{\psi}^3 = p_{\psi}^2 \notin L^1(\mathbb{T})$ .

Let us briefly explore the mapping

$$(6.12) g \mapsto g p_{\psi}$$

within the space  $L^2(\mathbb{T}, p_{\psi})$ . First of all, it is not difficult to check that the domain of the mapping is a subspace of  $L^2(\mathbb{T}, p_{\psi})$  given by

(6.13) 
$$\left\{\frac{h}{p_{\psi}}\chi_{U_{\langle\psi\rangle}}:h\in L^{2}(\mathbb{T},p_{\psi})\cap L^{2}(\mathbb{T},p_{\psi}^{-1}\chi_{U_{\langle\psi\rangle}})\right\}.$$

Observe that the measures  $p_{\psi}d\xi$  and  $p_{\psi}^{-1}(\xi)\chi_{U_{\langle\psi\rangle}}(\xi)d\xi$  generate the same family of null sets (however, the second measure might not be a finite measure). The following example shows that the subspace given by (6.13) is never a trivial one (unless  $\psi$  itself is trivial).

EXAMPLE 6.14. Consider  $\psi \neq 0$  with  $\psi \in L^2(\mathbb{R})$ . Define the function h on  $\mathbb{T}$  by

$$h(\xi) := \begin{cases} \frac{1}{\sqrt{p_{\psi}(\xi)}} & \text{if } \xi \in \{p_{\psi} > 1\} \\ \sqrt{p_{\psi}(\xi)} & \text{if } \xi \in \{p_{\psi} \le 1\} \end{cases}.$$

Obviously  $h \leq 1$  and is non-trivial since  $h(\xi) > 0$  for  $\xi \in U_{\langle \psi \rangle}$ , which is presumed to be a set of positive Lebesgue measure. The integrals of  $h^2 p_{\psi}$  over  $\{p_{\psi} \leq 1\}$  and of  $h^2 p_{\psi}^{-1} \chi_{U_{\langle \psi \rangle}}$  over  $\{p_{\psi} > 1\}$  are obviously finite. Moreover, one has

$$\int_{\{p_{\psi}>1\}} h^2 p_{\psi} = \int_{\{p_{\psi}>1\}} \frac{1}{p_{\psi}} p_{\psi} \le \int_{\mathbb{T}} 1 = 1$$

and

$$\int_{\{p_{\psi} \le 1\}} h^2 \frac{1}{p_{\psi}} \chi_{U_{\langle \psi \rangle}} = \int_{U_{\langle \psi \rangle} \cap \{p_{\psi} \le 1\}} p_{\psi} \frac{1}{p_{\psi}} \le \int_{\mathbb{T}} 1 = 1.$$

It follows that  $hp_{\psi}^{-1}\chi_{U_{\langle\psi\rangle}}$  is a non-trivial element of the subspace given by (6.13).

31

 $\diamond$ 

#### 321. PRINCIPAL SHIFT-INVARIANT SPACES: PRELIMINARIES AND AUXILIARY RESULTS

Consider any  $h \in L^2(\mathbb{T}, p_{\psi}) \cap L^2(\mathbb{T}, p_{\psi}^{-1}\chi_{U_{\langle \psi \rangle}})$ . We obtain

$$\int_{\mathbb{T}} |h|^{2} \chi_{U_{\langle\psi\rangle}} = \int_{\{p_{\psi} \ge 1\}} |h|^{2} + \int_{U_{\langle\psi\rangle} \cap \{p_{\psi} < 1\}} |h|^{2}$$

$$\leq \int_{\{p_{\psi} \ge 1\}} |h|^{2} p_{\psi} + \int_{U_{\langle\psi\rangle} \cap \{p_{\psi} < 1\}} |h|^{2} \frac{1}{p_{\psi}}$$

$$\leq \int_{\mathbb{T}} |h|^{2} p_{\psi} + \int_{\mathbb{T}} |h|^{2} \frac{1}{p_{\psi}} \chi_{U_{\langle\psi\rangle}}$$

$$< \infty.$$

Hence we always have (in the sense of set containment)

(6.15) 
$$L^{2}(\mathbb{T}, p_{\psi}) \cap L^{2}(\mathbb{T}, p_{\psi}^{-1}\chi_{U_{\langle\psi\rangle}}) \subseteq L^{2}(\mathbb{T}, \chi_{U_{\langle\psi\rangle}})$$

Observe that, for a maximal shift-invariant space  $\langle \psi \rangle$  we have the set on the right side of (6.15) is  $L^2(\mathbb{T})$ . Using these observations together with Theorem 6.5, parts (a) and (b), it is easy to see that the following result holds.

COROLLARY 6.16. The domain given in (6.13) equals the entire space  $L^2(\mathbb{T}, p_{\psi})$ if and only if there is a constant  $B \in (0, \infty)$  so that  $p_{\psi} \leq B$  almost everywhere. Furthermore, if this is the case, then

$$L^{2}(\mathbb{T}, p_{\psi}^{-1}\chi_{U_{\langle\psi\rangle}}) \subseteq L^{2}(\mathbb{T}, \chi_{U_{\langle\psi\rangle}}) \subseteq L^{2}(\mathbb{T}, p_{\psi}).$$

It is also easy to see that the image of the mapping given in (6.12) is equal to the following subspace of  $L^2(\mathbb{T}, p_{\psi})$ :

(6.17) 
$$L^2(\mathbb{T}, p_{\psi}) \cap L^2(\mathbb{T}, p_{\psi}^{-1}\chi_{U_{\langle\psi\rangle}})$$

Obviously then, the image of the mapping in (6.12) is equal to the entire space  $L^2(\mathbb{T}, p_{\psi})$  (or, in other words, the mapping in (6.12) is surjective) if and only if

(6.18) 
$$L^2(\mathbb{T}, p_{\psi}) \subseteq L^2(\mathbb{T}, p_{\psi}^{-1}\chi_{U_{\langle\psi\rangle}}).$$

Using now the modification of Lemma 4.11 for weights with the same zero sets (as was already used in the proof of Theorem 6.5) we obtain that (6.18) is equivalent to

(6.19)

there exists a constant  $A \in (0, \infty)$  so that  $p_{\psi} \ge A \chi_{U_{\langle \psi \rangle}}$  almost everywhere.

Observe also that if (6.19) holds, then

(6.20) 
$$L^{2}(\mathbb{T}, p_{\psi}) \subseteq L^{2}(\mathbb{T}, \chi_{U_{\langle \psi \rangle}}) \subseteq L^{2}(\mathbb{T}, p_{\psi}^{-1}\chi_{U_{\langle \psi \rangle}})$$

Since the mapping given in (6.12) is always injective (within  $L^2(\mathbb{T}, p_{\psi})$ ), we have proved the following result.

COROLLARY 6.21. The mapping given in (6.12) is a bijection from  $L^2(\mathbb{T}, p_{\psi})$ onto  $L^2(\mathbb{T}, p_{\psi})$  if and only if there exist constants  $0 < A \leq B < \infty$  so that

(6.22) 
$$A\chi_{U_{\langle\psi\rangle}} \le p_{\psi} \le B\chi_{U_{\langle\psi\rangle}} \text{ almost everywhere.}$$

We assume that our reader is familiar with the notion of a *frame* (see, for example, **[HW96]** and **[HŠWW10b]** for definitions and further references). It is well-known (see, for example, **[HŠWW10b]**) that (6.22) is equivalent to  $\mathcal{B}_{\psi}$  being a frame for  $\langle \psi \rangle$ . If, moreover, A = B = 1, then  $\mathcal{B}_{\psi}$  is called a *Parseval frame* (it is also fairly common, especially in older literature, for this to be called a *normalized* 

tight frame; the term tight frame relaxes the condition in a Parseval frame to only requiring that A = B). Obviously, if  $\langle \psi \rangle$  is a maximal shift-invariant space, then (6.22) is equivalent to  $\mathcal{B}_{\psi}$  being a Riesz basis for  $\langle \psi \rangle$  (the case A = B = 1 then corresponds to  $\mathcal{B}_{\psi}$  being an orthonormal basis for  $\langle \psi \rangle$ ). In conclusion, using Theorem 6.5, we can rephrase Corollary 6.21 as follows.

COROLLARY 6.23. Let  $\psi \in L^2(\mathbb{R})$ . Then we have (i) for every  $\varphi \in \langle \psi \rangle$ 

$$p_{\psi} \bullet \varphi = \sum_{k \in \mathbb{Z}} \langle \varphi, T_k \psi \rangle T_k \psi;$$

and

(ii) for every  $\eta \in \langle \psi \rangle$  there exists a unique  $\varphi \in \langle \psi \rangle$  so that

$$\eta = \sum_{k \in \mathbb{Z}} \langle \varphi, T_k \psi \rangle T_k \psi$$

if and only if  $\mathcal{B}_{\psi} = \{T_k \psi : k \in \mathbb{Z}\}$  is a frame for  $\langle \psi \rangle$ . Furthermore if this is the case, then (on the set level)

$$L^{2}(\mathbb{T}, p_{\psi}^{-1}\chi_{U_{\langle\psi\rangle}}) = L^{2}(\mathbb{T}, \chi_{U_{\langle\psi\rangle}}) = L^{2}(\mathbb{T}, p_{\psi}).$$

## 7. Redundancy Remarks

For non-trivial  $\psi \in L^2(\mathbb{R})$ , the set  $\mathcal{B}_{\psi}$  is linearly independent, so the only way to achieve redundancy is via infinite sums, i.e.

(7.1) 
$$\lim_{n \to \infty} \sum_{|k| \le n} c_k T_k \psi \equiv 0$$

so that  $(c_k)_{k\in\mathbb{Z}}$  is a non-trivial sequence of scalars. Particularly useful are non-trivial unconditional sums of the form

(7.2) 
$$\sum_{k\in\mathbb{Z}}c_kT_k\psi\equiv 0.$$

Observe that such sums can be used "to recover" any coefficients since we have, for every  $\ell \in \mathbb{Z}$ ,

However, the unconditional convergence in (7.2) implies that  $(c_k)_{k\in\mathbb{Z}} \in \ell^2(\mathbb{Z})$ ; as a consequence non-trivial sums of the form (7.2) are possible only if the Lebesgue measure of the zero set of  $p_{\psi}$  is positive, i.e.

$$(7.4) |Z_{\langle\psi\rangle}| > 0,$$

i.e. if  $\langle \psi \rangle$  is not a maximal principal shift-invariant space.

REMARK 7.5. As we have seen in Section 5, there is no redundancy of any kind if  $\mathcal{B}_{\psi}$  is maximal, i.e. if  $p_{\psi}^{-1} \in L^1(\mathbb{T})$ . In particular, this also shows that the (B)-property of  $\mathcal{B}_{\psi}$  is incompatible with the idea of redundancy. The same holds for the (RF)-property of  $\mathcal{B}_{\psi}$ .

Let us also mention that for a maximal principal shift-invariant space  $\langle \psi \rangle$  such that  $\mathcal{B}_{\psi}$  is not minimal, we have non-trivial sums of the form (7.1), but the coefficients  $(c_k)_{k \in \mathbb{Z}} \notin \ell^2(\mathbb{Z})$ . Unfortunately, we cannot say much more about these types of spaces  $\langle \psi \rangle$  (see also Remark 5.5).

REMARK 7.6. In order to understand redundancy issues for maximal principal shift-invariant spaces  $\langle \psi \rangle$ , it may be interesting to consider the following open question. Given  $\psi \in L^2(\mathbb{R})$  such that  $\langle \psi \rangle$  is a maximal principal shift-invariant space, is there a non-trivial sequence

$$(c_k)_{k\in\mathbb{Z}}\in\bigcap_{p>2}\ell^p(\mathbb{Z})$$

such that

$$\lim_{n \to \infty} \sum_{|k| \le n} c_k T_k \psi \equiv 0?$$

We turn our attention to the non-maximal case, i.e. to a principal shiftinvariant space  $\langle \psi \rangle$  such that  $p_{\psi}$  satisfies (7.4). If there exists a sum of the form (7.2), i.e.  $(c_k)$  is non-trivial and  $\sum_{k \in \mathbb{Z}} c_k T_k \psi \equiv 0$ , then we must have  $(c_k) \in \ell^2(\mathbb{Z})$ . It follows that there exists  $f \in L^2(\mathbb{Z})$  with  $(c_k)_{k \in \mathbb{Z}}$  being its Fourier coefficients. By the Carleson theorem, for Lebesgue-almost everywhere  $\xi \in \mathbb{T}$ ,

(7.7) 
$$\sum_{|k| \le n} c_{-k} e^{2\pi i k \xi} \to f(\xi).$$

Since, by (7.2), we have that

$$\left\|\sum_{|k|\leq n} c_{-k} e^{2\pi i k \xi}\right\| \to 0,$$

we conclude that f has to satisfy (in the almost everywhere sense)

(7.8) ssupp 
$$(f) \subseteq Z_{\langle \psi \rangle}$$

This means that our candidates for sums of the form (7.2) are to be selected via functions  $f \in L^2(\mathbb{T})$  such that (7.8) holds. Unfortunately, in general such a function does not have to generate convergent sums in (7.2). This obviously changes if  $p_{\psi}$  is bounded above. In other words, we have the following result.

PROPOSITION 7.9. Let  $\psi \in L^2(\mathbb{R})$  such that  $\psi \neq 0$ ,  $|Z_{\langle \psi \rangle}| > 0$  and there exists  $B \in (0, \infty)$  so that  $p_{\psi} \leq B$ . Then  $\sum_{k \in \mathbb{Z}} c_k T_k \psi \equiv 0$  (in the sense of  $L^2(\mathbb{R})$ -norm) with non-trivial coefficients  $(c_k)_{k \in \mathbb{Z}}$  if and only if  $f \in L^2(\mathbb{T})$  such that supp  $(f) \subseteq Z_{\langle \psi \rangle}$  and, for every  $k \in \mathbb{Z}$ ,  $\widehat{f}(k) = c_{-k}$ .

REMARK 7.10. Despite the fact that Proposition 7.9 completely characterizes "unconditional redundancy sums" in the case of a bounded  $p_{\psi}$ , the actual choice of such sums may be quite limited. It will depend on the properties of the set  $Z_{\langle\psi\rangle}$ . Recall that  $\ell^2(\mathbb{Z})$  contains every  $\ell^p(\mathbb{Z})$  for  $1 \leq p < 2$ , but, despite  $\psi$  satisfying (7.4) we may not be able to select our coefficients within some of these spaces. More precisely (consult Remark 5.5), assuming that  $p_{\psi}$  is bounded above, we have (see  $[\mathbf{\tilde{SS12}}]$ ) that  $\mathcal{B}_{\psi}$  is  $\ell^p(\mathbb{Z})$ -linearly independent,  $1 \leq p \leq 2$ , if and only if  $Z_{\langle\psi\rangle}$  is an  $\ell^p(\mathbb{Z})$ -set of uniqueness (see  $[\mathbf{\tilde{SS12}}]$  and  $[\mathbf{Kat04}]$  for definitions and details).

Recall (see [Kat04] and [HK65]) that for every p < 2 there are  $\ell^p$ -sets of uniqueness of positive Lebesgue measure. For  $1 \leq q , every <math>\ell^p$ -set of uniqueness is also an  $\ell^q$ -set of uniqueness, and there exists an  $\ell^q$ -set of uniqueness

which is not an  $\ell^p$ -set of uniqueness. Furthermore, given  $\varepsilon > 0$ , there exists a measurable set  $E \subseteq \mathbb{T}$  such that  $1 - \varepsilon < |E| \le 1$  and E is an  $\ell^p$ -set of uniqueness for every p < 2; in particular, if  $Z_{\langle \psi \rangle}$  is such a set, then candidates for the sum of the form (7.2) could be selected only among

$$(c_k)_{k\in\mathbb{Z}}\in\ell^2(\mathbb{Z})\setminus\left(\bigcup_{p<2}\ell^p(\mathbb{Z})\right).$$

Let us also comment on the possibility that every principal shift-invariant space  $\langle \psi \rangle$  with the property (7.4) can be continuously embedded into infinitely many maximal principal shift-invariant space. To simplify matters, we can define a particular choice via the following function  $\psi_{\max} \in L^2(\mathbb{R})$ , defined by

(7.11) 
$$\widehat{\psi_{\max}}(\xi) := \begin{cases} 1 & \text{if } \xi \in Z_{\langle \psi \rangle} \cap [0,1] \\ \widehat{\psi}(\xi) & \text{otherwise} \end{cases}$$

Obviously, then,  $\langle \psi \rangle \subseteq \langle \psi_{\max} \rangle$  and  $\langle \psi_{\max} \rangle$  is a maximal principal shift-invariant space. Furthermore, for  $\varphi \in \langle \psi_{\max} \rangle$  we define its projection on  $\langle \psi \rangle$  via

(7.12) 
$$\chi_{U_{\langle\psi\rangle}} \bullet \varphi;$$

see [LWW15] for the related idea of the projection. If  $p_{\psi}$  is bounded above, then our "redundancy sums" candidates are also given via

(7.13) 
$$\chi_{Z_{\langle\psi\rangle}} \bullet \varphi, \varphi \in \langle\psi_{\max}\rangle.$$

Particularly nice is the case when  $\mathcal{B}_{\psi}$  is a frame for  $\langle \psi \rangle$ . In that case,  $L^2(\mathbb{T}, p_{\psi_{\max}})$  can be identified, in the set sense, with

(7.14) 
$$L^{2}(\mathbb{T}, \chi_{U_{\langle\psi\rangle}}) \oplus L^{2}(\mathbb{T}, \chi_{Z_{\langle\psi\rangle}}).$$

Every  $\varphi \in \langle \psi \rangle$  can be represented as  $\mathcal{I}_{\psi}(g)$ , for some  $g \in L^2(\mathbb{T}, \chi_{U_{\langle \psi \rangle}})$ , and expanded in terms of  $\mathcal{B}_{\psi}$  as an unconditional sum with  $\ell^2(\mathbb{Z})$ -coefficients, and every "unconditional redundancy sum" of the form (7.2) is given via some  $h \in L^2(\mathbb{T}, \chi_{Z_{\langle \psi \rangle}})$ .

## CHAPTER 2

# MRA Structure

## 1. Dilations and Shift-invariant Spaces

We shall use D to denote the *dyadic dilation operator*; that is,  $D : L^2(\mathbb{R}) \to L^2(\mathbb{R})$  is the unitary operator given by  $D\psi(x) = \sqrt{2}\psi(2x)$  for  $\psi \in L^2(\mathbb{R})$  and  $x \in \mathbb{R}$ . The operator  $T = T_1$  does not commute with D, but the two operators do share the following relationship:

$$(1.1) TD = DT^2$$

As in the case of T, we shall denote the k-th integer power of D by  $D_k$ . Since the order in which we apply T and D matters, we shall introduce the following notation. For  $j, k \in \mathbb{Z}$ ,

(1.2) 
$$\psi_{jk} := D_j T_k \psi$$
$$\psi^{jk} := T_k D_j \psi$$

Thus for  $x \in \mathbb{R}$ , we have  $\psi_{jk}(x) = 2^{j/2}\psi(2^jx-k)$  and  $\psi^{jk}(x) = 2^{j/2}\psi(2^j(x-k))$ . In particular,

(1.3) 
$$\psi^{jk} = \psi_{j,2^jk}.$$

The family  $\{2^{j/2}\psi(2^{j}x-k): j,k \in \mathbb{Z}\}$  is the main object of our study. This family is, of course, fundamentally important in the study of wavelet theory, and we assume that our readers are familiar with the basic notions from the theory of wavelets, such as bases, orthonormal wavelets, MRA wavelets, frames, Parseval frames, Parseval frame wavelets, and the like. The theory of wavelets has been thoroughly studied by many authors; standard references include the books by I. Daubechies [**Dau92**], Y. Meyer [**Mey90**], R. Coifman and Y. Meyer [**MC97**], C.K. Chui [**Chu92**], and M.V. Wickerhauser [**Wic94**].

In this section we shall review and further explore the action of D on shiftinvariant spaces. Recall first (see, for example, Theorem 3.3 in [**Bow00**]) that, for every shift-invariant space  $V \subset L^2(\mathbb{R})$ , there exists a countable family  $\mathcal{F} \subset L^2(\mathbb{R})$ such that V is equal to the following orthogonal sum:

(1.4) 
$$\bigoplus_{f\in\mathcal{F}}\langle f\rangle.$$

Given a unitary operator  $U: L^2(\mathbb{R}) \to L^2(\mathbb{R})$ , we obtain

(1.5) 
$$U(V) = \bigoplus_{f \in \mathcal{F}} U(\langle f \rangle).$$

Hence, U "preserves the shift-invariant space property" if and only if  $U(\langle \psi \rangle)$  is a shift-invariant space for every  $\psi \in L^2(\mathbb{R})$ . Since

$$U(\langle \psi \rangle) = \overline{\operatorname{span}} \langle UT_k \psi : k \in \mathbb{Z} \},$$

#### 2. MRA STRUCTURE

it follows that  $U(\langle \psi \rangle)$  is a shift-invariant space if and only if, for every  $\ell \in \mathbb{Z}$ ,

(1.6) 
$$TUT_{\ell}\psi\in\overline{\operatorname{span}}\langle UT_{k}\psi:k\in\mathbb{Z}\}.$$

For example, if  $U = D_{-1}$ , then  $TD_{-1}T_{\ell}\psi = D_{-1}T_{\ell+\frac{1}{2}}\psi$  — obviously  $\ell + \frac{1}{2} \notin \mathbb{Z}$ — and it is not difficult to see that  $D_{-1}(\langle \psi \rangle)$  is not necessarily a shift-invariant space. However, in the case of U = D, we obtain  $TDT_{\ell}\psi = DT_{\ell+2}\psi$ , which shows that  $D(\langle \psi \rangle)$  is always a shift-invariant space. Consequently, we obtain the wellknown result that, for every shift-invariant space  $V \subset L^2(\mathbb{R})$ 

(1.7) 
$$D(V)$$
 is a shift-invariant space.

There is the following well-known formula (see, for example, [**BR05**]) for the dimension function:

(1.8) 
$$\dim_{D(V)}(2\xi) = \dim_{V}(\xi) + \dim_{V}(\xi + 1/2),$$

for  $\xi \in \mathbb{R}$ . Indeed, we shall see that a 2-valued mapping

(1.9) 
$$\xi \mapsto \frac{\xi}{2} \text{ and } \frac{\xi}{2} + \frac{1}{2},$$

for  $\xi \in \mathbb{T}$  plays an important role in our analysis.

Let us explore  $D(\langle \psi \rangle)$  for  $\psi \in L^2(\mathbb{R})$  in detail. First of all,  $D(\langle \psi \rangle)$  is the shift-invariant space generated by  $D\psi$  and  $DT\psi$ , i.e.

(1.10) 
$$D(\langle \psi \rangle) = \langle \psi_{10}, \psi_{11} \rangle.$$

Identifying  $\mathbb{T}$  with [0,1), we obtain by (1.8) that for  $0 \leq \xi < 1$ ,

(1.11) 
$$\dim_{D(\langle\psi\rangle)} = \chi_{2U_{\langle\psi\rangle}\cap[0,1)}(\xi) + \chi_{[2U_{\langle\psi\rangle}\cap[1,2)]-1}(\xi).$$

Using the notation  $U_L = U_L(\langle \psi \rangle) := 2U_{\langle \psi \rangle} \cap [0,1)$  and  $U_R = U_R(\langle \psi \rangle) := [2U_{\langle \psi \rangle} \cap [1,2)] - 1$ , we obtain, for  $0 \le \xi < 1$ ,

(1.12) 
$$\dim_{D(\langle\psi\rangle)}(\xi) = \begin{cases} 0 & \text{if } \xi \notin U_L \cup U_R \\ 1 & \text{if } \xi \in U_L \triangle U_R \\ 2 & \text{if } \xi \in U_L \cap U_R \end{cases}$$

Here,  $\triangle$  denotes the symmetric difference of two sets. As always, the dim function is 1-periodic and can be extended from (1.12) to  $\mathbb{R}$ .

REMARK 1.13. Observe that one can construct  $\dim_{D(\langle \psi \rangle)}$  knowing only  $U_{\langle \psi \rangle}$ . Indeed, for  $0 \leq \xi < 1$ ,

$$\dim_{D(\langle\psi\rangle)}(\xi) = 0 \text{ if and only if } \frac{\xi}{2}, \frac{\xi}{2} + \frac{1}{2} \notin U_{\langle\psi\rangle};$$
  
$$\dim_{D(\langle\psi\rangle)}(\xi) = 1 \text{ if and only if exactly one of } \frac{\xi}{2}, \frac{\xi}{2} + \frac{1}{2} \text{ is in } U_{\langle\psi\rangle};$$
  
$$\dim_{D(\langle\psi\rangle)}(\xi) = 2 \text{ if and only if } \frac{\xi}{2}, \frac{\xi}{2} + \frac{1}{2} \in U_{\langle\psi\rangle}.$$

Some specific cases now follow easily.

COROLLARY 1.14. Let  $\psi \in L^2(\mathbb{R})$ .

- (a)  $\dim_{D(\langle \psi \rangle)}$  takes only the values 0 and 2 if and only if  $U_{\langle \psi \rangle}$  is 1/2-periodic.
- (b)  $\dim_{D(\langle\psi\rangle)} \equiv 2$  if and only if  $U_{\langle\psi\rangle} = \mathbb{R}$  (which is equivalent to  $\langle\psi\rangle$  being a maximal shift-invariant space). In this case,  $\dim_{D_j(\langle\psi\rangle)} \equiv 2^j$ , for every  $j \in \mathbb{N} \cup \{0\}$ .

The following examples demonstrate that various other configurations for  $\dim_{D}(\langle \psi \rangle)$  are possible.

EXAMPLE 1.15. Consider  $\psi \in L^2(\mathbb{R})$  such that  $U_{\langle \psi \rangle} \cap [0,1) = [1/4,3/4)$  for example, one could take  $\hat{\psi} = \chi_{[1/4,3/4]}$ . Then one obtains  $U_L = [1/2,1)$  and  $U_R = [0,1/2)$ , i.e.

$$\dim_{D(\langle\psi\rangle)} \equiv 1$$

It follows that  $D(\langle \psi \rangle)$  is a maximal principal shift-invariant space. By Corollary 1.14b we obtain, for every  $j \in \mathbb{N}$ ,

$$\dim_{D_j(\langle\psi\rangle)} \equiv 2^{j-1}$$

EXAMPLE 1.16. Consider  $\psi \in L^2(\mathbb{R})$  such that  $U_{\langle \psi \rangle} \cap [0,1) = [a,b) \cup [c,d)$ , where  $0 \leq a \leq b \leq 1/2 \leq c \leq d \leq 1$ . We denote the (essential) range of  $\dim_{D(\langle \psi \rangle)}$ by  $\mathcal{R} \subset \{0,1,2\}$ . The following choices of a, b, c, and d provide us with all possible options for  $\mathcal{R}$ .

- a = b and c = d yields  $\mathcal{R} = \{0\}$  obviously this means  $\psi \equiv 0$ .
- a = 1/4, b = c and d = 3/4 yields  $\mathcal{R} = \{1\}$ . This is Example 1.15.
- a = 0, b = c = 1/2, and d = 1 yields  $\mathcal{R} = \{2\}$ .
- a = 0, b = 1/3, c = 2/3, and d = 1 yields  $\mathcal{R} = \{1, 2\}.$
- a = 1/8, b = 1/4, c = 3/4, and d = 7/8 yields  $\mathcal{R} = \{0, 1\}.$
- a = 1/4, b = 1/3, c = 3/4, and d = 5/6 yields  $\mathcal{R} = \{0, 2\}$ .
- a = 1/4, b = 1/3, c = 2/3, and d = 5/6 yields  $\mathcal{R} = \{0, 1, 2\}$ .

REMARK 1.17. Recall the notation  $U_V = \{\xi \in \mathbb{R} : \dim_V(\xi) > 0\}$  for any shift-invariant space V. In comparing  $U_{\langle\psi\rangle}$  and  $U_{D(\langle\psi\rangle)}$ , the intuition is that "the action of D increases the measure of the set  $U_V$ ". We give a precise statement here. Consider the partition of the set  $U_{\langle\psi\rangle} \cap [0, 1)$  given by  $\{U_{\langle\psi\rangle} \cap [0, 1/2), U_{\langle\psi\rangle} \cap [1/2, 1)\}$ . Since  $U_{D(\langle\psi\rangle)} \cap [0, 1) = U_L \cup U_R$ , we obtain

$$\begin{split} |U_L \cup U_R| &\geq \max\{|U_L|, |U_R|\} \\ &= 2 \max\{|U_{\langle \psi \rangle} \cap [0, 1/2)|, |U_{\langle \psi \rangle} \cap [1/2, 1)|\} \\ &\geq |U_{\langle \psi \rangle} \cap [0, 1/2)| + |U_{\langle \psi \rangle} \cap [1/2, 1)| \\ &= |U_{\langle \psi \rangle} \cap [0, 1)|. \end{split}$$

This shows that, for every  $\psi \in L^2(\mathbb{R})$ ,

(1.18) 
$$|U_{D(\langle\psi\rangle)} \cap [0,1)| \ge |U_{\langle\psi\rangle} \cap [0,1)|.$$

Let us also observe the extreme case of this inequality. If  $U_{\langle\psi\rangle}$  is 1/2-periodic, then (1.18) becomes an equality. If  $\dim_{D(\langle\psi\rangle)} \leq 1$ , then

(1.19) 
$$|U_{D(\langle\psi\rangle)} \cap [0,1)| = 2|U_{\langle\psi\rangle} \cap [0,1)|.$$

Recall that (1.10) shows that  $D(\langle \psi \rangle)$  contains and is generated (as a shift-invariant space) by two principal shift-invariant spaces,  $\langle \psi_{10} \rangle$  and  $\langle \psi_{11} \rangle$ . Our next task is to describe the relationship between  $\langle \psi_{10} \rangle$  and  $\langle \psi_{11} \rangle$ . We start with the

$\diamond$	

following list of formulas which are well-known or elementary to derive. For all  $\psi \in L^2(\mathbb{R})$  and almost every  $\xi \in \mathbb{R}$ , we have

(1.20) 
$$\widehat{D\psi}(\xi) = \widehat{\psi_{10}}(\xi) = \frac{1}{\sqrt{2}}\widehat{\psi}(\xi/2) = D_{-1}\widehat{\psi}(\xi) \text{ and}$$
$$\widehat{DT\psi}(\xi) = \widehat{\psi_{11}}(\xi) = e^{-\pi i\xi}\frac{1}{\sqrt{2}}\widehat{\psi}(\xi/2) = e^{-\pi i\xi}\widehat{\psi_{10}}.$$

(1.21) 
$$p_{\psi_{10}}(\xi) = p_{\psi_{11}}(\xi) = \frac{1}{2} \left( p_{\psi}(\xi/2) + p_{\psi}(\xi/2 + 1/2) \right),$$

and similar formulae hold for  $\sigma_{\psi_{10}}$  and  $\sigma_{\psi_{11}}$ .

(1.22) 
$$[\psi_{10}, \psi_{11}](\xi) = \frac{e^{\pi i\xi}}{2} \left( p_{\psi}(\xi/2) - p_{\psi}(\xi/2 + 1/2) \right).$$

(1.23) 
$$|[\psi_{10}, \psi_{11}](\xi)|^2 = \frac{1}{4} \left( p_{\psi}(\xi/2) - p_{\psi}(\xi/2 + 1/2) \right)^2$$
$$p_{\psi_{10}} \cdot p_{\psi_{11}} = \frac{1}{4} \left( p_{\psi}(\xi/2) + p_{\psi}(\xi/2 + 1/2) \right)^2.$$

Using these formulae and the notation and results of Section I.2, we obtain the following characterization of the relationship between  $\langle \psi_{10} \rangle$  and  $\langle \psi_{11} \rangle$ :

COROLLARY 1.24. If  $\psi \in L^2(\mathbb{R})$ , then (a)

$$Z_{D(\langle\psi\rangle)} \subseteq U_{\langle\psi_{10}\rangle\perp\langle\psi_{11}\rangle}$$
  
= { $\xi : p_{\psi}(\xi/2) = p_{\psi}(\xi/2 + 1/2)$ }  
= 2{ $\xi : p_{\psi}(\xi) \text{ is } 1/2\text{-periodic}$ }  
 $\subseteq$  { $\xi : \dim_{D(\langle\psi\rangle)}(\xi) = 0 \text{ or } 2$ };

*(b)* 

$$U_{\langle\psi_{10}\rangle\cap\langle\psi_{11}\rangle} = \{\xi : dim_{D(\langle\psi\rangle)}(\xi) = 1\};$$

*(c)* 

$$U_{\langle \psi_{10} \rangle \angle \langle \psi_{11} \rangle} = \{ \xi : 0 \neq p_{\psi}(\xi/2) \neq p_{\psi}(\xi/2 + 1/2) \neq 0 \}$$
$$\subseteq \{ \xi : dim_{D(\langle \psi \rangle)}(\xi) = 2 \}.$$

COROLLARY 1.25. If  $\psi \in L^2(\mathbb{R})$  and  $\langle \psi \rangle$  is a maximal principal shift-invariant space, then

$$\begin{aligned} |U_{\langle \psi_{10} \rangle \cap \langle \psi_{11} \rangle}| &= 0\\ |Z_{D(\langle \psi \rangle)}| &= 0\\ U_{\langle \psi_{10} \rangle \perp \langle \psi_{11} \rangle} &= \{\xi : p_{\psi}(\xi/2) = p_{\psi}(\xi/2 + 1/2)\}\\ U_{\langle \psi_{10} \rangle \perp \langle \psi_{11} \rangle} &= \{\xi : p_{\psi}(\xi/2) \neq p_{\psi}(\xi/2 + 1/2)\} \end{aligned}$$

COROLLARY 1.26. If  $\psi \in L^2(\mathbb{R})$  and  $\mathcal{B}_{\psi}$  forms a Parseval frame for  $\langle \psi \rangle$ , then

$$\begin{aligned} |U_{\langle\psi_{10}\rangle \angle \langle\psi_{11}\rangle}| &= 0\\ U_{\langle\psi_{10}\rangle \cap \langle\psi_{11}\rangle} &= U_L \triangle U_R\\ U_{\langle\psi_{10}\rangle \perp \langle\psi_{11}\rangle} &= \{\xi : dim_{D(\langle\psi\rangle)}(\xi) = 0 \text{ or } 2\}, \end{aligned}$$

where  $\triangle$  denotes the symmetric difference for sets.

COROLLARY 1.27. If  $\psi \in L^2(\mathbb{R})$ , then  $D(\langle \psi \rangle) = \langle \psi_{10} \rangle \oplus \langle \psi_{11} \rangle$  if and only if  $p_{\psi}$  is 1/2-periodic.

The last result deserves additional attention in the particular case where  $\mathcal{B}_{\psi}$  forms a Parseval frame for  $\langle \psi \rangle$  (or, equivalently, when  $p_{\psi} = \chi_{U_{\langle \psi \rangle}}$ ). Using (1.21) it is easy to prove the following result.

COROLLARY 1.28. If  $\psi \in L^2(\mathbb{R})$  is such that  $\mathcal{B}_{\psi}$  forms a Parseval frame for  $\langle \psi \rangle$ , then the following are equivalent:

- (a)  $\mathcal{B}_{D\psi}$  forms a Parseval frame for  $\langle D\psi \rangle$ ;
- (b)  $\mathcal{B}_{DT\psi}$  forms a Parseval frame for  $\langle DT\psi \rangle$ ;
- (c)  $U_{\langle\psi\rangle}$  is 1/2-periodic;
- (d)  $D(\langle \psi \rangle) = \langle D\psi \rangle \oplus \langle DT\psi \rangle.$

If any of the above equivalent conditions is fulfilled, then  $\mathcal{B}_{D\psi} \cup \mathcal{B}_{DT\psi}$  forms a Parseval frame for  $D(\langle \psi \rangle)$ . If  $\mathcal{B}_{\psi}$  forms an orthonormal basis for  $\langle \psi \rangle$  (i.e.  $U_{\langle \psi \rangle} = \mathbb{R}$  and is 1/2-periodic), then  $\mathcal{B}_{D\psi}$ ,  $\mathcal{B}_{DT\psi}$ , and  $\mathcal{B}_{D\psi} \cup \mathcal{B}_{DT\psi}$  are, respectively, orthonormal bases for  $\langle D\psi \rangle$ ,  $\langle DT\psi \rangle$ , and  $D(\langle \psi \rangle) = \langle D\psi \rangle \oplus \langle DT\psi \rangle$ .

REMARK 1.29. In order to understand previous results more completely, we add several observations.

(i) For every  $\psi \in L^2(\mathbb{R})$  and for every  $\varphi \in \langle \psi \rangle$ , we have

$$\sum_{k\in\mathbb{Z}}|\langle\varphi,T_k\psi\rangle|^2 = \sum_{k\in\mathbb{Z}}|\langle D\varphi,DT_k\psi\rangle|^2 = \sum_{m\in\mathbb{Z}}|\langle D\varphi,T_mD\psi\rangle|^2 + \sum_{n\in\mathbb{Z}}|\langle D\varphi,T_nDT\psi\rangle|^2.$$

In particular, if  $\mathcal{B}_{\psi}$  is a Parseval frame for  $\langle \psi \rangle$ , then  $\mathcal{B}_{D\psi} \cup \mathcal{B}_{DT\psi}$  is a Parseval frame for  $D(\langle \psi \rangle)$  (i.e. always, irrespective of the 1/2-periodicity of  $U_{\langle \psi \rangle}$ ).

- (ii) Take  $0 < \varepsilon < 1/2$  and  $\psi \in L^2(\mathbb{R})$  such that  $\widehat{\psi} = \chi_{[0,\varepsilon)}$ . It is easy to see that  $D(\langle \psi \rangle) = \langle D\psi \rangle = \langle DT\psi \rangle$ , and, in particular,  $\langle D\psi \rangle$  is not orthogonal to  $\langle DT\psi \rangle$ . Moreover,  $\mathcal{B}_{D\psi}$  is not a Parseval frame for  $\langle D\psi \rangle$ , though  $\mathcal{B}_{D\psi}$  is a tight frame for  $\langle D\psi \rangle$  (with constant 1/2).
- (iii) It is easy to see that if  $\mathcal{B}_{\psi}$  is a frame for  $\langle \psi \rangle$  (with frame bounds  $0 < A \leq B$ ), then  $\mathcal{B}_{D\psi} \cup \mathcal{B}_{DT\psi}$  is a frame for  $D(\langle \psi \rangle)$ , with the same frame bounds A and B, while  $\mathcal{B}_{D\psi}$  (or, respectively,  $\mathcal{B}_{DT\psi}$ ) is a frame for  $\langle D\psi \rangle$  (respectively,  $\langle DT\psi \rangle$ ) with frame bounds between A/2 < B.

REMARK 1.30. Regarding the case of a maximal principal shift-invariant space  $\langle \psi \rangle$ , we observe that D is a bounded, invertible operator  $D : \langle \psi \rangle \to D(\langle \psi \rangle)$  and that most properties of  $\mathcal{B}_{\psi}$  are preserved.

- (i) If  $\mathcal{B}_{\psi}$  is a Riesz basis for  $\langle \psi \rangle$ , then  $\mathcal{B}_{D\psi} \cup \mathcal{B}_{DT\psi} = D(\mathcal{B}_{\psi})$  is a Riesz basis for  $D(\langle \psi \rangle)$ . Furthermore, it follows directly from (1.21) that, in this case,  $\mathcal{B}_{D\psi}$  (respectively,  $\mathcal{B}_{DT\psi}$ ) is a Riesz basis for  $\langle D\psi \rangle$  (respectively,  $\langle DT\psi \rangle$ ).
- (ii) If  $\mathcal{B}_{\psi}$  (ordering  $\mathbb{Z}$  as before by  $\mathbb{Z} = \{0, 1, -1, 2, -2, ...\}$ ) is a Schauder basis for  $\langle \psi \rangle$ , then  $\mathcal{B}_{D\psi} \cup \mathcal{B}_{DT\psi}$  is a Schauder basis for  $D(\langle \psi \rangle)$  (with an ordering of the form  $\{D\psi, DT\psi, DT_{-1}\psi = T_{-1}DT\psi, TD\psi, T_{-1}D\psi, ...\}$ ). Using the fact that the sum of two  $A_2$ -weights is again an  $A_2$ -weight, it is easy to see directly from (1.21) that, in this case,  $\mathcal{B}_{D\psi}$  (with an ordering of the form  $\{D\psi, TD\psi, T_{-1}D\psi, T_2D\psi, T_{-2}D\psi, ...\}$ ) is a Schauder basis for  $\langle D\psi \rangle$ . The analogous statement holds for  $\mathcal{B}_{DT\psi}$ .

#### 2. MRA STRUCTURE

- (iii) If  $\mathcal{B}_{\psi}$  is a minimal system (within  $\langle \psi \rangle$  and with the dual function  $\widetilde{\psi} = p_{\psi}^{-1} \bullet \psi$ ), then  $\mathcal{B}_{D\psi}$ ,  $\mathcal{B}_{DT\psi}$ , and  $\mathcal{B}_{D\psi} \cup \mathcal{B}_{DT\psi}$  are minimal systems within, respectively,  $\langle D\psi \rangle$ ,  $\langle DT\psi \rangle$ , and  $D(\langle \psi \rangle)$ . Observe that  $D\widetilde{\psi}$  may serve as the dual function in all three cases, but it is not necessarily contained within  $\langle D\psi \rangle$  (similarly for  $\langle DT\psi \rangle$ ), so for  $\mathcal{B}_{D\psi}$ , we have  $\widetilde{\psi_{10}} = p_{\psi_{10}}^{-1} \bullet \psi_{10}$  (analogously for  $\widetilde{\psi_{11}}$ ).
- (iv) As in (ii), the property of  $\ell^2$ -linear independence is preserved, but with the proper ordering as described in (ii).

Given a function  $\varphi \in \langle \psi \rangle$  such that

$$p_{\psi} \bullet \varphi = \sum_{k \in \mathbb{Z}} \langle \varphi, T_k \psi \rangle T_k \psi,$$

we obtain directly that (observe the Fourier transform of  $D(p_{\psi} \bullet \varphi)$  is  $p_{\psi}(\xi/2) D \varphi(\xi)$ )

(1.31) 
$$D(p_{\psi} \bullet \varphi) = \sum_{k \in \mathbb{Z}} \langle D\varphi, \psi_{1k} \rangle \psi_{1k}$$
$$= \sum_{\ell \in \mathbb{Z}} \langle D\varphi, T_{\ell} D\psi \rangle T_{\ell} D\psi + \sum_{m \in \mathbb{Z}} \langle D\varphi, T_m D T\psi \rangle T_m D T\psi,$$

by splitting the first sum over k into sums over even and odd values of k, respectively.

Let us explore the condition of 1/2-periodicity of  $p_{\psi}$ . Given  $\psi \in L^2(\mathbb{R})$ , it is easy to find a generator  $\varphi$  of  $\langle \psi \rangle$  such that  $\mathcal{B}_{\varphi}$  is a Parseval frame for  $\langle \psi \rangle$ ; simply use

(1.32) 
$$\varphi := \left(\frac{1}{\sqrt{p_{\psi}}}\chi_{U_{\langle\psi\rangle}}\right) \bullet \psi.$$

In general, the positions of  $\langle D\psi \rangle$  and  $\langle DT\psi \rangle$  within  $D(\langle \psi \rangle) = D(\langle \varphi \rangle)$  is different from the positions of  $\langle D\varphi \rangle$  and  $\langle DT\varphi \rangle$  therein. It is of interest to find out when it is that this interior structure of  $D(\langle \psi \rangle)$  is unchanged.

LEMMA 1.33. Let  $\psi \in L^2(\mathbb{R})$  and  $\varphi$  be given by (1.32). If  $p_{\psi}$  is 1/2-periodic, then  $\langle D\psi \rangle = \langle D\varphi \rangle$ . If  $\langle \psi \rangle$  is a maximal principal shift-invariant space, then

 $\langle D\psi \rangle = \langle D\varphi \rangle$  if and only if  $p_{\psi}$  is 1/2-periodic.

**PROOF.** It is always true that

$$\begin{aligned} U_{\langle D\psi\rangle} &= Z^c_{\langle D\psi\rangle} \\ &= \{\xi : p_{\psi}(\xi/2) = 0 = p_{\psi}(\xi/2 + 1/2)\}^c \\ &= \{\xi : \xi/2 \notin U_{\langle \psi\rangle} \text{ and } \xi/2 + 1/2 \notin U_{\langle \psi\rangle}\}^c \\ &= U_{\langle D\varphi\rangle}. \end{aligned}$$

Observe that, in general,  $U_{\langle D\psi \rangle}$  is not necessarily 1/2-periodic. Comparing  $\widehat{D\psi}$  and  $\widehat{D\varphi}$ , we obtain

$$\widehat{D\psi}(\xi) = \sqrt{p_{\psi}(\xi/2)\widehat{D\varphi}(\xi)}.$$

If  $p_{\psi}$  is 1/2-periodic, then, by Corollary 1.1.21b, we conclude that  $\langle D\psi \rangle = \langle D\varphi \rangle$ . If  $\langle \psi \rangle$  is maximal, then  $U_{\langle D\psi \rangle} = U_{\langle D\varphi \rangle} = \mathbb{R}$  (which is, of course, a 1/2-periodic set). If one also has that  $\langle D\psi \rangle = \langle D\varphi \rangle$ , then the same corollary guarantees that  $\sqrt{p_{\psi}(\xi/2)}$  must be equal almost everywhere to a 1-periodic function, whence  $p_{\psi}$  must be 1/2-periodic.

EXAMPLE 1.34. Consider any  $\psi \in L^2(\mathbb{R})$  so that ssupp  $(\widehat{\psi}) \subseteq [0, 1/2)$ . Then  $p_{\psi}$  is not 1/2-periodic;  $p_{\psi} \equiv 0$  on [1/2, 1) and  $p_{\psi}$  is not identically zero on [0, 1/2), unless  $\psi$  is the zero function. However, since  $U_{\langle D\psi\rangle} = U_{\langle D\varphi\rangle}$ , where  $\varphi$  is given by 1.32 from this  $\psi$ , and ssupp  $(\widehat{D\psi}) =$ ssupp  $(\widehat{D\varphi}) \subseteq [0, 1)$ , we obtain, using Corollary 1.1.21b, that  $\langle D\psi\rangle = \langle D\varphi\rangle$ .

$$\diamond$$

Applying now Corollary 1.27 and Lemma 1.33, it is easy to see that in the case where  $p_{\psi}$  is 1/2-periodic, transferring from our generator  $\psi$  to the one given in (1.32) does not disrupt the inner structure of  $D(\langle \psi \rangle)$ . More precisely, we have the following result.

THEOREM 1.35. Let  $\psi \in L^2(\mathbb{R})$  be such that  $p_{\psi}$  is 1/2-periodic. Let  $\varphi := \left(p_{\psi}^{-1/2}\chi_{U_{\langle\psi\rangle}}\right) \bullet \psi$ . Then (a)  $\langle\psi\rangle = \langle\varphi\rangle, \ \langle D\psi\rangle = \langle D\varphi\rangle, \ and \ \langle DT\psi\rangle = \langle DT\varphi\rangle;$ (b)  $D(\langle\psi\rangle) = \langle D\psi\rangle \oplus \langle DT\psi\rangle = \langle D\varphi\rangle \oplus \langle DT\varphi\rangle;$ (c)  $\dim_{D(\langle\psi\rangle)} = 2\chi_{2U_{\langle\psi\rangle}};$ (d) For every  $f \in \langle\psi\rangle,$  $Df = \sum_{k \in \mathbb{Z}} \langle Df, \varphi_{1k} \rangle \varphi_{1k}$ 

and

$$f = \sum_{k \in \mathbb{Z}} \langle f, \varphi_{0k} \rangle \varphi_{0k}.$$

As much as the case of 1/2-periodicity of  $p_{\psi}$  is connected to orthogonality of the spaces  $\langle \psi_{10} \rangle$  and  $\langle \psi_{11} \rangle$ , the case of "1/2-antiperiodicity" of  $p_{\psi}$  is connected to the equality of the spaces  $\langle \psi_{10} \rangle$  and  $\langle \psi_{11} \rangle$ . Observe first that, by Corollary 1.25, this case is only possible within non-maximal principal shift-invariant spaces. We have the following result.

THEOREM 1.36. If  $\psi \in L^2(\mathbb{R})$ , then the following are equivalent:

- (a)  $\langle D\psi \rangle = \langle DT\psi \rangle;$
- (b)  $\dim_{D(\langle \psi \rangle)} \leq 1;$
- (c)  $D(\langle \psi \rangle)$  is a principal shift-invariant space;
- (d)  $|[(U_{\langle\psi\rangle} \cap [0, 1/2)) + 1/2] \cap [U_{\langle\psi\rangle} \cap [1/2, 1)]| = 0;$
- (e)  $|U_{D(\langle\psi\rangle)} \cap [0,1)| = 2|U_{\langle\psi\rangle} \cap [0,1)|;$
- (f)  $\langle D\psi \rangle = D(\langle \psi \rangle);$
- (g)  $D(\langle \psi \rangle) \subseteq \langle D\psi \rangle;$
- (h)  $\langle D\psi \rangle \subseteq \langle DT\psi \rangle$ .

PROOF. Observe that (1.10) implies  $(f) \Leftrightarrow (g)$  as well as  $(a) \Rightarrow (f) \Rightarrow (h)$ . Using Proposition 1.2.4 and the fact that  $U_{\langle D\psi\rangle} = U_{\langle DT\psi\rangle}$  (see (1.21)), we obtain  $(h) \Rightarrow (a)$ . Certainly,  $(b) \Leftrightarrow (c)$  and  $(f) \Rightarrow (c)$ . Remark 1.13 (or (1.12)) explains why  $(b) \Leftrightarrow (d)$ . Computations similar to those in Remark 1.17 show that (1.19) (which is the same equality as (e)) is equivalent to

$$(1.37) |U_L \cup U_R| = |U_L| + |U_R|,$$

which in turn is equivalent to (d).

In order to complete the proof, it suffices to prove that  $(d) \Rightarrow (a)$ . Assume (d), and recall that  $U_{\langle D\psi \rangle} = U_{\langle DT\psi \rangle}$ . Hence, using Corollary 1.1.21b, in order

to conclude (a), it is enough to find a 1-periodic, measurable function m so that  $\psi_{11} = m \bullet \psi_{10}$ . However, by (1.20), we know that  $\widehat{\psi_{11}}(\xi) = e^{-\pi i \xi} \widehat{\psi_{10}}(\xi)$ , and  $e^{-\pi i \xi}$  is 2-periodic, not 1-periodic. Here is where (d) becomes crucial. Choose  $m : \mathbb{R} \to \mathbb{C}$  to be 1-periodic such that, for  $0 \le \xi < 1$ ,

(1.38) 
$$m(\xi) := \begin{cases} e^{-i\pi\xi} & \text{if } \xi \in 2U_{\langle\psi\rangle} \\ e^{-i\pi(\xi+1)} & \text{if } \xi \in 2U_{\langle\psi\rangle} + 1 \\ 0 & \text{otherwise} \end{cases}$$

This function is only well-defined since (d) holds (if (d) did not hold, the first two lines of the definition of  $m(\xi)$  would conflict on a set of positive measure). Clearly, m is measurable. Observe also that this choice of m satisfies  $\psi_{11} = m \bullet \psi_{10}$  — this is because when  $\xi/2 \notin U_{\langle \psi \rangle}$ , we have  $\widehat{\psi_{11}}(\xi) = \widehat{\psi_{10}}(\xi) = 0$ .

REMARK 1.39. Observe that property (d) in the previous theorem enables a simple construction of all  $\psi \in L^2(\mathbb{R})$  such that  $\langle D\psi \rangle = \langle DT\psi \rangle$ . Take any  $\varphi \in L^2(\mathbb{R})$  and any measurable sets A, B such that  $A \subseteq [0, 1/2), B \subseteq [1/2, 1),$  $|(A + 1/2) \cap B| = 0$  and  $|A| + |B| \leq 1/2$ . Take any two families of measurable sets  $\{A_n : n \in \mathbb{Z}\}$  and  $\{B_n : n \in \mathbb{Z}\}$  so that, for every  $n \in \mathbb{Z}, A_n \subseteq A, B_n \subseteq B,$  $A = \bigcup_{n \in \mathbb{Z}} A_n$ , and  $B = \bigcup_{n \in \mathbb{Z}} B_n$ . Define  $\psi \in L^2(\mathbb{R})$  so that

$$\widehat{\psi} = \sum_{n \in \mathbb{Z}} \widehat{\phi}(\chi_{n+A_n} + \chi_{n+B_n}).$$

Such  $\psi$  has the property that  $\langle D\psi \rangle = \langle DT\psi \rangle$ , and every  $\psi$  with this property can be constructed using this algorithm.

REMARK 1.40. It is perhaps worth noticing the following difference between the cases described in Theorem 1.35 and Theorem 1.36. In order to characterize the first theorem, one needs to know the values of  $p_{\psi}$ , while, for the second theorem, it is enough to know the set  $U_{\langle\psi\rangle}$ . This is essentially the consequence of the fact that  $U_{\langle\psi_{10}\rangle \cap \langle\psi_{11}\rangle}$  is completely determined by  $U_{\langle\psi\rangle}$ , but determining  $U_{\langle\psi_{10}\rangle \perp \langle\psi_{11}\rangle}$ and  $U_{\langle\psi_{10}\rangle \perp \langle\psi_{11}\rangle}$  requires knowledge of  $p_{\psi}$ .

Finally, let us explore the effect of D on the lattice structure of  $\langle \psi \rangle$  (recall Section 1.3). It is easy to see that, for every  $\psi \in L^2(\mathbb{R})$  (see (1.1))

$$D(\langle\psi\rangle) = \langle D\psi, DT\psi\rangle = \langle D\psi, T_{1/2}D\psi\rangle = \langle D\psi\rangle_{(1/2)\mathbb{Z}}$$

Using a simple induction argument, we obtain that, for every  $j \in \mathbb{N} \cup \{0\}$ ,

 $(1.41) \quad D_j(\langle \psi \rangle) = \langle D_j \psi, T_{1/2^j} D_j \psi, T_{2/2^j} D_j \psi, ..., T_{(2^j-1)/2^j} D_j \psi \rangle = \langle D_j \psi \rangle_{(1/2^j)\mathbb{Z}}.$ 

REMARK 1.42. (i) Formula (1.41) provides us with yet another equivalent condition for Theorem 1.36:  $\langle D\psi \rangle = \langle D\psi \rangle_{\frac{1}{2}\mathbb{Z}}$  (or, in other words,  $2 \in \mathcal{T}_{\langle D\psi \rangle}$ ). Obviously, in this case  $\langle D\psi \rangle$  is either of Type-2 or Type-3.

- (ii) Obviously,  $D_j(\langle \psi \rangle) = \langle D_j \psi \rangle$  if and only if  $2^j \in \mathcal{T}_{\langle D_j \psi \rangle}$ . Recall that in this case  $2^\ell \in \mathcal{T}_{\langle D_j \psi \rangle}$  for every  $\ell \in \{1, 2, ..., j\}$ .
- (iii) If there exists  $j \in \mathbb{N} \cup \{0\}$  such that  $2^{\ell} \in \mathcal{T}_{\langle D_j \psi \rangle}$  for every  $\ell \in \mathbb{N}$ , then  $\langle D_j \psi \rangle$  is of Type-3.

The intuition of Remark 1.17 would suggest that the Type of  $\langle D\psi \rangle$  should be at most the Type of  $\langle \psi \rangle$ . This is "almost true", but there are exceptions. We have the following results.

EXAMPLE 1.43. For  $0 < \varepsilon < 1/2$ , consider  $\psi \in L^2(\mathbb{R})$  defined by

$$\psi = \chi_{[0,\varepsilon)} + \chi_{[1,1+\varepsilon)}.$$

Using Theorem 2.2 from  $[\mathbf{SW11}]$  it is easy to see that  $\mathcal{T}_{\langle\psi\rangle} = \emptyset$  (following the notation in  $[\mathbf{\breve{SW11}}]$ , we have that  $F_1 \cap F_2 = [0, \varepsilon)$ , i.e. a set of positive measure for all  $n \in \mathbb{N} \setminus \{1\}$ ). Obviously, ssupp  $\widehat{D\psi} = [0, 2\varepsilon) \cup [2, 2+2\varepsilon)$ , so we obtain that  $\mathcal{T}_{\langle D\psi\rangle} = \{2\}$ . Hence  $\langle D\psi\rangle$  is of Type-2 and thus of strictly greater type than  $\langle\psi\rangle$ , which is of Type-1.

As we show in the next lemma, the number 2 in the previous example does not appear by mere coincidence.

LEMMA 1.44. Let  $\psi \in L^2(\mathbb{R})$  and  $n \in \mathbb{N} \setminus \{1\}$  an odd number. If  $n \in \mathcal{T}_{\langle D\psi \rangle}$ , then  $n \in \mathcal{T}_{\langle \psi \rangle}$ .

PROOF. Since  $n \in \mathcal{T}_{\langle D\psi \rangle}$ , we obtain

$$D(T_{2/n}\psi) = T_{1/n}(D\psi) \in \langle D\psi \rangle.$$

Hence there exists a sequence  $(\varphi_m)_{m\in\mathbb{N}} \subseteq \operatorname{span}(\mathcal{B}_{D\psi})$  such that  $D(T_{2/n}\psi) = \lim_{m\to\infty} \varphi_m$ . Every  $\varphi_m$  is a finite linear combination of the form

$$\sum_{k} \lambda_k T_k D\psi = \sum_{k} \lambda_k D(T_{2k}\psi) = D\left(\sum_{k} \lambda_k T_{2k}\psi\right).$$

Hence for every  $m \in \mathbb{N}$ , there exists  $\eta_m \in \langle \psi \rangle$  such that  $\varphi_m = D(\eta_m)$ . It follows that

$$T_{2/n}\psi = D^{-1}D(T_{2/n}\psi) = D^{-1}(\lim_{m \to \infty} \varphi_m) = \lim_{m \to \infty} \eta_m \in \langle \psi \rangle.$$

Since  $T_{2/n}\psi \in \langle \psi \rangle$ , it follows that  $T_{2/n}(\langle \psi \rangle) \subseteq \langle \psi \rangle$ . Let us write  $n = 2\ell + 1$ , with  $\ell \in \mathbb{N}$  since  $n \in \mathbb{N} \setminus \{1\}$  is odd. Observe that

$$T_{(2\ell+2)/n}\psi = \underbrace{T_{2/n}T_{2/n}...T_{2/n}}_{\ell+1 \text{ times}}\psi \in \langle \psi \rangle.$$

Since  $(2\ell + 2)/n = 1 + (1/n)$ , we obtain

$$T_{1/n}(T\psi) \in \langle \psi \rangle = \langle T\psi \rangle,$$

which guarantees that  $T_{1/n}(\langle \psi \rangle) \subseteq \langle \psi \rangle$ . In other words,  $n \in \mathcal{T}_{\langle \psi \rangle}$ .

The number 2 plays yet another important role in these considerations.

LEMMA 1.45. If  $\psi \in L^2(\mathbb{R})$  is such that  $2 \in \mathcal{T}_{\langle D\psi \rangle}$ , then  $\langle \psi \rangle$  is not a maximal shift-invariant space.

PROOF. If  $2 \in \mathcal{T}_{\langle D\psi \rangle}$ , then (by Remark 1.42i) we have  $\langle D\psi \rangle = \langle DT\psi \rangle$  and, consequently (by Theorem 1.36),  $\dim_{D(\langle \psi \rangle)} \leq 1$ . By Corollary 1.14b, the only way  $\langle \psi \rangle$  could be maximal is if  $\dim_{D(\langle \psi \rangle)} \equiv 2$ , which is not the case. Hence  $\langle \psi \rangle$  must not be maximal.

THEOREM 1.46. Let  $\psi \in L^2(\mathbb{R})$ .

- (a) If  $\langle D\psi \rangle$  is of Type-3, then  $\langle \psi \rangle$  must also be of Type-3.
- (b) If  $\langle \psi \rangle$  is a maximal shift-invariant space which is of Type-3, then  $\langle D\psi \rangle$  is either of Type-1 or of Type-2.

#### 2. MRA STRUCTURE

PROOF. (a) If  $\langle D\psi \rangle$  is of Type-3, then (by 1.3.5), every  $n \in \mathbb{N} \setminus \{1\}$  belongs to  $\mathcal{T}_{\langle D\psi \rangle}$ . If n is odd, then (by Lemma 1.44)  $n \in \mathcal{T}_{\langle \psi \rangle}$ . It follows that  $\mathcal{T}_{\langle \psi \rangle}$  is infinite, whence  $\langle \psi \rangle$  must be of Type-3.

(b) We prove this by contrapositive. Suppose that  $\langle D\psi \rangle$  is of Type-3. Then (by 1.3.5) it must be that  $2 \in \mathcal{T}_{\langle D\psi \rangle}$ . By Lemma 1.45, it follows that  $\langle \psi \rangle$  is not a maximal shift-invariant space.

Hence if  $\langle \psi \rangle$  is of Type-3, then the type of  $\langle D\psi \rangle$  could be 1, 2, or 3. If, however, we know that  $\langle \psi \rangle$  is maximal, then  $\langle D\psi \rangle$  is either 1 or 2, which is strictly less than the type of  $\langle \psi \rangle$ . The following examples complete the picture for Type-3 principal shift-invariant spaces.

EXAMPLE 1.47. (i) Consider  $0 < \varepsilon \le 1/2$  and  $\psi$  such that  $\widehat{\psi} = \chi_{[0,\varepsilon)}$ . Then  $\langle \psi \rangle$  is of Type-3, and ssupp  $(\widehat{D\psi}) = [0, 2\varepsilon)$ . Hence  $\langle D\psi \rangle$  is of Type-3 as well.

- (ii) Consider  $1/2 < \varepsilon \leq 1$  and  $\psi$  such that  $\widehat{\psi} = \chi_{[0,\varepsilon)}$ . Then  $\langle \psi \rangle$  is of Type-3 — and, in the case that  $\varepsilon = 1$ ,  $\langle \psi \rangle$  is maximal. Since ssupp  $(\widehat{D\psi}) = [0, 2\varepsilon)$ , which strictly contains the interval [0, 1), it is easy to see that  $\langle D\psi \rangle$  is of Type-1: the Fourier transforms of functions in  $\langle D\psi \rangle$  are simply Fourier series multiplied by  $\chi_{[0,2\varepsilon)}$  and thus are 1-periodic functions multiplied by  $\chi_{[0,2\varepsilon)}$ , but, for  $n \geq 2$ , the functions  $e^{2\pi i x/n} \chi_{[0,2\varepsilon)}$  are not of this form.
- (iii) Take  $\psi$  so that  $\widehat{\psi} = \chi_{[0,1/2)\cup[3/2,2)}$ . It is easy to check that  $\langle \psi \rangle$  is a maximal principal shift-invariant space of Type-3. Since ssupp  $(\widehat{D\psi}) = [0,1) \cup [3,4)$ , we obtain  $\mathcal{T}_{\langle D\psi \rangle} = \{3\}$ , so that  $\langle D\psi \rangle$  is of Type-2.

$$\diamond$$

Observe that a consequence of Theorem 1.46 is that, if  $\langle \psi \rangle$  is of Type-2, then  $\langle D\psi \rangle$  is of Type-1 or of Type-2. The following example shows that maximality assumptions does not improve this property (unlike in the case of  $\langle \psi \rangle$  being Type-3).

EXAMPLE 1.48. (i) Take  $\psi$  so that  $\widehat{\psi} = \chi_{[1/2,1)\cup[2,5/2)\cup[13/2,7)}$ . It is not difficult to check that  $\langle \psi \rangle$  is maximal and  $\mathcal{T}_{\langle \psi \rangle} = \{2,3,6\}$  so that  $\langle \psi \rangle$  is of Type-2. Since ssupp  $(\widehat{D\psi}) = [1,2) \cup [4,5) \cup [13,14)$ , it is not difficult to check that  $\mathcal{T}_{\langle D\psi \rangle} = \{3\}$ . Hence  $\langle D\psi \rangle$  is of Type-2 and  $\mathcal{T}_{\langle D\psi \rangle} \subsetneq \mathcal{T}_{\langle \psi \rangle}$ .

(ii) Take  $\psi$  so that  $\widehat{\psi} = \chi_{[1/2,1)\cup[2,5/2)\cup[7/2,4)}$ . Again,  $\langle \psi \rangle$  is maximal and of Type-2, with  $\mathcal{T}_{\langle \psi \rangle} = \{3\}$ . Since ssupp  $(\widehat{D\psi}) = [1,2)\cup[4,5)\cup[7,8)$ , we conclude that  $\mathcal{T}_{\langle D\psi \rangle} = \{3\}$ . Thus  $\langle D\psi \rangle$  is of Type-2 with  $\mathcal{T}_{\langle \psi \rangle} = \mathcal{T}_{\langle D\psi \rangle}$ .

 $\diamond$ 

Example 1.43 shows that Type-1  $\langle \psi \rangle$  may result in Type-2  $\langle D\psi \rangle$ . However, this is not possible if  $\langle \psi \rangle$  is maximal.

COROLLARY 1.49. If  $\psi \in L^2(\mathbb{R})$  is such that  $\langle \psi \rangle$  is maximal and of Type-1, then  $\langle D\psi \rangle$  is also of Type-1.

PROOF. According to the properties of  $\mathcal{T}_{\langle\psi\rangle}$  given in 1.3.4, it is enough to show that  $p \notin \mathcal{T}_{\langle D\psi\rangle}$  for any prime p. If p = 2, then  $2 \notin \mathcal{T}_{\langle D\psi\rangle}$  by Lemma 1.45. If  $p \neq 2$ , then p is odd. Since  $\mathcal{T}_{\langle\psi\rangle} = \emptyset$ , then, by Lemma 1.45,  $p \notin \mathcal{T}_{\langle D\psi\rangle}$ .

#### 2. Dilation Invariances

The basic theme of our approach is to built theories from various relationships between  $\langle \psi \rangle$  and  $D(\langle \psi \rangle)$ . We focus first on the inclusion-type relationship. At the core of wavelet systems are the combined actions of translations and dilations, so we find the following well-known result very useful.

LEMMA 2.1 ([**BRS01**]). If  $E \subseteq \mathbb{R}$  is a measurable, 1-periodic set such that  $2E \subseteq E$ , then either  $E = \mathbb{R}$  or  $E = \emptyset$  (modulo sets of measure zero).

We start our analysis with a result that "*D*-invariance" is "not possible" for principal shift-invariant spaces.

PROPOSITION 2.2. If  $\psi \in L^2(\mathbb{R})$  is such that  $D(\langle \psi \rangle) \subseteq \langle \psi \rangle$ , then  $\psi \equiv 0$ .

PROOF. Since both  $D(\langle \psi \rangle)$  and  $\langle \psi \rangle$  are shift-invariant spaces, the inclusion  $D(\langle \psi \rangle) \subseteq \langle \psi \rangle$  guarantees that  $\dim_{D(\langle \psi \rangle)} \leq \dim_{\langle \psi \rangle}$ . Consider the 1-periodic, measurable set  $U_{\langle \psi \rangle} \subseteq \mathbb{R}$ . Given  $\xi \in 2U_{\langle \psi \rangle}$ , we obtain  $\dim_{\langle \psi \rangle}(\xi/2) = 1$ . By (1.8), it follows that  $\dim_{D(\langle \psi \rangle)}(\xi) > 0$ , which implies  $\dim_{\langle \psi \rangle}(\xi) > 0$ . Hence  $\xi \in U_{\langle \psi \rangle}$ . Thus  $U_{\langle \psi \rangle}$  satisfies the hypotheses of Lemma 2.1 and is either  $\mathbb{R}$  or  $\emptyset$ . If  $U_{\langle \psi \rangle} = \mathbb{R}$ , then, by Corollary 1.14b,  $\dim_{D(\langle \psi \rangle)} \equiv 2 > \dim_{\langle \psi \rangle}$ , which contradicts our assumptions. Therefore,  $U_{\langle \psi \rangle} = \emptyset$  a.e., and  $\psi \equiv 0$ .

Interestingly enough, taking  $D^{-1}$ , instead of D, leads to a rich theory. Many results are well-known, but we shall revisit them from a somewhat different point of view. We shall say that a shift-invariant space  $V \subseteq L^2(\mathbb{R})$  is  $D^{-1}$ -invariant if  $D^{-1}(V) \subseteq V$ . Other authors have used different names for this notion; for example in **[Rze00]** the author uses the term *refinability*.

Here we focus first on the case of a principal shift-invariant space V. For reasons of tradition, we use  $\varphi$  as the notation for our basis function. The following result is well-known (see, for example, [**HW96**], [**Rze00**], and the references therein) and easily deducible from Proposition 1.1.20.

PROPOSITION 2.3. If  $\varphi \in L^2(\mathbb{R})$ , then the following are equivalent:

(a)  $\langle \varphi \rangle$  is  $D^{-1}$ -invariant;

(b)  $\langle \varphi \rangle \subseteq D(\langle \varphi \rangle);$ 

(c)  $\varphi \in D(\langle \varphi \rangle);$ 

(d)  $D^{-1}\varphi \in \langle \varphi \rangle;$ 

(2.4)

(e) There exists a 1-periodic, measurable function  $m : \mathbb{R} \to \mathbb{C}$  such that

$$\widehat{\varphi}(2\xi) = m(\xi)\widehat{\varphi}(\xi),$$

for almost every  $\xi \in \mathbb{R}$ .

REMARK 2.5. (i) Observe that  $D(\langle \varphi \rangle)$  is always a shift-invariant space, while  $D^{-1}(\langle \varphi \rangle)$  may or may not be a shift-invariant space.

(ii) Observe that Proposition 2.2 implies that whenever we have a  $D^{-1}$ -invariant  $\langle \varphi \rangle$  such that  $\varphi \neq 0$ , we must have that

(2.6) 
$$\langle \varphi \rangle \subsetneq D(\langle \varphi \rangle).$$

(iii) Equation (2.4) is known as the "two-scale equation" and has been studied by numerous authors on various levels of generality. Observe that the function m which appears in (2.4) is not necessarily uniquely determined by  $\varphi$  (see, for example, [**PŠWX01**] for more details).

#### 2. MRA STRUCTURE

(iv) Equation (2.4) introduces a "dyadic orbit" as an important element of study. Hence, for  $\xi \in \mathbb{R} \setminus \{0\}$ , we denote the "dyadic orbit" by

(2.7) 
$$\operatorname{orb}(\xi) := \{2^j \xi : j \in \mathbb{Z}\}$$

It is often useful to single out representatives of "dyadic orbits" in an organized manner. If we let

(2.8) 
$$I := [-1,1) \setminus [-1/2, 1/2),$$

we will take our representative of  $\operatorname{orb}(\xi)$  to be the unique element of  $\operatorname{orb}(\xi) \cap I$ .

It follows that the question of characterizing all  $D^{-1}$ -invariant principal shiftinvariant spaces  $\langle \varphi \rangle$  leads to the following problem on functions. Find all pairs  $(\varphi, m)$ , where  $\varphi \in L^2(\mathbb{R})$  and  $m : \mathbb{R} \to \mathbb{C}$  is measurable and 1-periodic, such that (2.4) holds; we shall term this the  $(\varphi, m)$ -Problem. Various versions of this problem have been treated by numerous authors (for a start, one could check [**Dau92**] or [**HW96**] and the references therein), mostly from the point of view of scaling functions and filters of orthonormal and Parseval frame wavelets. Here we take a slightly more general position. As the following example shows, there are many  $(\varphi, m)$ -Problems with nontrivial solutions.

EXAMPLE 2.9. Consider any function  $\varphi \in L^2(\mathbb{R})$  with the property that  $\widehat{\varphi}(\xi) \neq 0$  for  $\xi \in [0, 1)$  and  $\widehat{\varphi}(\xi) = 0$  for every  $\xi \notin [0, 1)$ . Define *m* on [0, 1) by

$$m(\xi) := \begin{cases} \frac{\widehat{\varphi}(2\xi)}{\widehat{\varphi}(\xi)} & \text{if } \xi \in [0, 1/2) \\ 0 & \text{if } \xi \in [1/2, 1) \end{cases}$$

and extend it 1-periodically to  $\mathbb{R}$ . Obviously the pair  $(\varphi, m)$  satisfies (2.4).

Following ideas from [Con98], [PŠW99], and [PŠWX01], it is often useful to reduce the problem from the complex field,  $\mathbb{C}$ , to the positive reals,  $[0, \infty)$  (in particular, we get the benefit of a natural ordering of function values). We define  $\Phi(\xi) := |\widehat{\varphi}(\xi)|^2$  and  $M(\xi) := |m(\xi)|^2$ . This leads to the following functional equation problem, which we refer to as the  $(\Phi, M)$ -Problem: find all pairs  $(\Phi, M)$ , where  $\Phi : \mathbb{R} \to [0, \infty)$  is in  $L^1(\mathbb{R})$  and  $M : \mathbb{R} \to [0, \infty)$  is measurable and 1-periodic, such that, for a.e.  $\xi \in \mathbb{R}$ ,

(2.10) 
$$\Phi(2\xi) = M(\xi)\Phi(\xi).$$

REMARK 2.11. (i) It is obvious that having a solution to the  $(\varphi, m)$ -Problem gives us solutions to the  $(\Phi, M)$ -Problem. However, the reverse holds as well — consult [**Con98**], [**PŠW99**], and [**PŠWX01**] for detailed accounts in the wavelet case. Let us recall the basics. We shall say a function  $\mu : \mathbb{R} \to \mathbb{C}$  is *unimodular* if it is measurable and, for every  $\xi \in \mathbb{R}$ ,  $|\mu(\xi)| = 1$ . Given any 1-periodic and unimodular function  $\mu$ , there are infinitely many unimodular functions  $\nu : \mathbb{R} \to \mathbb{C}$  such that, for a.e.  $\xi \in \mathbb{R}$ ,

(2.12) 
$$\nu(2\xi)\nu(\xi) = \mu(\xi),$$

where it is worth mentioning that the unimodularity of  $\nu$  guarantees that  $\overline{\nu(\xi)} = 1/\nu(\xi)$ . The choice of  $\nu$  depends entirely on the choice of the values of  $\nu$  on I (defined in (2.8)); from I, one extends  $\nu$  to  $\mathbb{R} \setminus \{0\}$  via (2.12). Observe that, by taking all solutions  $(\Phi, M)$  of the  $(\Phi, M)$ -Problem and all pairs  $(\nu, \mu)$ 

which satisfy (2.12), the family of pairs  $(\varphi, m)$  with  $\widehat{\varphi} = \nu \sqrt{\Phi}$  and  $m = \mu \sqrt{M}$  will provide us with all solutions of the  $(\varphi, m)$ -Problem.

- (ii) One should not deduce too much from part (i) of this remark, though. Suppose we are given  $\varphi \in L^2(\mathbb{R})$  and we want to check whether there is an m such that  $(\varphi, m)$  satisfies (2.4). Say that we take  $\Phi = |\hat{\phi}|^2$  and find that there is an Msuch that  $(\Phi, M)$  satisfies (2.10). Does it mean that we have a positive answer for  $\varphi$  as well, i.e. that there is an m so that  $(\phi, m)$  satisfies (2.4)? Actually, no. We will have a positive answer if and only if there exists a "phase"  $\nu$  of  $\hat{\varphi}$  such that  $\nu(2\xi)\overline{\nu(\xi)}$  is 1-periodic.
- (iii) Observe that  $\Phi \equiv 0$  satisfies (2.10) for every M.
- (iv) If  $(\Phi, M)$  is a solution to the  $(\Phi, M)$ -Problem, then

(2.13) 
$$\int_{\mathbb{R}} \Phi(\xi) d\xi = 2 \int_{\mathbb{R}} M(\xi) \Phi(\xi) d\xi < \infty.$$

Both of these problems can be considered from the "position of any member of the pair." For example (and more precisely), suppose that  $\Phi \in L^1(\mathbb{R})$  is given. Is there any M such that  $(\Phi, M)$  satisfies (2.10)? The "direct approach", i.e. checking whether  $\Phi(2\xi)/\Phi(\xi)$  is 1-periodic, seems to be the simplest one. We must be careful about the zeroes of  $\Phi$ . By a slight abuse of notation, we denote the periodization of  $\Phi$ , i.e.  $\sum_{k \in \mathbb{Z}} \Phi(\xi + k)$ , by  $p_{\Phi}(\xi)$ . We also introduce the following notation:

$$u_{\Phi}(\xi) := \{k \in \mathbb{Z} : \Phi(\xi + k) \neq 0\}$$

and a function  $\tau(\xi) := \xi - \lfloor \xi \rfloor$ , for  $\xi \in \mathbb{R}$ , where  $\lfloor \cdot \rfloor$  denotes the "largest integer function". We believe that our readers can check the proof of the following result easily for themselves.

THEOREM 2.14. Let  $\Phi : \mathbb{R} \to [0,\infty)$  be in  $L^1(\mathbb{R})$ . Then

(a) There exists at least one M such that  $(\Phi, M)$  is a solution to the  $(\Phi, M)$ -Problem if and only if, for a.e.  $\xi \in \mathbb{R}$ ,

(i) 
$$\Phi(\xi) = 0 \Rightarrow \Phi(2\xi) = 0;$$
  
(ii)  $k, \ell \in u_{\Phi}(\xi) \Rightarrow \frac{\Phi(2\xi + 2k)}{\Phi(\xi + k)} = \frac{\Phi(2\xi + 2\ell)}{\Phi(\xi + \ell)}.$ 

- (b) The following are equivalent:
  - (i) There exists at most one M such that  $(\Phi, M)$  is a solution of the  $(\Phi, M)$ -Problem;
  - (*ii*) For a.e.  $\xi \in \mathbb{R}$ ,  $u_{\Phi}(\xi) \neq \emptyset$ ;
  - (*iii*)  $\tau(ssupp \ \Phi) = [0, 1) \ a.e.;$
  - (*iv*)  $p_{\Phi} > 0$  *a.e.*

Obviously, if (i) and (ii) in Theorem 2.14a are satisfied, we can define M to be measurable and

(2.15) 
$$M(\xi) := \begin{cases} \frac{\Phi(2\xi+2k)}{\Phi(\xi+k)} & \text{for } k \in u_{\Phi}(\xi) \text{ if } u_{\Phi}(\xi) \neq \emptyset \\ \text{arbitrary value in } [0,\infty) & \text{if } u_{\Phi}(\xi) = \emptyset \end{cases},$$

where, in the case of  $u_{\Phi}(\xi) = \emptyset$  we need only preserve 1-periodicity in our arbitrary choice (and, of course, not actively try to create a non-measurable function).

It is now trivial to "transfer" Theorem 2.14 from the  $(\Phi, M)$ -Problem to the  $(\phi, m)$ -problem. We emphasize one consequence.

COROLLARY 2.16. Let  $\varphi \in L^2(\mathbb{R})$  be such that  $\langle \varphi \rangle$  is  $D^{-1}$ -invariant. Then there is exactly one m such that  $(\varphi, m)$  satisfies (2.4) if and only if  $\langle \varphi \rangle$  is maximal.

REMARK 2.17. Suppose that  $(\Phi, M)$  is a pair satisfying (2.10). It is useful to "follow"  $\Phi$  along the orbits  $\operatorname{orb}(\xi)$ .

- (i) For a.e.  $\xi \in \mathbb{R} \setminus \{0\}$ , there are three options for  $\operatorname{orb}(\xi)$ :
  - (A) For every  $j \in \mathbb{Z}$ ,  $\Phi(2^j \xi) = 0$ ;
  - (B) For every  $j \in \mathbb{Z}$ ,  $\Phi(2^j \xi) \neq 0$ ;
  - (C) There exists a  $j_0 \in \mathbb{Z}$  such that  $\Phi(2^j \xi) = 0$  for  $j > j_0$  and  $\Phi(2^j \xi) \neq 0$  for  $j \leq j_0$ .

In case (A), we will say that  $\operatorname{orb}(\xi)$  is a zero-orbit, while in cases (B) and (C), we will say that  $\operatorname{orb}(\xi)$  is a nonzero orbit. Observe that in case (C) we must have  $M(2^{j}\xi) \neq 0$  for  $j < j_0$  and  $M(2^{j_0}\xi) = 0$ .

(ii) Since  $\Phi \in L^1(\mathbb{R})$ , it is well-known (see, for example, [**PŠWX01**]) that, for a.e.  $\xi \in \mathbb{R}$ ,

$$\lim_{n \to \infty} \Phi(2^n \xi) = 0.$$

(iii) For a measurable function  $f : \mathbb{R} \to [0, \infty)$ , we have

$$\int_{\mathbb{R}} f(\xi) d\xi = \sum_{j \in \mathbb{Z}} \int_{2^{j}I} f(\xi) d\xi = \int_{I} \sum_{j \in \mathbb{Z}} 2^{j} f(2^{j}u) du.$$

Hence  $f \in L^1(\mathbb{R})$  if and only if  $u \mapsto \sum_{j \in \mathbb{Z}} 2^j f(2^j u)$  is in  $L^1(I)$ . It will be useful for us to consider a weighted space,  $L^1(I, w)$ , the space of integrable functions over I with respect to the measure  $w(\xi)d\xi$ , where  $w(\xi) = \sum_{j \in \mathbb{Z}} 2^j \Phi(2^j \xi)$ .

Approaching the  $(\Phi, M)$ -Problem from "the position of M" is actually more demanding. We shall provide additional analysis later in a section on filters. For now, suppose we are given  $M : \mathbb{R} \to [0, \infty)$  which is measurable and 1-periodic; we introduce

(2.18)  $\operatorname{Sol}_M := \left\{ \Phi : \mathbb{R} \to [0, \infty) : \Phi \in L^1(\mathbb{R}) \text{ and } (\Phi, M) \text{ satisfies } (2.10) \right\}.$ By Remark 2.11iii, for every  $M, 0 \in \operatorname{Sol}_M \neq \emptyset$ .

EXAMPLE 2.19. Consider  $M \equiv a \geq 0$ . If a = 0, then it is obvious from (2.10) that  $\operatorname{Sol}_M = \{0\}$ . We claim that the same holds for a > 0. Indeed, for  $\Phi \in \operatorname{Sol}_M$ ,

$$\sum_{j\in\mathbb{Z}} 2^j \Phi(2^j \xi) = \Phi(\xi) \left( \sum_{\ell\in\mathbb{N}} \frac{1}{(2a)^\ell} + \sum_{j\in\mathbb{N}\cup\{0\}} (2a)^j \right) < \infty,$$

for a.e.  $\xi$ . However, one of the two sums in the parentheses above will be infinite, depending on whether  $2a \ge 1$  or  $2a \le 1$ , so one can only produce a finite expression if  $\Phi$  is zero almost everywhere. Hence for  $M \equiv a \ge 0$ , we have  $\operatorname{Sol}_M = \{0\}$ . Observe that by (2.13) we also have

(2.20) 
$$M > 1/2 \text{ a.e.} \Rightarrow \operatorname{Sol}_M = \{0\}$$
$$M < 1/2 \text{ a.e.} \Rightarrow \operatorname{Sol}_M = \{0\}.$$

Observe that all these restrictions in this example stem from the requirement that  $\Phi$  belongs to  $L^1(\mathbb{R})$ . Without this, it would be easy to construct infinitely many  $\Phi$  which satisfy (2.10) for any M: simply define  $\Phi$  arbitrarily on I and use (2.10) to extend it to  $\mathbb{R} \setminus \{0\}$  (completely analogously to how we used (2.12)).

EXAMPLE 2.21. Consider a 1-periodic, measurable function  $M : \mathbb{R} \to [0, \infty)$ such that  $M|_{[0,1)} = a\chi_{[0,1/2)}$ , where  $a \ge 0$ . By (2.20),  $\operatorname{Sol}_M = \{0\}$  for a < 1/2. For a = 1/2, we obtain from (2.13) that  $\Phi \in \operatorname{Sol}_M$  implies that

$$\int_0^1 \Phi(\xi) d\xi = \int_0^{1/2} \Phi(\xi) d\xi.$$

Hence  $\Phi|_{[1/2,1)} \equiv 0$ . By (2.10) and M > 0 on [0, 1/2), we obtain  $\Phi = 0$ , which means  $Sol_M = \{0\}$ .

For a > 1/2, we have 2a > 1. If  $\Phi \in \text{Sol}_M$ , then  $\Phi|_{(-\infty,0)} \equiv 0$ , since  $M|_{[-1/2,0)} = 0$ , and  $\Phi|_{[1,\infty)} \equiv 0$ , since  $M|_{[1/2,1)} \equiv 0$ . Hence ssupp  $\Phi \subseteq [0,1)$ . Obviously, we must have  $\int_{1/2}^{1} \Phi(\xi) d\xi < \infty$ . Take any  $g: [1/2,1) \to [0,\infty)$  such that  $g \in L^1([1/2,1))$ . Define  $\Phi_q^a: [0,1) \to [0,\infty)$  by

$$\Phi_g^a \Big|_{[2^{-n-1},2^{-n})}(\xi) = \frac{g(2^n\xi)}{a^n}, \text{ for } n \in \mathbb{N} \cup \{0\}.$$

It is easy to check that  $\Phi_g^a$  (extended to be zero outside [0, 1)) satisfies (2.10). Furthermore,

$$\begin{split} \int_{0}^{1} \Phi_{g}^{a}(\xi) d\xi &= \sum_{n=0}^{\infty} \int_{2^{-n-1}}^{2^{-n}} \frac{g(2^{n}\xi)}{a^{n}} d\xi \\ &= \int_{1/2}^{1} \left( \sum_{n=0}^{\infty} \frac{1}{(2a)^{n}} \right) g(u) du \\ &= \frac{1}{1 - \frac{1}{2a}} \int_{1/2}^{1} g(u) du \\ &< \infty. \end{split}$$

Hence, for every a > 1/2, we have

(2.22) 
$$\operatorname{Sol}_{M} = \left\{ \Phi_{g}^{a} : g \in L^{1}([1/2, 1)), g \ge 0 \right\}$$

Observe that for  $g = \chi_{[1/2,1)}$  and a = 1, we obtain  $\Phi_g^a = \chi_{[0,1)}$ .

 $\diamond$ 

Given  $\Phi \in \operatorname{Sol}_M$  and a measurable set  $Z \subseteq I$ , we can redefine  $\Phi$  so that it is equal to zero on  $\operatorname{orb}(\xi)$ , when  $\xi \in Z$  and is left unchanged on  $\operatorname{orb}(\xi)$  for  $\xi \in I \setminus Z$ . This new function will again be in  $\operatorname{Sol}_M$ . Hence, two solutions from  $\operatorname{Sol}_M$  may have different orbit behavior in the sense that for one solution a particular orbit is a nonzero-orbit while for the other it is a zero-orbit (see Remark 2.17i). However, as the following result shows, we will have the same behavior on nonzero-orbits.

LEMMA 2.23. Suppose  $\Phi_1, \Phi_2 \in Sol_M$ . For almost every  $\xi \in \mathbb{R}$  the following holds. If  $orb(\xi)$  is a nonzero-orbit for both  $\Phi_1$  and  $\Phi_2$ , then (using the notation in Remark 2.17i) either (B) holds for both  $\Phi_1$  and  $\Phi_2$  or (C) holds for both  $\Phi_1$  and  $\Phi_2$  (with the same value for  $j_0$ ).

PROOF. Observe that in order to prove this lemma, it is enough to show (without loss of generality on the choice of  $\Phi_1$  and  $\Phi_2$ ) that there is no  $j \in \mathbb{Z}$  such that:  $\Phi_1(2^j\xi) \neq 0 \neq \Phi_1(2^{j+1}\xi)$  and  $\Phi_2(2^j\xi) \neq 0 = \Phi_2(2^{j+1}\xi)$ . Indeed, observe that assumptions on  $\Phi_1$  lead to  $M(2^j\xi) \neq 0$  while those on  $\Phi_2$  lead to  $M(2^j\xi) = 0$ , a contradiction. The following family of "orbit constant" functions will play a useful role in describing the set of solutions  $Sol_M$ .

(2.24) OrC<sub>+</sub> := { $\mathcal{L} : \mathbb{R} \setminus \{0\} \to [0, \infty) : \mathcal{L}$  measurable and  $\mathcal{L}(2\xi) = \mathcal{L}(\xi)$  a.e.}. Observe that  $\mathcal{L} \in \text{OrC}_+$  is completely determined by  $\mathcal{L}|_I$ .

Let us now describe a basic structural feature of  $Sol_M$ . It is easy to see that it is a positive cone, i.e. that

(2.25) 
$$\Phi_1, \Phi_2 \in \operatorname{Sol}_M \text{ and } \beta_1, \beta_2 \ge 0 \Rightarrow \beta_1 \Phi_1 + \beta_2 \Phi_2 \in \operatorname{Sol}_M.$$

In particular, this shows that either  $Sol_M = \{0\}$  or  $Sol_M$  is infinite.

We introduce the following binary relation on  $Sol_M$ : for  $\Phi_1, \Phi_2 \in Sol_M$ , we shall say that

$$(2.26) \qquad \qquad \Phi_1 \prec_M \Phi_2$$

if, for a.e.  $\xi \in \mathbb{R}$ , the following holds:  $\operatorname{orb}(\xi)$  is a zero-orbit for  $\Phi_2$  implies that  $\operatorname{orb}(\xi)$  is a zero-orbit for  $\Phi_1$ . It is obvious that  $\prec_M$  is reflexive and transitive, but it is not antisymmetric (in particular,  $\prec_M$  does not generate a partial ordering). It is easy to see that if  $\Phi_1, \Phi_2 \in \operatorname{Sol}_M$ , then

(2.27) 
$$\max(\Phi_1, \Phi_2) \in \operatorname{Sol}_M$$
$$\Phi_1 \prec_M \max(\Phi_1, \Phi_2)$$
$$\Phi_2 \prec_M \max(\Phi_1, \Phi_2).$$

Observe that  $0 \prec_M \Phi$  for every  $\Phi \in \operatorname{Sol}_M$ . If  $\Phi \in \operatorname{Sol}_M$  satisfies  $\Phi \prec_M 0$ , then  $\Phi \equiv 0$ . If there exists  $\Phi_0 \in \operatorname{Sol}_M$  such that, for a.e.  $\xi \in \mathbb{R}$ ,  $\operatorname{orb}(\xi)$  is a nonzero orbit for  $\Phi_0$ , then  $\Phi \prec_M \Phi_0$  for every  $\Phi \in \operatorname{Sol}_M$  (however, as the following result shows,  $\Phi_0$  is not unique in this regard).

THEOREM 2.28. Let  $M : \mathbb{R} \to [0, \infty)$  be measurable and 1-periodic. Let  $\Phi_0 \in Sol_M$ . Then the following hold:

(a)  $\Phi \in Sol_M$  and  $\Phi \prec_M \Phi_0$  if and only if there exists

$$\mathcal{L} \in OrC_+ \cap L^1(I, \sum_{j \in \mathbb{Z}} 2^j \Phi_0(2^j u))$$

such that  $\Phi = \mathcal{L}\Phi_0$ .

(b)  $\Phi \in Sol_M$  and  $\Phi \prec_M \Phi_0 \prec_M \Phi$  if and only if there exists  $\mathcal{L} \in OrC_+ \cap L^1(I, \sum_{j \in \mathbb{Z}} 2^j \Phi_0(2^j u))$  such that  $\Phi = \mathcal{L}\Phi_0$  and, for almost every  $u \in I$ ,  $\mathcal{L}(u) > 0$ .

PROOF. Observe first that, for  $\mathcal{L} \in \text{OrC}_+$ , we have that  $\mathcal{L}\Phi_0 \in L^1(\mathbb{R})$  if and only if  $\mathcal{L} \in L^1(I, \sum_{j \in \mathbb{Z}} 2^j \Phi_0(2^j u))$ ; see Remark 2.17iii.

Observe also that, for  $\mathcal{L} \in \text{OrC}_+$  and  $\xi \in \mathbb{R} \setminus \{0\}$ ,  $\mathcal{L}$  is equal to a constant  $a \geq 0$  on  $\operatorname{orb}(\xi)$ . Hence if a = 0, then  $\mathcal{L}(2\xi)\Phi_0(2\xi) = M(\xi)\mathcal{L}(\xi)\Phi_0(\xi)$  for any M. If a > 0, then (again, for every M),

(2.29) 
$$\mathcal{L}(2\xi)\Phi_0(2\xi) = a\Phi_0(2\xi) = aM(\xi)\Phi_0(\xi) = M(\xi)\mathcal{L}(\xi)\Phi_0(\xi)$$
$$\Leftrightarrow \Phi_0(2\xi) = M(\xi)\Phi_0(\xi).$$

These two observations prove that, if  $\mathcal{L} \in \operatorname{OrC}_+ \cap L^1(I, \sum_{j \in \mathbb{Z}} 2^j \Phi_0(2^j u))$ , then  $\Phi = \mathcal{L}\Phi_0 \in \operatorname{Sol}_M$ . Observe also that if a = 0 in the last two observations, then  $\operatorname{orb}(\xi)$  is a zero-orbit for  $\Phi$ . If a > 0, then  $\operatorname{orb}(\xi)$  is a nonzero-orbit for  $\Phi$ . This completes the proof of sufficiency for both (a) and (b).

In order to prove necessity for (a), assume that  $\Phi \in \operatorname{Sol}_M$  and  $\Phi \prec_M \Phi_0$ . If  $\Phi$  equals zero on the entire orbit  $\operatorname{orb}(\xi)$ , we define  $\mathcal{L}$  to be zero on this entire orbit. If  $\operatorname{orb}(\xi)$  is a nonzero-orbit for  $\Phi$ , then, by  $\Phi \prec_M \Phi_0$ , it is a nonzero-orbit for  $\Phi_0$  (for a.e.  $\xi$ ). By Lemma 2.23,  $\operatorname{orb}(\xi)$  is either in case (B) for both  $\Phi$  and  $\Phi_0$  or case (C) for both  $\Phi$  and  $\Phi_0$ . Without loss of generality (the other proof is very similar), consider the latter case, (C). Take  $u = 2^j \xi$  with  $j < j_0$  (observe M(u) must be nonzero) and we obtain

$$\frac{\Phi(2u)}{\Phi_0(2u)} = \frac{M(u)\Phi(u)}{M(u)\Phi_0(u)} = \frac{\Phi(u)}{\Phi_0(u)}$$

We define  $\mathcal{L}$  on  $\operatorname{orb}(\xi)$  to be  $\Phi(2^{j_0}\xi)/\Phi_0(2^{j_0}\xi)$ , and, since  $\Phi(2^j\xi) = 0 = \Phi_0(2^j\xi)$  for  $j > j_0$ , we obtain that  $\Phi(2^j\xi) = \mathcal{L}(2^j\xi)\Phi_0(2^j\xi)$ , for every  $j \in \mathbb{Z}$ . Hence  $\mathcal{L} \in \operatorname{OrC}_+$  and  $\Phi = \mathcal{L}\Phi_0$ . Since  $\Phi \in \operatorname{Sol}_M$ , we have  $\Phi = \mathcal{L}\Phi_0 \in L^1(\mathbb{R})$ , which completes the proof of (a).

In order to complete the proof of (b), it is enough to show that  $\Phi \prec_M \Phi_0 \prec_M \Phi$ enables us to choose  $\mathcal{L}$  so that  $\mathcal{L} > 0$  a.e. Indeed,  $\Phi \prec_M \Phi_0 \prec_M \Phi$  means that, for a.e.  $\xi \in \mathbb{R} \setminus \{0\}$ ,  $\operatorname{orb}(\xi)$  is either a zero-orbit for both  $\Phi$  and  $\Phi_0$  or a nonzero-orbit for both  $\Phi$  and  $\Phi_0$ . In the former case, we have a lot of freedom, but we may certainly set  $\mathcal{L}$  to be identically 1 on these orbits. In the latter case, we set  $\mathcal{L} = \Phi/\Phi_0$  as we did in the preceding paragraph.  $\Box$ 

COROLLARY 2.30. Let  $M : \mathbb{R} \to [0, \infty)$  be measurable and 1-periodic. If there exists  $\Phi_0 \in Sol_M$  such that  $\Phi \prec_M \Phi_0$  for every  $\Phi \in Sol_M$ , then

$$Sol_M = \{ \mathcal{L}\Phi_0 : \mathcal{L} \in OrC_+ \cap L^1(I, \sum_{j \in \mathbb{Z}} 2^j \Phi_0(2^j u)) \}.$$

The following result is a direct consequence of Lemma 2.1 — it has been used in our circle for many years and, perhaps, could be characterized as "folklore".

LEMMA 2.31. Given a measurable set  $A \subseteq I$  and  $j_0 \in \mathbb{Z}$ , consider the sets

$$E_A := \bigcup_{j,k \in \mathbb{Z}} (2^j A + k)$$

and

$$E_{(A,j_0)} := \bigcup_{k \in \mathbb{Z}, j \ge j_0} (2^j A + k).$$

If |A| = 0 then  $|E_A| = |E_{(A,j_0)}| = 0$ . If |A| > 0, then  $E_A = E_{(A,j_0)} = \mathbb{R}$ , up to sets of measure zero.

THEOREM 2.32. Let  $M : \mathbb{R} \to [0, \infty)$  be measurable and 1-periodic such that Sol<sub>M</sub> contains non-trivial solutions. Then either, for every non-trivial  $\Phi \in Sol_M$ , almost every nonzero-orbit is case (B) (from Remark 2.17(i)), or, for every nontrivial solution  $\Phi \in Sol_M$ , almost every nonzero-orbit is case (C) (from Remark 2.17(i)). Case (B) occurs if and only if M > 0 almost everywhere.

**PROOF.** For a nontrivial  $\Phi \in \operatorname{Sol}_M$ , we define

$$A_{\Phi}^{(2)} := \{\xi \in I : orb(\xi) \text{ is case } (B)\}$$
$$A_{\Phi}^{(3)} := \{\xi \in I : orb(\xi) \text{ is case } (C)\}.$$

Since  $\Phi$  is non-trivial, their union,  $A_{\Phi}^{(2)} \cup A_{\Phi}^{(3)}$ , must have positive measure. If  $|A_{\Phi}^{(3)}| > 0$ , then  $|\{\xi \in \mathbb{R} : M(\xi) = 0\}| > 0$ . If  $|A_{\Phi}^{(2)}| > 0$ , then (by Lemma 2.31)

$$\begin{split} E_{A_{\Phi}^{(2)}} &= \mathbb{R}, \text{ up to sets of measure zero. Observe that } E_{A_{\Phi}^{(2)}} \subseteq \{\xi \in \mathbb{R} : M(\xi) > 0\}, \\ \text{up to sets of measure zero. Hence, in this case, } M > 0 \text{ almost everywhere. This implies the following two statements: if } \Phi \in \operatorname{Sol}_M \text{ is nontrivial, then } |A_{\Phi}^{(2)}| > 0 \text{ if and only if } |A_{\Phi}^{(3)}| = 0; \text{ and if } \Phi_1, \Phi_2 \in \operatorname{Sol}_M \text{ are both nontrivial, then } |A_{\Phi_1}^{(2)}| > 0 \text{ if and only if } |A_{\Phi_2}^{(2)}| > 0. \text{ This completes the proof of the theorem.} \end{split}$$

- REMARK 2.33. (i) Obviously, we are interested in the class of functions M for which  $\operatorname{Sol}_M$  contains nontrivial solutions. Theorem 2.32 provides a natural partition of that class into two subclasses. One subclass contains M such that M > 0 almost everywhere and is characterized by the property that nonzero-orbits of its solutions are of case (B), i.e. are "full orbits". Hence, we shall say that M is FO ("of full orbit type") if  $\{0\} \subseteq \operatorname{Sol}_M$  and, for every nontrivial  $\Phi \in \operatorname{Sol}_M$ ,  $|A_{\Phi}^{(2)}| > 0$ . The other subclass contains M such that  $|\{M = 0\}| > 0$ . Hence, we shall say that M is non-FO ("not of full orbit type") if  $\{0\} \subseteq \operatorname{Sol}_M$  and, for every nontrivial  $\Phi \in \operatorname{Sol}_M$ ,  $|A_{\Phi}^{(3)}| > 0$ .
- (ii) Suppose that  $0 \neq \varphi \in L^2(\mathbb{R})$  is such that  $\langle \varphi \rangle$  is  $D^{-1}$ -invariant. If m satisfies (2.4) for  $\varphi$ , then  $M := |m|^2$  has the property that  $\{0\} \subsetneq \operatorname{Sol}_M$ . Hence M is either FO or non-FO. Therefore, we extend our terminology to m as well; m could be either FO or non-FO. Observe that if  $\varphi_1 \in L^2(\mathbb{R})$  such that  $\langle \varphi_1 \rangle = \langle \varphi \rangle$ , then  $\operatorname{ssupp} \widehat{\varphi_1} = \operatorname{ssupp} \widehat{\varphi}$ , which implies that  $\varphi_1$  and  $\varphi$ have nonzero-orbits of the same type. As a consequence, we may extend our terminology to principal shift-invariant spaces as well. More precisely, given a non-trivial principal shift-invariant space V which is also  $D^{-1}$  invariant, we have two possibilities: either all of its generating pairs  $(\varphi, m)$  belong to the FO class (in which case we say that V is FO) or all of its generating pairs  $(\varphi, m)$  belong to the non-FO class (in which case we say that V is non-FO).
- (iii) In order to completely resolve the  $(\Phi, m)$ -Problem, it remains to show when  $\operatorname{Sol}_M$  is nontrivial and to find, in such a case, at least one  $\Phi_0 \in \operatorname{Sol}_M$  such that  $\Phi \prec_M \Phi_0$  for every  $\Phi_0 \in \operatorname{Sol}_M$ . Observe (see Remark 2.11) that this would also complete the  $(\varphi, m)$ -Problem. We shall treat the FO and non-FO cases separately.

Suppose first that  $M : \mathbb{R} \to [0, \infty)$  is measurable, 1-periodic, and M > 0 almost everywhere. We define a function  $T = T_M : I \to [0, \infty]$  (here T stands for Tauberian) by

(2.34) 
$$T(\xi) := \sum_{j=1}^{\infty} \left[ \left( \prod_{k=1}^{j} \frac{1}{2M(2^{-k}\xi)} \right) + \left( \prod_{k=0}^{j-1} 2M(2^{k}\xi) \right) \right] \text{ for } \xi \in I,$$

Observe that T is measurable and may have infinite values. Using the convention that  $1/0 = +\infty$  and  $1/+\infty = 0$ , we define a measurable, non-negative function  $\Phi_0 = \Phi_{0,M} : \mathbb{R} \to [0,\infty)$  by

(2.35) 
$$\Phi_0(u) := \begin{cases} 1 \text{ if } u = 0; \\ \frac{1}{1+T(u)} & \text{for } u \in I; \\ \left(\prod_{k=0}^{j-1} M(2^k\xi)\right) \frac{1}{1+T(\xi)} & \text{for } u = 2^j\xi, \xi \in I, j \in \mathbb{N}; \\ \left(\prod_{k=1}^j \frac{1}{M(2^{-k}\xi)}\right) \frac{1}{1+T(\xi)} & \text{for } u = 2^{-j}\xi, \xi \in I, j \in \mathbb{N}. \end{cases}$$

- Remark 2.36. (i) Observe that in a measure-theoretic setup, the value at any single point is irrelevant (since "the point" is of measure zero). Hence, we can choose  $\Phi_0(0)$  to be any positive number. If, on the other hand, we can impose some "continuity at 0" condition on  $\Phi_0$ , then this value becomes important. As we shall see later, the choice  $\Phi_0(0) = 1$  is quite natural.
- (ii) Observe that  $1 + T \ge 1$ , so  $0 \le \frac{1}{1+T} \le 1$  and  $\frac{1}{1+T} \in L^1(I)$ . (iii) Observe that  $\Phi_0 = 0$  almost everywhere if and only if  $|\{\xi \in I : T(\xi) < \infty\}| =$ 0.
- (iv) It is easy to check directly that  $\Phi_0$  and M satisfy (2.10).
- (v) Observe that  $A_{\Phi_0}^{(2)} = \{\xi \in I : T(\xi) < \infty\}.$

For a complete understanding of the following result, recall Theorem 2.28 and Corollary 2.30. The following theorem provides a complete solution of the  $(\Phi, M)$ -Problem in the FO case.

THEOREM 2.37. If  $M : \mathbb{R} \to [0,\infty)$  is measurable and 1-periodic and M > 0almost everywhere, then

- (a)  $\Phi_{0,M} \in Sol_M$ ;
- (b) For every  $\Phi \in Sol_M$ , one has  $\Phi \prec_M \Phi_{0,M}$ ;

(c)

$$\sum_{j \in \mathbb{Z}} 2^j \Phi_{0,M}(2^j u) = \begin{cases} 0 & \text{if } T(u) = \infty \\ 1 & \text{if } T(u) < \infty; \end{cases}$$

(d)  $\{0\} = Sol_M \Leftrightarrow |\{\xi \in I : T(\xi) < \infty\}| = 0.$ 

**PROOF.** The formula in (c) follow directly from (2.35), since, for  $u \in I$ ,

$$\begin{split} \sum_{j \in \mathbb{Z}} 2^j \Phi_{0,M}(2^j u) &= \frac{1}{1+T(u)} \left[ \sum_{j \in \mathbb{N}} 2^j \left( \prod_{k=0}^{j-1} M(2^k u) \right) + 1 + \sum_{j \in \mathbb{N}} 2^{-j} \left( \prod_{k=1}^j \frac{1}{M(2^{-k}u)} \right) \right] \\ &= \frac{1}{1+T(u)} (1+T(u)), \end{split}$$

which is equal to 1 if  $T(u) < \infty$  and 0 if  $T(u) = \infty$ .

Since (c) holds, (a) follows by Remark 2.17(iii) and Remark 2.36(iv).

In order to prove (b), suppose to the contrary that there is some  $\Phi \in Sol_M$  and set  $A \subseteq \{\xi \in I : T(\xi) = \infty\}$  such that |A| > 0 and  $\Phi|_A > 0$ . We would then have

$$\begin{split} \int_{\mathbb{R}} \Phi(\xi) d\xi &\geq \int_{\bigcup_{j \in \mathbb{Z}} 2^{j}A} \Phi(\xi) d\xi = \sum_{j \in \mathbb{Z}} \int_{A} 2^{j} \Phi(2^{j}u) du \\ &= \int_{A} (1 + T(u)) \Phi(u) du = \infty, \end{split}$$

which contradicts the requirement that elements of  $Sol_M$  are integrable.

The proof of (d) now follows directly from Remark 2.36(iii).

Combining Corollary 2.30 with Theorem 2.37, we obtain that in the FO case

(2.38) 
$$\operatorname{Sol}_{M} = \{ \mathcal{L}\Phi_{0,M} : \mathcal{L} \in Orc_{+} \cap L^{1}(I, \chi_{\{T_{M} < \infty\}}) \}$$

and for  $\Phi \in \operatorname{Sol}_M$  with  $\Phi = \mathcal{L}\Phi_{0,M}$ ,

(2.39) 
$$\int_{\mathbb{R}} \Phi(\xi) d\xi = \int_{\{T_M < \infty\}} \mathcal{L}(u) du.$$

We turn our attention to the non-FO case now. Suppose that  $M : \mathbb{R} \to [0, \infty)$  is measureable, 1-periodic, and

(2.40) 
$$|Z_M| > 0$$
, where  $Z_M := \{\xi \in \mathbb{R} : M(\xi) = 0\}.$ 

We define, for such an M, the set

(2.41) 
$$H = H_M := \{\xi \in \mathbb{R} : M(\xi) = 0, M(2^{-j}\xi) \neq 0, \text{ for every } j \in \mathbb{N}\},\$$

and we call H the horizon of M.

REMARK 2.42. Observe that some orbits may not have "a horizon point". One example is an orbit such that  $M(2^k\xi) \neq 0$  for every  $k \in \mathbb{Z}$ . Consider a set  $A \subseteq I$ , defined by  $A := \{\xi \in I : M(2^k\xi) \neq 0\}$ , for every  $k \in \mathbb{Z}\}$ . Since M is 1-periodic, it follows that  $E_A \subseteq \{\xi : M(\xi) \neq 0\}$ . By Lemma 2.31, if |A| > 0, then  $E_A = \mathbb{R}$ almost everywhere, which is clearly a contradiction to (2.40). Hence, under (2.40), the set A is negligible.

The other possibility to disrupt "a horizon point" is if there exists a subsequence  $\{j_k\} \subseteq \mathbb{N}$  such that  $M(2^{-j_k}\xi) = 0$ . Observe that any solution of (2.10) would have to be identically zero on such an orbit. Let us denote the generating set for such orbits by

(2.43) 
$$A_M^{(1)} := \{\xi \in I : \text{ there exists } \{j_k\} \subseteq \mathbb{N} \text{ with } M(2^{-j_k}\xi) = 0, \text{ for all } k \in \mathbb{N}\}.$$

Obviously, for  $\xi \in A_M^{(1)}$  the orbit  $\operatorname{orb}(\xi)$  does not have a "horizon point". Observe that the families  $\{2^j A_M^{(1)} : j \in \mathbb{Z}\}$  and  $\{2^j H_M : j \in \mathbb{Z}\}$  consist of disjoint sets. Furthermore, for a non-FO M, one has

(2.44)  
$$\left| \left( \bigcup_{j \in \mathbb{Z}} 2^{j} A_{M}^{(1)} \right) \cap \left( \bigcup_{j \in \mathbb{Z}} 2^{k} H_{M} \right) \right| = 0$$
$$\text{and} \ \mathbb{R} = \left( \bigcup_{j \in \mathbb{Z}} 2^{j} A_{M}^{(1)} \right) \cup \left( \bigcup_{j \in \mathbb{Z}} 2^{k} H_{M} \right)$$

Observe that:

$$\begin{split} M|_{[-1/2,1/2)} &= \chi_{[-1/4,1/4)} \Rightarrow \bigcup_{j \in \mathbb{Z}} 2^j H_M = \mathbb{R} \text{ and } |A_M^{(1)}| = 0; \\ M|_{[-1/2,1/2)} &= \chi_{[-1/2,-1/4) \cup [1/4,1/2)} \Rightarrow |H_M| = 0 \text{ and } A_M^{(1)} = I; \\ M|_{[-1/2,1/2)} &= \chi_{[0,1/4)} \Rightarrow \bigcup_{j \in \mathbb{Z}} 2^j H_M = \mathbb{R}_+ \text{ and } \bigcup_{j \in \mathbb{Z}} 2^j A_M^{(1)} = \mathbb{R}_- \end{split}$$

This analysis of the  $(\Phi, M)$ -Problem in the non-FO case depends essentially only on  $H_M$  since any solution of (2.10) must satisfy

(2.45) 
$$\Phi|_{\bigcup_{i\in\mathbb{Z}}2^{j}A_{M}^{(1)}}\equiv 0.$$

Hence, in the non-FO case, without loss of generality, we analyze those  ${\cal M}$  which satisfy (2.40) and

(2.46) 
$$|H_M| > 0$$

Observe that we always have

$$(2.47) H_M \subseteq Z_M;$$

so the requirement given in (2.46) implies (2.40). The analysis of the non-FO case now proceeds following an approach similar to that of the FO case; the main difference here being that in the non-FO case we can focus on low-frequencies only. Given  $M : \mathbb{R} \to [0, \infty)$  which is measurable, 1-periodic, and whose associated  $H_M$  has positive measure, we define  $T = T_M : H_M \to [0, \infty]$  by

(2.48) 
$$T_M(\xi) := \sum_{j=1}^{\infty} \frac{1}{2^j} \left( \prod_{k=1}^j \frac{1}{M(2^{-k}\xi)} \right) \text{ for } \xi \in H_M.$$

Observe that we could extend the definition of  $T_M$  to  $A_M^{(1)}$ , but on  $A_M^{(1)}$  we would have  $R_M \equiv \infty$ , and this would be equivalent to (2.45). As an analog to (2.35), we define  $\Phi_0 := \Phi_{0,M} : \mathbb{R} \to [0,\infty)$  in this case by

(2.49) 
$$\Phi_{0}(u) := \begin{cases} 0 & \text{for } u \in \bigcup_{j \in \mathbb{Z}} 2^{j} A_{M}^{(1)} \\ 1 & \text{for } u = 0 \\ \frac{1}{1+T_{M}(u)} & \text{for } u = 2^{j} \xi, \xi \in H_{M}, j \in \mathbb{N} \\ \left(\prod_{k=1}^{j} \frac{1}{M(2^{-k}\xi)}\right) \frac{1}{1+T_{M}(u)} & \text{for } u = 2^{-j} \xi, \xi \in H_{M}, j \in \mathbb{N} \end{cases}$$

Observe that Remark 2.36i–iv apply in this situation as well. Instead of Remark 2.36v we have the following analogous statement:

(2.50) 
$$A_{\Phi_0}^{(3)} = \{\xi \in I : \emptyset \neq \operatorname{orb}(\xi) \cap H_M = \{u\}, T_M(u) < \infty\}$$

Hence in the non-FO case, the set I is partitioned into three almost everywhere-disjoint sets,  $A_M^{(1)},\,A_{\Phi_0}^{(3)}$ , and

$$\{\xi \in I : \emptyset \neq \operatorname{orb}(\xi) \cap H_M = \{u\}, T_M(u) = \infty\}.$$

Furthermore,

(2.51) 
$$\Phi_0(u) > 0 \Leftrightarrow u = 2^{-j}\xi, \xi \in H_M, j \in \mathbb{N}, \operatorname{orb}(u) \cap A_{\Phi_0}^{(3)} \neq \emptyset.$$

Using an argument analogous to the one in Theorem 2.37, we obtain the following result.

THEOREM 2.52. If  $M : \mathbb{R} \to [0, \infty)$  is measurable, 1-periodic, and has  $|H_M| > 0$ , then

(a) 
$$\Phi_{0,M} \in Sol_M$$
;

(b) For every  $\Phi \in Sol_M$ , one has  $\Phi \prec_M \Phi_{0,M}$ ;

(c) For every  $u \in H_M$ ;

$$\sum_{j\geq 0} 2^{-j} \Phi_{0,M}(2^{-j}u) = \begin{cases} 0 & \text{if } T_M(u) = \infty \\ 1 & \text{if } T_M(u) < \infty \end{cases};$$

(d)  $\{0\} = Sol_M \Leftrightarrow |\{\xi \in H_M : T_M(\xi) < \infty\}| = 0.$ 

#### 2. MRA STRUCTURE

#### 3. Filter Analysis, FO Case.

We begin with the  $(\Phi, M)$ -Problem in the FO case, i.e. we consider a function  $M : \mathbb{R} \to [0, \infty)$  which is measurable and 1-periodic, with M > 0 almost everywhere. The Tauberian function,  $T = T_M$ , given in (2.34), is essential for the analysis of Sol<sub>M</sub>. We consider its "low frequency" part and its "high frequency" separately. More precisely, we define  $T_- = T_{M,-} : I \to [0, \infty]$  by

(3.1) 
$$T_{-}(\xi) = \sum_{j=1}^{\infty} \left( \prod_{k=1}^{j} \frac{1}{2M(2^{-k}\xi)} \right), \text{ for } \xi \in I,$$

and  $T_+ = T_{M,+} : I \to [0,\infty]$  by

(3.2) 
$$T_{+}(\xi) = \sum_{j=1}^{\infty} \left( \prod_{k=0}^{j-1} 2M(2^{k}\xi) \right), \text{ for } \xi \in I.$$

Obviously,  $T = T_+ + T_-$ .

Consider  $T_{-} = T_{M,-}$  first. It is useful to take into account a function  $r_{-} = r_{M,-} : I \to [0,\infty]$ , where, for  $\xi \in I$ ,  $r_{-}(\xi)$  is defined as the radius of convergence of the power series

(3.3) 
$$z \mapsto \sum_{j=1}^{\infty} z^j \left( \prod_{k=1}^j \frac{1}{M(2^{-k}\xi)} \right)$$

Observe that  $T_{-}(\xi)$  equals the value of the power series at z = 1/2. Hence

(3.4) 
$$r_{-}(\xi) > 1/2 \Rightarrow T_{-}(\xi) < \infty \Rightarrow r_{-}(\xi) \ge 1/2.$$

Since

$$\frac{1}{r_{-}(\xi)} = \limsup_{n \to \infty} \sqrt[n]{n} \prod_{k=1}^{n} \frac{1}{M(2^{-k}\xi)} = \frac{1}{\liminf_{n \to \infty} \sqrt[n]{\prod_{k=1}^{n} M(2^{-k}\xi)}}$$

we obtain the following result.

LEMMA 3.5. If  $M : \mathbb{R} \to [0, \infty)$  is measurable and 1-periodic and M > 0almost everywhere, and  $T_{-} = T_{M,-}$ , then the following string of implications hold for  $\xi \in I$ :

$$\begin{split} \liminf_{n \to \infty} M(2^{-n}\xi) > \frac{1}{2} \Rightarrow \liminf_{n \to \infty} \sqrt[n]{\prod_{k=1}^{n} M(2^{-k}\xi)} > \frac{1}{2} \\ \Rightarrow T_{-}(\xi) < \infty \\ \Rightarrow \liminf_{n \to \infty} \sqrt[n]{\prod_{k=1}^{n} M(2^{-k}\xi)} \ge \frac{1}{2}. \end{split}$$

REMARK 3.6. (i) Observe that the set  $\{\xi \in I : T_{-}(\xi) < \infty\}$  is completely determined by the values of M around zero. More precisely, if  $M_1, M_2$  are two functions with the properties listed in Lemma 3.5 and there exists an  $\varepsilon > 0$  such that  $M_1|_{(-\varepsilon,\varepsilon)} = M_2|_{(-\varepsilon,\varepsilon)}$ , then, for all  $\xi \in I$ ,  $T_{M_1,-}(\xi) < \infty$  if and only if  $T_{M_2,-}(\xi) < \infty$ .

(ii) We need to include the analysis of  $T_+$  in order to provide more elaborate examples for the case when the limit in Lemma 3.5 is exactly 1/2. For now, observe (recall Example 2.19) that, if  $M \equiv 1/2$ , then  $T_{-} \equiv \infty$  and

$$\lim_{N \to \infty} M(2^{-n}\xi) = \liminf_{n \to \infty} M(2^{-n}\xi) = \liminf_{n \to \infty} \sqrt[n]{\prod_{k=1}^{n} M(2^{-n}\xi)} = \frac{1}{2}$$

(iii) Observe that the finite products from Lemma 3.5 appear also in the following formula; for every  $n \in \mathbb{N}$ , for every  $\Phi \in \mathrm{Sol}_M$ , and for almost every  $\xi \in I$ ,

(3.7) 
$$\Phi(\xi) = \left(\prod_{k=1}^{n} M(2^{-k}\xi)\right) \Phi(2^{-n}\xi).$$

Using notation from Theorem 2.32, for an M which is FO and a nontrivial solution  $\Phi \in \text{Sol}_M$ , the set  $A_{\Phi}^{(2)}$  denotes the set of  $\xi \in I$  such that  $orb(\xi)$  is a full orbit. In the case of  $\Phi = \Phi_{0,M}$ , we denote  $A_{\Phi_{0,M}}^{(2)}$  by  $A_M^{(2)}$ . Observe that for every nontrivial solution  $\Phi \in \operatorname{Sol}_M$  we have

 $A_{\Phi}^{(2)} \subseteq A_M^{(2)}$  and  $0 < |A_{\Phi}^{(2)}| \le |A_M^{(2)}| \le 1$ . (3.8)

Furthermore,

(

3.9) 
$$\Phi_{0,M} > 0$$
 almost everywhere  $\Leftrightarrow |A_M^{(2)}| = 1.$ 

LEMMA 3.10. If M is FO and  $\Phi \in Sol_M$  is nontrivial, then for almost every  $\xi \in A_{\Phi}^{(2)}$  the following hold:

- (a) If  $\limsup_{n\to\infty} \Phi(2^{-n}\xi) < \infty$ , then  $\liminf_{n\to\infty} \sqrt[n]{\prod_{k=1}^n M(2^{-k}\xi)} \ge 1$ . (b) If  $\liminf_{n\to\infty} \Phi(2^{-n}\xi) > 0$ , then  $\limsup_{n\to\infty} \sqrt[n]{\prod_{k=1}^n M(2^{-k}\xi)} \le 1$ . (c) If  $\liminf_{n\to\infty} M(2^{-n}\xi) > 1$ , then  $\lim_{n\to\infty} \Phi(2^{-n}\xi) = 0$ .

- (d) If  $\limsup_{n\to\infty} M(2^{-n}\xi) < 1$ , then  $\lim_{n\to\infty} \Phi(2^{-n}\xi) = \infty$ .
- (e)  $\lim_{n \to \infty} 2^{-n} \Phi(2^{-n}\xi) = 0.$

PROOF. Observe that for almost every  $\xi \in A_{\Phi}^{(2)}$  we have  $\Phi(\xi) > 0$ , and, for every  $n \in \mathbb{N}$ ,  $\Phi(2^{-n}\xi) > 0$  and  $\prod_{k=1}^{n} M(2^{-k}\xi) > 0$ . Using standard limit properties (a), (b), (c), and (d) follow directly from (3.7). Since, for  $\xi \in A_{\Phi}^{(2)}$ , we have  $T_{-}(\xi) < \infty$ , we must have

$$\lim_{n \to \infty} \frac{1}{2^n \prod_{k=1}^n M(2^{-k}\xi)} = 0;$$

this, together with (3.7), implies (e).

REMARK 3.11. (i) Consider an M which is FO and a nontrivial solution  $\Phi \in$ Sol<sub>M</sub>. For almost every  $\xi \in A_{\Phi}^{(2)}$ , there exists  $\mathcal{L}(\xi) > 0$  such that  $\Phi(2^{j}\xi) = \mathcal{L}(\xi)\Phi_{M,0}(2^{j}\xi)$ , for every  $j \in \mathbb{Z}$ . Hence the behavior of any  $\Phi$  along  $orb(\xi)$ , with respect to the three "value sets"  $\{0\}, (0, \infty)$ , and  $\{\infty\}$ , will be essentially the same as the behavior of  $\Phi_{0,M}$ .

(ii) If M is FO and  $\xi \in A_M^{(2)}$ , then the infinite product

(3.12) 
$$\prod_{n=1}^{\infty} M(2^{-n}\xi)$$

exists (as an element of  $[0, \infty]$ ) if and only if  $\lim_{n\to\infty} \Phi_{0,M}(2^{-n}\xi)$  exists (as an element of  $[0, \infty]$ ). Furthermore, observe that for almost every  $\xi \in A_M^{(2)}$  we have  $\frac{1}{1+T(\xi)} \in (0, 1)$ . Hence, assuming that the infinite products exist, (3.7) and (2.35) imply

$$\prod_{n=1}^{\infty} M(2^{-n}\xi) = 0 \Leftrightarrow \lim_{n \to \infty} \Phi_{0,M}(2^{-n}\xi) = \infty;$$
  
$$\prod_{n=1}^{\infty} M(2^{-n}\xi) \in (0,\infty) \Leftrightarrow \lim_{n \to \infty} \Phi_{0,M}(2^{-n}\xi) \in (0,\infty);$$
  
$$\prod_{n=1}^{\infty} M(2^{-n}\xi) = \infty \Leftrightarrow \lim_{n \to \infty} \Phi_{0,M}(2^{-n}\xi) = 0.$$

(iii) Consider the special case when  $M : \mathbb{R} \to (0, 1]$  is measurable and 1-periodic. In such a case, the product in (3.12) always exists and, for every  $\xi \in I$ ,

(3.13) 
$$\prod_{n=1}^{\infty} M(2^{-n}\xi) \in [0,1]$$

 $\infty$ 

Hence if M is also FO, then for almost every  $\xi \in A_M^{(2)}$  the limit  $\lim_{n\to\infty} \Phi_{0,M}(2^{-n}\xi)$  exists and is an element of  $(0,\infty]$  (recall that, for  $\xi \in I \setminus A_M^{(2)}$ ,  $\Phi_{0,M}$  is identically 0 on  $orb(\xi)$ ). An important question for us is whether the infinite product provides us with an element of  $Sol_M$ .

LEMMA 3.14. If M > 0 is FO such that  $M \leq 1$  almost everywhere and, for almost every  $\xi \in \mathbb{R}$ ,  $\lim_{n\to\infty} \Phi_{0,M}(2^{-n}\xi) < \infty$ , then, for almost every  $\xi \in \{T_+ < \infty\}$  the following are equivalent:

(a)  $\prod_{n=1}^{\infty} M(2^{-n}\xi) > 0;$ (b)  $\lim_{n \to \infty} M(2^{-n}\xi) = 1;$ 

(c) 
$$T_{-}(\xi) < \infty$$
.

PROOF. By basic properties of infinite products and by Lemma 3.5 we always have  $(a) \Rightarrow (b) \Rightarrow (c)$ . In order to prove  $(c) \Rightarrow (a)$ , without loss of generality, we can assume that  $T_M(\xi) < \infty$ , that  $\xi$  satisfies (3.7) for every  $n \in \mathbb{N}$ , and that  $\lim_{n\to\infty} \Phi_{0,M}(2^{-n}\xi) < \infty$ . Hence  $\Phi_{0,M}(\xi) > 0$  and (3.7) imply that  $\lim_{n\to\infty} \prod_{k=1}^{n} M(2^{-k}\xi) > 0$ .

Before turning our attention to  $T_+$ , let us revisit the definition of  $\Phi_{0,M}$  given in (2.35). Observe that there is a function "hidden" in (2.35) which serves as a "universal dyadic multiplier for M" of sorts. Let us be more precise. Given M > 0we define  $F_M : \mathbb{R} \to [0, \infty)$  by

(3.15) 
$$F_M(\xi) := \begin{cases} 1 \text{ if } \xi \in I \cup \{0\}; \\ \prod_{k=0}^{j-1} M(2^k u) & \text{ for } \xi = 2^j u, u \in I, j \in \mathbb{N}; \\ \prod_{k=1}^j \frac{1}{M(2^{-k}u)} & \text{ for } \xi = 2^{-j} u, u \in I, j \in \mathbb{N}. \end{cases}$$

Given any function  $\Theta: I \to [0, \infty)$  which is measurable, there exists exactly one function  $F = F(M, \Theta)$  such that

$$F(2\xi) = M(\xi)F(\xi)$$
 and  $F|_I = \Theta;$ 

it is given by the formula

(3.16) 
$$F(\xi) := F_M(\xi)\Theta(u), \text{ where } \xi = 2^j u, u \in I, j \in \mathbb{Z}.$$

Obviously, F is not necessarily a solution in  $Sol_M$ . It is easy to see that  $F = F(M, \Theta) \in Sol_M$  if and only if

(3.17) 
$$\Theta \in L^1(I, \sum_{j \in \mathbb{Z}} 2^j F_M(2^j u))$$

Observe that, if  $\Theta \in L^1(I)$  and  $\liminf_{n\to\infty} M(2^{-n}\xi) > 1/2$  almost everywhere, then the integral

(3.18) 
$$\int_{I} \Theta(u) \cdot \sum_{j=0}^{\infty} \frac{1}{2^{j}} F_{M}(2^{-j}u) du < \infty;$$

hence, in this case, we need only to check  $F_M(2^j u)$  for j > 0. This also leads naturally to the study of  $T_+$ .

Regarding  $T_+ = T_{M,+}$ , there is an important property we want to emphasize at the outset. By (3.2), it is obvious that  $T_+$  is defined via 1-periodic functions (unlike  $T_-$ ), i.e. we can consider  $T_+$  as a 1-periodic function defined on all of  $\mathbb{R}$ . Hence the set  $\{T_+ < \infty\}$  is a measurable, 1-periodic subset of  $\mathbb{R}$ . Observe that, for almost every  $\xi \in \mathbb{R}$ ,

(3.19) 
$$T_{+}(\xi) = 2M(\xi)(1 + T_{+}(2\xi)).$$

Since M > 0 almost everywhere, it follows that  $\{T_+ < \infty\} = 2\{T_+ < \infty\}$ , and so the set  $\{T_+ < \infty\}$  satisfies the conditions of Lemma 2.1. This proves the following important result.

PROPOSITION 3.20. If  $M : \mathbb{R} \to [0, \infty)$  is measurable, 1-periodic, and M > 0almost everywhere, then either  $T_{M,+}(\xi) < \infty$  for almost every  $\xi \in \mathbb{R}$  or  $T_{M,+}(\xi) = \infty$  for almost every  $\xi \in \mathbb{R}$ .

Obviously in the second case, we have  $\{0\} = \operatorname{Sol}_M$ .

REMARK 3.21. (i) If  $\operatorname{Sol}_M \neq \{0\}$ , then  $T_{M,+} < \infty$  almost everywhere. Hence the size of the "full-orbit set" will be determined by  $T_{M,-}$ . More precisely, if  $\operatorname{Sol}_M \neq \{0\}$ , then  $A_M^{(2)} = \{T_{M,-} < \infty\}$ .

(ii) By changing M near zero, we can always adjust the size of  $A_M^{(2)}$ . Take any measurable  $A \subseteq I$ . Take any M which is FO with  $A_M^{(2)} = I$  (there are plenty of such examples). Take any  $a \in (0, 1/2)$ . Define  $M_1$ , measurable, 1-periodic by

$$M_1|_{[-1/2,1/2)}(\xi) := \begin{cases} M(\xi) & \text{if } \operatorname{orb}(\xi) \cap A = \emptyset;\\ \min(a, M(\xi)) & \text{if } \operatorname{orb}(\xi) \cap A \neq \emptyset. \end{cases}$$

Obviously,  $M_1 \leq M$  and, since M is FO,  $T_{M_1,+} \leq T_{M,+} < \infty$  almost everywhere. If  $\operatorname{orb}(\xi) \cap A = \emptyset$ , then  $T_{M_1,-}(\xi) = T_{M,-}(\xi) < \infty$ , i.e.  $\operatorname{orb}(\xi)$  is a full orbit. If  $\operatorname{orb}(\xi) \cap A \neq \emptyset$ , then  $\limsup_{n \to \infty} M_1(2^{-n}\xi) \leq a < 1/2$ , i.e.  $T_{M_1,-}(\xi) = \infty$ . Hence  $A_{M_1}^{(2)} = A$ .

#### 2. MRA STRUCTURE

(iii) If M satisfies the property that, for almost every  $\xi \in I$ ,  $\lim_{n\to\infty} M(2^{-n}\xi) = 1$ , then we have two possibilities. Either  $T_{M,+} \equiv \infty$  almost everywhere (in which case  $\operatorname{Sol}_M = \{0\}$ ) or  $|\{T_{M,+} < \infty\}| > 0$ ; in such a case,  $\operatorname{Sol}_M \neq \{0\}$  and  $\Phi_{0,M} > 0$  almost everywhere.

Similarly as for  $T_-$ , it is useful to consider the function  $r_+ = r_{M,+} : I \to [0, \infty]$ , where, for  $\xi \in I$ ,  $r_+(\xi)$  is the radius of convergence of the power series

(3.22) 
$$z \mapsto \sum_{j=1}^{\infty} z^j \left( \prod_{k=0}^{j-1} M(2^k \xi) \right).$$

Obviously,  $T_+(\xi)$  is the value of the power series at z = 2. As in Lemma 3.5, it is easy to see that the following result holds.

LEMMA 3.23. If  $M : \mathbb{R} \to [0, \infty)$  is measurable, 1-periodic, and M > 0 almost everywhere, then the following string of implications holds for  $\xi \in I$ :

$$\begin{split} \limsup_{n \to \infty} M(2^n \xi) < \frac{1}{2} \Rightarrow \limsup_{n \to \infty} \sqrt[n]{\prod_{k=0}^{n-1} M(2^k \xi)} < \frac{1}{2} \\ \Rightarrow T_+(\xi) < \infty \\ \Rightarrow \limsup_{n \to \infty} \sqrt[n]{\prod_{k=0}^{n-1} M(2^k \xi)} \le \frac{1}{2}. \end{split}$$

Let us explore the properties of  $T_+$  in more detail. Suppose that for a point  $\xi \in I$  we have  $\liminf_{n\to\infty} M(2^{-n}\xi) > 1/2$ . It follows that there exists an a > 1/2 and  $n_0 \in \mathbb{N}$  such that  $M(2^{-n}\xi) \geq a$  for every integer  $n > n_0$ . Consider an arbitrary B > 0 and  $n_1 \in \mathbb{N}$ . Recall that a function  $u \mapsto T_+(2^{n_1}u)$  is  $2^{-n_1}$ -periodic. Since 2a > 1, there exists  $n_2 \in \mathbb{N}$  such that  $(2a)^{n_2} > B$ . Take  $u = 2^{-n}\xi$  where  $n > n_0 + n_1 + n_2$ . We obtain

$$T_{+}(2^{n_{1}}u) \geq \prod_{k=0}^{n_{2}-1} 2M(2^{n_{1}+k}u)$$
  
$$= \prod_{k=0}^{n_{2}-1} 2M(2^{n_{1}+k-n}\xi)$$
  
$$\geq \prod_{k=0}^{n_{2}-1} 2a$$
  
$$= (2a)^{n_{2}}$$
  
$$> B.$$

Hence we have proved that

$$\lim_{n \to \infty} T_+(2^{n_1}(2^{-n}\xi)) = \infty,$$

i.e.  $T_+$  is unbounded around zero and  $u \mapsto T_+(2^{n_1}u)$  is unbounded around any point  $k/2^{n_1}$  for  $k \in \{0, 1, ..., 2^{n_1-1}\}$ . Since  $n_1$  is arbitrary and every interval contains at least one dyadic point  $k/2^n$  for  $k, n \in \mathbb{N}$ , we have proved the following result.

PROPOSITION 3.24. If  $M : \mathbb{R} \to [0, \infty)$  is measurable, 1-periodic, strictly positive almost everywhere, and

$$|\{\xi \in I : \liminf_{n \to \infty} M(2^{-n}\xi) > \frac{1}{2}\}| > 0$$

then  $T_{M,+}$  is unbounded on any open interval.

REMARK 3.25. The proof of Proposition 3.24 suggests a fractal nature for  $T_+$  (observe that  $T_-$  does not have a "fractal nature" at all). We can emphasize this even more. It is easy to see directly from (3.19) that we obtain, for almost every  $\xi \in \mathbb{R}$ ,

(3.26) 
$$\frac{1}{2} \left( T_+(\xi) + T_+(\xi + 1/2) \right) = \left[ M(\xi) + M(\xi + 1/2) \right] \left( 1 + T_+(2\xi) \right).$$

Of particular interest are examples of M where there exists a > 0 such that, for almost every  $\xi \in \mathbb{R}$ ,

(3.27) 
$$M(\xi) + M(\xi + 1/2) = a.$$

The case of a = 1 is the celebrated Smith–Barnwell condition (see, for example, **[HW96]** for more details and historical references). It is easy to show by induction over n that if (3.27) holds, then for almost every  $\xi \in \mathbb{R}$ ,

(3.28) 
$$\frac{1}{2^n} \sum_{k=0}^{2^n-1} T_+\left(\frac{\xi}{2^n} + \frac{k}{2^n}\right) = \begin{cases} \frac{a}{a-1}(a^n-1) + a^n T_+(\xi) & \text{if } a \neq 1; \\ n+T_+(\xi) & \text{if } a = 1. \end{cases}$$

Observe yet another fundamental difference between  $T_{-}$  and  $T_{+}$ . As we have seen (Remark 3.6 and Remark 3.21),  $T_{-}$  depends on (and can be adjusted through) the values of M around zero. On the other hand, values of  $T_{+}(2^{n}\xi)$ , even for large values of n and for a positive measure set of  $\xi$ , depend on values of M on the entire domain; see Remark 3.21.

Formula (3.26) provides useful information about  $T_+$ . However,  $T_+$  cannot be "reconstructed" based on this formula alone; see the following example.

EXAMPLE 3.29. Let us combine (3.26) and (3.27) to consider the functional equation

$$\frac{1}{2}\left(f\left(\frac{\xi}{2}\right) + f\left(\frac{\xi}{2} + \frac{1}{2}\right)\right) = a(1 + f(\xi)),$$

where a > 0 is given and  $f : \mathbb{R} \to (0, \infty)$  is measurable and 1-periodic. Observe that both sides of the equation are 1-periodic, so it is enough to check the equation for  $\xi \in [0, 1)$ . There is a simple algorithm to generate solutions of such equations.

Start by defining f on [1/4, 3/4) so that  $0 < f(\xi) < 2a$  for every  $\xi \in [1/4, 3/4)$ . We select  $f|_{[1/4,3/4)} \equiv a$ . Use the given functional equation to build f iteratively on the sets  $E_n = [\frac{2^n - 1}{2^n}, \frac{2^{n+1} - 1}{2^{n+1}})$  for  $n \ge 2$ . If we include  $E_1 := [1/2, 3/4)$ , then for every  $n \in \mathbb{N}, \xi \in E_n \Leftrightarrow \frac{\xi}{2} + \frac{1}{2} \in E_{n+1}$  (at the same time,  $\xi/2$  is always in [1/4, 1/2)). Hence we obtain that  $f|_{E_n} = \sum_{k=1}^n 2^{k-1}a^k$ , and that the functional equation holds for every  $\xi \in [1/2, 1)$ .

We now turn our attention to [0, 1/2). Define the sets  $F_n := \lfloor \frac{1}{2^{n+1}}, \frac{1}{2^n} \rfloor$  for  $n \in \mathbb{N}$ . Define f on  $F_n$  inductively via the functional equation. Observe that  $\xi \in F_n \Leftrightarrow \xi/2 \in F_{n+1}$  (at the same time  $\xi/2 + 1/2$  is always in  $\lfloor 1/2, 3/4 \rfloor$ ). We obtain  $f|_{F_n} = \sum_{k=1}^n 2^{k-1} a^k$  and the equation holds for  $\xi \in [0, 1/2)$  as well. Observe

that  $f|_{[0,1)}$  is symmetric with respect to  $\xi = 1/2$  due to the symmetry of the process and the symmetry of the initial solution on [1/4, 3/4). Hence, we have a solution for every a > 0, but our solution is not  $T_+$  for any M (recall Proposition 3.24).

 $\diamond$ 

As we have seen  $T_+$  (and therefore, T) is typically an unbounded function. Let us explore conditions under which T is integrable on I. From (3.15) it is easy to see that

(3.30) 
$$\int_{\mathbb{R}} F_M(\xi) d\xi = \int_I (1 + T_M(u)) du,$$

i.e.  $T_M \in L^1(I)$  if and only if  $F_M \in \text{Sol}_M$ ; in other words, we can take  $\theta \equiv 1$  on I in (3.16). Observe also that if we split both sides in (3.30) into disjoint sets, we obtain

(3.31) 
$$T_{M,-} \in L^1(I) \Leftrightarrow \int_{[-1/2,1/2)} F_M(\xi) < \infty$$

and

(3.32) 
$$T_{M,+} \in L^1(I) \Leftrightarrow \int_{\mathbb{R} \setminus [-1,1)} F_M(\xi) < \infty$$

REMARK 3.33. Integrability of  $T_{-}$  and  $T_{+}$  has an effect on boundedness uniformly over various dyadic orbits. Let us analyze it on a specific set of examples of M. Suppose that there exists  $0 < A_1 < B_1 < \infty$  such that  $A_1 \leq M \leq B_1$  almost everywhere. We define then, for  $n \in \mathbb{N}$ 

$$A_n := \operatorname*{ess inf}_{[-1/2^n, 1/2^n)} M$$

and

$$B_n := \mathop{\mathrm{ess\,sup}}_{[-1/2^n, 1/2^n)} M.$$

It follows that

$$A_1 \le A_n \le A_{n+1} \le B_{n+1} \le B_n \le B_1.$$

Hence there exist  $A_{\infty} := \lim_{n \to \infty} A_n$  and  $B_{\infty} := \lim_{n \to \infty} B_n$ , and they satisfy, for every  $n \in \mathbb{N}$ 

$$A_n \le A_\infty \le B_\infty \le B_n$$

Observe that if M is also continuous at zero, then  $M(0) = A_{\infty} = B_{\infty}$ .

PROPOSITION 3.34. Suppose that  $M : \mathbb{R} \to [0, \infty)$  is measurable, 1-periodic and is such that there exist  $0 < A_1 < B_1 < \infty$  such that  $A_1 \leq M \leq B_1$  almost everywhere. Then

- (a) If  $T_{M,-} < \infty$  almost everywhere, then  $B_{\infty} \geq 1/2$ .
- (b) If  $T_{M,+} \in L^1(I)$ , then  $A_{\infty} \leq 1$ .
- (c) If  $T_M \in L^1(I)$  and M is continuous at 0 then  $1/2 \leq M(0) \leq 1$ .
- (d) If  $A_{\infty} > 1/2$ , then  $T_{M,-} \in L^{\infty}(I)$ .

PROOF. (a) Suppose to the contrary that  $B_{\infty} < 1/2$ . Then there exists an  $n_0 \in \mathbb{N}$  such that  $B_{n_0} < 1/2$ . Then we have for almost every  $\xi \in I$ 

$$T_{M,-}(\xi) \ge \sum_{k=n_0+1}^{\infty} 2^{-k} \left( \prod_{\ell=1}^{n_0} \frac{1}{M(2^{-\ell}\xi)} \right) \left( \prod_{\ell=n_0+1}^{k} \frac{1}{M(2^{-\ell}\xi)} \right)$$
$$\ge \sum_{k=n_0+1}^{\infty} 2^{-k} B_1^{-n_0} B_{n_0}^{-(k-n_0)}$$
$$= \frac{1}{(2B_1)^{n_0}} \sum_{k=n_0+1}^{\infty} \frac{1}{(2B_{n_0})^{k-n_0}}$$
$$= \infty.$$

(b) Suppose to the contrary that  $A_{\infty} > 1$ . Then there exists  $n_0 \in \mathbb{N}$  such that  $A_{n_0} > 1$ . It follows that  $M(\xi) > 1$  for almost every  $\xi \in (-\delta, \delta)$  where  $\delta = 2^{-n_0}$ . Observe that for every  $k \in \mathbb{N}$  and for every  $\xi \in (1 - \delta/2^k, 1)$  we have  $2^k \xi \in (2^k - \delta, 2^k)$ . Hence

$$\infty > \int_{I} T_{M,+}(\xi) d\xi \ge \sum_{k=1}^{\infty} 2^{k} \int_{1-\delta/2^{k}}^{1} \prod_{\ell=0}^{k-1} M(2^{\ell}\xi) d\xi \ge \sum_{k=1}^{\infty} 2^{k} \cdot 1 \cdot \frac{\delta}{2^{k}} = \infty.$$

- (c) This follows directly from (a), (b), and Remark 3.33.
- (d) If  $A_{\infty} > 1/2$ , then there exists  $n_0 \in \mathbb{N}$  such that  $A_{n_0} > 1/2$ . Then for almost every  $\xi \in I$ ,

$$T_{M,-}(\xi) \leq \sum_{j=1}^{n_0-1} 2^{-j} \left( \prod_{k=1}^j \frac{1}{M(2^{-k}\xi)} \right) + 2^{-(n_0-1)} \left( \prod_{k=1}^{n_0-1} \frac{1}{M(2^{-k}\xi)} \right) \sum_{j=n_0}^{\infty} 2^{-(j-n_0+1)} \frac{1}{(A_{n_0})^{(j-n_0+1)}} \leq \sum_{j=1}^{n_0-1} 2^{-j} A_1^{-j} + (2A_1)^{-(n_0-1)} \frac{\frac{1}{2A_{n_0}}}{1 - \frac{1}{2A_{n_0}}} < \infty.$$

As before, it is easier to control  $T_{-}$  rather than  $T_{+}$ . For the analysis of integrability of  $T_{+}$ , it is useful to consider the following *recurrence formula*. Observe that for positive powers  $2^{n}I$ ,  $n \in \mathbb{N}$ , we can define  $F_{M}$  even when M attains zero-values.

PROPOSITION 3.35. If  $M : \mathbb{R} \to [0, \infty)$  is measurable and 1-periodic, then, for every  $j \in \mathbb{N}$ ,

$$\int_{I} F_M(2^j \xi) d\xi = \frac{1}{2} \int_{I} \left( M\left(\frac{\xi}{2}\right) + M\left(\frac{\xi}{2} + \frac{1}{2}\right) \right) F_M(2^{j-1}\xi) d\xi.$$

The proof of this proposition relies on change of variables formulas for functions on the torus (or, equivalently, 1-periodic functions). Similar formulas have been used in the literature on wavelets (see, for example, [**PŠW99**]), but for the reader's convenience and the clarity of our exposition, we provide a quick tour of the results.

Denote  $J_1 := [1/2, 3/4), J_2 = [3/4, 1), I_1 = J_1 \cup (-J_1)$  and  $I_2 = J_2 \cup (-J_2)$ . Define dilation  $\rho_1 : I_1 \to I$  and  $\rho_2 : I_2 \to I$  by

(3.36) 
$$\rho_1(y) := \begin{cases} 2y - 2 & \text{if } y \in J_1 \\ 2y + 2 & \text{if } y \in -J_1 \end{cases}$$
$$\rho_2(y) := \begin{cases} 2y - 1 & \text{if } y \in J_2 \\ 2y + 1 & \text{if } y \in -J_2 \end{cases}$$

these are bijections with  $\rho'_1 = \rho'_2 = 2$  (compare with the function  $\rho$  in [**PŠW99**]) and it is easy to explicitly write  $\rho_1^{-1}$  and  $\rho_2^{-1}$ . In the following, consider a function G where G is either  $G : \mathbb{R} \to \mathbb{C}$  and locally integrable or  $G : \mathbb{R} \to [0, \infty]$  and measurable. For  $\ell = 1, 2$  and  $J \subset I_{\ell}$  measurable, the following change of variable formula holds:

(3.37) 
$$\int_{J} G(\xi) d\xi = \frac{1}{2} \int_{\rho_{\ell}(J)} G(\rho_{\ell}^{-1}(\xi)) d\xi.$$

If, moreover, G is 1-periodic, then for  $\ell = 1$  we have

(3.38) 
$$\int_{J} G(\xi) d\xi = \frac{1}{2} \int_{\rho_1(J)} G(\xi/2) d\xi$$

and for  $\ell = 2$ 

(3.39) 
$$\int_{J} G(\xi) d\xi = \frac{1}{2} \int_{\rho_2(J)} G((\xi+1)/2) d\xi.$$

Hence if  $J \subseteq I$  is measurable and G is 1-periodic, then

(3.40) 
$$\int_{J} G(\xi) d\xi = \frac{1}{2} \left( \int_{\rho_1(J \cap I_1)} G(\xi/2) d\xi + \int_{\rho_2(J \cap I_2)} G((\xi+1)/2) d\xi \right).$$

In particular, for J = I, (3.40) becomes

(3.41) 
$$\int_{I} G(\xi) d\xi = \frac{1}{2} \int_{I} \left( G(\xi/2) + G((\xi+1)/2) \right) d\xi.$$

If, moreover, G is 1/2-periodic, then (3.41) becomes

(3.42) 
$$\int_{I} G(\xi) d\xi = \int_{I} G(\xi/2) d\xi.$$

(The formula is correct, despite its "appearance".) The sets  $\rho_1(J \cap I_1)$  and  $\rho_2(J \cap I_2)$ overlap in principle, so if  $G \ge 0$  and G is 1/2-periodic, then (3.40) becomes

(3.43) 
$$\int_{J} G(\xi) d\xi \ge \frac{1}{2} \int_{\rho_{1}(J \cap I_{1}) \cup \rho_{2}(J \cap I_{2})} G(\xi/2) d\xi$$

PROOF OF PROPOSITION 3.35. For every  $j \in \mathbb{N}$  consider a function  $G_j : \mathbb{R} \to [0, \infty)$  defined by

$$G_j(\xi) := \prod_{k=0}^{j-1} M(2^k \xi),$$

and  $G_0 : \mathbb{R} \to [0, \infty)$  so that  $G_0 \equiv 1$ . Obviously these are non-negative, measurable, 1-periodic functions. For  $\xi \in I$ , we have  $G_j(\xi) = F_M(2^j\xi)$ , for every  $j \in \mathbb{N}$ . Furthermore, for every  $j \in \mathbb{N}$  and every  $\xi \in I$ , we have

$$G_j(\xi/2) = M(\xi/2)G_{j-1}(\xi)$$
  

$$G_j((\xi+1)/2) = M((\xi+1)/2)G_{j-1}(\xi)$$
The proof now follows directly from (3.41).

It is now easy to obtain, directly from the recurrence formula, the following result.

COROLLARY 3.44. Let  $M : \mathbb{R} \to [0, \infty)$  be measurable, 1-periodic, and M > 0 almost everywhere.

- (a) If, for almost every  $\xi \in \mathbb{R}$ ,  $M(\xi) + M(\xi + \frac{1}{2}) \ge 1$  (in particular if M satisfies the Smith-Barnwell condition above), then  $T_{M,+} \notin L^1(I)$ .
- (b) If, for almost every  $\xi \in \mathbb{R}$ ,  $M(\xi) + M(\xi + \frac{1}{2}) \le a < 1$ , then  $T_{M,+} \in L^1(I)$ .

At this point we have enough theory to develop several illustrative examples.

EXAMPLE 3.45. Take  $a, b, \varepsilon \in (0, 1)$  such that  $\varepsilon \leq 1/4, b < a < 1$  and a+b < 1. Define M to be 1-periodic so that  $M|_{[-\varepsilon,\varepsilon)} \equiv a$  and  $M|_{[-1/2,1/2)\setminus[-\varepsilon,\varepsilon)} \equiv b$ . Since a+b < 1, Corollary 3.44b implies that  $T_{M,+} \in L^1(I)$ . We have several cases.

If 0 < a < 1/2, then  $Sol_M = \{0\}$  by Lemma 3.5.

If a = 1/2, then  $\liminf_{n\to\infty} M(2^{-n}\xi) = \liminf_{n\to\infty} \sqrt[n]{\prod_{k=1}^n M(2^{-j}\xi)} = 1/2$ for every  $\xi$ . However, direct calculation from (3.1) shows that  $T_{M,-} \equiv \infty$ , i.e.  $\operatorname{Sol}_M = \{0\}$  (compare with Lemma 3.5).

If  $a \in (1/2, 1)$ , then  $T_M \in L^1(I)$ , i.e.  $F_M \in \text{Sol}_M$ . Observe, however, that the infinite product given in (3.13) is equal to zero for every  $\xi \in I$ . Hence, although we have non-trivial solutions, the infinite product is not "able to recognize them" (this is one important point where our approach is more general and more comprehensive than the theory previously developed in  $[\mathbf{P}\mathbf{\tilde{S}WX01}]$  and  $[\mathbf{P}\mathbf{\tilde{S}WX03}]$ ; we shall revisit this issue in more detail later). Observe also that in this case,  $\lim_{n\to\infty} F_M(2^{-n}\xi) = \infty$  for every  $\xi \in I$ . Nevertheless,  $F_M$  is a non-trivial solution and  $F_M > 0$  almost everywhere; in particular,  $A_M^{(2)} = I$ .

Let us now change M on  $(-\varepsilon, \varepsilon)$ , where we now take  $\varepsilon = 1/4$  for simplicity. For  $\xi \in I$ , we define

$$M\left(\frac{\xi}{2^{2\ell-1}}\right) := \frac{1}{2}$$
$$M\left(\frac{\xi}{2^{2\ell}}\right) := a > \frac{1}{2}$$

for every  $\ell \in \mathbb{N}$ . Observe that  $\liminf_{n\to\infty} M(2^{-n}\xi) = \frac{1}{2}$  for every  $\xi \in I$ . Still,  $\operatorname{Sol}_M \neq \{0\}$  since

$$\liminf_{n \to \infty} \sqrt[n]{\prod_{k=1}^{n} M(\xi/2^k)} = \lim_{n \to \infty} \sqrt[n]{\prod_{k=1}^{n} M(\xi/2^k)} = (1/2)^{1/2} a^{1/2} > 1/2;$$

compare to Lemma 3.5.

Take now  $\varepsilon = 1/2^5$  (again for simplicity) and define M on  $[-\varepsilon, \varepsilon]$  so that for  $\xi \in I$  and  $n \in \mathbb{N}$  with  $n \geq 5$ ,

$$M(2^{-n}\xi) := \frac{1}{2} \left(\frac{n}{n-1}\right)^2.$$

It follows that for  $n \ge 5$  and  $\xi \in I$  we have

$$\prod_{k=1}^{n} 2M(2^{-k}\xi) = (2b)^4 \frac{1}{16}n^2 = b^4 n^2.$$

Hence

$$\lim_{n \to \infty} M(2^{-n}\xi) = \lim_{n \to \infty} \sqrt[n]{n} \prod_{k=1}^n M(2^{-k}\xi) = \lim_{n \to \infty} \sqrt[n]{\frac{b^4 n^2}{2^n}} = \frac{1}{2},$$

while  $\operatorname{Sol}_M \neq \{0\}$  since, for every  $\xi \in I$ ,

$$T_{-}(\xi) \sim \sum_{n=5}^{\infty} \frac{1}{n^2} < \infty.$$

 $\diamond$ 

- REMARK 3.46. (i) Observe that in the case of  $T_M \in L^1(\mathbb{R})$  we have two "natural" candidates for a maximal solution (in terms of  $\prec_M$ ):  $\Phi_{0,M}$  and  $F_M$ . Since in this case  $1 + T_M \in L^1(I)$ , we simply take  $\mathcal{L} \in OrC_+$  (see (2.38)) to be  $\mathcal{L} = 1 + T_M$  and obtain  $(1 + T_M)\Phi_{0,M} = F_M$  (obviously,  $F_M \prec_M \Phi_{0,M} \prec_M F_M$ ).
- (ii) If  $T_M \in L^1(I)$  and  $\lim_{n\to\infty} M(2^{-n}\xi) = a \in (1/2, 1)$  for almost every  $\xi \in \mathbb{R}$ , we will have the same phenomenon as in Example 3.45; all infinite products in (3.13) are trivial, and any nontrivial  $\Phi \in \operatorname{Sol}_M$  will be unbounded around zero. Hence, even in the case of  $T_M \in L^1(I)$ , bounded, non-trivial solutions are to be expected in the case where  $\lim_{n\to\infty} M(2^{-n}\xi) \equiv 1$ .

It is of interest to explore whether M can be bigger than 1.

EXAMPLE 3.47. Take  $a, b, c \in (0, \infty)$  so that 1/2 < a < 1, c is arbitrary, and b is small enough that a + b + 4cb < 1. Observe that we can take c > 1 here. Define M by

$$M(\xi) := \begin{cases} a & \text{if } \xi \in [-1/6, 1/6) \\ c & \text{if } \xi \in [-1/3, 1/3) \setminus [-1/6, 1/6) \\ b & \text{if } \xi \in [-1/2, 1/2) \setminus [-1/3, 1/3) \end{cases}$$

and extend M 1-periodically to  $\mathbb{R}$ . It follows that

(3.48) 
$$M(\xi) + M(\xi + \frac{1}{2}) = \begin{cases} a+b & \text{if } \xi \in [-1/6, 1/6) \\ 2c & \text{if } \xi \in [-1/4, 1/4) \setminus [-1/6, 1/6). \end{cases}$$

Since we can select c to be arbitrarily large (we just need to adjust b to be small enough), both  $M(\xi)$  and  $M(\xi) + M(\xi + \frac{1}{2})$  can be as large as desired on a set of positive measure, while we still have that  $T_M \in L^1(I)$ . For  $T_{M,-}$ , this follows from Proposition 3.34d, while for  $T_{M,+}$  we apply the recurrence formula and (3.48). We obtain for  $j \geq 2$ 

$$\begin{split} \int_{I} F_{M}(2^{j}\xi)d\xi &= \frac{a+b}{2} \int_{[-1,-2/3)\cup[2/3,1)} F_{M}(2^{j-1}\xi)d\xi + \\ &+ c \int_{[-2/3,-1/2)\cup[1/2,2/3)} M(\xi) \prod_{k=1}^{j-2} M(2^{k}\xi)d\xi \\ &\leq \frac{a+b}{2} \int_{I} F_{M}(2^{j-1}\xi)d\xi + cb \int_{I} F_{M}(2^{j-2}\xi)d\xi. \end{split}$$

By (3.32) we need to prove that

$$\sum_{j=1}^{\infty} 2^j \int_I F_M(2^j \xi) d\xi < \infty.$$

Consider the N<sup>th</sup> partial sum,  $L_N = \sum_{j=1}^N 2^j \int_I F_M(2^j \xi) d\xi$ . Our estimate shows that

$$\begin{split} L_N &\leq 2 \int_I F_M(2\xi) d\xi + \sum_{j=2}^N \frac{a+b}{2} 2^j \int_I F_M(2^{j-1}\xi) d\xi + \sum_{j=2}^N bc 2^j \int_I F_M(2^{j-2}\xi) d\xi \\ &= 2 \int_I F_M(2\xi) d\xi + (a+b) L_{N-1} + 4bc L_{N-2} + 4bc \int_I F_M(\xi) d\xi \\ &\leq 2 \int_I F_M(2\xi) d\xi + 4bc \int_I F_M(\xi) d\xi + (a+b+4bc) L_N. \end{split}$$

It follows that

j

$$L_N \le \frac{1}{1-a-b-4bc} \left( 2 \int_I F_M(2\xi) d\xi + 4bc \int_I F_M(\xi) d\xi \right)$$

The right side of this inequality is, of course, finite and independent of N, which gives the desired result.

 $\diamond$ 

REMARK 3.49. In order to emphasize the differences between  $T_{M,-}$  and  $T_{M,+}$ , let us turn our attention to  $r_{M,-}$  and  $r_{M,+}$ . As we have seen, the value of  $r_{M,-}(\xi)$ depends entirely on the orbit  $\operatorname{orb}(\xi)$  and can change from orbit to orbit — not so with  $r_{M,+}$ . Interestingly enough, this is the consequence of ergodicity. The mapping  $\xi \mapsto 2\xi \pmod{1}$  is a standard example of a measure-preserving transformation (with respect to Lebesgue measure); observe that the mapping  $\xi \mapsto \frac{\xi}{2}$  used in  $r_{M,-}$  does not have this property. Furthermore, it is well-known (and follows from Lemma 2.1) that  $\xi \mapsto 2\xi \pmod{1}$  is ergodic (see, for example, [Wal00] for an introduction to ergodic theory). Hence the classical Birkhoff's Ergodic Theorem applies and provides us with the following important result.

THEOREM 3.50. If  $M : \mathbb{R} \to [0, \infty)$  is measurable, 1-periodic, and bounded, then for almost every  $\xi \in \mathbb{R}$ ,

$$\lim_{n \to \infty} \sqrt[n]{\prod_{k=0}^{n-1} M(2^k \xi)} = \exp\left(\int_0^1 \ln M(\xi) d\xi\right).$$

PROOF. Suppose first that  $\int_0^1 \ln M(\xi) d\xi > -\infty$ . Since  $\ln M(\xi)$  is bounded above, this implies that  $\ln M(\xi) \in L^1(\mathbb{T})$ . Observe that

$$\ln \sqrt[n]{\prod_{k=0}^{n-1} M(2^k \xi)} = \frac{1}{n} \sum_{k=0}^{n-1} \ln M(2^k \xi)$$

and apply Birkhoff's Ergodic Theorem to conclude that for almost every  $\xi \in [0, 1)$ ,

$$\lim_{n \to \infty} \frac{1}{n} \sum_{k=0}^{n-1} \ln M(2^k \xi) = \int_0^1 \ln M(\xi) d\xi.$$

Since  $\xi \mapsto \prod_{k=0}^{n-1} M(2^k \xi)$  is 1-periodic, it follows that, for almost every  $\xi \in \mathbb{R}$ ,

$$\lim_{n \to \infty} \sqrt[n]{\prod_{k=0}^{n-1} M(2^k \xi)} = \exp\left(\int_0^1 \ln M(\xi) d\xi\right).$$

Now suppose that  $\int_0^1 \ln M(\xi) d\xi = -\infty$ . For every  $\delta > 0$ , consider the function  $M_{\delta}(\xi) = M(\xi) + \delta$ . Certainly,  $\int_0^1 \ln M_{\delta}(\xi) d\xi > -\infty$ . Thus we obtain for every  $\delta > 0$  and almost every  $\xi \in \mathbb{R}$ 

$$\limsup_{n \to \infty} \sqrt[n]{\prod_{k=0}^{n-1} M(2^k \xi)} \le \lim_{n \to \infty} \sqrt[n]{\prod_{k=0}^{n-1} M_{\delta}(2^k \xi)} = \exp\left(\int_0^1 \ln M_{\delta}(\xi) d\xi\right)$$

A routine monotone convergence argument allows one to conclude

$$\lim_{\delta \to 0^+} \int_0^1 \ln M_{\delta}(\xi) d\xi = -\infty.$$

Hence

$$\lim_{n \to \infty} \sqrt[n]{\prod_{k=0}^{n-1} M(2^k \xi)} = 0.$$

COROLLARY 3.51. Let  $M : \mathbb{R} \to [0, \infty)$  be measurable, 1-periodic, bounded, and M > 0 almost everywhere. Then

(a) For almost every  $\xi \in I$ ,

$$\frac{1}{r_{M,+}(\xi)} = \exp\left(\int_0^1 \ln M(\xi) d\xi\right)$$

(b) The following string of implications holds:

$$\int_0^1 \ln M(\xi) d\xi < \ln \frac{1}{2} \Rightarrow T_{M,+} \text{ is finite almost everywhere}$$
$$\Rightarrow \int_0^1 \ln M(\xi) d\xi \le \ln \frac{1}{2}.$$

REMARK 3.52. (i) Recall that by Jensen's inequality,

$$\exp\left(\int_0^1 \ln M(\xi) d\xi\right) \le \int_0^1 M(\xi) d\xi,$$

and equality holds only when M is (almost everywhere) equal to a constant function.

(ii) It follows that if  $M : \mathbb{R} \to [0, \infty)$  is measurable, bounded, 1-periodic, M > 0 almost everywhere, M is not (almost everywhere) a constant function, and

(3.53) 
$$\int_{0}^{1} M(\xi) d\xi \le \frac{1}{2},$$

then  $T_{M,+}$  is finite almost everywhere.

(iii) As already mentioned in Remark 3.25, of particular interest are functions  $M : \mathbb{R} \to [0, \infty)$  which are measurable, 1-periodic, M > 0 almost everywhere, and such that M satisfies the Smith–Barnwell condition

 $M(\xi) + M(\xi + \frac{1}{2}) = 1$  almost everywhere.

Observe that, for such functions, we have  $0 < M \leq 1$  and

$$\int_0^1 M(\xi) d\xi = \frac{1}{2}$$

Among such functions M, there is only one constant function,  $M \equiv \frac{1}{2}$ .

COROLLARY 3.54. Let  $M : \mathbb{R} \to [0, \infty)$  be measurable, 1-periodic, and M > 0 almost everywhere.

- (a) If  $M(\xi) + M(\xi + \frac{1}{2}) = 1$  almost everywhere and  $M \not\equiv \frac{1}{2}$ , then  $T_{M,+}$  is finite almost everywhere.
- (b) If  $M(\xi) + M(\xi + \frac{1}{2}) = 1$  almost everywhere and, for almost every  $\xi \in I$ ,  $\liminf_{n\to\infty} M(2^{-n}\xi) > \frac{1}{2}$ , then M is FO,  $A_M^{(2)} = I$ , and

 $\Phi_{0,M}(\xi) > 0$  for almost every  $\xi \in \mathbb{R}$ .

Observe that  $M \equiv \frac{1}{2}$  is the only M > 0 which satisfies the Smith-Barnwell condition and has  $T_{M,+} \equiv \infty$ .

REMARK 3.55. We have now painted a fairly complete picture of  $T_+$  and  $T_-$  for the class of functions M > 0 which satisfy the Smith–Barnwell condition. Except for  $M \equiv \frac{1}{2}$ , all such functions will have  $T_{M,+}$  which is finite almost everywhere, which is unbounded on any interval, and which is non-integrable. The existence of non-trivial solutions will then depend entirely on  $T_{M,-}$ .

Under the additional assumption that M is bounded away from zero, we can say even more about the properties of  $T_{M,+}$ . Since this case is not of immediate interest to us (observe that this conditions prevents M from "reaching" the value 1), we present only the main steps of the techniques required (and are confident that an interested reader would be able to fill in the details easily).

We use the notation developed in (3.36) through (3.43). It is easy to see that for a measurable  $K \subseteq I$  we have that

$$(3.56) \qquad |\rho_1(K \cap I_1) \cap \rho_2(K \cap I_2)| = 0 \Rightarrow |\rho_1(K \cap I_1) \cup \rho_2(K \cap I_2)| = 2|K|.$$

We denote the set  $\rho_1(K \cap I_1) \cup \rho_2(K \cap I_2) = \rho(K)$ . We are interested in the dynamics of  $\rho^N(K)$ ,  $N \in \mathbb{N}$ . In general (i.e. if we only know that |K| > 0) we will only be able to conclude that  $|I \setminus \rho^N(K)| \to 0$  as  $N \to \infty$ .

For some special sets we can obtain better results. We will say that  $J \subset I$  is a (mod 1)-interval if there exists an interval  $L \subset [-2, 2)$  which is "congruent mod 1" to J (i.e. J is an open (mod 1)-interval if it is of the form  $(a, b), [-1, a) \cup [b, 1)$ , or  $(a, -1/2) \cup [1/2, b)$ ). It is not difficult to show that

(3.57) J is a (mod 1)-interval  $\Rightarrow \rho(J)$  is a (mod 1)-interval.

Hence, since |J| > 0 and |I| = 1, it follows that there exists  $N_1 \in \mathbb{N}$  such that

$$|\rho_1(\rho^{N_1}(J) \cap I_1) \cap \rho_2(\rho^{N_1}(J) \cap I_2)| > 0;$$

observe that this precludes  $\rho^{N_1}(J)$  from being of the form (a, b). Without loss of generality, we consider the case  $\rho^{N_1}(J) = [-1, a) \cup [b, 1)$ , where  $-1 < a \leq -1/2$  and  $1/2 \leq b < 1$ . If b > 3/4, then  $\rho([b, 1)) = \rho_2([b, 1)) = [2b, 2) - 1$ ; and similarly for a. Therefore, there exists  $N_2 \in \mathbb{N}$  such that  $\rho^{N_1+N_2}(J) \supseteq [-1, a_1) \cup [b_1, 1)$ , where  $a_1 \geq -3/4$  and  $b_1 \leq 3/4$ . Observe that  $\rho([-1, a_1)) \supseteq \rho_2(-J_2) = [-1, -1/2)$  and  $\rho([b_1, 1)) \supseteq \rho_2(J_2) = [1/2, 1)$ .

Hence we have proven that, for every  $J\subseteq I,$  there exists  $N=N(J)\in \mathbb{N}$  such that

$$(3.58)\qquad \qquad \rho^N(J) = I$$

We also need to extend (3.43). The following statement is easy to prove by induction over N. If  $K \subseteq I$  is measurable and  $G \geq 0$  is  $\frac{1}{2^N}$ -periodic for some  $N \in \mathbb{N}$ , then

(3.59) 
$$\int_{K} G(\xi) d\xi \ge \frac{1}{2^{N}} \int_{\rho^{N}(K)} G\left(\frac{\xi}{2^{N}}\right) d\xi.$$

PROPOSITION 3.60. Let  $M : \mathbb{R} \to [0, \infty)$  be measurable, 1-periodic, and satisfy  $M(\xi) + M(\xi + \frac{1}{2}) \ge 1$  almost everywhere. If there exists A > 0 such that  $M \ge A$  almost everywhere, then for every interval  $J \subseteq I$  we have

$$\int_J T_{M,+}(\xi) d\xi = \infty.$$

PROOF. Take an interval  $J \subseteq I$ , and  $N \in \mathbb{N}$  such that (3.58) holds. For j > N, we obtain

$$G_j(\xi) := \left(\prod_{k=0}^{N-1} M(2^k \xi)\right) \cdot \left(\prod_{k=0}^{j-N-1} M(2^{k+N} \xi)\right) \ge A^N G_{j-N}(2^N \xi),$$

and observe that  $G_{j-N}(2^N\xi)$  is  $\frac{1}{2^N}$ -periodic. We apply (3.59) to get

$$\int_{J} G_{j}(\xi) d\xi \ge A^{N} \int_{J} G_{j-N}(2^{N}\xi) \ge A^{N} \frac{1}{2^{N}} \int_{I} G_{j-N}(\xi) d\xi$$

Observe that Proposition 3.35 and our assumptions imply that, for every  $\ell \in \mathbb{N}$ ,

$$2^\ell \int_I G_\ell(\xi) \ge 1$$

Hence

$$\int_{J} T_{M,+}(\xi) d\xi \ge \sum_{j=N+1}^{\infty} 2^{j} \int_{J} G_{j}(\xi) d\xi$$
$$\ge A^{N} \sum_{j=N+1}^{\infty} 2^{j-N} \int_{I} G_{j-N}(\xi) d\xi$$
$$\ge A^{N} \sum_{j=N+1}^{\infty} 1$$
$$= \infty$$

The following example shows that having  $M(\xi) + M(\xi + \frac{1}{2}) \ge 1$  is not necessarily an obstacle for the existence of nontrivial elements of  $\text{Sol}_M$ .

EXAMPLE 3.61. Take a > 1 and b > 0 such that  $ab < \frac{1}{4}$  (i.e.  $\sqrt{ab} < \frac{1}{2}$ ). Observe that by adjusting b small enough, we can select arbitrarily large a. Take any two measurable sets  $A, B \subseteq [-1/2, 1/2)$  such that  $A \cap B = \emptyset, A \cup B = [-1/2, 1/2)$ , and  $A + \frac{1}{2} = B \pmod{1}$ . Define M so that M is 1-periodic and

$$M|_{[-1/2,1/2)} = a\chi_A + b\chi_B.$$

It follows that for every  $\xi \in \mathbb{R}$ 

(3.62) 
$$M(\xi) + M(\xi + \frac{1}{2}) = a + b > 1.$$

Observe that

$$\int_0^1 \ln M(\xi) d\xi = \frac{1}{2} \left( \ln a + \ln b \right) = \ln \sqrt{ab} < \ln \frac{1}{2}.$$

Hence by Corollary 3.51b, we have that  $T_{M,+}$  is finite almost everywhere. Obviously, there are many choices for A and B. One possible choice is to select A so that there exists an  $\varepsilon > 0$  such that  $(-\varepsilon, \varepsilon) \subseteq A$ . With this choice, we have  $\lim_{n\to\infty} M(2^{-n}\xi) = a > 1$  for all  $\xi \in I$ . Observe that under such a choice  $M \ge a > 1$  in a neighborhood of 0, we have (3.62), and  $\operatorname{Sol}_M \neq \{0\}$ .

We now turn our attention to the class of functions M which are FO and satisfy the Smith–Barnwell condition.

## 4. Smith–Barnwell Filters, FO Case

In this section, we revisit one of the most studied classes of filters, consisting of filters satisfying the Smith–Barnwell condition. Let  $M : \mathbb{R} \to [0, \infty)$  be measurable, 1-periodic, M > 0 almost everywhere,  $M \neq 1/2$  and  $M(\xi) + M(\xi + \frac{1}{2}) = 1$  almost everywhere. Then

(4.1) 
$$\operatorname{Sol}_M \neq \{0\} \Leftrightarrow |\{\xi \in I : T_{M,-}(\xi) < \infty\}| > 0$$

and  $A_M^{(2)} = \{T_{M,-} < \infty\}$ . In this section, we concentrate on the class

(4.2) 
$$\mathcal{M}_{SB}^{FO} := \{ M : \mathbb{R} \to [0, \infty) : M \text{ is measurable, 1-periodic,} \\ M > 0 \text{ a.e., } M(\xi) + M(\xi + 1/2) = 1 \text{ a.e., and } \operatorname{Sol}_M \neq \{0\} \}.$$

REMARK 4.3. In the terminology developed in  $[\mathbf{P\check{S}W99}]$ ,  $[\mathbf{P\check{S}WX01}]$ , and  $[\mathbf{P\check{S}WX03}]$ , a function  $m : \mathbb{R} \to \mathbb{C}$  which is measurable, 1-periodic, and which satisfies  $|m(\xi)|^2 + |m(\xi + \frac{1}{2})|^2 = 1$  almost everywhere is called a *generalized filter*. Hence, among other things, in this section we provide a fresh perspective on the theory of generalized filters.

Given  $\Phi \in \operatorname{Sol}_M$ , where  $M \in \mathcal{M}_{SB}^{FO}$ , it is easy to see directly (or consult  $[\mathbf{P\breve{S}W99}]$ ) that for almost every  $\xi \in I$  and for every  $j \in \mathbb{Z}$ ,

(4.4) 
$$\infty \ge \lim_{n \to \infty} \Phi(2^{-n}\xi) \ge \Phi(2^j\xi) \ge \Phi(2^{j+1}\xi) \ge \lim_{n \to \infty} \Phi(2^n\xi) = 0.$$

In particular, we have for almost every  $\xi \in I$ ,

(4.5) 
$$\lim_{n \to \infty} \Phi_{0,M}(2^{-n}\xi) > 0 \Leftrightarrow T_{M,-}(\xi) < \infty,$$

and

(4.6) 
$$0 < \lim_{n \to \infty} \Phi_{0,M}(2^{-n}\xi) < \infty \Leftrightarrow \prod_{n=1}^{\infty} M(2^{-n}\xi) > 0.$$

Recall also that (4.6) implies  $\lim_{n\to\infty} M(2^{-n}\xi) = 1$ .

REMARK 4.7. Recall that properties of  $T_{M,-}$  depend only on the values of M in a neighborhood of 0. Observe that we can take any measurable function

 $h: [-1/4, 1/4) \to (0, 1]$  such that  $|\{\xi : h(\xi) = 1\}| = 0$  and define a 1-periodic, measurable M so that

$$M(\xi) := \begin{cases} h(\xi) & \text{if } \xi \in [-1/4, 1/4) \\ 1 - h(\xi - 1/2) & \text{if } \xi \in [1/4, 1/2) \\ 1 - h(\xi + 1/2) & \text{if } \xi \in [-1/2, -1/4) \end{cases}$$

Then M > 0 almost everywhere and M satisfies the Smith–Barnwell condition. It is easy to see that we can adjust h to have various behaviors on different orbits. For example, if  $\liminf_{n\to\infty} \sqrt[n]{\prod_{k=1}^n h(2^{-k}\xi)} < 1/2$ , then  $\Phi(2^j\xi) = 0$  for every  $\Phi \in \operatorname{Sol}_M$  and every  $j \in \mathbb{Z}$ . If  $\liminf_{n\to\infty} h(2^{-n}\xi) \in (1/2, 1)$ , then  $T_{M,-}(\xi) < \infty$ and  $\lim_{n\to\infty} \Phi_{0,M}(2^{-n}\xi) = \infty$ .

Observe that for  $M \leq 1$ , we always have  $\limsup_{n \to \infty} M(2^{-n}\xi) \leq 1$ . Hence, in this case,  $\liminf_{n \to \infty} M(2^{-n}\xi) = 1$  if and only if  $\lim_{n \to \infty} M(2^{-n}\xi) = 1$ . Of particular interest to us are functions M which satisfy

(4.8) 
$$\lim_{n \to \infty} M(2^{-n}\xi) = 1 \text{ for almost every } \xi \in I;$$

for simplicity we assume that, in such a case, M(0) = 1 (although if the only condition on M is that M is measurable, this does not have any appreciable effect) and we call (4.8) dyadic continuity at 0 — this notation has been used in the Wavelet Seminar at Washington University in St. Louis for at least fifteen years; see also [**Gun00**]. Obviously, if M is 1-periodic, measurable, M > 0 almost everywhere, M is dyadically continuous at 0, and  $M(\xi) + M(\xi + \frac{1}{2}) = 1$  almost everywhere, then  $M \in \mathcal{M}_{SB}^{FO}$  and  $\Phi_{0,M} > 0$  almost everywhere. By adjusting h in Remark 4.7 appropriately, it is not difficult to construct  $M \in \mathcal{M}_{SB}^{FO}$  so that M is not dyadically continuous at 0. Similarly, it is easy to construct  $M \in \mathcal{M}_{SB}^{FO}$  such that M is dyadically continuous at 0 but not continuous at 0. Obviously, if Mis continuous at 0 (and M(0) = 1), then M is also dyadically continuous at 0. Moreover, if  $M \in \mathcal{M}_{SB}^{FO}$  and there exists  $\Phi \in \operatorname{Sol}_M$  such that  $0 < \Phi \leq A < \infty$ almost everywhere, then M is dyadically continuous at 0. Actually (recall Lemma 3.14), in this case we also have (4.6); observe that, in general, dyadic continuity at zero by itself does not imply (4.6).

These notions beg several questions. Let us begin with the question as to whether continuity at 0 (which is a stronger requirement than dyadic continuity at 0) implies (4.6). As the following counter-example shows, the answer is negative.

EXAMPLE 4.9. Define M via h, as outlined in Remark 4.7, so that  $h|_{2^{-k}I} \equiv a_k > 0, k \in \{2, 3, 4, ...\}$ . Obviously, if h(0) := 1 and  $\lim_{k\to\infty} a_k = 1$ , then h is continuous at 0. We also assume that  $a_k < 1$  for every k. It follows that  $M \in \mathcal{M}_{SB}^{FO}$  and  $\Phi_{0,M} > 0$  almost everywhere.

Now select  $a_k = e^{-1/k}$ . It follows that for every  $\xi \in \frac{1}{2}I$ ,

$$\prod_{n=1}^{\infty} M(2^{-n}\xi) = \prod_{k=2}^{\infty} e^{-1/k} = \exp\left(-\sum_{k=2}^{\infty} \frac{1}{k}\right) = 0.$$

The issue of (4.6) brings back the question raised in Remark 3.11(iii). Under the Smith–Barnwell condition, we can fully answer this question; actually, most of the answer is already provided in [**PŠW99**]. Let us revisit the problem from the point of view developed in this article. If  $M: \mathbb{R} \to [0,1]$  is measurable and 1-periodic, then we can define a function  $f_M : \mathbb{R} \to [0, 1]$  via

(4.10) 
$$f_M(\xi) = \prod_{n=1}^{\infty} M(2^{-n}\xi) \text{ for } \xi \in \mathbb{R}$$

Obviously,  $f_M$  is measurable and  $f_M(\xi) = M(\xi)f_M(\xi)$  for every  $\xi \in \mathbb{R}$ . Consider a measurable set  $K \subseteq \mathbb{R}$  which, up to almost everywhere equality, is 1-translation congruent to [-1/2, 1/2), in the sense that the mapping  $\xi \mapsto \xi - |\xi| - 1/2$  is a bijection from K to [-1/2, 1/2); see [**PSW99**] for details. Assume further that  $0 \in \text{Int}(K)$ . For every  $n \in \mathbb{N}$ , we define  $f_M^{K,n} : \mathbb{R} \to [0,1]$  by

(4.11) 
$$f_M^{K,n}(\xi) = \chi_{2^n K}(\xi) \prod_{j=1}^n M(2^{-j}\xi) \text{ for } \xi \in \mathbb{R}.$$

If, in addition, we assume that  $M(\xi) + M(\xi + \frac{1}{2}) = 1$  almost everywhere, then the well-known "peeling-off argument" (see Lemma 3.15 in [PŠW99] and pp. 369–372 in [HW96]) shows that:

(4.12) 
$$\int_{\mathbb{R}} f_M^{K,n}(\xi) e_\ell(\xi) d\xi = \delta_{0,\ell}$$

 $\lim_{n \to \infty} f_M^{K,n}(\xi) = f_M(\xi) \text{ for almost every } \xi \in \mathbb{R}.$ (4.13)

$$(4.14) ||f_M||_{L^1(\mathbb{R})} \le 1.$$

It follows that, for M which satisfy the Smith–Barnwell condition, we always have

$$(4.15) f_M \in \mathrm{Sol}_M.$$

However,  $f_M$  may be zero on some (or all) orbits, in which case it also does not provide us with much information about the solution of our problem. Take M as in Example 4.9; we have that M is continuous at 0,  $M \in \mathcal{M}_{SB}^{FO}$ ,  $\Phi_{0,M} > 0$  almost everywhere, but  $f_M \equiv 0$  — observe that in this case  $\lim_{n\to\infty} \Phi_{0,M}(2^{-n}\xi) = \infty$ almost everywhere. Combining these results in a single statement, it is now easy to show that the following theorem holds.

THEOREM 4.16. If  $M : \mathbb{R} \to [0,\infty)$  is measurable, 1-periodic, M > 0 almost everywhere, and  $M(\xi) + M(\xi + \frac{1}{2}) = 1$  almost everywhere, then the following are equivalent:

- (a)  $M \in \mathcal{M}_{SB}^{FO}$  and, for almost every  $\xi \in I$ ,  $0 < \lim_{n \to \infty} \Phi_{0,M}(2^{-n}\xi) < \infty$ . (b)  $M \in \mathcal{M}_{SB}^{FO}$  and there exists  $\Phi \in Sol_M$  such that  $0 < \Phi \leq 1$  almost everywhere.
- (c)  $f_M > 0$  almost everywhere.
- (d) For almost every  $\xi \in I$ ,  $\prod_{k=1}^{\infty} M(2^{-n}\xi) > 0$ . (e) For almost every  $\xi \in I$ ,  $\sum_{k=1}^{\infty} \ln M(2^{-n}\xi) > -\infty$ .

It is also easy to see directly that, under the assumptions of Theorem 4.16,  $f_M$ is a maximal solution with respect to  $\prec_M$  if and only if

(4.17) 
$$f_M(\xi) > 0$$
 for almost every  $\xi \in A_M^{(2)}$ .

REMARK 4.18. Observe that under conditions of Theorem 4.16, i.e. if  $f_M > 0$ almost everywhere, then we also have

(4.19) 
$$\lim_{n \to \infty} f_M(2^{-n}\xi) = 1 \text{ for almost every } \xi \in I.$$

Assume now that  $M = |m|^2$  for some generalized filter m. In the terminology of  $[P\check{S}W99]$ ,  $[P\check{S}WX01]$ , and  $[P\check{S}WX03]$ , a generalized filter m which satisfies (4.19) is called a *generalized low-pass filter*. It follows that the conditions of Theorem 4.16 are, in this case, equivalent to m being a generalized low-pass filter.

This class of filters is particularly important in the theory of Parseval frame wavelets, as developed in [**PŠWX01**] and [**PŠWX03**]. It is shown there that every MRA Parseval frame wavelet is constructed from a generalized low-pass filter, and, vice-versa, every generalized low-pass filter provides a constructive way to build an MRA Parseval frame wavelet. Hence Theorem 4.16 characterizes all functions which are of the form  $|m|^2$  where m is the low-pass filter associated to an MRA Parseval frame wavelet and  $m \neq 0$  almost everywhere.

As we have seen in Example 4.9, continuity does not necessarily imply that  $f_M > 0$  almost everywhere. However, any level of Hölder continuity does imply  $f_M > 0$  almost everywhere. This result is essentially contained in Lemma 4.5 in **[PŠW99]**. For the reader's convenience, we state the result here and prove a stronger result later on.

PROPOSITION 4.20 ([**PŠW99**], Lemma 4.5). Let  $M : \mathbb{R} \to [0,\infty)$  be measurable, 1-periodic, M > 0 almost everywhere, and  $M(\xi) + M(\xi + \frac{1}{2}) = 1$  almost everywhere. If M(0) = 1 and there exist constants  $\alpha, A, \varepsilon \in (0,\infty)$  such that, for every  $\xi \in (-\varepsilon, \varepsilon)$ , one has  $|M(0) - M(\xi)| \le A|\xi|^{\alpha}$  (i.e. M is Hölder continuous at 0), then  $\prod_{k=1}^{\infty} M(2^{-n}\xi) > 0$  for almost every  $\xi \in I$ .

One may think that some form of "dyadic Hölder continuity" is necessary for  $f_M > 0$  almost everywhere to hold. The following example shows that it is not.

EXAMPLE 4.21. Use the same construction as in Example 4.9 with  $a_k = \exp(-\frac{1}{k^2})$ . *M* is then continuous at 0 and for every  $\xi \in \frac{1}{2}I$ ,

$$\prod_{n=1}^{\infty} M(2^{-n}\xi) = \exp\left(-\sum_{k=2}^{\infty} \frac{1}{k^2}\right) > 0.$$

However, M is not Hölder continuous at 0. Suppose, to the contrary, that it were. Then, for k sufficiently large, we would have

$$0 < 1 - e^{-\frac{1}{k^2}} \le A\left(\frac{1}{2^k}\right)^{\alpha},$$

which leads to

$$1 = \lim_{k \to \infty} \frac{1 - \exp\left(-\frac{1}{k^2}\right)}{\frac{1}{k^2}} \le A \lim_{k \to \infty} \frac{k^2}{2^{\alpha k}} = 0,$$

which is obviously a contradiction.

Observe that M is an example of a function of the form  $M = |m|^2$ , where m is a generalized low-pass filter, i.e. m generates an MRA Parseval frame wavelet.

 $\diamond$ 

One may ask whether the continuity of the entire M may improve the situation. Consider the following example.

EXAMPLE 4.22. Take a partition of [1/2, 1] defined by  $1/2 = c_0 < c_1 < c_2 < c_3 < c_4 < c_5 = 1$  and consider  $C_i := [-c_i, -c_{i-1}] \cup [c_{i-1}, c_i]$  for i = 1, 2, 3, 4, 5.

Observe that  $[-1/4, 1/4] \setminus \{0\} = \bigcup_{k=2}^{\infty} \bigcup_{i=1}^{5} 2^{-k}C_i$ . Consider two sequences  $(a_k)$  and  $(b_k)$  in (0, 1) such that  $\lim_{k\to\infty} a_k = 1 = \lim_{k\to\infty} b_k$ . Define M via h as outlined in Remark 4.7 in the following way. Let h(0) := 1,  $h(\pm 1/4) := 1/2$ ,  $h|_{2^{-k}C_2} \equiv a_k$ ,  $h|_{2^{-k}C_4} \equiv b_k$ , for  $k \in \{2, 3, 4, \ldots\}$ . Define h on  $\bigcup_{k=2}^{\infty} (2^{-k}C_1 \cup 2^{-k}c_3 \bigcup 2^{-k}C_5)$  so that the endpoints on every interval are connected by a linear function; for example,  $h(\frac{1}{4}c_4) = b_2$  and  $h(\frac{1}{4}c_5) = \frac{1}{2}$ , so we define h to be linear on  $[\frac{1}{4}c_4, \frac{1}{4}c_5] = [\frac{1}{4}c_4, \frac{1}{4}]$  with the given endpoints. It is not difficult to see that  $M|_{[-1/2,1/2]}$  is now continuous with M(0) = 1 and  $M(\pm 1/2) = 0$ , so that M can be extended 1-periodically to a function M which is continuous on all of  $\mathbb{R}$ . Observe also that M > 0 almost everywhere, M satisfies the Smith–Barnwell condition for all  $\xi \in \mathbb{R}$ ,  $\mathrm{Sol}_M$  is non-trivial, and  $\Phi_{0,M} > 0$  almost everywhere.

Observe also that if we select increasing sequences  $(a_k)$  and  $(b_k)$ , then, for every  $\xi \in [-1/4, 1/4]$ ,

(4.23) 
$$M(\xi) \ge \min\{1/2, a_2, b_2\} > 0.$$

As for the condition " $f_M > 0$ " is concerned, we can have different behaviors, depending on the choice of  $(a_k)$  and  $(b_k)$ . For example, if we select  $a_k := \exp(-\frac{1}{k^2})$  and  $b_k = \exp(-\frac{1}{k})$ , then  $f_M$  will behave differently on different subsets of positive measure. More precisely,

 $f_M|_{C_2} > 0$  almost everywhere and  $f_M|_{C_4} \equiv 0$ .

Observe also that, for almost every  $\xi \in C_2$ , one has that  $\lim_{n\to\infty} f_M(2^{-n}\xi) = 1$ , while, for every  $\xi \in C_4$ , it is obviously the case that  $\lim_{n\to\infty} f_M(2^{-n}\xi) = 0$ . Hence, despite M being continuous,  $f_M$  is not continuous at 0.

If, instead, we select  $a_k = b_k = \exp(-\frac{1}{k^2})$ , then it is not difficult to see that  $f_M > 0$  almost everywhere, and  $f_M(0) := 1$  gives that  $f_M$  is continuous at 0. Observe that, in this case, M is not Hölder continuous at 0 (see Example 4.21).

A modification of the argument of Lemma 4.5 from  $[\mathbf{PSW99}]$  shows that the following result (which is stronger than Proposition 4.20) is valid. Observe that we do not require M > 0 almost everywhere in this statement.

PROPOSITION 4.24. Let  $M : \mathbb{R} \to [0, \infty)$  be measurable, 1-periodic, and  $M(\xi) + M(\xi + \frac{1}{2}) = 1$  almost everywhere. Let us define  $f_M(0) = 1$ . If M(0) = 1 and there exists  $\alpha, A, \varepsilon \in (-\varepsilon, \varepsilon)$  such that, for every  $\xi \in (-\varepsilon, \varepsilon)$ , one has  $|M(0) - M(\xi)| \leq A|\xi|^{\alpha}$ , then  $f_M$  is continuous at 0.

PROOF. (See Lemma 4.5 in [**PSW99**].) Take any  $0 < \delta < 1$ . Choose  $n_0 \in \mathbb{N}$  such that  $2^{-n_0} < \varepsilon$  and

$$\frac{A}{2^{\alpha n_0}(2^\alpha - 1)} < \delta$$

For  $n \ge n_0$  and  $r \in \mathbb{N}$  with r > 1, we obtain, for every  $\xi \in I$ ,

$$\begin{split} 0 &\leq 1 - \prod_{j=n_0+1}^{n_0+r} M(2^{-j}\xi) \\ &= 1 - \prod_{j=n_0+2}^{n_0+r} M(2^{-j}\xi) + (1 - M(2^{-n_0-1}\xi)) \prod_{j=n_0+2}^{n_0+r} M(2^{-j}\xi) \\ &\leq 1 - \prod_{j=n_0+2}^{n_0+r} M(2^{-j}\xi) + A \frac{|\xi|^{\alpha}}{2^{(n_0+1)\alpha}} \\ &\leq \dots \\ &\leq M \left(\frac{|\xi|}{2^{n_0+1}}\right)^{\alpha} \sum_{k=0}^{n_0+r-1} \frac{1}{2^{k\alpha}} \\ &\leq \frac{A}{2^{n_0\alpha}} \frac{1}{2^{\alpha} - 1} \\ &< \delta, \end{split}$$

and the same inequality holds for every  $n \ge n_0$ . If we let  $r \to \infty$ , we obtain, for every  $n \ge n_0$  and every  $\xi \in I$ ,

$$0 \le 1 - f_M(2^{-n}\xi) < \delta.$$

Hence for every  $u \in [-2^{-n_0}, 2^{-n_0}]$ , we have  $0 \le 1 - f_M(u) < \delta$ , i.e.  $|f_M(0) - f_M(u)| < \delta$ .

EXAMPLE 4.25. Let us modify Example 4.22 so that we have a partition  $1/2 = c_0^k < c_1^k < c_2^k < c_3^k < c_4^k < c_5^k = 1$ , for every  $k \in \mathbb{N} \setminus \{1\}$ . We assume that  $c_1^k$  decreases to 1/2 and that  $c_2^k$  increases to 1 as  $k \to \infty$ . For  $k \in \mathbb{N} \setminus \{1\}$  and i = 1, 2, 3, 4, 5, we define  $C_i^k := [-c_i^k, -c_{i-1}^k] \cup [c_{i-1}^k, c_i^k]$ . Again, we have that  $[-1/4, 1/4] \setminus \{0\} = \bigcup_{k=2}^{\infty} \bigcup_{i=1}^{5} 2^{-k} C_i^k$ . Define h in a piece-wise linear fashion as before, but select h so that h(0) = 1,  $h(\pm 1/4) = 1/2$ ,  $h|_{2^{-k}C_2^k} \equiv \exp(-\frac{1}{k^2})$ , and  $h|_{2^{-k}C_4^k} \equiv \frac{1}{2}$ . Observe that M is then continuous on  $[-1/2, 1/2] \setminus \{0\}$ , but it is not continuous at 0. Observe that for every  $\xi$  in the interior of I, there exists  $k_0 \in \mathbb{N}$  such that  $\xi \in C_2^k$ , for every  $k \ge k_0$ . Hence  $\prod_{k=1}^{\infty} M(2^{-n}\xi) > 0$  almost everywhere. Observe that for every  $\xi \in 2^{-k}C_k^4$  we have  $f_M(2\xi) \le M(\xi) = 1/2$ , i.e.  $f_M$  is not continuous at 0.

 $\diamond$ 

REMARK 4.26. This completes the analysis of those functions M which are FO-type and are induced by generalized low-pass filters (i.e.  $M = |m|^2$  for some generalized low-pass filter m). Our results and examples show that we have the following schematic diagram for functions  $M : \mathbb{R} \to [0, \infty)$  which are measurable, 1-periodic, and such that M(0) = 1, M > 0 almost everywhere, and  $M(\xi) + M(\xi + \frac{1}{2}) = 1$  almost everywhere:



Observe that, in this scheme, whenever we have an implication in one direction, i.e. " $\Rightarrow$ ", there is a counterexample which shows that the reverse implication does not hold. Recall that continuity of M at 0 does not necessarily imply that  $f_M > 0$ almost everywhere (Example 4.22). The condition " $f_M > 0$  almost everywhere" does not necessarily imply the continuity of M at 0 (Example 4.25).

 $\diamond$ 

The condition " $f_M > 0$ " is of continuing interest for our analysis. For this reason, we shall go a bit deeper into the schematic diagram given in the previous remark. In some cases it is useful to present the analysis of  $f_M$  in terms of

(4.27) 
$$\ln \frac{1}{f_M(\xi)} = \sum_{n=1}^{\infty} |\ln M(2^{-n}\xi)|.$$

For  $\delta > 0$ , let  $I_{\delta} := [-\delta, \delta) \setminus [-\delta/2, \delta/2)$ . Since  $f_M(\xi) \ge f_M(2\xi)$ , it is sufficient in many cases to obtain properties of  $f_M$  on  $I_{\delta}$ . For example, the condition " $f_M$  is continuous at 0" implies (but is not equivalent to; using methods similar to Example 4.25 our readers can construct counterexamples themselves) the condition " $f_M$  is bounded away from zero in a neighborhood of 0", which, in turn, is equivalent to the condition

(4.28) "there exists  $\delta > 0$  such that  $\ln \frac{1}{f_M}$  is essentially bounded on  $I_{\delta}$ ."

Similarly, observe that the condition " $f_M > 0$  almost everywhere" is equivalent to

(4.29) "there exists 
$$\delta > 0$$
 such that  $\ln \frac{1}{f_M(\xi)} < \infty$  for almost every  $\xi \in I_{\delta}$ ."

There is another condition which "fits naturally between" conditions (4.28) and (4.29), namely

(4.30) "there exists 
$$\delta > 0$$
 such that  $\ln \frac{1}{f_M} \in L^1(I_\delta)$ ."

This leads naturally to the following Dini condition for  $\ln M(\xi)$ .

PROPOSITION 4.31. Let  $M : \mathbb{R} \to [0,\infty)$  be measurable, 1-periodic, M > 0almost everywhere, and  $M(\xi) + M(\xi + \frac{1}{2}) = 1$  almost everywhere. If there exists a  $\delta > 0$  such that

$$\int_{-\delta/2}^{\delta/2} |lnM(\xi)| \frac{d\xi}{|\xi|} < \infty,$$

then  $f_M(\xi) > 0$  for almost every  $\xi \in \mathbb{R}$ .

PROOF. By our previous discussion, it is enough to show that (4.30) holds. Obviously,

$$\int_{I_{\delta}} \ln \frac{1}{f_M(\xi)} d\xi = \sum_{n=1}^{\infty} \int_{I_{\delta}} |\ln M(2^{-n}\xi)| d\xi = \sum_{n=1}^{\infty} 2^n \int_{2^{-n}I_{\delta}} |\ln M(y)| dy.$$

Observe that  $y \in 2^{-n}\overline{I_{\delta}}$  if and only if

$$\frac{\delta}{2}\frac{1}{|y|} \le 2^n \le \delta \frac{1}{|y|}.$$

Hence

$$\int_{I_{\delta}} \ln \frac{1}{f_M(\xi)} d\xi \asymp \delta \sum_{n=1}^{\infty} \int_{2^{-n} I_{\delta}} |\ln M(y)| \frac{dy}{|y|} = \delta \int_{-\delta/2}^{\delta/2} |\ln M(y)| \frac{dy}{|y|}.$$

REMARK 4.32. As our discussion shows, we have narrowed the analysis of M to understanding those functions "between" the conditions " $f_M > 0$  almost everywhere" and

(4.33) "there exist 
$$\delta, C > 0$$
 such that  $f_M|_{(-\delta,\delta)} \ge C$  almost everywhere"

(observe that (4.33) is equivalent to (4.28)). In this realm of functions, we do *not* necessarily have that M is continuous at 0 (compare also with the schematic diagram in Remark 4.26), but we have a gradual improvement of the behavior of M around 0. Let us be more precise here.

Assuming the Dini condition from Proposition 4.31, we obtain

$$\lim_{\delta \to 0^+} \frac{1}{\delta} \int_{-\delta/2}^{\delta/2} |\ln M(\xi)| d\xi \le \lim_{\delta \to 0^+} \frac{1}{2} \int_{-\delta/2}^{\delta/2} |\ln M(\xi)| \frac{d\xi}{|\xi|} = 0.$$

i.e., the point  $\xi = 0$  is a point of Lebesgue differentiation for the function  $\ln M(\xi)$  with value 0. Using Jensen's inequality, we observe that

$$1 \ge \frac{1}{\delta} \int_{-\delta/2}^{\delta/2} M(\xi) d\xi$$
$$= \frac{1}{\delta} \int_{-\delta/2}^{\delta/2} \exp(\ln M(\xi)) d\xi$$
$$\ge \exp\left(\frac{1}{\delta} \int_{-\delta/2}^{\delta/2} \ln M(\xi) d\xi\right)$$

Hence  $\lim_{\delta \to 0^+} \frac{1}{\delta} \int_{-\delta/2}^{\delta/2} M(\xi) d\xi = 1$ , i.e.  $\xi = 0$  is a point of Lebesgue differentiation for the function  $M(\xi)$  with value 1.

Actually, the Dini condition implies the analogous result for  $f_M$  as well. Using the proof of Proposition 4.31, we can see that the Dini condition implies that  $\xi = 0$ is a point of Lebesgue differentiation for  $\ln f_M(\xi)$  with value 0 (and, therefore, also

for  $f_M(\xi)$  with value 1):

$$\begin{split} \frac{1}{\delta} \int_{-\delta/2}^{\delta/2} |\ln f_M(\xi)| d\xi &= \sum_{n=1}^{\infty} \frac{1}{\delta} \int_{2^{-n}I_{\delta}} |\ln f_M(\xi)| d\xi \\ & \asymp \sum_{n=1}^{\infty} 2^{-n} \int_{-\delta/4}^{\delta/4} |\ln M(y)| \frac{dy}{|y|} \\ &= \int_{-\delta/4}^{\delta/4} |\ln M(y)| \frac{dy}{|y|}. \end{split}$$

This leads naturally to the question of the characterization of the condition " $f_M > 0$  almost everywhere" via the behavior of  $f_M$  around zero.

Let us introduce some additional notation closely related to the notation given in (4.11). We denote the interval [-1/2, 1/2) by  $K_0$ . For  $n \in \mathbb{N}$ , we define  $f_M^n : \mathbb{R} \to [0, 1]$  by

(4.34) 
$$f_M^n(\xi) = \prod_{k=1}^n M(2^{-k}\xi) \text{ for } \xi \in \mathbb{R},$$

and  $f_M^{n,*}: \mathbb{R} \to [0,\infty)$  by

(4.35) 
$$f_M^{n,*}(\xi) = 2^n f_M^n(2^n \xi) = \prod_{k=1}^{n-1} 2M(2^k \xi) \text{ for } \xi \in \mathbb{R}.$$

Observe that for every measurable set  $E\subseteq \mathbb{R},$  we have

(4.36) 
$$\int_{E} f_{M}^{n,*}(\xi) d\xi = \int_{2^{n}E} f_{M}^{n}(\xi) d\xi$$

In particular, (4.12) implies

(4.37) 
$$\int_{K_0} f_M^{n,*}(\xi) d\xi = \int_{2^n K_0} f_M^n(\xi) d\xi = 1.$$

For  $a \in (0, 1)$ , denote  $E^a = E^a_M := \{\xi \in K_0 : f_M(\xi) \ge a\}$  and  $E_a = E_{a,M} := \{\xi \in K_0 : f_M(\xi) < a\} = K_0 \setminus E^a$ .

PROPOSITION 4.38. Let  $M : \mathbb{R} \to [0, \infty)$  be measurable, 1-periodic, M > 0 almost everywhere, and  $M(\xi) + M(\xi + \frac{1}{2}) = 1$  almost everywhere. Then the following are equivalent:

- (a)  $f_M > 0$  almost everywhere.
- (b)  $\lim_{n\to\infty} f_M(2^{-n}\xi) = 1$  almost everywhere.
- (c)  $\lim_{n \to \infty} \int_{K_0} f_M(2^{-n}\xi) d\xi = 1.$
- (d) There exists 0 < a < 1 such that  $\lim_{n \to \infty} \chi_{E^a}(2^{-n}\xi) = \lim_{n \to \infty} \chi_{2^n E^a}(\xi) = 1$ almost everywhere.
- (e) There exists 0 < a < 1 such that  $\lim_{n \to \infty} \int_{K_0} \chi_{E^a}(2^{-n}\xi) d\xi = 1$ .

PROOF. That  $(a) \Leftrightarrow (b)$  is true is well known since [**PŠW99**]. Directly from the monotone convergence theorem, we obtain  $(b) \Rightarrow (c)$  and  $(d) \Rightarrow (e)$ . Observe that the monotone convergence theorem provides the proof of  $(c) \Rightarrow (b)$  since

$$1 = \int_{K_0} \lim_{n \to \infty} f_M(2^{-n}\xi) d\xi$$

and the integrand is bounded by 1.

It is straightforward to see that  $(b) \Rightarrow (d)$ , since  $\lim_{n\to\infty} f_M(2^{-n}\xi) = 1$  implies that, for every 0 < a < 1, there exists  $n_0 \in \mathbb{N}$  such that  $f_M(2^{-n}\xi) \ge a$  for every  $n \ge n_0$ .

Finally,  $(e) \Rightarrow (b)$ , since we know from  $[\mathbf{PSW99}]$  that  $\lim_{n\to\infty} f_M(2^{-n}\xi)$  equals 0 or 1, and the first case occurs only if  $f_M|_{\operatorname{orb}(\xi)} \equiv 0$ . If this would have happened on a set  $D \subseteq K_0$  with |D| > 0, then for every 0 < a < 1, we would have  $D \subseteq E_a$ . Hence  $\chi_{E^a}(2^{-n}\xi) = 0$ , for every  $n \in \mathbb{N}$  and every  $\xi \in D$ . The consequence would be that

$$\lim_{n \to \infty} \int_{K_0} \chi_{E^a}(2^{-n}\xi) d\xi \le |K_0 \setminus D| < 1,$$

which contradicts the assumption in (e).

Observe that we have provided the characterization of " $f_M > 0$  almost everywhere" already in Theorem 4.16. In the previous proposition we provided a list of technical conditions useful for the analysis of M "in the spirit of" Remark 4.32.

REMARK 4.39. Observe that conditions (d) and (e) (respectively) are equivalent to conditions (d') and (e') where the sentence "there exists 0 < a < 1" is replaced by "for every 0 < a < 1".

Furthermore, since  $\chi_{E_a} + \chi_{E^a} = \chi_{K_0}$ , these conditions are equivalent to (respectively)

(f) For every 
$$0 < a < 1$$
,  $\lim_{n \to \infty} \chi_{E_a}(2^{-n}\xi) = 0$  almost everywhere

and

(g) For every 
$$0 < a < 1$$
,  $\lim_{n \to \infty} \int_{K_0} \chi_{E_a}(2^{-n}\xi) = 0$ .

Observe that

$$\int_{K_0} f_M(2^{-n}\xi) d\xi = 2^n \int_{-2^{-n-1}}^{2^{-n-1}} f_M(y) dy$$

therefore (c) is equivalent to

(h) The point  $\xi = 0$  is a point of Lebesgue density 1 for  $f_M$ .

Similarly, (e') and (g) (respectively) are equivalent to

(i) The point  $\xi = 0$  is a point of Lebesgue density 1 for  $E^a$  for every 0 < a < 1and

(j) The point  $\xi = 0$  is a point of Lebesgue density 0 for  $E_a$  for every 0 < a < 1.

We turn our attention now to one of the most important classes of filters in wavelet theory: the class of (MRA orthonormal wavelet) *low-pass filters* (for historical details and further references, see [Dau92] and [HW96]). This terminology is also used in [PŠW99], [PŠWX01], and [PŠWX03]. We can rephrase the characterization theorem, Theorem 3.17 from [PŠW99], in the following form.

82

THEOREM 4.40 ([**PŠW99**]). Let  $m : \mathbb{R} \to \mathbb{C} \setminus \{0\}$  be a measurable, 1-periodic function, and let us denote  $|m|^2$  by M. Then m is a low-pass filter (for an MRA orthonormal wavelet) if and only if  $M(\xi) + M(\xi + \frac{1}{2}) = 1$  almost everywhere,  $f_M(\xi) > 0$  almost everywhere, and

(4.41) 
$$\int_{\mathbb{R}} f_M(\xi) d\xi = 1$$

REMARK 4.42. (i) Observe that the characterization theorem depends completely on the properties of M; the phase of m has no impact on this matter. Hence we denote the class of M that satisfy Theorem 4.40 by  $\mathcal{M}_{LPF}^{FO}$ . Obviously,  $\mathcal{M}_{LPF}^{FO} \subseteq \mathcal{M}_{SB}^{FO}$ .

(ii) As it is shown in [**PŠW99**], the Smith–Barnwell condition implies that

(4.43) 
$$\int_{\mathbb{R}} f_M(\xi) d\xi \le 1$$

but does not necessarily imply (4.41). The typical counterexample comes from the filter

$$m_H(\xi) = \frac{1}{2} \left( 1 + e^{2\pi i\xi} \right)$$

of the Haar wavelet (see **[HW96]** for more details on the Haar wavelet). We consider the "elongated" Haar wavelet associated with the filter

(4.44) 
$$\xi \mapsto m_H(3\xi) = \frac{1}{2} \left( 1 + e^{6\pi i\xi} \right)$$

As is well known (consult [**PŠWX01**], [**PŠWX03**], and [**ŠSW08**] for details), the corresponding M satisfies the Smith–Barnwell condition as well as  $f_M > 0$  almost everywhere but does not satisfy (4.41).

(iii) It is also known (see [**PŠW99**]) that condition (4.41) in Theorem 4.40 can be replaced by the following equivalent condition. For  $n, k \in \mathbb{N}$ , we denote B(n, k) by

$$B(n,k) := \int_{K_0 \setminus 2^{-k} K_0} f_M^{n,*}(\xi) d\xi.$$

Observe that, for a fixed n, the sequence  $k \mapsto B(n, k)$  is non-decreasing. The condition equivalent to (4.41) is

(4.45) 
$$\lim_{n_0 \to \infty} \sup_{n > n_0} B(n, n - n_0) = 0.$$

In some practical situations it may be difficult to check conditions on  $f_M$  directly. Therefore, we shall analyze (4.41) in detail in a similar approach as we took to the analysis of " $f_M > 0$  almost everywhere". The first natural question is whether, in the FO case, condition (4.41) implies " $f_M > 0$  almost everywhere". As the following example shows, this is not the case.

EXAMPLE 4.46. Consider the Haar wavelet filter,  $m_H$  and denote  $M_0$  by  $M_0 := |m_H|^2$ . Hence, for  $\xi \in K_0$ , we have  $M_0(\xi) = \cos^2(\pi\xi)$ , and, for  $\xi \in \mathbb{R}$ ,

$$f_{M_0}(\xi) = \left(\frac{\sin(\pi\xi)}{\pi\xi}\right)^2.$$

Take a small  $\delta$ , say  $0 < \delta < 1/8$ , and adjust  $M_0$  near the points 0 and 1/2. More precisely, we define M to be 1-periodic and, on  $K_0$  given by

$$M(\xi) := \begin{cases} M_0(\xi) & \text{if } \xi \in [-1/2, 1/2) \setminus ([-\delta, 0) \cup [1/2 - \delta, 1/2)) \\ M_0(-\delta) & \text{if } \xi \in [-\delta, 0) \\ M_0(1/2 - \delta) & \text{if } \xi \in [1/2 - \delta, 1/2) \end{cases}$$

Let us denote  $M_0(1/2 - \delta)$  by  $\varepsilon$ . It follows that  $M_0(-\delta) = 1 - \varepsilon$ . It is easy to see that M satisfies the Smith–Barnwell condition and M > 0 almost everywhere. Since  $1 - \varepsilon < 1$ , it follows that

$$f_M(\xi) = 0$$
 for every  $\xi < 0$ .

Hence M does not satisfy the condition " $f_M > 0$  almost everywhere". It remains to show that  $f_M$  satisfies (4.41). We will show first that there exists a constant 0 < c such that

(4.47) 
$$f_M(\xi) \ge c \text{ for every } \xi \in (0,1).$$

Indeed, since  $M = M_0$  on  $(0, 1/2 - \delta)$ , we obtain that, for every  $\xi \in (0, 1 - 2\delta)$ ,

$$f_M(\xi) = f_{M_0}(\xi) = \left(\frac{\sin(\pi\xi)}{\pi\xi}\right)^2 \ge f_{M_0}(1-2\delta).$$

If  $\xi \in [1 - 2\delta, 1)$ , then

$$f_M(\xi) = M(\xi/2) f_{M_0}(\xi/2) = \varepsilon f_{M_0}(\xi/2) \ge \varepsilon f_{M_0}(1/2 - \delta).$$

It follows that  $c := \min \{ f_{M_0}(1-2\delta), \varepsilon f_{M_0}(1/2-\delta) \}$  satisfies (4.47).

Since M satisfies the Smith–Barnwell condition, we have (see (4.34)–(4.37)) that  $f_M^n$  is  $2^n$ -periodic and

$$1 = \int_{2^n K_0} f_M^n(\xi) d\xi = \int_0^{2^n} f_M^n(\xi) d\xi.$$

Furthermore, (4.47) implies that, for every  $\xi \in (0, 2^n)$ ,

$$f_M(\xi) = f_M^n(\xi) \cdot f_M(\xi/2^n) \ge f_M^n(\xi) \cdot c.$$

Using  $g_n(\xi) := f_M^n(\xi)\chi_{(0,2^n)}(\xi)$ , we obtain that

$$\begin{split} &\lim_{n\to\infty}g_n(\xi)=f_M(\xi) \text{ for every } \xi>0,\\ &g_n(\xi)\leq \frac{1}{c}f_M(\xi) \text{ for every } \xi>0 \text{ (observe that } f_M\in L^1(\mathbb{R}) \text{ by } (4.43)),\\ &\text{ and } \int_0^\infty g_n(\xi)d\xi=1 \text{ for every } n\in\mathbb{N}. \end{split}$$

By the Lebesgue dominated convergence theorem, we obtain (4.41).

 $\diamond$ 

Let us analyze (4.41) from the "point of view of Proposition 4.38"; it gives us an interesting comparison of (4.41) and " $f_M > 0$  almost everywhere". We start with the following simple — but very useful — lemma.

LEMMA 4.48. If  $M : \mathbb{R} \to [0, \infty)$  is measurable, 1-periodic, M > 0 almost everywhere, and  $M(\xi) + M(\xi + \frac{1}{2}) = 1$  almost everywhere, then, for every 0 < a < 1,

$$\lim_{n \to \infty} f_M(\xi) \chi_{2^n E_a}(\xi) = \lim_{n \to \infty} f_M(\xi) \chi_{E_a}(2^{-n}\xi) = 0 \text{ almost everywhere.}$$

In particular,

$$\lim_{n \to \infty} \int_{2^n E_a} f_M(\xi) d\xi = \lim_{n \to \infty} \int_{E_a} 2^n f_M(2^n \xi) d\xi = 0.$$

PROOF. If  $f_M(\xi) = 0$ , then the statement is trivial. If  $f_M(\xi) > 0$ , then  $\lim_{n\to\infty} f_M(2^{-n}\xi) = 1$ , which implies (since a < 1) that  $\lim_{n\to\infty} \chi_{E_a}(2^{-n}\xi) = 0$ . Recall that, under our assumptions,  $f_M \in L^1(\mathbb{R})$  and  $f_M$  dominates all functions  $\xi \mapsto f_M(\xi)\chi_{2^n E_a}(\xi)$ . The last statement of the lemma now follows from the Lebesgue dominated convergence theorem.

PROPOSITION 4.49. Let  $M : \mathbb{R} \to [0, \infty)$  be measurable, 1-periodic, M > 0 almost everywhere, and  $M(\xi) + M(\xi + \frac{1}{2}) = 1$  almost everywhere. Then the following are equivalent.

(a)

$$\int_{\mathbb{R}} f_M(\xi) d\xi = 1.$$

*(b)* 

$$\lim_{n \to \infty} \int_{E^a} 2^n f_M(2^n \xi) d\xi = 1 \text{ for some (all) } 0 < a < 1.$$

(c)

$$\lim_{n \to \infty} \int_{E^a} f_M^{n,*}(\xi) d\xi = 1 \text{ for some (all) } 0 < a < 1.$$

(d)

$$\lim_{n \to \infty} \int_{E_a} f_M^{n,*}(\xi) d\xi = 0 \text{ for some (all) } 0 < a < 1.$$

Observe that each of (b), (c), and (d) consists of two equivalent statements, one for "some" and one for "all".

PROOF. Observe that (4.37) and  $\chi_{E_a} + \chi_{E^a} = \chi_{K_0}$  show that  $(c) \Leftrightarrow (d)$ . Since  $f_M \leq f_M^n$ , it is obvious that  $(b) \Rightarrow (c)$ .

Suppose now that (a) holds and consider an arbitrary 0 < a < 1. From Lemma 4.48 we have

$$\lim_{n \to \infty} \int_{2^n E_a} f_M(\xi) d\xi = 0.$$

By (4.37) we have (using (a)) that

$$1 \ge \limsup_{n \to \infty} \int_{2^n K_0 \setminus 2^n E_a} f_M^n(\xi) d\xi$$
  

$$\ge \liminf_{n \to \infty} \int_{2^n K_0 \setminus 2^n E_a} f_M^n(\xi) d\xi$$
  

$$\ge \lim_{n \to \infty} \int_{2^n K_0} f_M(\xi) d\xi$$
  

$$= \lim_{n \to \infty} \int_{2^n K_0} f_M(\xi) d\xi$$
  

$$= \int_{\mathbb{R}} f_M(\xi) d\xi$$
  

$$= 1.$$

Again, using (4.37), this computation shows that

$$\lim_{n\to\infty}\int_{2^nE_a}f^n_M(\xi)d\xi=0,$$

i.e. we have shown that  $(a) \Rightarrow "(d)$  (for all)" statement.

Suppose now that (d) is valid for some 0 < a < 1. For  $\xi \in 2^n K_0 \setminus 2^n E_a$ , we have  $\xi/2^n \notin E_a$ , i.e.

$$f_M(\xi) = f_M^n(\xi) f_M(\xi/2^n) \ge f_M^n(\xi) \cdot a.$$

Considering now a sequence of functions

$$g_n(\xi) := f_M^n(\xi) \cdot \chi_{2^n K_0 \setminus 2^n E_a}(\xi),$$

we obtain that  $g_n \leq \frac{1}{a} f_M \in L^1(\mathbb{R})$  and, by Lemma 4.48,

 $\lim_{n \to \infty} g_n = f_M \text{ almost everywhere on } \mathbb{R}.$ 

Using (4.37) and (d), we obtain, by the Lebesgue dominated convergence theorem,

$$\int_{\mathbb{R}} f_M(\xi) d\xi = \lim_{n \to \infty} \int_{2^n K_0 \setminus 2^n E_a} f_M^n(\xi) d\xi = 1 - \lim_{n \to \infty} \int_{E_a} f_M^{n,*}(\xi) d\xi = 1.$$

It remains to prove that  $(a) \Rightarrow (b)$ . This follows directly from Lemma 4.48, since, for all 0 < a < 1,

$$\int_{\mathbb{R}} f_M(\xi) d\xi = \lim_{n \to \infty} \int_{2^n K_0} f_M(\xi) d\xi = \lim_{n \to \infty} \left( \int_{2^n E^a} f_M(\xi) d\xi + \int_{2^n E_a} f_M(\xi) d\xi \right).$$

REMARK 4.50. (i) It is of interest to examine condition (4.28) in this context. Observe first that (4.28) is equivalent to the condition

"there exists 0 < a < 1 such that  $dist(0, E_a) > 0$ ".

This means that, for almost every  $\xi \in \mathbb{R}$ , there exists  $n_0 = n_0(\xi, a) \in \mathbb{N}$  such that  $\xi \notin 2^n E_a$  for every  $n \ge n_0$ .

- (ii) It is obvious that (4.28) implies (4.29), i.e. (4.28) implies " $f_M > 0$  almost everywhere".
- (iii) The example given in (4.44) shows that, in general, (4.28) does not imply (4.41). Nevertheless, condition (4.28) is a strong assumption in this direction. As the following results show, assuming (4.28) leads to (4.41) via algebraic conditions connected with simple number theoretic conditions.

For  $k \in \mathbb{N}$ , consider a bijection  $\rho^k : 2^{-k}I \to K_0$  given by  $\rho^k(\xi) = 2^k\xi - \operatorname{signum}(\xi)$ , where  $\operatorname{signum}(\xi)$  outputs the sign of  $\xi$  (compare with  $\rho_1$  and  $\rho_2$  given in (3.36)).

PROPOSITION 4.51. Let  $M : \mathbb{R} \to [0, \infty)$  be measurable, 1-periodic, M > 0almost everywhere,  $M(\xi) + M(\xi + \frac{1}{2}) = 1$  almost everywhere, and such that (4.28) holds. If, for some 0 < a < 1,

$$\rho^1(E_a \cap 2^{-1}I) \cap E_a = \emptyset,$$

then

$$\int_{\mathbb{R}} f_M(\xi) d\xi = 1$$

(i.e. M is generated from a low-pass filter).

PROOF. Recall that  $f_M(\xi) < a \Rightarrow f_M(2\xi) < a$ . Hence our condition implies that, for every  $k \in \mathbb{N}$ ,

(4.52) 
$$\rho^k(E_a \cap 2^{-k}I) \cap E_a = \emptyset$$

since  $\rho^k(E_a \cap 2^{-k}I) \subseteq \rho^1(E_a \cap 2^{-1}I)$ .

Observe that (4.28) implies that  $E_a \cap 2^{-k}I \neq \emptyset$  for at most finitely many  $k \in \mathbb{N}$ . By Proposition 4.49 it is enough to check condition (d) in that proposition. Therefore, it is enough to check that, for finitely many  $k \in \mathbb{N}$ ,

$$\lim_{n \to \infty} \int_{E^a \cap 2^{-k}I} f_M^{n,*}(\xi) d\xi = 0.$$

Observe that  $(\rho^k)^{-1}(\xi) = \frac{\xi \pm 1}{2^k}$ , so, for *n* sufficiently large,

$$2^{-k} f_M^{n,*}((\rho^k)^{-1}(\xi)) = 2^{n-k} \left( \prod_{\ell=1}^{n-k} M(2^{n-k-\ell}(\xi)) \right) M\left(\frac{\xi \pm 1}{2}\right) \cdot A,$$

where  $A \leq 1$ . It follows that

$$2^{-k} f_M^{n,*}((\rho^k)^{-1}(\xi)) \le f_M^{n-k,*}(\xi)(1 - M(\xi/2)).$$

Observe also that for  $\xi \notin E_a$  we have

$$f_M^{n-k,*}(\xi) \le \frac{1}{a} 2^{n-k} f_M(2^{n-k}\xi).$$

Using these we obtain

$$\int_{E_a \cap 2^{-k}I} f_M^{n,*}(\xi) d\xi = 2^{-k} \int_{\rho^k(E_a \cap 2^{-k}I)} f_M^{n,*}((\rho^k)^{-1}(\xi)) d\xi$$
$$\leq \frac{1}{a} \int_{\mathbb{R}} 2^{n-k} f_M(2^{n-k}\xi)(1 - M(\xi/2)) d\xi$$
$$= \frac{1}{a} \int_{\mathbb{R}} f_M(u) \left(1 - M\left(\frac{u}{2^{n+1-k}}\right)\right) du.$$

On the right side we have a sequence of functions dominated by  $f_M \in L^1(\mathbb{R})$ , and such that the converge pointwise to zero almost everywhere. By the Lebesgue dominated convergence theorem, the right side converges to 0 as  $n \to \infty$ . Thus the left side of the inequality must also converge to 0 almost everywhere.

EXAMPLE 4.53. In this example, we would like to emphasize some aspects raised in Remark 4.50(iii) with respect to the "nature" of Proposition 4.51. Consider the family of functions  $M : \mathbb{R} \to [0, \infty)$  which are continuous, 1-periodic, M > 0almost everywhere,  $M(\xi) + M(\xi + \frac{1}{2}) \equiv 1$ , M even, and such that (4.28) holds and  $M|_{(0,1/4)}$  has exactly one zero-point, denoted by  $z \in [1/8, 1/4)$ . It is not difficult to construct a large subfamily of this family. Take any function  $h : [0, 1/4] \to [0, 1]$ such that h is continuous, h is Hölder continuous at 0 with h(0) = 1, h(1/4) = 1/2, h(z) = 0, and h(x) > 0 for every  $x \in [0, 1/4] \setminus \{z\}$ . Extend h to [-1/4, 0] so that the function remains even, use the Smith–Barnwell condition to extend it to [-1/2, 1/2](observe that by Smith–Barnwell, we must have M(-1/2) = M(1/2) = 0), and finally extend it to a 1-periodic function. Hölder continuity at 0 will ensure (4.28) (consult Remark 4.26). Consider the condition  $\rho^1(E_a \cap 2^{-1}I) \cap E_a = \emptyset$  for M in our family (by Proposition 4.51, such M are developed from orthonormal MRA wavelet low-pass filters). Since a can be arbitrarily small, the M are continuous, and (4.28) holds,  $E_a \cap 2^{-1}I$  consists exactly of small open intervals around the points -2z and 2z, while  $E_a \cap 2^{-k}I = \emptyset$  for  $k \ge 2$  and a sufficiently small. Hence for our class of M, the condition  $\rho^1(E_a \cap 2^{-1}I) \cap E_a = \emptyset$  is equivalent to  $2(2z) - 1 \ne -2z$  and  $2(-2z) + 1 \ne 2z$ . Obviously, then, the condition that  $\rho^1(E_a \cap 2^{-1}I) \cap E_a \ne \emptyset$  for every 0 < a < 1 is equivalent to

$$2(2z) - 1 = -2z$$
,

where the last equation has exactly one solution, z = 1/6.

Therefore, if  $z \neq 1/6$ , then M is generated from a low-pass filter. If z = 1/6and M is  $C^{\infty}$  at 0, then M is not generated from a low-pass filter; consult results in [**PŠW99**] to justify this statement (our results below provide justifications, as well). Observe that in all these examples, the condition " $f_M > 0$  almost everywhere" is satisfied. What fails to hold in the case z = 1/6 is the condition " $\int_{\mathbb{R}} f_M(\xi) d\xi =$ 1". It is perhaps difficult to grasp intuitively that for such a large class of Mthe condition about the integral of  $f_M$  would depend solely on a simple algebraic condition such as the one given above.

Let us conclude this example with a remark that even if we allow  $z \in (0, 1/4)$ , then the same conclusion holds; we need some additional results (to follow) in order to easily prove this.

EXAMPLE 4.54. Consider the Haar wavelet filter  $m_H$  given in (4.44). For every  $\ell \in \mathbb{N} \cup \{0\}$ , we define

(4.55) 
$$m_{\ell}^{H} := |m_{H}((2\ell+1)\pi\xi)|^{2}$$

i.e. we consider the Haar filter and the "elongated" Haar filters. It is not difficult to check that

$$M_{\ell}^{H}(\xi) = \cos^{2}((2\ell+1)\pi\xi).$$

Hence the functions  $M_{\ell}^{H}$  are  $C^{\infty}$  functions with  $M_{\ell}^{H}(0) = 1$ , they all satisfy the Smith–Barnwell condition as well as the condition "M > 0 almost everywhere". For all of them,  $f_{M_{\ell}^{H}}$  is also a  $C^{\infty}$  function and " $f_{M_{\ell}^{H}} > 0$  almost everywhere" holds.

Since

$$\int_{\mathbb{R}} f_{M_0^H}(\xi) d\xi = 1,$$

we obtain that, for every  $\ell \in \mathbb{N} \cup \{0\}$ ,

(4.56) 
$$\int_{\mathbb{R}} f_{M_{\ell}^{H}}(\xi) d\xi = \int_{\mathbb{R}} f_{M_{0}^{H}}((2\ell+1)\xi) d\xi = \frac{1}{2\ell+1}.$$

Therefore, only  $M_0^h$  is generated from a low-pass filter, while the  $M_\ell^H$ ,  $\ell \in \mathbb{N}$ , are not (they are generated from the so-called "generalized" low-pass filters which play a role in the theory of Parseval frame wavelets). They fail to be low-pass filters precisely because of the zero points in [0, 1/4] (all these examples have M which is an even function). Observe, though, that only  $\ell = 1$  has a single zero point in [0, 1/4], and it is, of course, z = 1/6 (compare with the previous example). For  $\ell \geq 2$  we have multiple zeros in [0, 1/4]; they are all of the form

$$\frac{k}{2(2\ell+1)}$$
 with k even

Let us recall that, in these examples, our filters are trigonometric polynomials, so their analysis falls under the umbrella of an early version of the celebrated *Cohen* condition — consult [Coh90], but also [Coh92], [Mey90], [Dau92], and [Gun00]; particularly interesting for us is the discussion in [Gun00]. There, the zeros of the form

$$\frac{k}{2^N - 1} + \frac{1}{2} \pmod{1}$$
 where  $1 \le k \le 2^N - 2$ 

are excluded (it may not be immediately visible that  $1/2(2\ell + 1)$  is of this form, but this boils down to the question of whether  $2\ell + 1$  divides any number of the form  $2^N - 1$ ; indeed it does, take  $N = \varphi(2\ell + 1)$ , where  $\varphi$  is the Euler function recall that Fermat's Little Theorem is the fact that  $\varphi(p) = p - 1$  when p is prime).

This brings us naturally to the Cohen condition, and we shall improve somewhat on the discussions given in [PŠW99] and [Gun00].

The Cohen condition, presented in the form suitable for M, is (see, for example, p. 367 in [**HW96**]):

(4.57) (c) There exists a set  $K \subseteq \mathbb{R}$  which is a finite union of closed, bounded

intervals such that 
$$0 \in \operatorname{int}(K)$$
,  $\sum_{k \in \mathbb{Z}} \chi_K(\xi + k) = 1$  for almost every  $\xi \in \mathbb{R}$ , and  $M(2^{-j}\xi) > 0$  for all  $j \in \mathbb{N}$  and all  $\xi \in K$ .

The condition has been mostly applied in a situation where M is a  $C^1$ -function (or even a  $C^{\infty}$ -function) with M(0) = 1. It is worth noticing that  $M(2^{-j}\xi) > 0$  is required for all  $\xi \in K$  (not just almost every  $\xi \in K$ ). As noted before, we refer to the condition  $\sum \chi_K(\xi + k) = 1$  as K being "1-congruent to  $K_0 = [-1/2, 1/2)$ ".

Consider a class of continuous functions M with M(0) = 1. Hence, there is a  $\delta > 0$  such that  $M(\xi) \ge 1/2$  for every  $\xi \in [-\delta, \delta]$ . Since K in (4.57) is compact, it is easy to see that for continuous M with M(0) = 1,  $(c) \Leftrightarrow (c+)$ , where

(c+) There exists a set  $K \subseteq \mathbb{R}$  which is a finite union of closed, bounded

(4.58) intervals such that  $0 \in int(K)$ , K is 1-translation congruent to  $K_0$ ,

and there exists a constant a with 0 < a < 1 such that, for all  $j \in \mathbb{N}$ 

and for almost every  $\xi \in K$ ,  $M(2^{j}\xi) \geq a$ .

There are two sides to the Cohen condition: one is whether it is sufficient for M to be associated with the low-pass filter of an MRA orthonormal wavelet and another whether it is necessary. We shall comment on the sufficiency issue first.

It is well-known (see, for example, Section 7.4 in [**HW96**]) that if  $M \in \mathcal{M}_{SB}^{FO}$ is also a  $C^1$ -function, then  $f_M$  is continuous on  $\mathbb{R}$  and the condition (c) (or, equivalently, (c+)) is sufficient for M to be associated with the low-pass filter of an MRA orthonormal wavelet. A natural question is whether the theorem still holds if the " $C^1$  assumption" is replaced by a weaker property such as the " $C^0$  condition", i.e. the assumption that M is continuous on  $\mathbb{R}$ . Our Example 4.22 shows that the answer is *negative*. Interestingly enough, it shows even more since the  $f_M$  in that example fails to even be dyadically continuous at 0. It is shown in [**PŠW99**] (see also Proposition 4.24) that this situation improves if we assume that M is Hölder continuous at zero. This, however, is a bit too strong an assumption. As explained in [**PŠW99**] and [**Gun00**], all sufficiency theorems really lead to the following condition:

There exists a set  $K \subseteq \mathbb{R}$  which is 1-translation congruent to  $K_0$  and has (4.59)  $0 \in int(K)$ , and a constant 0 < a < 1 such that, for almost every  $\xi \in K$ ,  $f_M(\xi) \ge a$ .

Indeed, it is not difficult to see that (4.59) is a sufficient condition. First of all, since  $0 \in int(K)$ , we obtain that " $f_M > 0$  almost everywhere" holds. Using the "peeling-off" argument (consult (4.11)–(4.14)) we obtain that  $f_M$  is integrable, while (4.59) implies that, for every  $n \in \mathbb{N}$ ,

$$f_M^{K,n} \leq \frac{1}{a} f_M$$
 almost everywhere on  $\mathbb{R}$ 

Applying the Lebesgue dominated convergence theorem gives  $\int_{\mathbb{R}} f_M(\xi) d\xi = 1$ .

REMARK 4.60. Using an additional assumption, that  $f_M$  is a continuous function, it is natural to consider a stronger version of (4.59), i.e.

(4.61) There exists a set  $K \subseteq \mathbb{R}$  which is 1-translation congruent to [-1/2, 1/2]

and a constant 0 < a < 1 such that, for every  $\xi \in K$ ,  $f_M(\xi) \ge a$ .

This property is analyzed in [**Gun00**] as the ultimate version of the Cohen condition under the assumption that  $f_M$  is continuous. Observe that, in particular, the continuity of  $f_M$  at zero enables us to select an interval around zero where  $f_M >$ is bounded away from zero. Hence one can consider a version of (4.61) where  $0 \in$ int(K) and K is a finite union of intervals (due to the compactness of [-1/2, 1/2]). We shall analyze a "relaxed" (measure-theoretic) version of such a condition.

We shall say that M satisfies the "continuous  $f_M$  condition" or, more briefly, the "(C- $f_M$ ) condition" if the following holds:

There exists a set  $K \subseteq \mathbb{R}$  which is a finite union of closed, bounded

(4.62) intervals such that  $0 \in \operatorname{int} K$ , K is 1-translation congruent to  $K_0$ , and there exists a constant 0 < a < 1 such that, for almost every  $\xi \in K$ ,  $f_M(\xi) \ge a$ .

PROPOSITION 4.63. Suppose that  $M \in \mathcal{M}_{SB}^{FO}$  is continuous and that  $f_M$  satisfies (4.28). Then the following are equivalent.

- (b) Condition (c+);
- (c) Condition  $(C-f_M)$ .

Furthermore, if any of the equivalent conditions hold, then M is associated with a low-pass filter for an MRA orthonormal wavelet.

PROOF. As we have seen,  $(a) \Leftrightarrow (b)$  under the condition that M is continuous. Since, for every  $j \in \mathbb{N}$ , we have  $M(2^{-j}\xi) \geq f_M(\xi)$ , it follows that (c) always implies (b). It remains to show that  $(b) \Rightarrow (c)$ . This is the only portion of the proof which requires (4.28). Consider first the set  $K_1$  generated by (c+) and a corresponding constant  $a_1$ . By (4.28) there exists a closed interval L with  $0 \in int(L)$  such that, for almost every  $\xi \in L$ ,  $f_M(\xi) \geq a_1$ . Observe that each interval in  $K_1$  may have a part which is 1-congruent to a part of L, and both parts must be finite unions of intervals. Hence, by keeping L and removing from  $K_1$  those parts which are

<sup>(</sup>a) Condition (c);

1-congruent to L, it is fairly obvious that we can construct a set  $K \subseteq \mathbb{R}$  such that  $L \subseteq K, K \setminus L \subseteq K_1, K$  is a finite union of closed, bounded intervals, and K is 1-translation equivalent to  $K_0$ , with all these statements being valid in the almost everywhere sense (since we may need to "add" or "subtract" endpoints to close the intervals). Since  $0 \in \text{int}L$  and K is bounded, there exists  $\ell \in \mathbb{N}$  such that  $2^{\ell}L \subseteq K$ . Take now a constant  $a := a_1^{\ell+1} < a_1$ . For almost every  $\xi \in L$ , we have  $f_M(\xi) \ge a_1 > a$ . For almost every  $\xi \in K \setminus L \subseteq K_1$ , we have (since  $2^{-\ell}\xi \in L$ )

$$f_M(\xi) = \left(\prod_{j=1}^{\ell} M(2^{-j}\xi)\right) \cdot f_M(2^{-\ell}\xi) \ge a_1^{\ell} \cdot a_1 = a.$$

This completes the proof of  $(b) \Rightarrow (c)$ . Since (c) implies (4.59), the proof of the last statement is completed, too.

REMARK 4.64. (i) If we only have the assumption that M is continuous, then (b) does not imply (c). This follows from Example 4.22.

(ii) If we have the assumption that M is continuous and  $f_M$  is dyadically continuous at zero (which is weaker than (4.28)), then (b) still does not imply (c). This follows from Example 4.25.

Using Remark 4.26 we obtain directly the following result.

COROLLARY 4.65. (a) If  $M \in \mathcal{M}_{SB}^{FO}$  is continuous and Hölder continuous at zero and satisfies (c), then M is associated with a low-pass filter for an MRA orthonormal wavelet.

- (b) If  $M \in \mathcal{M}_{SB}^{FO}$  is continuous, M satisfies (c), and  $f_M$  is continuous at zero, then M is associated with a low-pass filter for an MRA orthonormal wavelet.
- (c) If  $M \in \mathcal{M}_{SB}^{FO}$  is Hölder continuous at zero and satisfies (c+), then M is associated with a low-pass filter for an MRA orthonormal wavelet.
- (d) If  $M \in \mathcal{M}_{SB}^{FO}$  satisfies (c+) and  $f_M$  is continuous at zero, then M is associated with a low-pass filter for an MRA orthonormal wavelet.

REMARK 4.66. Regarding the necessity of the Cohen condition, it fails under fairly general conditions. The discussion in [**Gun00**] covers this issue together with an example provided in [**DGH00**]. This is an example of a low-pass filter such that  $f_M$  is continuous on  $\mathbb{R}$  but for which (4.61) fails to hold. The example is constructed in such a way that the periodization of  $f_M$  has a few exceptional points where it is equal to zero. Using compactness of [-1/2, 1/2], it is not difficult to check that the following necessity result holds.

PROPOSITION 4.67. Suppose that  $M \in \mathcal{M}_{SB}^{FO}$  is continuous and such that  $f_M$  is continuous on  $\mathbb{R}$ . If, for every  $\xi \in \mathbb{R}$  one has

$$\sum_{k\in\mathbb{Z}} f_M(\xi+k) > 0,$$

then M satisfies (c) (and (c+) and  $(C-f_M)$ )

## 5. Multiplicative Structure in the Class of FO Filters

Consider the class  $\mathcal{M}^{FO}$  of measurable, 1-periodic functions  $M : \mathbb{R} \to [0, \infty)$ such that M > 0 almost everywhere and  $\mathrm{Sol}_M \neq \{0\}$ . If  $M_1, M_2 \in \mathcal{M}^{FO}$  and

 $\Phi_1 \in \mathrm{Sol}_{M_1}, \Phi_2 \in \mathrm{Sol}_{M_2}$  are non-trivial solutions, then the pair  $(M_1 \cdot M_2, \Phi_1 \cdot \Phi_2)$ will always satisfy equation (2.10). However, it may not be the case that  $M_1 \cdot M_2$ belongs to  $\mathcal{M}^{FO}$ . There are two possible obstructions to  $M_1 \cdot M_2$  belonging to  $\mathcal{M}^{FO}$ : one is that  $\Phi_1 \cdot \Phi_2$  will be trivial whenever  $|A_{M_1}^{(2)} \cap A_{M_2}^{(2)}| = 0$ , the other is that  $\Phi_1 \cdot \Phi_2$  may not be integrable. In order to avoid the first of the two problems, we focus on the following class. For a measurable set  $A \subset I$  with |A| > 0, we define

(5.1) 
$$\mathcal{M}_A^{FO} := \{ M \in \mathcal{M}^{FO} : A_M^{(2)} = A \text{ almost everywhere} \}.$$

Observe that we identify  $\mathcal{M}_A^{FO}$  and  $\mathcal{M}_B^{FO}$  whenever A = B almost everywhere. Recalling (2.10) and the notation of (2.35), we are confident that our readers can easily prove the following result.

PROPOSITION 5.2. Let  $A \subseteq I$  be measurable with |A| > 0, and let  $n \in \mathbb{N} \setminus \{1\}$ and  $t = (t_1, ..., t_n) \in [0, 1]^n$  such that  $t_1 + ... + t_n = 1$ . If  $M_1, ..., M_n \in \mathcal{M}_A^{FO}$ , then  $M_t = M_1^{t_1} \cdot M_2^{t_2} \cdots M_n^{t_n}$  belongs to  $\mathcal{M}_A^{FO}$  and  $\Phi_{0,M_t} = \Phi_{0,M_1}^{t_1} \cdots \Phi_{0,M_n}^{t_n}$ .

COROLLARY 5.3. Let  $A \subseteq I$  be measurable with |A| > 0 and let  $n \in \mathbb{N} \setminus \{1\}$ . If  $M_1, ..., M_n \in \mathcal{M}_A^{FO}$ , then the geometric mean of the  $M_i$  is also, i.e.  $\sqrt[n]{M_1 \cdots M_n} \in \mathcal{M}_A^{FO}$ .

REMARK 5.4. Consider a measurable set  $A \subseteq I$  with |A| > 0, n = 2, and  $t_1 = \lambda$ ,  $t_2 = 1 - \lambda$ , where  $\lambda \in [0, 1]$ . It follows from Proposition 5.2 that  $M_{\lambda} = M_1^{\lambda} M_2^{1-\lambda} \in \mathcal{M}_A^{FO}$  whenever  $M_1, M_2 \in \mathcal{M}_A^{FO}$ . Furthermore, we also can follow "the path" given by  $\lambda \mapsto \Phi_{M_1,M_2}(\lambda) := \Phi_{0,M_{\lambda}} \in L^1(\mathbb{R})$ . Observe that, for every  $\lambda$ , our function  $\Phi_{M_1,M_2}(\lambda)$  is dominated by  $\Phi_{0,M_1} + \Phi_{0,M_2} \in L^1(\mathbb{R})$ . If  $\lambda_n \to \lambda$ , then  $\Phi_{M_1,M_2}(\lambda_n) \to \Phi_{M_1,M_2}(\lambda)$  pointwise almost everywhere — observe that having the same set A is crucial for this convergence, in particular when  $\lambda = 0$  and  $\lambda = 1$ . By the Lebesgue Dominated Convergence Theorem, we obtain

(5.5) 
$$\lambda \mapsto \Phi_{M_1,M_2}(\lambda)$$
 is continuous in the  $L^1$ -norm.

Hence  $\mathcal{M}_{A}^{FO}$  is logarithmically convex and connected (in the sense of (5.5)). Observe that (5.5) is a "natural path" and compare this with the connectivity theorem in **[Con98]**, where it was not possible to achieve such a path. Notice that here (within  $\mathcal{M}_{A}^{FO}$ ) we do not require the Smith–Barnwell condition, unlike in **[Con98]**.

Given  $M \in \mathcal{M}_A^{FO}$ , it is fairly obvious that the set

(5.6) 
$$\{\alpha \in (0,\infty) : \Phi^{\alpha}_{0,M} \in L^1(\mathbb{R})\}$$

is an interval containing 1. Furthermore,  $\alpha$  belongs to the set in (5.6) if and only if (5.7)  $M^{\alpha} \in \mathcal{M}_{A}^{FO}$ .

The consequence is that, if  $\Phi_{0,M}$  is bounded, then

(5.8) 
$$M^{\alpha} \in \mathcal{M}_A^{FO}$$
 for every  $\alpha \ge 1$ .

Let us also observe that the entire family  $\mathcal{M}^{FO}$  is closed under the operation  $\xi \mapsto M(k\xi)$  for  $k \in \mathbb{N}$ . More precisely, the following result is straightforward.

LEMMA 5.9. If  $M \in \mathcal{M}^{FO}$  and  $k \in \mathbb{N}$ , then  $\xi \mapsto M(k\xi)$  is a function belonging to  $\mathcal{M}^{FO}$ , its maximal solution is the function  $\xi \mapsto \Phi_{0,M}(k\xi)$ , and

$$\int_{\mathbb{R}} \Phi_{0,M}(k\xi) d\xi = \frac{1}{k} \int_{\mathbb{R}} \Phi_{0,M}(\xi) d\xi$$

For the following class, recall the definition of  $f_M$  (see (4.10)): (5.10)

 $\mathcal{M}_*^{FO} := \{ M \in \mathcal{M}_I^{FO} : M \le 1, f_M > 0 \text{ almost everywhere, and } f_M \in L^1(\mathbb{R}) \}.$ 

Observe that we do not require the Smith–Barnwell condition. Nevertheless, for every  $M \in \mathcal{M}^{FO}_*$ , the function  $f_M$  is a maximal solution to the  $(\Phi, M)$ -Problem.

REMARK 5.11. It is fairly obvious that on  $\mathcal{M}_*^{FO}$  we can perform all the various operations described in this section.

- (i) *M*<sup>FO</sup><sub>\*</sub> is logarithmically convex, i.e. if *M*<sub>1</sub>, ..., *M*<sub>n</sub> ∈ *M*<sup>FO</sup><sub>\*</sub> and *t* = (*t*<sub>1</sub>, ..., *t*<sub>n</sub>) ∈ [0, 1]<sup>n</sup> with *t*<sub>1</sub> + ... + *t*<sub>n</sub> = 1, then *M*<sub>t</sub> ∈ *M*<sup>FO</sup><sub>\*</sub> and *f*<sub>*M*<sub>t</sub></sub> = ∏<sup>n</sup><sub>ℓ=1</sub> *f*<sup>ti</sup><sub>*M*<sub>i</sub></sub>.
  (ii) If *M*<sub>1</sub>, *M*<sub>2</sub> ∈ *M*<sup>FO</sup><sub>\*</sub>, then λ ↦ *f*<sup>λ</sup><sub>M1</sub> *f*<sup>1-λ</sup><sub>M2</sub> is an *L*<sup>1</sup>-norm continuous path.
  (iii) If *M* ∈ *M*<sup>FO</sup><sub>\*</sub>, then *M*<sup>α</sup> ∈ *M*<sup>FO</sup><sub>\*</sub> for every α ≥ 1.
  (iv) If *M* ∈ *M*<sup>FO</sup><sub>\*</sub>, then, for every *k* ∈ N, ξ ↦ *M*(*k*ξ) belongs to *M*<sup>FO</sup><sub>SB</sub>, then

(5.12) 
$$\xi \mapsto M(k\xi)$$
 belongs to  $\mathcal{M}^{FO}_* \cap \mathcal{M}^{FO}_{SB} \Leftrightarrow k$  is odd.

(v) We can apply the transformation analogous to the *semiorthogonalization* from  $[\check{\mathbf{SSW08}}]$  to "project" filters from  $\mathcal{M}^{FO}_*$  into  $\mathcal{M}^{FO}_{SB}$ . Observe first that when-ever a pair  $(M, \Phi)$  is a solution of the  $(\Phi, M)$ -Problem, then the periodization of  $\Phi$ , i.e.  $p_{\Phi}(\xi) := \sum_{k \in \mathbb{Z}} \Phi(\xi + k)$  satisfies the equation

(5.13) 
$$p_{\Phi}(2\xi) = M(\xi)p_{\Phi}(\xi) + M(\xi + 1/2)p_{\Phi}(\xi + 1/2)$$
 almost everywhere.

Observe that both sides of (5.13) are 1/2-periodic, so it is enough "to check" (5.13) on an interval of size 1/2. Furthermore, since  $f_M > 0$  almost everywhere (for  $M \in \mathcal{M}_*^{FO}$ ), it follows that  $p_{f_M} > 0$  almost everywhere; therefore, the following definition makes sense. Given  $M \in \mathcal{M}_*^{FO}$ , we define  $M_{ORT}$  on  $\mathbb{R}$  by

(5.14) 
$$M_{ORT}(\xi) := \frac{p_{f_M}(\xi)}{p_{f_M}(2\xi)} M(\xi) \text{ for } \xi \in \mathbb{R}.$$

It is fairly straightforward to check that  $M_{ORT}$  is measurable, 1-periodic,  $M_{ORT} > 0$  almost everywhere, and that  $M_{ORT}$  satisfies the Smith-Barnwell condition. Observe also that

(5.15) 
$$f_{M_{ORT}}(\xi) = \frac{1}{p_{f_M}(\xi)} f_M(\xi) \text{ almost everywhere.}$$

In particular,  $M_{ORT} \in \mathcal{M}_*^{FO} \cap \mathcal{M}_{SB}^{FO}$ . However,  $M_{ORT}$  has even stronger properties (thus its name "ORT" for orthonormal); for almost every  $\xi \in \mathbb{R}$ ,

$$(5.16) p_{f_{MORT}}(\xi) \equiv 1.$$

As is well known, (5.16) is equivalent to  $M_{ORT}$  being associated with a lowpass filter for an orthonormal MRA wavelet — this is not a property of every element of  $\mathcal{M}^{FO}_* \cap \mathcal{M}^{FO}_{SB}$ .

EXAMPLE 5.17. Consider the Haar wavelet filter  $m_H(\xi) = \frac{1}{2}(1+e^{2\pi i\xi})$  (consult also Remark 4.42(iii)). Let  $M = |m_H|^2$ , i.e.  $M(\xi) = \cos^2(\pi\xi)$ . It follows that  $f_M(\xi) = \left(\frac{\sin(\pi\xi)}{\pi\xi}\right)^2$ . In particular,  $M \in \mathcal{M}^{FO}_*$  which implies that  $M^{\alpha} \in \mathcal{M}^{FO}_*$  for

every  $\alpha \geq 1$ . Observe that  $f_{M^{\alpha}}(\xi) = \left(\frac{\sin(\pi\xi)}{\pi\xi}\right)^{2\alpha}$ . It follows that

$$\frac{p_{f_{M^{\alpha}}}(\xi)}{p_{f_{M^{\alpha}}}(2\xi)} = \frac{1}{2^{2\alpha}(\cos^2(\pi\xi))^{\alpha}} \cdot \frac{\sum_{k \in \mathbb{Z}} [\pi(\xi+k)]^{-2\alpha}}{\sum_{k \in \mathbb{Z}} [\pi(2\xi+k)]^{-2\alpha}}$$

which gives us (with proper adjustment for  $\xi \in \mathbb{Z}$ )

(5.18) 
$$M_{ORT}^{\alpha}(\xi) = \frac{\sum_{k \in \mathbb{Z}} [\pi(\xi + k)]^{-2\alpha}}{\sum_{k \in \mathbb{Z}} [\pi(\xi + k)]^{-2\alpha} + \sum_{k \in \mathbb{Z}} [\pi(\xi + \frac{1}{2} + k)]^{-2\alpha}};$$

observe that  $M^{\alpha}_{ORT}$  is associated with a low-pass filter for an MRA orthonormal wavelet. Recall also that a function

$$(a,z)\mapsto \sum_{n=0}^{\infty}\frac{1}{(z+n)^a}$$

is known as a Hurwitz zeta function.

Scaling functions associated with  $M^{\alpha}$  and  $M^{\alpha}_{ORT}$ , with properly selected phases, will actually generate equal principal shift-invariant spaces. Let us also mention that, for  $\alpha = N + 1$ ,  $N \in \mathbb{N}$ , we have  $M^{\alpha}(\xi) = (\cos^2(\pi\xi))^{N+1}$ . Recall that the Daubechies filter which produces compactly supported wavelets of the order  $C^N(\mathbb{R})$ will give the absolute value squared of the form

$$\left(\cos^2(\pi\xi)\right)^{N+1} P_N(\sin^2(\pi\xi)),$$

where  $P_N$  is the polynomial of order N which satisfies what is essentially the Smith-Barnwell condition,

$$(\cos^2(\pi\xi))^{N+1} P_N(\sin^2(\pi\xi)) + (\sin^2(\pi\xi))^{N+1} P_N(\cos^2(\pi\xi)) = 1$$

for details, see, for example, [Dau92] and [HW96]. The well-known formula for  $P_N$  is

$$P_N(x) = \sum_{j=0}^N \binom{N+j}{j} x^j$$

Finally, observe that the "ray"  $\alpha \mapsto M^{\alpha}$  can often be extended to some values  $\alpha < 1$ , depending on the integrability of  $f_M$ . In this example, any  $\alpha > 1/2$  will give us  $M^{\alpha} \in \mathcal{M}_*^{FO}$ .

If  $f_M$  functions remain within a closed ball in  $L^1(\mathbb{R})$ , then we can treat infinite products as well.

PROPOSITION 5.19. Suppose that  $(t_n : n \in \mathbb{N}) \subseteq [0,1]$  with  $\sum_{n=1}^{\infty} t_n = 1$  and  $(M_n : n \in \mathbb{N}) \subseteq \mathcal{M}_*^{FO}$  with

$$\sup_{n\in\mathbb{N}}\left(\int_{\mathbb{R}}f_{M_n}(\xi)d\xi\right)=:C<\infty.$$

If, for almost every  $\xi \in \mathbb{R}$ ,

$$\prod_{n=1}^{\infty} f_{M_n}^{t_n}(\xi) > 0$$

(observe that this implies  $\prod_{n=1}^{\infty} M_n^{t_n}(\xi) > 0$ ), then  $\prod_{n=1}^{\infty} M_n^{t_n} \in \mathcal{M}_*^{FO}$  (and the corresponding  $f_M$  function is  $\prod_{n=1}^{\infty} f_{M_n}^{t_n}$ ).

PROOF. Let us denote  $(t_n : n \in \mathbb{N})$  by t and define  $M_t := \prod_{n=1}^{\infty} M_n^{t_n}$ . It follows from our assumptions that  $M_t$  is measurable, 1-periodic, non-negative, and  $0 < M_t \leq 1$  almost everywhere. We define  $f_t := \prod_{n=1}^{\infty} f_{M_n}^{t_n}$ . It follows that  $f_t$  is measurable, non-negative, and  $0 < f_t \leq 1$  almost everywhere. Using limit properties, it follows that  $(M_t, f_t)$  satisfies (2.10) and that  $f_{M_t} = f_t$ . In order to complete the proof, it remains to show that  $f_t \in L^1(\mathbb{R})$ . Recall that for numbers  $a_n \geq 0$  we have

(5.20) 
$$\prod_{n=1}^{\infty} a_n^{t_n} \le \sum_{n=1}^{\infty} t_n a_n.$$

Using (5.20), we obtain

$$\int_{\mathbb{R}} f_t(\xi) d\xi \le \prod_{n=1}^{\infty} \left( \int_{\mathbb{R}} f_{M_n}(\xi) d\xi \right)^{t_n} \le C \sum_{n=1}^{\infty} t_n = C < \infty.$$

If  $M_n(\xi) = M(2^n\xi)$  in Proposition 5.19, then

$$\int_{\mathbb{R}} f_{M_n}(\xi) d\xi = \frac{1}{2^N} \int_{\mathbb{R}} f_M(\xi) d\xi \le \int_{\mathbb{R}} f_M(\xi) d\xi < \infty,$$

for every  $n \in \mathbb{N}$ . Hence we obtain the following result.

COROLLARY 5.21. Suppose that  $(t_n : n \in \mathbb{N}) \subseteq [0,1]$  with  $\sum_{n=1}^{\infty} t_n = 1$  and  $M \in \mathcal{M}_*^{FO}$ . If, for almost every  $\xi \in \mathbb{R}$ ,

$$\prod_{n=1}^{\infty} f_M^{t_n}(2^n\xi) > 0,$$

then  $\xi \mapsto \prod_{n=1}^{\infty} M^{t_n}(2^n \xi)$  belongs to  $\mathcal{M}^{FO}_*$  (and the corresponding  $f_M$  function is  $\xi \mapsto \prod_{n=1}^{\infty} f^{t_n}_M(2^n \xi)$ ).

EXAMPLE 5.22. Take  $M \in \mathcal{M}^{FO}_* \cap \mathcal{M}^{FO}_{SB}$  and  $t_n = 1/2^n$ . Assume that  $\prod_{n=1}^{\infty} f_M^{1/2^n}(2^n\xi) > 0$  almost everywhere. Define  $M^*(\xi) := \prod_{n=1}^{\infty} M^{1/2^n}(2^n\xi)$  and  $f^* = f_{M^*}$ . Since  $\sum_{N=\ell+1}^{\infty} \frac{1}{2^N} = \frac{1}{2^\ell}$ , we obtain, for almost every  $\xi \in \mathbb{R}$ ,

$$f^{*}(\xi) = \prod_{N=1}^{\infty} \prod_{k=1}^{\infty} M^{1/2^{N}} (2^{N-k}\xi)$$
  

$$= \prod_{N=1}^{\infty} \prod_{\ell=1-N}^{\infty} M^{1/2^{N}} (2^{-\ell}\xi)$$
  

$$= \left[ \prod_{N=1}^{\infty} \prod_{\ell=1}^{\infty} M^{1/2^{N}} (2^{-\ell}\xi) \right] \cdot \left[ \prod_{N=1}^{\infty} \prod_{\ell=0}^{N-1} M^{1/2^{N}} (2^{\ell}\xi) \right]$$
  

$$= \left[ \prod_{\ell=1}^{\infty} M(2^{-\ell}\xi) \right] \cdot \left[ M(\xi) \prod_{\ell=1}^{\infty} \prod_{N=\ell+1}^{\infty} M^{1/2^{N}} (2^{\ell}\xi) \right]$$
  

$$= f_{M}(\xi) \cdot M(\xi) \cdot \prod_{\ell=1}^{\infty} [M(2^{\ell}\xi)]^{\sum_{N=\ell+1}^{\infty} 1/2^{N}}$$
  

$$= f_{M}(\xi) \cdot M(\xi) \cdot M^{*}(\xi).$$

Hence, for almost every  $\xi \in \mathbb{R}$ ,

$$f^{*}(\xi) = M^{*}(\xi)f_{M}(2\xi)$$
  
=  $M^{*}(\xi/2)f^{*}(\xi/2)$   
=  $[M^{*}(\xi/2)]^{2}f_{M}(\xi).$ 

This leads to the formula

(5.23) 
$$M^*(\xi) = \sqrt{M^*(2\xi)M(2\xi)}$$
 almost everywhere.

Hence  $M^*$  is at the midpoint of the (logarithmically convex) path between  $\xi \mapsto$  $M(2\xi)$  and  $\xi \mapsto M^*(2\xi)$ . In particular, it is not an extreme point of the convex set  $\ln\left(\mathcal{M}_{*}^{FO}\right).$ 

Consider the case of  $M(\xi) = \cos^2(\pi\xi)$  (i.e. the Haar wavelet filter). In order to show that this M satisfies the condition  $\prod_{n=1}^{\infty} f_M^{1/2^n}(2^n\xi) > 0$  almost everywhere, we will show that, for every  $p \in \mathbb{Z}$ ,

$$I_p := \int_p^{p+1} \ln \frac{1}{f^*(\xi)} d\xi < \infty.$$

Observe that

$$I_p = \sum_{n=1}^{\infty} \int_p^{p+1} \frac{1}{2^n} \ln((2^n \pi \xi)^2) d\xi + \sum_{n=1}^{\infty} \int_p^{p+1} \frac{1}{2^n} \ln \frac{1}{\sin^2(2^n \pi \xi)} d\xi$$

For the first term, observe that  $\xi^2 = |\xi|^2 \leq (|p|+1)^2$ , which implies that the first term is smaller than

$$C_p \sum_{n=1}^{\infty} \frac{n}{2^n} < \infty,$$

where  $C_p$  is a constant depending on p. For the second term, use the 1-periodicity of  $\sin^2(\pi\xi)$  and the fact that it is equal to

$$\sum_{n=1}^{\infty} \frac{1}{2^n} \frac{1}{2^n} \int_{2^n p}^{2^n (p+1)} \ln \frac{1}{\sin^2(\pi\xi)} d\xi = \sum_{n=1}^{\infty} \frac{1}{2^n} \int_{-1/2}^{1/2} \ln \frac{1}{\sin^2(\pi\xi)} d\xi$$
$$= \int_{-1/2}^{1/2} \ln \frac{1}{\sin^2(\pi\xi)} d\xi$$
$$< \infty.$$

REMARK 5.24. Examples given in Lemma 5.9 with k even and as in (5.23) provide us with functions M which are 1/2-periodic. Observe first that such functions can satisfy the Smith-Barnwell equation only if  $M \equiv 1/2$  almost everywhere.

- (i) Observe that if  $M \in \mathcal{M}^{FO}_*$  is 1/2-periodic, then  $p_{f_M}$  is not 1/2-periodic (in particular, M is never associated with a low-pass filter for an MRA orthonormal wavelet). Indeed, if both M and  $p_{f_M}$  are 1/2-periodic, then (5.13) leads to  $M_{ORT} \equiv 1/2$  almost everywhere, i.e.  $f_{M_{ORT}} \equiv 0$  almost everywhere, which contradicts (5.16). (ii) If  $M \in \mathcal{M}^{FO}_*$  is 1/2-periodic, then, with  $p(\xi) := p_{f_M}(\xi)$  we have

$$M(\xi) = \frac{p(2\xi)}{p(\xi) + p(\xi + \frac{1}{2})}$$

and

$$M_{ORT}(\xi) = \frac{p(\xi)}{p(\xi) + p(\xi + \frac{1}{2})}.$$

For example, if  $M(\xi) = \cos^2(2\pi\xi)$ , then

1

$$M_{ORT}(\xi) = \frac{\sum_{k \in \mathbb{Z}} (\xi + k)^{-2}}{\sum_{k \in \mathbb{Z}} (\xi + k)^{-2} + \sum_{k \in \mathbb{Z}} (\xi + \frac{1}{2} + k)^{-2}}.$$

## 6. Structure of $D(\langle \varphi \rangle)$ : FO Case

In this section we consider a pair of functions  $(\varphi, m)$  such that they satisfy (2.4),  $\varphi$  is non-trivial, and  $m(\xi) \neq 0$  for almost every  $\xi \in \mathbb{R}$ . By Proposition 2.3 and Remark 2.33ii we conclude that  $\langle \varphi \rangle$  is FO and  $\langle \varphi \rangle \subseteq D(\langle \varphi \rangle)$ . As before, we denote  $|\widehat{\varphi}|^2$  by  $\Phi$  and  $|m|^2$  by M. Since  $\Phi$  is non-trivial, we have  $|A_{\Phi}^{(2)}| > 0$  and Lemma 2.31 implies that  $p_{\varphi}(\xi) > 0$  for almost every  $\xi \in \mathbb{R}$ , i.e.

(6.1)  $\langle \varphi \rangle$  is a maximal principal shift-invariant space.

Recall Corollary 2.16 which shows that in this case there is exactly one m such that  $(\varphi, m)$  satisfies (2.4). We can actually improve upon the argument via Lemma 2.31. Observe first that in Lemma 2.1 (see [**BRS01**]) we can replace 1-periodicity with u-periodicity, for any u > 0, and, using essentially the same proof, we reach the same conclusion. Therefore, we can extend Lemma 2.31 in the same way. It follows that for  $u = n \in \mathbb{N} \setminus \{1\}$  we conclude that  $p_{\varphi, \frac{1}{n}\mathbb{Z}}(\xi) > 0$  for almost every  $\xi \in \mathbb{R}$ ; see (1.3.11) for the notation. Using (1.3.13) it follows that

(6.2) 
$$\langle \varphi \rangle$$
 is of Type 1.

In other words, for every  $n \in \mathbb{N} \setminus \{1\}$ , we have

(6.3) 
$$\langle \varphi \rangle \subsetneq \langle \varphi \rangle_{\frac{1}{2}\mathbb{Z}}.$$

One may think that among  $D^{-1}$ -invariant, maximal principal shift-invariant spaces, Type 1 occurs only in the FO case. The following examples shows that this is not so.

EXAMPLE 6.4. Consider the 1-periodic function M given by the following graph.



Observe that M satisfies the Smith–Barnwell condition and is not an FO. It is not difficult to check that, among others, the corresponding  $\Phi$  will have the following properties:

$$\Phi|_{[3/16,5/16)} \equiv \frac{1}{2}$$
  
$$\Phi|_{[19/16,5/4)} \equiv \frac{1}{4};$$

since [3/16, 1/4) + 1 = [19/16, 5/4) we establish the Type-1 property by the same argument as in Example 1.43. Moreover,

$$\Phi|_{[-3/8,3/16)} \equiv 1$$

$$\Phi|_{[-11/16,-1/2)} \equiv 1$$

$$\Phi|_{[-3/4,-11/16)} \equiv \frac{1}{2}$$

$$\Phi|_{[3/16,5/16)} \equiv \frac{1}{2}$$

$$\Phi|_{[1/2,5/8)} \equiv \frac{1}{2}.$$

In other words,  $\Phi > 0$  on  $([-3/4, 1/4) \setminus [-1/2, -3/8)) \cup [1/2, 5/8)$ , which guarantees that any corresponding principal shift-invariant space must necessarily be a maximal one.  $\diamond$ 

Going back to our  $\langle \varphi \rangle$  which is a  $D^{-1}$ -invariant, maximal principal shiftinvariant space of Type-1, we recall that, by (1.21) and Corollary 1.49,

(6.5)  $\langle D\varphi \rangle$  is a maximal principal shift-invariant space of Type-1,

and, by an induction argument, the same holds for  $\langle D_j \varphi \rangle$  for any  $j \in \mathbb{N}$ .

REMARK 6.6. Observe that, in principle, (6.5) does not extend to the property of  $D^{-1}$ -invariance. By (1.20) we have  $\widehat{D\varphi}(2\xi) = m(\xi/2)\widehat{D\varphi}(\xi)$  and, in most case, (for example, when M satisfies the Smith–Barnwell condition)  $\xi \mapsto m(\xi/2)$  would not be 1-periodic.

Using Corollary 1.14 and (1.41), we obtain, for every  $j \in \mathbb{N} \cup \{0\}$ , that

(6.7) 
$$D_j(\langle \varphi \rangle) = \langle D_j \varphi \rangle_{\frac{1}{2^j} \mathbb{Z}} \text{ and } \dim_{D_j(\langle \varphi \rangle)} \equiv 2^j.$$

Hence the family

(6.8) 
$$D_j(\langle \varphi \rangle)$$
 such that  $j \in \mathbb{N} \cup \{0\}$ 

forms a strictly increasing (with respect to j) "cascade" of shift-invariant spaces. It is natural to ask "how big" the space

(6.9) 
$$D_{\infty}(\langle \varphi \rangle) := \bigcup_{j \in \mathbb{N} \cup \{0\}} D_j(\langle \varphi \rangle)$$

is. The answer to this question is essentially already given in [**Rze00**]; see also [**BR05**] for more precise statements. The spectral function is a very useful tool for answering this question. Consider a shift-invariant space given by  $L^2(E)^{\vee}$  (see Example 1.1.5), where  $E = \operatorname{ssupp} \widehat{\varphi}$ ; observe that E is precisely the union of full

orbits of  $\widehat{\varphi}$  (or, equivalently, of  $\Phi = |\widehat{\varphi}|^2$ ). It is then straightforward to check that, for every  $j \in \mathbb{N} \cup \{0\}$ ,

(6.10) 
$$D_j(\langle \varphi \rangle) \subseteq L^2(E)^{\vee};$$

with  $E = \operatorname{ssupp} \widehat{\varphi}$ . Since  $L^2(E)^{\vee}$  is a shift-invariant space, we obtain

$$(6.11) D_{\infty}(\langle \varphi \rangle) \subseteq L^2(E)^{\vee}$$

Recall (1.1.23) that the spectral function of  $\langle \varphi \rangle$  is

$$\sigma_{\langle \varphi \rangle}(\xi) = \frac{|\widehat{\varphi}(\xi)|^2}{p_{\varphi}(\xi)};$$

since  $p_{\varphi} > 0$  almost everywhere. It is well known (see [**BR05**]) that

(6.12) 
$$\sigma_{D_j(\langle \varphi \rangle)}(\xi) = \sigma_{\langle \varphi \rangle}\left(\frac{\xi}{2^j}\right) = \frac{|\widehat{\varphi}(\xi/2^j)|^2}{p_{\varphi}(\xi/2^j)}.$$

for almost every  $\xi \in \mathbb{R}$ . Furthermore (see [**BR05**] as well), we have

(6.13) 
$$\sigma_{L^2(E)^{\vee}} = \chi_E \text{ almost everywhere}$$

If  $\operatorname{orb}(\xi)$  is a zero-orbit for  $\widehat{\varphi}|^2$ , then  $\xi \notin E$  and

(6.14) 
$$\sigma_{D_j(\langle \varphi \rangle)}(\xi) = \sigma_{D_\infty(\langle \varphi \rangle)}(\xi) = \sigma_{L^2(E)^{\vee}}(\xi) = 0.$$

If  $\operatorname{orb}(\xi)$  is a full-orbit for  $|\widehat{\varphi}|^2$ , then  $\xi \in E$  and we know from  $[\mathbf{P}\mathbf{\check{S}W99}]$  that

(6.15) 
$$\sigma_{D_{\infty}(\langle \varphi \rangle)}(\xi) \ge \lim_{j \to \infty} \sigma_{D_{j}(\langle \varphi \rangle)}(\xi) = 1$$

It follows that  $\sigma_{L^2(E)^{\vee}} = \sigma_{D_{\infty}(\langle \varphi \rangle)}$  almost everywhere, which, together with (6.11) implies the answer to our question, namely

(6.16) 
$$D_{\infty}(\langle \varphi \rangle) = L^2(\text{ssupp } \widehat{\varphi})^{\vee}.$$

It is now very easy to see that the following statement holds.

COROLLARY 6.17. Suppose that  $\varphi \in L^2(\mathbb{R})$  is such that  $\langle \varphi \rangle$  is FO and  $\langle \varphi \rangle \subseteq D(\langle \varphi \rangle)$ . Denote  $|\widehat{\varphi}|^2$  by  $\Phi$ . Then the following are equivalent.

(a) 
$$L^2(\mathbb{R}) = \bigcup_{j \in \mathbb{N} \cup \{0\}} D_j(\langle \varphi \rangle);$$

- (b)  $\Phi > 0$  almost everywhere;
- (c)  $A_{\Phi}^{(2)} = I$  almost everywhere;

(d) For almost every 
$$\xi \in \mathbb{R}$$
,  $\lim_{j \to \infty} \frac{\Phi(2^{-j}\xi)}{p_{\Phi}(2^{-j}\xi)} = 1.$ 

Using the results of our filter analysis, it is now easy to establish the following result (recall our notations from (2.35) and (3.8)).

COROLLARY 6.18. Let  $m : \mathbb{R} \to \mathbb{C}$  be measurable, 1-periodic with  $M := |m^2|$ an FO (recall that in particular this means that  $Sol_M \neq \{0\}$ ). Let  $\varphi_0 \in L^2(\mathbb{R})$  be such that  $(\varphi_0, m)$  satisfies (2.4) and  $|\widehat{\varphi_0}|^2 = \Phi_{0,M} = \Phi_0$ . Then the following are equivalent:

- (a)  $L^2(\mathbb{R}) = \overline{\bigcup_{j \in \mathbb{N} \cup \{0\}} D_j(\langle \varphi_0 \rangle)};$ (b)  $|A_M^{(2)}| = 1;$
- (c)  $T_{M,-} < \infty$  almost everywhere.

(Recall Lemma 3.5 in connection with (c)).

We also have the following special case.

COROLLARY 6.19. Let  $m : \mathbb{R} \to \mathbb{C}$  be a measurable, 1-periodic function such that  $M := |m|^2$  is an FO which satisfies the Smith-Barnwell condition and is dyadically continuous at zero. If  $\varphi_0 \in L^2(\mathbb{R})$  is such that  $(\varphi_0, m)$  satisfies (2.4) and  $|\widehat{\varphi_0}|^2 = \Phi_{0,M}$ , then

$$L^{2}(\mathbb{R}) = \overline{\bigcup_{j \in \mathbb{N} \cup \{0\}} D_{j}(\langle \varphi_{0} \rangle)}$$

If  $\varphi \in L^2(\mathbb{R})$  is such that  $(\varphi, m)$  satisfies (2.4) and  $|\widehat{\varphi}|^2 = f_M$ , then

$$L^{2}(\mathbb{R}) = \bigcup_{j \in \mathbb{N} \cup \{0\}} D_{j}(\langle \varphi \rangle) \Leftrightarrow f_{M} > 0 \text{ almost everywhere.}$$

REMARK 6.20. Observe that considering various pairs  $(\varphi, m)$  is somewhat subtle. There are at least three possible issues. The first issue is whether, for a given  $\varphi$ , we can consider different corresponding filters. In this section we consider the FO case which implies that m is uniquely determined by  $\varphi$ , so we do not have to worry this issue here. The second issue is whether, for a given m, we can consider different "scaling functions". Indeed, we can, and we shall describe the consequences later.

The third issue is whether, for a given pair  $(\varphi, m)$ , we can consider another pair  $(\varphi_1, m_1)$  such that  $\langle \varphi \rangle = \langle \varphi_1 \rangle$ . Obviously, in such a case, the "cascades" of spaces in (6.8) will be the same. What changes is the "relative position" of  $\langle D\varphi \rangle$ (or  $\langle D\varphi_1 \rangle$ ) within  $D(\langle \varphi \rangle)$ . We turn our attention to this issue now.

As before, we start with a pair  $(\varphi, m)$  that satisfies (2.4), with  $\varphi$  non-trivial, and  $\langle \varphi \rangle$  is an FO. Consider another generator of  $\langle \varphi \rangle$ , i.e. a function  $\varphi_1 \in L^2(\mathbb{R})$ such that  $\langle \varphi_1 \rangle = \langle \varphi \rangle$ . By Proposition 2.3 and Corollary 2.16 there is exactly one  $m_1$  such that  $(\varphi_1, m_1)$  satisfies (2.4). By Remark 2.33ii  $A_{\Phi}^{(2)} = A_{\Phi_1}^{(2)}, \Phi_1 := |\widehat{\varphi_1}|^2$ . Therefore,  $M_1 := |m_1|^2$  is an FO, as well. What is the relationship between m and  $m_1$ ? Is it possible that  $m = m_1$ ?

Observe that, since  $\langle \varphi \rangle = \langle \varphi_1 \rangle$  and  $U_{\langle \varphi \rangle} = \mathbb{R}$  Corollary 1.1.21b implies that there is exactly one 1-periodic, measurable function  $\nu$  such that, for almost every  $\xi \in \mathbb{R}, \nu(\xi) \neq 0$  and  $\widehat{\varphi_1}(\xi) = \nu(\xi)\widehat{\varphi}(\xi)$ . Hence, from (2.4) we obtain that, for almost every  $\xi \in \mathbb{R}$ ,

(6.21) 
$$m_1(\xi) = \frac{\nu(2\xi)}{\nu(\xi)} m(\xi).$$

Observe that a "filter multiplier"  $\mu(\xi) := \nu(2\xi)/\nu(\xi)$  is 1-periodic as well. Hence, it is not to difficult to describe the entire family of generators which "builds" the same space  $\langle \varphi \rangle$ . It consists of all the functions of the form  $(\nu(\xi)\widehat{\varphi}(\xi))^{\vee}$ , where  $\nu : \mathbb{R} \to \mathbb{C} \setminus \{0\}$  is 1-periodic and

(6.22) 
$$\nu \in L^2(\mathbb{T}, p_{\varphi}).$$

REMARK 6.23. Observe that the problem is more challenging if we begin from a "filter multiplier"  $\mu$ . Given 1-periodic, measurable  $\mu$ , it is not difficult to find all solutions of the equation  $\nu(2\xi)/\nu(\xi) = \mu(\xi)$  (see [**Con98**] for details). However, if we add a requirement that  $\nu$  is also 1-periodic, then one needs to work harder. We shall not dwell on this problem here, though, since (6.22) (and then (6.21)) provides a direct method to find all  $\varphi_1$ .

As we shall see, the case  $m_1 = m$  is possible only in the trivial case. The following lemma is well known and can be proved in various ways. We provide a proof via Lemma 2.31 for the reader's convenience.

LEMMA 6.24. If  $\nu : \mathbb{R} \to \mathbb{C}$  is a function which satisfies  $\nu(2\xi) = \nu(\xi) = \nu(\xi+1)$ for almost every  $\xi \in \mathbb{R}$ , then  $\nu$  is an almost everywhere-constant function.

**PROOF.** It is enough to prove that, for every  $H \subseteq \mathbb{C}$ ,

 $\{\xi : \nu(\xi) \in H\} = \emptyset$  or  $\mathbb{R}$  almost everywhere.

Observe also that the range of  $\nu$  is (almost everywhere) equal to the range of  $\nu|_I$ . Given  $H \subseteq \mathbb{C}$ , define the set  $A := \{\xi \in I : \nu(\xi) \in H\}$ . Hence, either |A| = 0 or |A| > 0. Using the notation from Lemma 2.31, observe that  $\{\xi \in \mathbb{R} : \nu(\xi) \in H\} = E_A$  almost everywhere. Applying Lemma 2.31 now completes the proof.  $\Box$ 

Using (6.21) and Lemma 6.24, it is obvious that

(6.25) 
$$m_1 = m \Leftrightarrow \varphi_1 = \text{const.} \cdot \varphi_1$$

Hence, the same filter occurs only in a trivial way. Observe that  $\mathrm{Sol}_M$  is, in principle, an infinite set. It follows from (6.25) that two solutions that differ by more than a constant multiple will generate different principal shift-invariant spaces, i.e., different "cascades" of spaces in (6.8). In other words, different generators of the same principal shift-invariant space must be associated with different filters. As already mentioned in Remark 6.20, what changes when we take a different generator  $\varphi_1$  of  $\langle \varphi \rangle$  is the "relative position" of  $\langle D\varphi_1 \rangle$  within  $D(\langle \varphi_1 \rangle)$ . In order to analyze this, we start with a specific generator,

$$\varphi_0 := \frac{1}{\sqrt{p_\varphi}} \bullet \varphi;$$

(recall Remark 1.5.36 here)  $\mathcal{B}_{\varphi_0}$  is an orthonormal basis for  $\langle \varphi \rangle$ . Observe that  $\varphi_0$  is paired with a filter  $m_0$ , which is different from the original filter of  $\varphi$ . Since  $p_{\varphi_0} \equiv 1$ , we obtain that  $m_0$  satisfies the Smith–Barnwell condition. Therefore, we also have a function  $f_{M_0}$ , where  $M_0 = |m_0|^2$ . There is a natural question here as to whether  $f_{M_0}$  is equal to  $|\widehat{\varphi_0}|^2$  or not. The following short argument gives a positive answer to this question. Since  $M_0 \leq 1$  and  $|\widehat{\varphi_0}|^2 \leq 1$ , we obtain that, for almost every  $\xi \in \mathbb{R}$ , the following limit exists:  $h(\xi) := \lim_{n \to \infty} |\widehat{\varphi_0}(2^{-n}\xi)|^2$ . It is obvious that  $0 \leq h(\xi) \leq 1$  and that  $h(2\xi) = h(\xi)$  for almost every  $\xi \in \mathbb{R}$ . Furthermore,  $h(\xi) = 0$  if and only if  $\operatorname{orb}(\xi)$  is a zero-orbit (recall Remark 2.17). Observe also that for almost every  $\xi \in \mathbb{R}$  we have  $|\widehat{\varphi_0}(\xi)|^2 = h(\xi)f_{M_0}(\xi)$ . Using (4.14) we obtain

$$1 = \int_{I} p_{\varphi_0}(\xi) d\xi = \int_{\mathbb{R}} |\widehat{\varphi_0}(\xi)|^2 d\xi = \int_{\mathbb{R}} f_{M_0}(\xi) d\xi.$$

The same derivation holds when the last two integrals are over the set of non-zero orbits (instead of  $\mathbb{R}$ ). Hence, we obtain that

(6.26) 
$$\int_{\mathbb{R}} f_{M_0}(\xi) d\xi = 1,$$

(6.27)  $f_{M_0}(\xi) = 0$  whenever  $\operatorname{orb}(\xi)$  is a zero-orbit for  $\varphi_0$ ,

and

$$(6.28) \qquad \qquad |\widehat{\varphi_0}|^2 = f_{M_0}$$

Using the scaling function characterization from [HW96] and our results in this section and Section 4, it is easy to see that the following result holds.

COROLLARY 6.29. Suppose that  $\varphi \in L^2(\mathbb{R})$  is such that  $\langle \varphi \rangle$  is FO and  $\langle \varphi \rangle \subseteq D(\langle \varphi \rangle)$ . Consider  $\varphi_0 := \frac{1}{\sqrt{p_{\varphi}}} \bullet \varphi$ , and denote the corresponding (unique) filter by  $m_0$  and  $M_0 := |m_0|^2$ . Then the following are equivalent:

- (a)  $\varphi_0$  is a scaling function of an orthonormal wavelet MRA structure  $(D_j(\langle \varphi \rangle) : j \in \mathbb{Z});$
- (b)  $L^2(\mathbb{R}) = D_{\infty}(\langle \varphi \rangle);$
- (c)  $f_{M_0} > 0$  almost everywhere;
- (d)  $\widehat{\varphi_0}(\xi) \neq 0$  for almost every  $\xi \in \mathbb{R}$ .
- (e)  $M_0$  is associated with a low-pass filter for an MRA orthonormal wavelet (and this low-pass filter is  $m_0$ ).

REMARK 6.30. Given  $\varphi \in L^2(\mathbb{R})$  such that  $\langle \varphi \rangle$  is FO and  $\langle \varphi \rangle \subseteq D(\langle \varphi \rangle)$ , the family of spaces  $D_j(\langle \varphi \rangle)$ , for  $j \in \mathbb{Z}$ , does not change with a different choice of generator, say  $\varphi_1$ , such that  $\langle \varphi_1 \rangle = \langle \varphi \rangle$ . Observe that the spectral function of  $\langle \varphi \rangle$ belongs to  $L^1(\mathbb{R})$ , and it is then well known (see [**Rze00**], [**BR05**], [**BR03**] for more details) that

(6.31) 
$$\bigcap_{j \in \mathbb{Z}} D_j(\langle \varphi \rangle) = \{0\}.$$

Consider  $D^{-1}(\langle \varphi \rangle) \subseteq \langle \varphi \rangle$ . Since  $\langle \varphi \rangle \subseteq D(\langle \varphi \rangle)$ , but  $\langle \varphi \rangle \neq D(\langle \varphi \rangle)$ , it follows that  $D^{-1}(\langle \varphi \rangle) \neq \langle \varphi \rangle$ . We claim that  $D^{-1}(\langle \varphi \rangle)$  is not a shift-invariant space. Suppose, to the contrary, that it is. Then  $\langle D^{-1}\varphi \rangle \subseteq D^{-1}(\langle \varphi \rangle) \subseteq \langle \varphi \rangle$ . If  $\xi$  is such that  $\operatorname{orb}(\xi)$  is a non-zero orbit for  $\widehat{\varphi}$ , then it is obvious that it is also a nonzero (and full) orbit for  $\widehat{D^{-1}\varphi}$ . The consequence of this is that  $p_{D^{-1}\varphi} > 0$  almost everywhere. Hence,  $\langle D^{-1}\varphi \rangle \subseteq \langle \varphi \rangle$  and  $U_{\langle \varphi \rangle} = \mathbb{R} = U_{\langle D^{-1}\varphi \rangle}$ . By (1.1.28), we obtain  $\langle D^{-1}\varphi \rangle = \langle \varphi \rangle$ , i.e.  $D^{-1}(\langle \varphi \rangle) = \langle \varphi \rangle$ , a contradiction.

Therefore, given  $\varphi \in L^2(\mathbb{R})$  such that  $\langle \varphi \rangle$  is FO and  $\langle \varphi \rangle \subseteq D(\langle \varphi \rangle)$ , we always obtain a family  $(D_j(\langle \varphi \rangle) : j \in \mathbb{Z})$  which satisfies (6.31),  $D_j(\langle \varphi \rangle) \subseteq D_{j+1}(\langle \varphi \rangle)$ , satisfies (6.16), and

(6.32) 
$$D_j(\langle \varphi \rangle)$$
 is a shift-invariant space  $\Leftrightarrow j \ge 0$ .

As mentioned in the previous remark, the "cascade" of spaces  $D_j(\langle \varphi \rangle)$  for  $j \in \mathbb{Z}$  does not change with different choice of generators for  $\langle \varphi \rangle$ . What does change, however, is the interior structure of these spaces. We consider the choice of  $\varphi_0 = \frac{1}{\sqrt{\rho_0}} \bullet \varphi$  first. By Corollary 1.27, we know that

(6.33) 
$$D(\langle \varphi_0 \rangle) = \langle D\varphi_0 \rangle \oplus \langle DT\varphi_0 \rangle,$$

and both  $\langle D\varphi_0 \rangle$  and  $\langle DT\varphi_0 \rangle$  are maximal principal shift-invariant spaces. Since we also have  $\langle \varphi \rangle = \langle \varphi_0 \rangle \subseteq D(\langle \varphi_0 \rangle) = D(\langle \varphi \rangle)$ , a natural question to ask is what the position of  $\langle \varphi_0 \rangle$  is with respect to  $\langle D\varphi_0 \rangle$  and  $\langle DT\varphi_0 \rangle$ . Without loss of generality, we treat the case of  $\langle D\varphi_0 \rangle$ . We obtain by a simple calculation that

$$[\varphi_0, D\varphi_0](\xi) = \frac{1}{\sqrt{2}} \left( m_0(\xi/2) p_{\varphi_0}(\xi/2) + m_0(\xi/2 + 1/2) p_{\varphi_0}(\xi/2 + 1/2) \right)$$
  
(6.34) 
$$= \frac{1}{\sqrt{2}} \left( m_0(\xi/2) + m_0(\xi/2 + 1/2) \right).$$
PROPOSITION 6.35. Suppose that  $\varphi \in L^2(\mathbb{R}) \setminus \{0\}$  is such that  $\langle \varphi \rangle$  is FO and  $\langle \varphi \rangle \subseteq D(\langle \varphi \rangle)$ , and consider  $\varphi_0 := \frac{1}{\sqrt{p_{\varphi}}} \bullet \varphi$ . Then  $\langle \varphi_0 \rangle$  is neither orthogonal to  $\langle D\varphi_0 \rangle$  nor to  $\langle DT\varphi_0 \rangle$ , and  $\langle \varphi_0 \rangle$  does not coincide with either  $\langle D\varphi_0 \rangle$  or  $\langle DT\varphi_0 \rangle$ 

PROOF. Observe that the second statement follows from the first. Without loss of generality, we prove the first statement in the case of  $\langle D\varphi_0 \rangle$ . Suppose, to the contrary, that  $\langle \varphi_0 \rangle \perp \langle D\varphi_0 \rangle$ . By (6.34), it follows that  $m_0(\xi/2+1/2) = -m_0(\xi/2)$ , i.e.  $M_0(\xi/2) = M_0(\xi/2+1/2)$ , for almost every  $\xi \in \mathbb{R}$ . Since  $M_0$  satisfies the Smith–Barnwell condition, we obtain  $M_0 \equiv 1/2$ . This is in contradiction with  $\varphi$ , and therefore  $\varphi_0$ , being non-trivial.

Using Corollary 1.27 and Lemma 1.33, we obtain the following result.

COROLLARY 6.36. Suppose that  $\varphi \in L^2(\mathbb{R}) \setminus \{0\}$  is such that  $\langle \varphi \rangle$  is FO and  $\langle \varphi \rangle \subseteq D(\langle \varphi \rangle)$ . Consider  $\varphi_0 := \frac{1}{\sqrt{p_{\varphi}}} \bullet \varphi$ . If  $\varphi_1 \in L^2(\mathbb{R})$  is such that  $\langle \varphi \rangle = \langle \varphi_1 \rangle$ , then  $\langle D\varphi_1 \rangle = \langle D\varphi_0 \rangle$  and  $\langle DT\varphi_1 \rangle = \langle DT\varphi_0 \rangle$  if and only if  $p_{\varphi_1}$  is 1/2-periodic.

This corollary describes precisely the family of generators of  $\langle \varphi \rangle$  which induce the same "inner structure" into  $D(\langle \varphi \rangle)$  as  $\varphi_0$  does. The following example shows that there are many such generators. Observe that one should not carry the idea of "inner structure" too far; for example, there is only one generator which produces an orthonormal basis — namely,  $\varphi_0$ .

EXAMPLE 6.37. Consider  $\varphi$  and  $\varphi_0$  as in the previous corollary. Consider a family of functions  $\nu : \mathbb{R} \to \mathbb{C}$  such that  $\nu$  is measurable, 1-periodic,  $\nu \in L^2(\mathbb{T})$ ,  $\nu(\xi) \neq 0$  almost everywhere, and  $|\nu|^2$  is 1/2-periodic. Obviously, there are many such functions, and it is not difficult to construct them. Consider the family of functions  $\nu \bullet \varphi_0$ , where  $\nu$  belongs to the family we just described. It follows that  $\langle \nu \bullet \varphi_0 \rangle = \langle \varphi_0 \rangle = \langle \varphi \rangle$ , and  $p_{\nu \bullet \varphi_0} = |\nu|^2 \cdot p_{\varphi_0} = |\nu|^2$ . It is not difficult to see that in this way we have described the entire family of functions  $\varphi_1$  which satisfy the conditions of Corollary 6.36. If we denote the filter corresponding to  $\varphi_1$  by  $m_1$  and denote  $M_1 := |m_1|^2$ , then we obtain  $M_1(\xi) = (|\nu(2\xi)|^2/|\nu(\xi)|^2) M_0(\xi)$ . Hence

$$M_0(\xi) + M_1(\xi + 1/2) = \frac{|\nu(2\xi)|^2}{|\nu(\xi)|^2}.$$

By Lemma 6.24, it follows that  $m_1$  satisfies the Smith–Barnwell condition if and only if  $|\nu(\xi)|$  is a constant function. In particular, observe that, for this reason, the class of our examples given here would not even be "detected" via the theory developed in **[PŠW99]**, **[PŠWX01]**, and **[PŠWX03]**.

Let us now get into more details about the structure of  $D(\langle \varphi \rangle)$  with respect to  $\varphi_0$ . Formula (6.34), in connection with orthogonality, leads to the notion of 1/2-antiperiodicity. We shall say that a function  $\mu : \mathbb{R} \to \mathbb{C}$  is 1/2-antiperiodic if, for almost every  $\xi \in \mathbb{R}$ ,  $\mu(\xi + 1/2) = -\mu(\xi)$ . Two typical examples are the functions  $\xi \mapsto \exp(\pm 2\pi i \xi)$ . Observe that every 1/2-antiperiodic function must also be 1-periodic. Furthermore, every 1-periodic function can be decomposed into its 1/2-periodic and 1/2-antiperiodic parts. More precisely, if m is 1-periodic, then

(6.38) 
$$m(\xi) = a(\xi) + b(\xi)e^{-2\pi i\xi},$$

where a and b are 1/2-periodic; in particular, they are given by

(6.39) 
$$a(\xi) := \frac{1}{2} \left( m(\xi) + m(\xi + 1/2) \right)$$
$$b(\xi) := \frac{e^{2\pi i \xi}}{2} \left( m(\xi) - m(\xi + 1/2) \right).$$

Observe that

(6.40)  $m \text{ is } 1/2\text{-periodic} \Leftrightarrow b \equiv 0$ 

and

(6.41)  $m \text{ is } 1/2\text{-antiperiodic} \Leftrightarrow a \equiv 0.$ 

It is also straightforward to check the following results, which are valid in general (not just in the FO case).

LEMMA 6.42. If  $f, g \in L^2(\mathbb{R})$  are a, b are functions given by (6.38) and (6.39) as the decomposition of  $[f,g](\xi)$ , then  $[Df,Dg](\xi) = a(\xi/2)$  and  $[Df,DTg](\xi) = b(\xi/2)$ .

LEMMA 6.43. If  $\varphi \in L^2(\mathbb{R})$  and  $m : \mathbb{R} \to \mathbb{C}$ , measurable and 1-periodic, satisfy (2.4), and a, b are functions given by (6.38) and (6.39) as the decomposition of  $m(\xi)$ , then

$$\varphi = \alpha \bullet D\varphi + \beta \bullet DT\varphi,$$

where  $\alpha(\xi) = \sqrt{2}a(\xi/2)$  and  $\beta(\xi) = \sqrt{2}b(\xi/2)$ .

Going back to our FO case, consider  $\varphi \in L^2(\mathbb{R}) \setminus \{0\}$  such that  $\langle \varphi \rangle$  is FO and  $\langle \varphi \rangle \subseteq D(\langle \varphi \rangle)$ . As before, take  $\varphi_0 := \frac{1}{\sqrt{p_{\varphi}}} \bullet \varphi$  and denote the corresponding filter by  $m_0$ . Denote by  $\alpha_0$  and  $\beta_0$  the functions given in Lemma 6.43 generated by  $m_0$ . We have  $\langle \varphi_0 \rangle \subseteq D(\langle \varphi_0 \rangle) = \langle D\varphi_0 \rangle \oplus \langle DT\varphi_0 \rangle$ , and it is natural to look into the orthogonal complement of  $\langle \varphi_0 \rangle$  within  $D(\langle \varphi_0 \rangle)$ . We focus on the function  $\psi \in L^2(\mathbb{R})$  given by

(6.44) 
$$\psi := -\overline{\beta_0} \bullet D\varphi_0 + \overline{\alpha_0} \bullet DT\varphi_0.$$

Observe first that, by its very definition,  $\psi \in D(\langle \varphi_0 \rangle)$ . Secondly,  $\langle \psi \rangle \perp \langle \varphi_0 \rangle$  since

(6.45) 
$$[\psi,\varphi_0](\xi) = -\overline{\beta_0(\xi)} \cdot \overline{\alpha_0(\xi)} + \overline{\alpha_0(\xi)} \cdot \overline{\beta_0(\xi)} = 0$$

Thirdly, and directly from (6.44), we have that, for almost every  $\xi \in \mathbb{R}$ ,

(6.46) 
$$\widehat{\psi}(\xi) = e^{-\pi i \xi} \overline{m_0(\xi/2 + 1/2)} \widehat{\varphi_0}(\xi/2).$$

In particular, for every  $\xi$  such that  $\operatorname{orb}(\xi)$  is FO with respect to  $\varphi_0$  (or, equivalently,  $\varphi$ ), we have

(6.47) 
$$\widehat{\psi}|_{\operatorname{orb}(\xi)} \neq 0$$

Furthermore,

(6.48) 
$$[\psi, \psi](\xi) = |\beta_0|^2 + |\alpha_0|^2 = |m_0(\xi/2)|^2 + |m_0(\xi/2 + 1/2)|^2 = 1$$

i.e.,  $\mathcal{B}_{\psi}$  is an orthonormal basis for the maximal principal shift-invariant space  $\langle \psi \rangle$ . In particular,

(6.49) 
$$D(\langle \varphi_0 \rangle) = D(\langle \varphi \rangle) = \langle \varphi_0 \rangle \oplus \langle \psi \rangle;$$

both the spectral function argument and the dimension function argument lead to this conclusion. It follows now, by induction, that, for every  $j \in \mathbb{N}$ ,

(6.50) 
$$D_j(\langle \varphi \rangle) = D_j(\langle \varphi_0 \rangle) = \langle \varphi_0 \rangle \oplus \langle \psi \rangle \oplus D(\langle \psi \rangle) \oplus ... \oplus D_{j-1}(\langle \psi \rangle)$$

In addition, for every  $j \in \mathbb{N} \cup \{0\}$ ,  $D_j(\mathcal{B}_{\psi})$  is an orthonormal basis for  $D_j(\langle \psi \rangle)$ . Observe also that  $D_j(\langle \psi \rangle)$  is a shift-invariant space for every  $j \in \mathbb{N} \cup \{0\}$ .

For  $j \in \mathbb{Z}$  with j < 0, observe first that  $D_j$  is also a unitary operator, so  $D_j(\mathcal{B}_{\psi})$ remains an orthonormal basis for the subspace  $D_j(\langle \psi \rangle)$ . However,  $D_j(\langle \psi \rangle)$  is not a shift-invariant space for negative j. Nevertheless, from (6.49) we do get

$$(6.51) D^{-1}(\langle \psi \rangle) \lneq \langle \varphi_0 \rangle$$

and

(6.52) 
$$\langle \varphi_0 \rangle = D^{-1}(\langle \varphi_0 \rangle) \oplus D^{-1}(\langle \psi \rangle).$$

Using (6.31), this implies that

(6.53) 
$$\langle \varphi_0 \rangle = \bigoplus_{j < 0} D_j(\langle \psi \rangle).$$

Observe also that (2.4) and (6.46) imply that

(6.54) 
$$|\widehat{\psi}(\xi)|^2 + |\widehat{\varphi_0}(\xi)|^2 = |\widehat{\varphi_0}(\xi/2)|^2,$$

for almost every  $\xi \in \mathbb{R}$ . It then follows that (recall that  $\lim_{n\to\infty} |\widehat{\varphi_0}(2^n\xi)|^2 = 0$ ; see Remark 2.17ii)

(6.55) 
$$|\widehat{\varphi_0}(\xi)|^2 = \sum_{j \in \mathbb{N}} |\widehat{\psi}(2^j \xi)|^2,$$

for almost every  $\xi \in \mathbb{R}$ , and

(6.56) 
$$\sum_{j \in \mathbb{Z}} |\widehat{\psi}(2^{j}\xi)|^{2} = \begin{cases} 1 & \text{if orb}(\xi) \text{ is FO for } \varphi\\ 0 & \text{if orb}(\xi) \text{ is not FO for } \varphi \end{cases}$$

for almost every  $\xi \in \mathbb{R}$ . Combining all these results provides us with the following theorem.

THEOREM 6.57. Suppose that  $\varphi \in L^2(\mathbb{R}) \setminus \{0\}$  is such that  $\langle \varphi \rangle$  is FO,  $\langle \varphi \rangle \subseteq D(\langle \varphi \rangle)$ . Consider  $\varphi_0 := \frac{1}{\sqrt{p_{\varphi}}} \bullet \varphi$  and  $\psi$  defined by (6.44). Then  $\{\psi_{jk} : j, k \in \mathbb{Z}\}$  is an orthonormal basis for

$$L^2(ssupp \ \widehat{\varphi})^{\vee},$$

and

$$L^2(ssupp \ \widehat{\varphi})^{\vee} = \bigoplus_{j \in \mathbb{Z}} D_j(\langle \psi \rangle).$$

Furthermore, the following are equivalent:

- (a)  $\psi$  is an MRA orthonormal wavelet;
- (b) ssupp  $\widehat{\psi} = \mathbb{R}$ ; (c)  $\sum_{j \in \mathbb{Z}} |\widehat{\psi}(2^j \xi)|^2 = 1$  for almost every  $\xi \in \mathbb{R}$ ; (d) scump  $\widehat{\varphi} = \mathbb{R}$ :

(d) 
$$ssupp \ \varphi = \mathbb{R};$$
  
(e)  $\lim_{n \to \infty} \frac{|\widehat{\varphi}(2^{-n}\xi)|^2}{p_{\varphi}(2^{-n}\xi)} = 1 \text{ for almost every } \xi \in \mathbb{R}.$ 

REMARK 6.58. We assume that our reader is familiar with the basic definitions from the theory of orthonormal wavelets (as outlined, for example, in [HW96]). Here we have shown that, if we have

- (i) a  $D^{-1}$ -invariant  $\langle \varphi \rangle$  such that  $\langle \varphi \rangle$  is FO; and
- (ii) we select (which one can always do in this case) an "orthonormal basis generator"  $\varphi_0$  of  $\langle \varphi \rangle$ ,

we obtain a theory completely analogous to the standard theory of MRA orthonormal wavelets with the caveat that our systems do not necessarily span the entirety of  $L^2(\mathbb{R})$  but rather the "infinite-dimensional" shift-invariant space  $L^2(\text{ssupp } \hat{\varphi})^{\vee}$ .

Furthermore, this theory captures, as a special case (completely characterized by the previous theorem), a certain part of the standard MRA orthonormal wavelet theory. More precisely, this "certain part" consists precisely of the MRA orthonormal wavelets such that

ssupp 
$$\widehat{\psi} = \mathbb{R}$$

this includes, for example, the Haar wavelet and the family of Daubechies wavelets.

Observe also that we have shown that, as soon as we have (i), we always generate an MRA-type structure — namely the family  $D_j(\langle \varphi \rangle)$  for  $j \in \mathbb{Z}$ . Moreover, if we additionally have that ssupp  $\hat{\psi} = \mathbb{R}$ , this family is indeed an MRA structure, and, in fact, it must be a family which comes from an orthonormal wavelet.

Going back to the original generator, consider  $\varphi \in L^2(\mathbb{R}) \setminus \{0\}$  such that  $\langle \varphi \rangle$ is FO and  $\langle \varphi \rangle \subseteq D(\langle \varphi \rangle)$ . Observe that the formula  $\varphi = \alpha \bullet D\varphi + \beta \bullet D\varphi$ , given in Lemma 6.43, is still valid. Corollary 1.14(b) holds as well, i.e.  $\dim_{D_j(\langle \varphi \rangle)} \equiv 2^j$ , for every  $j \in \mathbb{N} \cup \{0\}$ . What changes are the relative positions of  $\langle \varphi \rangle$ ,  $\langle D\varphi \rangle$ , and  $\langle DT\varphi \rangle$  within  $D(\langle \varphi \rangle)$ . The relationship between  $\langle D\varphi \rangle$  and  $\langle DT\varphi \rangle$  is described in Corollary 1.25; they do not intersect, their "parts are orthogonal" at points  $\xi$ where  $p_{\varphi}(\xi/2) = p_{\varphi}(\xi/2 + 1/2)$  and are "at an angle" at other points. We have seen examples where only orthogonality occurs (where  $p_{\varphi}$  is 1/2-periodic) and it is not difficult to construct examples where the two spaces are only "at an angle".

It is interesting to add  $\langle \varphi \rangle$  into this relationship. A typical relationship (with  $\varphi_0 = p_{\varphi}^{-1/2} \bullet \varphi$ ) is given in (6.33), (6.34), and Proposition 6.35. Observe that it does not allow for an extreme case where  $\langle \varphi_0 \rangle$  coincides with  $\langle D\varphi_0 \rangle$ . What about general  $\varphi$ ? To start, consider the following example which demonstrates a nice pattern.

EXAMPLE 6.59. In order to have  $\langle \varphi \rangle = \langle D\varphi \rangle$  with  $\langle \varphi \rangle$  being FO, it is enough to find a "multiplier" m which is never zero and such that  $D\varphi = m \bullet \varphi$ . By taking the square in this equation on the Fourier transform side, it is enough to find a pair of functions  $f : \mathbb{R} \to [0, \infty)$  and  $\nu : \mathbb{R} \to [0, \infty)$  such that both are measurable,  $\nu > 0$  almost everywhere,  $\nu$  1-periodic,  $f \in L^1(\mathbb{R})$  with  $\sum_{k \in \mathbb{Z}} f(\xi + k) > 0$  almost everywhere, and such that  $\nu(\xi)f(\xi) = f(\xi/2)$  almost everywhere. Observe that we shall fulfill these requirements if we can find  $\nu : (0, \infty) \to (0, \infty)$  measurable and 1-periodic (i.e. it is enough to give  $\nu$  on (0, 1]) and  $f : (0, \infty) \to (0, \infty)$  such that  $f \in L^1(\mathbb{R})$  and for every  $\xi > 0$  we have  $\nu(\xi)f(\xi) = f(\xi/2)$ .

Consider the numbers  $a, b \in \mathbb{R}$  such that 0 < a < 2,  $a < b < \infty$  and 1/a + 1/b < 1. Define  $\nu$  on (0, 1] by

$$\nu(\xi) := \begin{cases} a & \text{if } 0 < \xi \le 1/4 \\ b & \text{if } 1/4 < \xi \le 1 \end{cases}$$

and extend it 1-periodically to  $(0, \infty)$ . Define f to be identically 1 on (1/2, 1] and extend it dyadically to  $(0, \infty)$  via the equation  $\nu(\xi)f(\xi) = f(\xi/2)$ . It is not difficult to see that extending it into "low frequencies" leads to

$$\begin{split} f &\equiv b \text{ on } (1/4, 1/2] \\ f &\equiv b^2 \text{ on } (1/8, 1/4] \\ f &\equiv a^n b^2 \text{ on } \left(\frac{1}{2^{n+3}}, \frac{1}{2^{n+2}}\right] \text{ for } n \in \mathbb{N}. \end{split}$$

It follows that

$$\int_0^1 f(\xi)d\xi = \frac{1}{2} + \frac{b}{4} + b^2 \sum_{n=0}^\infty \frac{a^n}{2^{n+3}} = \frac{1}{2} + \frac{b}{4} + \frac{b^2}{8} \frac{1}{1 - \frac{a}{2}}.$$

Since a < 2, this integral is finite.

The pattern for "high frequencies" is a bit more complex. Observe first that the value of f changes between two consecutive even integers according to the pattern of "3 subintervals + 2 subintervals". For example, on (2, 4] we have

$$f \equiv \frac{1}{a^2} \text{ on } (2, 2 + 1/4]$$
  

$$f \equiv \frac{1}{ab} \text{ on } (2 + 1/4, 2 + 1/2]$$
  

$$f \equiv \frac{1}{b^2} \text{ on } (2 + 1/2, 3]$$
  

$$f \equiv \frac{1}{ab} \text{ on } (3, 3 + 1/4]$$
  

$$f \equiv \frac{1}{b^2} \text{ on } (3 + 1/4, 4]$$

Let us check one more iteration, i.e. on (4, 8], where we have

$$f \equiv \frac{1}{a^3} \text{ on } (4, 4 + 1/4]$$

$$f \equiv \frac{1}{a^2b} \text{ on } (4 + 1/4, 4 + 1/2]$$

$$f \equiv \frac{1}{ab^2} \text{ on } (4 + 1/2, 5]$$

$$f \equiv \frac{1}{ab^2} \text{ on } (5, 5 + 1/4]$$

$$f \equiv \frac{1}{b^3} \text{ on } (5 + 1/4, 6]$$

$$f \equiv \frac{1}{a^2b} \text{ on } (6, 6 + 1/4]$$

$$f \equiv \frac{1}{ab^2} \text{ on } (6 + 1/4, 6 + 1/2]$$

$$f \equiv \frac{1}{b^3} \text{ on } (6 + 1/2, 7]$$

$$f \equiv \frac{1}{ab^2} \text{ on } (7, 7 + 1/4]$$

$$f \equiv \frac{1}{b^3} \text{ on } (7 + 1/4, 8]$$

One can now approach this pattern in various ways. Here is one we find somewhat elegant. Observe that for any "3+2" pattern, it is enough to determine "the last power of  $a^{-1}$ " in order to know exactly how the pattern looks for all five subintervals. So each "3+2" pattern can be written as a pair of numbers, n, m, with  $n, m \in \mathbb{N} \cup \{0\}$ . We will write them vertically:

> nm

> > 0 0

For example, the "starting" pattern, i.e. for (2, 4], is

while the "next" pattern, i.e. for [4, 8) is

Observe that each "3+2" block determines two new "3+2" blocks within the next dyadic iteration and that it is obtained from the previous one according to the

transformation

$$(6.60) \qquad \qquad \begin{array}{c} n+1 \\ \nearrow \\ n \longrightarrow n \\ m \longrightarrow m \\ \searrow \\ m \end{array}$$

This rule obviously holds from (2, 4] to (4, 8]; from (4, 8] to (8, 16] we have

 $\begin{array}{cccc} 2 \\ 1 & 1 \\ 0 & 0 \\ & 0 \\ 1 \\ 0 & 0 \\ 0 & 0 \\ 0 \\ 0 \end{array}$ 

One can check inductively that (6.60) holds for all "steps" from  $(2^k, 2^{k+1}]$  to  $(2^{k+1}, 2^{k+2}]$ .

Additionally, observe that pattern (6.60) means that, if we denote  $\int_{(2^k, 2^k+2^{k-1}]} f(\xi) d\xi$ by A and  $\int_{(2^k+2^{k-1}, 2^{k+1}]} f(\xi) d\xi$  by B, then  $\int_{(2^{k+1}, 2^{k+2}]} f(\xi) d\xi = \frac{A}{a} + \frac{B}{b} + \frac{A}{b} + \frac{B}{b}$  $< \frac{A}{a} + \frac{B}{a} + \frac{A}{b} + \frac{B}{b}$ 

 $= (A+B)\left(\frac{1}{a} + \frac{1}{b}\right).$ 

Hence

$$\int_{1}^{\infty} f(\xi) d\xi = \sum_{n=0}^{\infty} \int_{2^{n}}^{2^{n+1}} f(\xi) d\xi \le \text{ const.} \sum_{n=0}^{\infty} \left(\frac{1}{a} + \frac{1}{b}\right)^{n} < \infty.$$

It is perhaps somewhat intriguing that such an example exists. We decided to devote some time to describe it rather completely.  $\diamond$ 

Consider the following problem. Find all functions  $\varphi \in L^2(\mathbb{R}) \setminus \{0\}$  such that

(6.61) 
$$\langle \varphi \rangle = \langle D\varphi \rangle.$$

Observe first the following (seemingly weaker) condition

$$(6.62) \qquad \langle D\varphi \rangle \subseteq \langle \varphi \rangle, \varphi \neq 0.$$

By Proposition 1.1.20, we have  $U_{\langle D\varphi \rangle} \subseteq U_{\langle \varphi \rangle}$  and  $|U_{\langle \varphi \rangle}| > 0$ . Using (1.21) we obstain

 $\xi \in 2U_{\langle \varphi \rangle} \Rightarrow \xi = 2u, p_{\varphi}(u) > 0 \Rightarrow p_{D\varphi}(2u) > 0 \Rightarrow 2u \in U_{\langle D\varphi \rangle} \Rightarrow \xi \in U_{\langle \varphi \rangle}.$ Lemma 2.1 and  $|U_{\langle \varphi \rangle}| > 0$  leads to the following result.

LEMMA 6.63. If  $f \in L^2(\mathbb{R}) \setminus \{0\}$  satisfies (6.62), then

$$U_{\langle \varphi \rangle} = U_{\langle D\varphi \rangle} = \mathbb{R}.$$

Now it is easy to prove the following set of equivalent characterizations.

THEOREM 6.64. If  $\varphi \in L^2(\mathbb{R}) \setminus \{0\}$ , then the following are equivalent:

- (a)  $\langle \varphi \rangle = \langle D\varphi \rangle;$
- (b)  $\langle D\varphi \rangle \subseteq \langle \varphi \rangle;$
- (c) There exist 1-periodic, measurable functions  $\mu_0$  and  $\mu_1$  such that  $\widehat{\varphi}(\xi/2) = \mu_0(\xi)\widehat{\varphi}(\xi)$  and  $\widehat{\varphi}(\xi) = \mu_1(\xi)\widehat{\varphi}(\xi/2);$
- (d) There exists a 1-periodic, measurable function  $\mu$  such that, for almost every  $\xi \in \mathbb{R}, \ \mu(\xi) \neq 0 \ and \ \widehat{\varphi}(\xi/2) = \mu(\xi)\widehat{\varphi}(\xi);$
- (e) There exists a 1-periodic measurable function  $\mu$  such that  $\widehat{\varphi}(\xi/2) = \mu(\xi)\widehat{\varphi}(\xi)$ .

PROOF. It is obvious that  $(a) \Rightarrow (b)$  and  $(d) \Rightarrow (e)$ . By taking  $\mu_0 = \mu$  and  $\mu_1 = 1/\mu$ , it is obvious that  $(d) \Rightarrow (c)$ . By Proposition 1.1.20 we have  $(b) \Leftrightarrow (e)$ , and by Corollary 1.1.21 we have  $(a) \Leftrightarrow (c)$ . Hence it is enough to prove that  $(b) \Rightarrow (d)$ . If (b) holds, then Lemma 6.63 shows that  $p_{\varphi} > 0$  almost everywhere and  $p_{D\varphi} > 0$  almost everywhere. As we already mentioned,  $(b) \Rightarrow (e)$ , so  $D\varphi = (\mu/\sqrt{2}) \bullet \varphi$ . By (1.1.8) and (1.1.9) we obtain

$$p_{D\varphi} = |\mu|^2 \frac{1}{2} p_{\varphi}$$
 almost everywhere,

which implies that  $|\mu|^2 > 0$  almost everywhere.

REMARK 6.65. It is perhaps useful to compare (6.61) to (2.4). Observe that by taking  $m(\xi) := \mu_1(2\xi)$  in the previous theorem, we obtain that (6.61) is equivalent to the existence of a measurable

(6.66) 
$$\frac{1}{2}$$
-periodic function  $m$ 

such that  $\widehat{\varphi}(2\xi) = m(\xi)\widehat{\varphi}(\xi)$ . This is not surprising since it is indeed obvious that (6.61) implies  $\langle \varphi \rangle \subseteq D(\langle \varphi \rangle)$ .

This also shows that it is not difficult to dyadically adjust the phase. Hence, analogous to the relationship between the  $(\varphi, m)$ -Problem and the the  $(\Phi, M)$ -Problem (see Remark 2.11), it is not difficult to show that (6.61) boils down to the following problem. Find all pairs  $(\Phi, \nu)$  such that  $\Phi : \mathbb{R} \to [0, \infty)$  with  $\Phi \in$  $L^1(\mathbb{R}) \setminus \{0\}, \nu : \mathbb{R} \to (0, \infty)$  measurable, 1-periodic, and, for almost every  $\xi \in \mathbb{R}$ ,

(6.67) 
$$\Phi(\xi/2) = \nu(\xi)\Phi(\xi).$$

Observe also that our results imply that we are always within the FO case.

COROLLARY 6.68. If  $\varphi \in L^2(\mathbb{R}) \setminus \{0\}$  satisfies (6.61), then  $\langle \varphi \rangle$  is a maximal, FO, principal shift-invariant space and, furthermore, for almost every  $\xi \in \mathbb{R}$ ,

$$M(\xi) = \frac{1}{\nu(2\xi)}.$$

It is now not surprising that the construction of all solutions of (6.67) will follow from the Tauberian-type construction described in (2.34) and (2.35). As it turns out, the connection with FO principal shift-invariant spaces is deeper than that. The following theorem shows that there is a natural one-to-one correspondence between the two.

THEOREM 6.69. We have the following.

- (a) If a pair  $(\varphi, m)$  satisfies (2.4) and  $\langle \varphi \rangle$  is a FO principal shift-invariant space, then  $\varphi_1 := m \bullet \varphi$  satisfies (6.61).
- (b) If  $\varphi_1 \in L^2(\mathbb{R}) \setminus \{0\}$  satisfies (6.61) and  $\mu$  is a function described in Theorem 6.64(d), then the pair  $(\varphi, \mu)$ , where  $\varphi := \frac{1}{\mu} \bullet \varphi_1$ , satisfies (2.4) and  $\langle \varphi \rangle$  is a FO principal shift-invariant space.
- In both cases,  $\langle \varphi \rangle = \langle \varphi_1 \rangle$ .

PROOF. (a) Since  $\langle \varphi \rangle$  is FO, we have  $m(\xi) \neq 0$  for almost every  $\xi \in \mathbb{R}$ . It follows that  $\varphi_1 \in L^2(\mathbb{R}) \setminus \{0\}$  (recall that the definition of an FO postulates that  $\varphi$  is non-trivial). For almost every  $\xi \in \mathbb{R}$  we obtain

$$\widehat{\varphi_1}(\xi) = m(\xi)\widehat{\varphi}(\xi)$$
  
=  $m(\xi)m(\xi/2)\widehat{\varphi}(\xi/2)$   
=  $m(\xi)m(\xi/2)m(\xi/2)^{-1}\widehat{\varphi_1}(\xi/2)$   
=  $m(\xi)\widehat{\varphi_1}(\xi/2).$ 

The desired conclusion now follows from Theorem 6.64, and  $\langle \varphi_1 \rangle = \langle \varphi \rangle$  is obvious.

(b) Observe that  $\varphi$  must be non-trivial. Now use the same calculation as in (a), i.e. for almost every  $\xi \in \mathbb{R}$  we obtain

$$\widehat{\varphi}(2\xi) = \frac{1}{\mu(2\xi)} \widehat{\varphi_1}(2\xi)$$

$$= \frac{1}{\mu(2\xi)} \mu(2\xi) \widehat{\varphi_1}(\xi)$$

$$= \widehat{\varphi_1}(\xi)$$

$$= \mu(\xi) \widehat{\varphi}(\xi).$$

REMARK 6.70. (i) Observe that, up to a constant, the  $\varphi_1$  in the previous theorem is actually  $D^{-1}\varphi$ . Indeed,  $D^{-1}\varphi \in \langle \varphi \rangle$  if and only if  $\langle \varphi \rangle \subseteq D(\langle \varphi \rangle)$ . Hence, we will have, in this case, that  $\langle D^{-1}\varphi \rangle = \langle \varphi \rangle$  if and only if  $\langle D^{-1}\varphi \rangle$ is a maximal principal shift-invariant space. This, in turn, is equivalent to  $p_{D^{-1}\varphi} > 0$  almost everywhere. Since we have  $\widehat{\varphi}(2\xi) = m(\xi)\widehat{\varphi}(\xi)$ , we obtain  $(D^{-1}\varphi)^{\wedge}(\xi) = \sqrt{2}m(\xi)\widehat{\varphi}(\xi)$  and

(6.71) 
$$p_{D^{-1}\varphi}(\xi) = 2|m(\xi)|^2 p_{\varphi}(\xi).$$

Ç

Therefore, we obtain the following characterization of the FO principal shiftinvariant spaces. If  $\varphi \in L^2(\mathbb{R}) \setminus \{0\}$  is such that  $\langle \varphi \rangle \subseteq D(\langle \varphi \rangle)$ , then

(6.72) 
$$\langle D^{-1}\varphi\rangle = \langle \varphi\rangle \Leftrightarrow \langle \varphi\rangle$$
 is an FO principal shift-invariant space.

Observe that this approach also provides a complete solution of the problem (6.61).

#### 2. MRA STRUCTURE

- (ii) Observe that for  $\varphi_1$  in the previous theorem, or for  $D^{-1}\varphi$  (which is essentially the same) we have  $\widehat{\varphi_1}(2\xi) = m(2\xi)\widehat{\varphi_1}(\xi)$ , and, since  $\xi \mapsto m(2\xi)$  is  $\frac{1}{2}$ -periodic, it can never satisfy the Smith–Barnwell condition. This is the main reason why the theory developed in [**PŠWX01**], [**PŠWX03**], and [**ŠSW08**] failed to detect such examples.
- (iii) If  $\varphi \in L^2(\mathbb{R}) \setminus \{0\}$  is such that  $\langle \varphi \rangle$  is an FO principal shift-invariant space, then observe that, for every  $n \in \mathbb{N}$  we have

(6.73) 
$$\langle D^{-n}\varphi\rangle = \langle D^{-(n-1)}\varphi\rangle = \dots = \langle D^{-1}\varphi\rangle = \langle \varphi\rangle,$$

i.e.  $\widetilde{\varphi} := D^{-n}\varphi$  satisfies  $\langle D^n \widetilde{\varphi} \rangle = \langle \widetilde{\varphi} \rangle$ . Observe also that, for almost every  $\xi \in \mathbb{R}$ ,

(6.74) 
$$(\widetilde{\varphi})^{\wedge}(2\xi) = m(2^n\xi)(\widetilde{\varphi})^{\wedge}(\xi);$$

this is the "even ray" part of the sequence described in Remark 5.11iv.

In general, we have  $\langle \varphi \rangle$  positioned within  $D(\langle \varphi \rangle)$  so that it intersects with both  $\langle D\varphi \rangle$  and  $\langle DT\varphi \rangle$ . By taking  $\varphi_1 := D^{-1}\varphi$ , we obtain one "extreme" case, i.e.  $\langle \varphi_1 \rangle = \langle D\varphi_1 \rangle$ . Observe that it is not difficult to get the "other extreme". Consider  $\varphi_2 := T_{-1}D^{-1}\varphi$ . Obviously, in the FO case we obtain

(6.75) 
$$\langle \varphi_2 \rangle = \langle \varphi_1 \rangle = \langle D\varphi_1 \rangle = \langle DT\varphi_2 \rangle.$$

## 7. Pre-GMRA

The notion of a generalized multi-resolution analysis (GMRA, for short) has been introduced by L.W. Baggett, H.A. Medina, and K.D. Merrill in [**BMM99**]. It has been studied extensively by many authors; among early references, we mention [**BM99**], [**BR05**], [**BR03**], [**BRS01**], [**BL98**], and [**Pap00**] since their discussions are similar in approach to what we present in this section. Consider a slightly more general structure; we shall say that a family  $\{V_j : j \in \mathbb{Z}\}$  of closed subspaces of  $L^2(\mathbb{R})$  is a *pre-GMRA* if

(7.1) 
$$V_j \leq V_{j+1} = D(V_j)$$
, for every  $j \in \mathbb{Z}$ 

and

(7.2) 
$$V_0$$
 is a shift-invariant space.

As usual, we refer to  $V_0$  as the *core space* of the family  $\{V_j : j \in \mathbb{Z}\}$ . Obviously, every shift-invariant space V which is  $D^{-1}$ -invariant (or, equivalently, refineable), i.e.

$$(7.3) V \le D(V)$$

serves as the core space for some pre-GMRA. For every pre-GMRA  $\{V_j : j \in \mathbb{Z}\}$ , it is natural to consider the following three closed subspaces of  $L^2(\mathbb{R})$ :

(7.4) 
$$V_{-\infty} := \bigcap_{j \in \mathbb{Z}} V_j,$$

(7.5) 
$$V_{\infty} := \overline{\bigcup_{j \in \mathbb{Z}} V_j},$$

and

$$(7.6) W_0 := V_1 \cap V_0^{\perp}.$$

Observe that  $W_0$  and  $V_{\infty}$  are always shift-invariant spaces, while  $V_{-\infty}$  may or may not be a shift-invariant space. Let us first recall some standard facts about  $W_0$ . It is well-known (consult, for example, [BR03] for historical details) that, for almost every  $\xi \in \mathbb{R}$ ,

(7.7) 
$$\dim_{V_0}(\xi) + \dim_{W_0}(\xi) = \dim_{V_1}(\xi) = \dim_{V_0}(\xi/2) + \dim_{V_0}(\xi/2 + 1/2),$$

and

(7.8) 
$$\sigma_{V_0}(\xi) + \sigma_{W_0}(\xi) = \sigma_{V_1}(\xi) = \sigma_{V_0}(\xi/2).$$

It is actually possible for  $W_0$  to be an infinitely generated shift-invariant space. Consider the following list of examples.

(i) Consider, for every  $i \in \mathbb{Z}$ , the space (recall Example 1.1.5) Example 7.9.

$$V_j := L^2((-\infty, 2^j])^{\vee}.$$

It is not difficult to check that  $\{V_j : j \in \mathbb{Z}\}$  is a pre-GMRA with the following properties:

 $V_0 \neq V_1$  and  $\dim_{W_0} \equiv 1$ ;

 $V_i$  is a principal shift-invariant space for every  $j \in \mathbb{Z}$ ;

 $V_{-\infty} = L^2((-\infty, 0])^{\vee}, V_{-\infty}$  is a principal shift-invariant space;

 $\dim_{V_{-\infty}} \equiv \infty;$ 

 $V_{\infty} = L^2(\mathbb{R})^{\vee} = L^2(\mathbb{R}).$ 

(ii) Consider  $\varepsilon \in (0, 1/6)$  and the set  $E \subseteq \mathbb{R}$  defined by

$$E := (-\varepsilon, 0] \cup \left(\bigcup_{n=0}^{\infty} (2^n, 2^n + \varepsilon]\right) \cup (0, 1/2 + \varepsilon].$$

Take  $V_0 := L^2(E)^{\vee}$ . Then it is not too difficult to check that  $V_0$  satisfies (7.3) and the corresponding pre-GMRA has the following properties:

. .

$$V_0 \neq V_1 \text{ and } |\{\xi : \dim_{W_0}(\xi) = \infty\}| > 0;$$
  
$$\dim_{V_0}(\xi) = \begin{cases} 1 & \text{if } \xi \in (-\varepsilon, 0] \\ \infty & \text{if } \xi \in (0, \varepsilon] \\ 1 & \text{if } \xi \in (\varepsilon, 1/2 + \varepsilon] \\ 0 & \text{if } \xi \in (1/2 + \varepsilon, 1 - \varepsilon] \end{cases};$$
  
$$V_{-\infty} = \{0\};$$
  
$$V_{\infty} = L^2(\mathbb{R})^{\vee} = L^2(\mathbb{R}).$$

The last two properties show that this is, in fact, a GMRA. Observe also that in this case,  $V_j$  is a shift-invariant space for every  $j \in \mathbb{Z}$ . This example is a slight change from Example 3.7 in [BR03].

(iii) Consider Example 3.1 in [Bow09]. One can check that M. Bownik constructed there an elaborate example of a pre-GMRA with the following properties:

$$\dim_{V_0} \equiv \infty;$$
  

$$V_{-\infty} \neq \{0\}$$
  

$$V_{-\infty} \text{ is not a shift-invariant space;}$$

indeed, if it were, one could check that  $\sigma_{V_{-\infty}}$  would be identically 0, contradicting the non-triviality of  $V_{-\infty}$ . It follows that it is not possible for all the  $V_i$  spaces to be shift-invariant.

$$\diamond$$

Using (7.7) and applying Lemma 2.1 directly to the set  $I_{V_0} = \{\xi \in \mathbb{R} : \dim_{V_0}(\xi) = \infty\}$ , we observe that "mixed quantities" as in Example 7.9ii are not possible if  $\dim_{W_0}$  is almost everywhere finite.

PROPOSITION 7.10. If  $\{V_j : j \in \mathbb{Z}\}$  is a pre-GMRA such that

 $\dim_{W_0} < \infty$  almost everywhere,

then either  $\dim_{V_0} \equiv \infty$  or  $\dim_{V_0} < \infty$  almost everywhere.

Observe that there are examples of pre-GMRAs for which  $W_0 = \{0\}$ , which is equivalent to

(7.11) 
$$D(V_0) = V_0$$

which is equivalent to

(7.12) 
$$V_{-\infty} = V_0 = V_j = V_{\infty} \text{ for every } j \in \mathbb{Z}.$$

EXAMPLE 7.13. Take any measurable subset  $A \subseteq I$  and define  $E := \bigcup_{k \in \mathbb{Z}} 2^k A$ . Consider  $V_0 := L^2(E)^{\vee}$ . This is a typical example of a shift-invariant space which satisfies (7.11). If |A| = 0, then  $V_0 = \{0\}$ . If |A| = 1, then  $V_0 = L^2(\mathbb{R})$ . If 0 < |A| < 1, then we have a non-trivial  $V_0$  which satisfies (7.11).

By Proposition 7.10, every  $V_0 \neq \{0\}$  which satisfies (7.11) must have that  $\dim_{V_0} \equiv \infty$ . Observe that  $V := L^2((1,\infty))^{\vee}$  is an example of a shift-invariant space such that  $\dim_V \equiv \infty$ ,  $D(V) \leq V$ , and  $D(V) \neq V$ .

$$\diamond$$

Consider  $V_{\infty}$ . It is always a shift-invariant space, and since  $D^i$  is continuous for both  $i = \pm 1$ , we obtain

$$D^{i}(V_{\infty}) \subseteq \overline{D^{i}\left(\bigcup_{j\in\mathbb{Z}}V_{j}\right)} = \overline{\bigcup_{j\in\mathbb{Z}}D^{i}(V_{j})} = \overline{\bigcup_{j\in\mathbb{Z}}V_{j+i}} = V_{\infty}.$$

Hence  $D(V_{\infty}) = V_{\infty}$ .

PROPOSITION 7.14. If  $\{V_j : j \in \mathbb{Z}\}$  is a pre-GMRA, then  $V_{\infty}$  is a shift-invariant space and  $D(V_{\infty}) = V_{\infty}$ .

We have seen examples of pre-GMRAs for which  $V_{\infty} \neq L^2(\mathbb{R})$  in a previous section (recall Remark 6.30).

The issues surrounding  $V_{-\infty}$  are more subtle. As we have seen,  $V_{-\infty}$  may or may not be a shift-invariant space. Furthermore, if  $\dim_{V_0} \equiv \infty$ , then it is possible to have either  $V_{-\infty} = \{0\}$  or  $V_{-\infty} \neq \{0\}$ . As far as we know, the strongest result which appears in the literature is due to M. Bownik in [**Bow09**]. Using our terminology, the Bownik theorem says that if  $\{V_j : j \in \mathbb{Z}\}$  is a pre-GMRA such that

(7.15) 
$$|\{\xi \in \mathbb{R} : \dim_{V_0}(\xi) < \infty\}| > 0,$$

then  $V_{-\infty} = \{0\}$ . Even though  $V_{-\infty}$  may not be a shift-invariant space, we can still apply  $D^i$ ,  $i = \pm 1$ , to it and obtain

$$D^{i}(V_{-\infty}) \subseteq \bigcap_{j \in \mathbb{Z}} D^{i}(V_{j}) = \bigcap_{j \in \mathbb{Z}} V_{j+i} = V_{-\infty};$$

i.e.  $V_{-\infty}$  satisfies  $D(V_{-\infty}) = V_{-\infty}$ .

GMRA terminology has been fairly standardized at present; see, for example, [**Bow09**]. In our set up, we have that  $\{V_j : j \in \mathbb{Z}\}$  is a GMRA if and only if it is a pre-GMRA and  $V_{-\infty} = \{0\}, V_{\infty} = L^2(\mathbb{R})$ . If, in addition to being a GMRA, we have dim<sub>V0</sub>  $\equiv 1$ , then  $\{V_j : j \in \mathbb{Z}\}$  is the classical MRA structure of an orthonormal wavelet (see, for example, [**HW96**] for details and standard terminology). Indeed, dim<sub>V0</sub>  $\equiv 1$  means that there exists  $\varphi \in L^2(|R)$  with  $p_{\varphi} > 0$  almost everywhere and  $V_0 = \langle \varphi \rangle$ . By taking  $\varphi_0 := \frac{1}{\sqrt{p_{\varphi}}} \bullet \varphi$ , we obtain an orthonormal basis  $\mathcal{B}_{\varphi_0}$ for  $V_0$ ; the standard nomenclature is that  $\varphi_0$  is the *scaling function* of the MRA  $\{V_j : j \in \mathbb{Z}\}$ . Let us also mention that dim<sub>V0</sub> has been completely characterized for both pre-GMRA and GMRA in [**BR03**].

REMARK 7.16. One should be somewhat careful applying characterization theorems. For example, if  $\dim_{V_0} \equiv \infty$ , then such a function will satisfy all the characterization properties for both pre-GMRA and GMRA. That does not mean that a particular  $V_0$  will give us the desired structure — it only means that there exists a shift-invariant space  $U_0$  with the same dimension function which generates the desired structure. For example, taking  $V_0 := L^2([0,\infty))^{\vee}$  satisfies (7.11), so it generates a pre-GMRA with  $\{0\} \neq V_{-\infty} = V_0 = V_{\infty} \neq L^2(\mathbb{R})$ . Its dimension function is identically  $\infty$ , so it satisfies all the characterization results. We can conclude the following, though, based on the results from [**BR03**] and [**Bow09**].

If  $\{V_j : j \in \mathbb{Z}\}$  is a pre-GMRA which satisfies (7.15), then  $V_{-\infty} = \{0\}$ . If  $\{V_j : j \in \mathbb{Z}\}$  is a pre-GMRA such that  $V_{-\infty} = \{0\}$  we may or may not have (7.15) (see, for example, the construction in the proof of Lemma 3.3 in [**BR03**]).

If  $\{V_j : j \in \mathbb{Z}\}$  is a GMRA (in particular,  $V_{\infty} = L^2(\mathbb{R})$ ), then (see [**BR03**]), for almost every  $\xi \in \mathbb{R}$ ,

(7.17) 
$$\liminf_{n \to \infty} \dim_{V_0}(\xi/2^n) \ge 1$$

If  $V_j : j \in \mathbb{Z}$  is a pre-GMRA which satisfies (7.17), then  $V_{\infty}$  may or may not be  $L^2(\mathbb{R})$  (see our example above). However, we could, in this situation, employ the following result, which is essentially in [**BR03**], too. If  $\{V_j : j \in \mathbb{Z}\}$  is a pre-GMRA such that, for almost every  $\xi \in \mathbb{R}$ ,

(7.18) 
$$\lim_{n \to \infty} \sigma_{V_0}(\xi/2^n) = 1,$$

then  $V_{\infty} = L^2(\mathbb{R})$ .

The class of all pre-GMRAs splits according to the following property:

(7.19) 
$$V_j$$
 is a shift-invariant space for every  $j \in \mathbb{Z}$ .

There are non-trivial examples where (7.19) holds (see Example 7.9i and ii) and non-trivial examples where it does not hold (see Example 7.9iii and all examples in the previous section, recalling Remark 6.30, in particular). Let us first consider the former class. The following result could be considered "folklore", but since we are not aware of a precise reference, we provide details for our readers' convenience. THEOREM 7.20. If  $\{V_j : j \in \mathbb{Z}\}$  is a pre-GMRA which satisfies (7.19), then  $V_{-\infty}$  is a shift-invariant space which satisfies (7.11), and the family  $\{U_j : j \in \mathbb{Z}\}$ , where  $U_j := V_j \cap V_{-\infty}^{\perp}$  for  $j \in \mathbb{Z}$ , is a pre-GMRA which satisfies (7.19) and  $U_{-\infty} = \{0\}$ . Furthermore,  $V_{\infty} = V_{-\infty} \oplus U_{\infty}$  and either  $V_{-\infty} = \{0\}$  or  $\dim_{V_{-\infty}} \equiv \infty$ .

PROOF. It is obvious that (7.19) implies that  $V_{-\infty}$  is a shift-invariant space. We have seen already that  $V_{-\infty}$  satisfies (7.11). By (7.7), (7.8), and Proposition 7.10, it now follows easily that either  $V_{-\infty} = \{0\}$  or  $\dim_{V_{-\infty}} \equiv \infty$ .

By its definition, every  $U_j$  is a shift-invariant space and, for every  $j \in \mathbb{Z}$ ,  $V_j = V_{-\infty} \oplus U_j$ . Since D is unitary, we obtain

I

$$V_{-\infty} \oplus U_{j+1} = V_{j+1}$$
  
=  $D(V_j)$   
=  $D(V_{-\infty} \oplus U_j)$   
=  $D(V_{-\infty}) \oplus D(U_j)$   
=  $V_{-\infty} \oplus D(U_j)$ ,

which guarantees  $U_{j+1} = D(U_j)$ . Since  $V_{j+1} \ge V_j$ , we obtain  $U_{j+1} \ge U_j$ , so  $\{U_j : j \in \mathbb{Z}\}$  is a pre-GMRA which satisfies (7.19). It follows that  $U_{-\infty}$  is a shift-invariant space and  $V_{-\infty} \oplus U_{-\infty} \le V_{-\infty}$ , hence  $U_{-\infty} = \{0\}$ . Since  $V_{-\infty}$  is a closed space, we obtain

$$V_{\infty} = \overline{\bigcup_{j \in \mathbb{Z}} V_{-\infty} \oplus U_j} = \overline{V_{-\infty} \oplus \bigcup_{j \in \mathbb{Z}} U_j} = \overline{V_{-\infty}} \oplus \overline{\bigcup_{j \in \mathbb{Z}} U_j} = V_{-\infty} \oplus U_{\infty}.$$

At this point we are interested in the class of pre-GMRAs which do not satisfy (7.19). Since, for a shift-invariant space V we always have that D(V) is a shift-invariant space also, we conclude that, for a pre-GMRA  $\{V_j : j \in \mathbb{Z}\}$  which does not satisfy (7.19) there exists exactly one  $\ell \in \mathbb{Z}$  such that  $V_j$  is a shift-invariant space if and only if  $j \geq \ell$ . Observe that it must be the case that  $\ell \leq 0$ . We shall say that the space  $V_\ell$  is the *natural core space* of  $\{V_j : j \in \mathbb{Z}\}$ . Observe that in all examples described in Remark 6.30 the natural core is identical to the "ordinary" core  $V_0$ .

A natural question for us is whether an "FO type wavelet" (described in the previous section) can be developed in some way different than the one described in Theorem 6.57, i.e. from some other pre-GMRA structure. Because an "FO type wavelet" (see (6.46)) satisfies  $\widehat{\psi}_0(\xi) \neq 0$  for almost every  $\xi \in \mathbb{R}$ , our question is really in the spirit of the Lemarié theorem (see [LR92]) which shows that all compactly supported wavelets (in the orthonormal case) arise from an MRA structure. For the development of such a line of theorems, consult [Aus95] and, ultimately, [BR05]. We have the following result which is closely related to the corresponding theorem in [BR05].

THEOREM 7.21. Let  $\psi \in L^2(\mathbb{R})$  be such that, for almost every  $\xi \in \mathbb{R}$ ,  $\widehat{\psi}(\xi) \neq 0$ . If  $\{V_j : j \in \mathbb{Z}\}$  is a pre-GMRA such that

- (a)  $V_1 = \langle \psi \rangle \oplus V_0$ , and
- (b)  $|\{\xi \in \mathbb{R} : \dim_{V_0}(\xi) < \infty\}| > 0,$

then  $V_0$  is an FO principal shift-invariant space and  $\{V_j : j \in \mathbb{Z}\}$  is the MRA structure associated with an orthonormal wavelet  $\psi_0 := \frac{1}{\sqrt{p_{\psi}}} \bullet \psi$ .

#### 7. PRE-GMRA

We will prove this theorem shortly. First, we observe that, regarding the proof of the theorem, one can attack from several directions. One way is to show that  $V_0$  is spanned by the negative dilates of  $\psi_0$  and then apply powerful theorems from [**BR05**] and [**Bow09**]. However, in this case one can produce a significantly more elementary proof, which we will do here. First, a lemma.

LEMMA 7.22. If V is a shift-invariant space such that

- (a)  $|\{\xi \in \mathbb{R} : \dim_V(\xi) < \infty\}| > 0;$
- (b) For almost every  $\xi \in \mathbb{R}$ , dim<sub>V</sub>( $\xi$ ) > 0; and
- (c) There exists a 1-periodic, measurable set  $U \subseteq \mathbb{R}$  such that, for almost every  $\xi \in \mathbb{R}$ ,

$$\dim_V(2\xi) + \chi_U(2\xi) = \dim_V(\xi) + \dim_V(\xi + 1/2),$$

then  $\dim_V \equiv 1$  almost everywhere (in particular,  $U = \mathbb{R}$  almost everywhere).

PROOF OF LEMMA 7.22. Consider  $I_V$  first. It is a 1-periodic, measurable subset of  $\mathbb{R}$ . If  $u \in 2I_V$ , then  $u = 2\xi$  with  $\dim_V(\xi) = \infty$ . By (c), we obtain  $\dim_V(u) = \infty$  as well. Hence  $2I_V \subseteq I_V$  and, by Lemma 2.1, we have either  $|I_V| = 0$  or  $I_V = \mathbb{R}$  almost everywhere. By (a), we must have  $|I_V| = 0$ , i.e.

(7.23) 
$$\dim_V(\xi) < \infty \text{ for almost every } \xi \in \mathbb{R}.$$

Observe that (b) actually means that

(7.24) 
$$\dim_V(\xi) \ge 1 \text{ for almost every } \xi \in \mathbb{R}.$$

For  $n \in \mathbb{N}$ , let us denote  $U_n := \{\xi \in \mathbb{R} : \dim_V(\xi) \ge n\}$ . Hence every  $U_n$  is a measurable, 1-periodic subset of  $\mathbb{R}$ . By (7.24),  $U_1 = \mathbb{R}$  almost everywhere.

We claim that  $|\mathbb{R} \setminus U_2| > 0$ . Suppose to the contrary that  $U_2 = \mathbb{R}$  almost everywhere. For almost every  $\xi \in \mathbb{R}$ , we obtain that

$$\infty > \dim_V(2\xi) + \chi_U(2\xi) = \dim_V(\xi) + \dim_V(\xi + 1/2) \ge \dim_V(\xi) + 2.$$

Hence for almost every  $\xi$  and for every  $n \in \mathbb{N}$  we obtain

 $\infty > \dim_V(\xi) \ge \dim_V(\xi/2) + 1 \ge \dim_V(\xi/4) + 2 \ge \dots \ge \dim_V(\xi/2^{n-1}) + n - 1 \ge n,$ 

which clearly produces a contradiction. Hence

$$(7.25) |\mathbb{R} \setminus U_2| > 0.$$

Consider now  $u \in U_2$ , i.e.  $u = 2\xi$  and  $\dim_V(\xi) \ge 2$ . By (c), we obtain

$$\dim_V(u) + \chi_U(u) = \dim_V(\xi) + \dim_V(\xi + 1/2) \ge 2_1.$$

Since this implies  $\dim_V(u) \ge 2$ , i.e.  $u \in U_2$ , we can employ Lemma 2.1 again to show that either  $|U_2| = 0$  or  $U_2 = \mathbb{R}$ . By (7.25) we must have that  $|U_2| = 0$ , i.e.  $\dim_V \equiv 1$  almost everywhere. Notice that (c) is then only possible with  $U = \mathbb{R}$  almost everywhere.

Notice that if we have the stronger assumption that  $\dim_V$  is integrable on [0, 1], then integrating (c) over [0, 1] and using (b) provides the same conclusion even more directly.

PROOF. Proof of Theorem 7.21 Since  $\psi(\xi) \neq 0$  almost everywhere, we obtain  $p_{\psi} > 0$  almost everywhere. Hence the definition of  $\psi_0$  makes sense and  $\mathcal{B}_{\psi_0}$  is an orthonormal basis for  $\langle \psi_0 \rangle = \langle \psi \rangle$ . Furthermore, for almost every  $\xi \in \mathbb{R}$ ,

(7.26) 
$$\sigma_{\langle\psi\rangle}(\xi) = |\psi_0(\xi)|^2 > 0.$$

By (7.8) and (a), we obtain, for almost every  $\xi \in \mathbb{R}$ ,  $\sigma_{V_0}(\xi) = \sigma_{V_0}(2\xi) + \sigma_{\langle \psi \rangle}(2\xi) > 0$ . Hence

$$\dim_{V_0} > 0$$
 almost everywhere.

Observe that  $\dim_{\langle \psi \rangle} \equiv 1$ , so by (7.7) we obtain, for almost every  $\xi \in \mathbb{R}$ ,

$$\dim_{V_0}(2\xi) + 1 = \dim_{V_0}(\xi) + \dim_{V_0}(\xi + 1/2)$$

Therefore,  $V_0$  satisfies the conditions of Lemma 7.22, and we conclude that  $\dim_{V_0} \equiv 1$  almost everywhere. It follows that there exists  $\varphi_0 \in L^2(\mathbb{R})$  such that  $V_0 = \langle \varphi_0 \rangle$  and  $\mathcal{B}_{\varphi_0}$  is an orthonormal basis for  $V_0$ . Since  $\sigma_{V_0} > 0$  almost everywhere, it follows that  $\widehat{\varphi_0}(\xi) \neq 0$  for almost every  $\xi \in \mathbb{R}$ . Since  $\langle \varphi_0 \rangle \leq D(\langle \varphi_0 \rangle) = \langle \varphi_0 \rangle \oplus \langle \psi_0 \rangle$ , there exists a filter  $m_0$  such that  $\widehat{\varphi_0}(2\xi) = m_0(\xi)\widehat{\varphi_0}(\xi)$  and we must have  $m_0(\xi) \neq 0$  for almost every  $\xi \in \mathbb{R}$ . It follows that  $\langle \varphi_0 \rangle$  is an FO with ssupp  $\widehat{\varphi_0} = \text{ssupp } \widehat{\psi_0} = \mathbb{R}$ . Hence by Theorem 6.57 we conclude that  $\{V_j : j \in \mathbb{Z}\}$  is an MRA structure for an orthonormal wavelet  $\psi_1$  defined by (6.44) from  $\varphi_0$ . It follows that  $\langle \psi_0 \rangle = \langle \psi_1 \rangle$ , which implies  $\psi_1 = \mu \bullet \psi_0$  for some 1-periodic, measurable function  $\mu$  with  $\mu \neq 0$  almost everywhere. Since  $p_{\psi_0} \equiv 1 \equiv p_{\psi_1}$  almost everywhere, it follows that  $|\mu|^2 = 1$  almost everywhere. Therefore,  $\psi_0$  is an orthonormal wavelet with the same MRA structure as  $\psi_1$ .

We shall return to the ideas related to questions about GMRA and pre-GMRA structures later. For now, we turn our attention to the non-FO case in the next section.

### 8. Filter Analysis, Non-FO Case

In this section we consider  $M : \mathbb{R} \to [0, \infty)$  which is measurable and 1-periodic such that (see (2.40))

$$(8.1) |Z_M| > 0.$$

For such an M, almost every orbit  $\operatorname{orb}(\xi)$  either intersects the horizon of M, i.e.  $H_M$  or the set  $A_M^{(1)}$  (see Remark 2.42). If  $|H_M| = 0$ , then  $\operatorname{Sol}_M$  is trivial (again, see Remark 2.42). Hence we also assume that

(8.2) 
$$|H_M| > 0.$$

Let us begin by exploring some simple relationships among  $Z_M, H_M, A_M^{(1)}$ . It is obvious that the sets

(8.3) 
$$A_M^{(1)} \text{ and } \{\xi \in I : \operatorname{orb}(\xi) \cap H_M \neq \emptyset\}$$

form an almost everywhere-partition of I. Furthermore,

(8.4) 
$$A_M^{(1)} = \bigcap_{n=1}^{\infty} \bigcup_{k \ge n} \left( \frac{1}{2^k} I \cap Z_M \right)$$

Hence from (8.3) and (8.4), we obtain

(8.5) 
$$\{\xi \in I : \operatorname{orb}(\xi) \cap H_M \neq \emptyset\} = \bigcup_{n=1}^{\infty} \bigcap_{k \ge n} \left(\frac{1}{2^k} I \cap Z_M\right)^c.$$

As mentioned in (2.47), we have  $H_M \subseteq Z_M$ , but it is also easy to see that  $Z_M$  determines  $H_M$  completely:

(8.6) 
$$H_M^c \cap Z_M = \bigcup_{n=1}^{\infty} (Z_M \cap 2^n Z_M) = \bigcup_{n=1}^{\infty} 2^n (Z_M \cap \frac{1}{2^n} Z_M).$$

It is natural to ask whether  $H_M$  determines  $Z_M$  completely. As the following example shows, this is not the case.

EXAMPLE 8.7. Take any  $M : \mathbb{R} \to [0, \infty)$ , measurable and 1-periodic such that

$$M(\xi) > 0$$
 if  $\xi \in [-1/8, 1/8)$  and  
 $M(\xi) = 0$  if  $\xi \in [-1/4, 1/4) \setminus [-1/8, 1/8);$ 

observe that we can define M freely on  $[-1/2, 1/2) \setminus [-1/4, 1/4)$ , i.e. we can add any set of zero points to M there. However, every such M will have the property that

$$H_M = [-1/4, 1/4) \setminus [-1/8, 1/8)$$

and  $|A_M^{(1)}| = 0.$ 

Let us add a few more remarks and examples in order to understand better the notion of the horizon of M. The following examples illustrate that  $H_M$  may or may not be either bounded or bounded away from 0.

EXAMPLE 8.8. (i) Consider  $M = |m|^2$ , where *m* is the low-pass filter for the Shannon wavelet (see, for example, [**HW96**] for details). This means that *M* is 1-periodic and  $M|_{[-1/2,1/2)} = \chi_{[-1/4,1/4)}$ . It is obvious, then, that  $H_M = \frac{1}{2}I \subseteq [-1/2, 1/2)$ . Observe also that  $\Phi = \chi_{[-1/2,1/2)} = 2\Phi_{0,M}$  (see Theorem 2.52) prevents an example of a solution which is maximal in  $(\operatorname{Sol}_M, \prec_M)$ .

(ii) We introduce the following notation: for each  $n \in \mathbb{N}$ ,

$$A_0 := \left[\frac{3}{4}, 1\right)$$
$$A_n := \left[\frac{2^{n+1}+1}{2^{n+2}}, \frac{2^{n+1}+1}{2^{n+1}}\right)$$
$$B_n := \left[\frac{2^{n+1}-1}{2^{n+1}}, \frac{2^{n+2}-1}{2^{n+2}}\right).$$

Observe that  $\{A_n : n \in \mathbb{N} \cup \{0\}\}$  forms a partition of [1/2, 1). Define M to be 1-periodic and such that  $M|_{[0,1)}$  is given by

$$M(\xi) = \begin{cases} 1 & \text{if } \xi \in A_0 \\ 0 & \text{if } \xi \in [1/2, 3/4) \\ 1 & \text{if } \xi \in 2^{-j}A_n \text{ and } n < j, n \in \mathbb{N} \cup \{0\}, j \in \mathbb{N} \\ 0 & \text{if } \xi \in 2^{-j}A_n \text{ and } n \ge j, n \in \mathbb{N} \cup \{0\}, j \in \mathbb{N}. \end{cases}$$

It is a simple exercise to check that  $|A_M^{(1)}| = 0$  and

$$H_M = [-1/2, -1/4) \cup \left(\bigcup_{j \in \mathbb{N}} 2^{-j} A_j\right) \cup \left(\bigcup_{k \in \mathbb{N}} 2^k B_k\right)$$

Hence  $H_M \cap (0, \infty)$  is neither bounded nor bounded away from 0.

 $\diamond$ 

Is it possible to have  $H_M \cap [-1/2, 1/2) = \emptyset$ ? Yes, but only at the expense of having non-trivial  $A_M^{(1)}$ .

EXAMPLE 8.9. Take a 1-periodic function M such that  $M|_{[-1/2,1/2)}$  equals  $\chi_{[0,1/2)}$ . Then we have  $A_M^{(1)} = [-1, -1/2)$  and  $H_M = [1/2, 1)$ .

LEMMA 8.10. If  $M : \mathbb{R} \to [0,\infty)$  is measurable, 1-periodic, and such that  $|Z_M| > 0$  with  $|A_M^{(1)}| = 0$ , then

$$|H_M \cap [-1/2, 1/2)| > 0.$$

PROOF. Suppose to the contrary that  $|H_M \cap [-1/2, 1/2)| = 0$ . By our assumptions, for almost every  $\xi \in \mathbb{R}$ ,  $\operatorname{orb}(\xi) \cap H_M = \{\nu\}$  and  $\nu = \nu(\xi) \in \mathbb{R} \setminus [-1/2, 1/2)$ . Hence for every such  $\nu$  and for every  $j \in \mathbb{N}$ , we have that  $M(2^{-j}\nu) > 0$ . It follows that M > 0 almost everywhere, contrary to the assumption that  $|Z_M| > 0$ .  $\Box$ 

Using essentially the same argument, we also have the following result:

COROLLARY 8.11. Let  $M : \mathbb{R} \to [0, \infty)$  be measurable, 1-periodic, and such that  $|Z_M| > 0$  and  $|A_M^{(1)}| = 0$ . If there exists  $0 < \varepsilon < 1/2$  such that  $|H_M \cap [-\varepsilon, \varepsilon)| = 0$ , then  $|Z_M \cap [-\varepsilon, \varepsilon)| = 0$ .

We turn our attention now to the elements of  $\text{Sol}_M$ . Observe that the analysis of the Tauberian function  $T_M$ , in this non-FO case, is similar to the analysis of  $T_{M,-}$  (the "low frequency" part) in the FO case. Hence there is no effect of "high frequencies" in the sense that for every  $\xi \in H_M$  we can treat  $\operatorname{orb}(\xi)$  "individually".

There are several consequences in the non-FO case. If M is non-FO and  $\Phi \in \text{Sol}_M$ , we cannot expect  $\Phi$  to have full support; more precisely, we must have

(8.12) 
$$\operatorname{ssupp} \Phi \subseteq \bigcup_{n=0}^{\infty} 2^{-n} H_M.$$

Maximal solutions in  $(\text{Sol}_M, \prec_M)$  have the property that there is an equality in (8.12). Despite that, it is possible to have an almost everywhere strictly positive periodization of  $\Phi$  (take Example 8.8i, for instance). As before, we abuse notation slightly, and for  $\Phi \in \text{Sol}_M$ , we denote its periodization by  $p_{\Phi}$ , i.e.

(8.13) 
$$p_{\Phi}(\xi) = \sum_{k \in \mathbb{Z}} \Phi(\xi + k), \xi \in \mathbb{R}$$

Observe that for almost every  $\xi \in \mathbb{R}$ ,

(8.14) 
$$p_{\Phi}(2\xi) = M(\xi)p_{\Phi}(\xi) + M(\xi + 1/2)p_{\Phi}(\xi + 1/2).$$

The lemma below follows directly:

LEMMA 8.15. If  $M : \mathbb{R} \to [0, \infty)$  is measurable, 1-periodic, with  $|Z_M \cap (1/2 + Z_M)| > 0$ , then for every  $\Phi \in Sol_M$ ,

$$|\{\xi \in \mathbb{R} : p_{\Phi}(\xi) = 0\}| > 0.$$

In particular, this holds if  $|Z_M \cap [0,1)| > 1/2$ .

Observe that Example 8.8i has the properties that  $p_{\Phi} > 0$  almost everywhere and  $|Z_M \cap [0,1)| = 1/2$ . Obviously, the condition in the previous lemma is not a

necessary one. For example, even a "small" set in  $Z_M$  which contains a neighborhood of 0 will make everything trivial. More precisely, if there exists  $\varepsilon > 0$  such that  $(-\varepsilon, \varepsilon) \subseteq Z_M$ , then

(8.16) 
$$A_M^{(1)} = I \text{ and } \operatorname{Sol}_M = \{0\}.$$

Regarding the existence of non-trivial solutions, we follow an approach similar to (3.3). We define a function  $r_M : H_M \to [0, \infty]$  by considering the power series

(8.17) 
$$z \mapsto \sum_{j=1}^{\infty} z^j \left( \prod_{k=1}^j \frac{1}{M(2^{-k}\xi)} \right),$$

for every  $\xi \in H_M$  (observe that the definition makes sense and that  $r_M$  is analogous to  $r_{M,-}$  in (3.3)); then  $r_M(\xi)$  is defined as the radius of convergence of the power series given in (8.17). Exactly as in Section 3, we obtain the following results. If  $M : \mathbb{R} \to [0, \infty)$  is measurable, 1-periodic, and satisfies (8.1) and (8.2), then, for almost every  $\xi \in H_M$ ,

(8.18)  
$$\liminf_{n \to \infty} M(2^{-n}\xi) > 1/2 \Rightarrow \liminf_{n \to \infty} \sqrt[n]{\prod_{k=1}^{n} M(2^{-k}\xi)} > 1/2$$
$$\Rightarrow T_M(\xi) < \infty$$
$$\Rightarrow \liminf_{n \to \infty} \sqrt[n]{\prod_{k=1}^{n} M(2^{-k}\xi)} \ge 1/2$$

Using Theorem 2.52 and (8.18), we obtain directly a result which is analogous to Corollary 3.54.

COROLLARY 8.19. Let  $M : \mathbb{R} \to [0,\infty)$  be measurable, 1-periodic, with  $|Z_M| > 0$ and  $|H_M| > 0$ . If, for almost every  $\xi \in H_M$ ,  $\liminf_{n\to\infty} M(2^{-n}\xi) > 1/2$ , then, for almost every  $\xi \in H_M$ ,  $T_M(\xi) < \infty$  and  $\Phi_{0,M}(2^{-j}\xi) > 0$  for every  $j \in \mathbb{N} \bigcup \{0\}$ . If  $\liminf_{n\to\infty} M(2^{-n}\xi) > 1/2$ , for almost every  $\xi$ , then, in addition,  $|A_M^{(1)}| = 0$ .

REMARK 8.20. Observe that in the non-FO case, large values of M are not an obstacle to the existence of non-trivial solutions (unlike in the FO case). For example, if there exists a > 1/2 such that for almost every  $\xi \in H_M$ , and for every  $k \in \mathbb{N}$ ,  $M(2^{-k}\xi) \geq a$ , then, for almost every  $\xi \in H_M$ ,

$$(8.21) T_M(\xi) \le \frac{1}{2a-1}$$

Observe that, due to the lack of  $T_{M,+}$  in the non-FO case,  $T_M$  does not exhibit fractal properties either. By adjusting M on a part of an orbit  $\operatorname{orb}(\xi)$  near 0, we completely determine  $T_M(\xi)$ , and this has no effect on other orbits.

Observe that we still have formula (3.7), i.e. for almost every  $\xi \in H_M$ , and, for every  $n \in \mathbb{N}$ ,

(8.22) 
$$\Phi(\xi) = \left(\prod_{k=1}^{n} M(2^{-k}\xi)\right) \Phi(2^{-n}\xi) \text{ and } \prod_{k=1}^{n} M(2^{-k}\xi) > 0,$$

whenever  $\Phi \in \text{Sol}_M$ . Hence, a statement analogous to Lemma 3.10 holds (we use  $\xi \in H_M$  such that  $\Phi(\xi) > 0$  instead of  $\xi \in A_M^{(2)}$ , as was used in Lemma 3.10).

Finally, let us observe that in the non-FO case there is no ergodic behavior either. It also means that the Smith–Barnwell type condition does not play the same role in the FO case. Let us illuminate this in the following simple example. Take an  $a \in \mathbb{R}$  with  $a \ge 0$ , and define  $M_a : \mathbb{R} \to [0, \infty)$  to be 1-periodic and such that  $M_a|_{[-1/2,1/2)}$  is given by

(8.23) 
$$M_a(\xi) := \begin{cases} 1 & \text{if } \xi \in [-1/8, 1/8) \\ 0 & \text{if } \xi \in [-1/4, -1/8) \cup [1/8, 1/4) \\ a & \text{if } \xi \in [-1/2, -3/8) \cup [3/8, 1/2) \\ a+1 & \text{if } \xi \in [-3/8, -1/4) \cup [1/4, 3/8) \end{cases}$$

Observe that, for every  $a \geq 0$ ,  $\Phi = \chi_{[-1/4,1/4)}$  is a maximal solution in  $\operatorname{Sol}_{M_a}$  (obviously,  $\Phi$  does not depend on a). On the other hand, for almost every  $\xi \in \mathbb{R}$ ,

(8.24) 
$$M_a(\xi) + M_a(\xi + 1/2) = 1 + a_{\pm}$$

Despite this, one should not completely disregard the Smith–Barnwell condition in the non-FO case, either. For example, for  $0 < b \leq 1/2$ , the condition

 $M(\xi) + M(\xi + 1/2) = b$  almost everywhere

would imply  $\text{Sol}_M = \{0\}$ ; but this would simply be a consequence of  $M \leq 1/2$ . However, there are other issues, like zero-sets and Parseval frame representation which bring the Smith-Barnwell condition into focus.

Let us observe first that some zeroes are unavoidable and play an essential role, while the others can be replaced with positive values.

EXAMPLE 8.25. Consider a 1-periodic M such that  $M|_{[-1/4,1/8)} \equiv 1$  and  $M|_{[-1/2,-1/4)\cup[1/8,1/4)} \equiv 0$ . It follows that the maximal solution is  $\Phi = \chi_{[-1/2,1/4)}$ , and this holds irrespective of the values of M on [1/4, 1/2). Hence, the zeroes on  $[-1/2, -1/4) \cup [1/8, 1/4)$  cannot be changed without altering Sol<sub>M</sub>. On the other hand, possible zeroes within [1/4, 1/2) could be changed arbitrarily without affecting Sol<sub>M</sub>. Observe also that for  $\xi \in [1/8, 1/4)$ , we must have  $M(\xi) + M(\xi+1/2) = 0$ .

Consider  $M : \mathbb{R} \to [0, \infty)$  which is measurable, 1-periodic, such that (8.1) and (8.2) hold, and such that  $\operatorname{Sol}_M$  is non-trivial. Let  $\Phi$  be a maximal solution in  $(\operatorname{Sol}_M, \prec_M)$  and consider its periodization  $p_{\Phi}$  (see (8.13)). Consider  $U := \{\xi \in \mathbb{R} : p_{\Phi}(2\xi) = 0\}$ . It is fairly obvious that U does not depend on the choice of maximal solution in  $(\operatorname{Sol}_M, \prec_M)$  and that U is measurable and 1/2-periodic. If |U| = 0, then we leave M as it is. Observe that, in this case, using (8.14) we must have the property that for almost every  $\xi \in \mathbb{R}$ ,

(8.26) 
$$M(\xi) + M(\xi + 1/2) > 0.$$

If |U| > 0, then for  $\xi \in U$  we have two possibilities; either  $p_{\Phi}(\xi) + p_{\Phi}(\xi + 1/2) = 0$  or  $p_{\Phi}(\xi) + p_{\Phi}(\xi + 1/2) > 0$ . In the second case, we must keep  $M(\xi) + M(\xi + 1/2) = 0$ ; otherwise Sol<sub>M</sub> would change. However, in the first case, we can change the values of M freely without any effect on Sol<sub>M</sub> — say, we put  $M(\xi) = M(\xi + 1/2) = 1/2$ .

This short analysis shows that in the study of the non-FO case, we can, without loss of generality, restrict ourselves to the class of M with the property that for every maximal solution  $\Phi$  in  $(\text{Sol}_M, \prec_M)$ , we have, for almost every  $\xi \in \mathbb{R}$ ,

(8.27) either 
$$M(\xi) + M(\xi + 1/2) > 0$$
 or  $p_{\Phi}(\xi) + p_{\Phi}(\xi + 1/2) > 0$ .

Following the well-known process of semiorthogonalization (as we did in the FO case), it is not difficult to restrict our analysis onto the class of the "Smith–Barnwell"-type filters. We start with  $\widetilde{M} : \mathbb{R} \to [0, \infty)$  which is measurable, 1-periodic, satisfies (8.1) and (8.2), and  $\operatorname{Sol}_{\widetilde{M}}$  is non-trivial. Furthermore, we also require (8.27). Take any maximal solution  $\widetilde{\Phi}$  in  $(\operatorname{Sol}_{\widetilde{M}}, \prec_{\widetilde{M}})$ . Consider a function  $M : \mathbb{R} \to [0, \infty)$  defined by

$$(8.28) M(\xi) := \begin{cases} \frac{p_{\tilde{\Phi}}(\xi)}{p_{\tilde{\Phi}}(2\xi)} \widetilde{M}(\xi) & \text{if } p_{\tilde{\Phi}}(2\xi) > 0\\ 1/2 & \text{if } p_{\tilde{\Phi}}(2\xi) = p_{\tilde{\Phi}}(\xi) = p_{\tilde{\Phi}}(\xi + 1/2) = 0\\ 0 & \text{if } p_{\tilde{\Phi}}(2\xi) = 0 < p_{\tilde{\Phi}}(\xi) + p_{\tilde{\Phi}}(\xi + 1/2). \end{cases}$$

It is easy to check that  $\Phi$ , defined by

(8.29) 
$$\Phi(\xi) := \begin{cases} \frac{\tilde{\Phi}(\xi)}{p_{\tilde{\Phi}}(\xi)} & \text{if } p_{\tilde{\Phi}}(\xi) > 0\\ 0 & \text{if } p_{\tilde{\Phi}}(\xi) = 0, \end{cases}$$

satisfies  $\Phi(2\xi) = \Phi(\xi)M(\xi)$ , with M 1-periodic and measurable, such that  $Z_M = Z_{\widetilde{M}}$ ,  $H_M = H_{\widetilde{M}}$ , and the elements in  $(\operatorname{Sol}_M, \prec_M)$  can be described, by the same transformations as the one given in (8.27), from the elements of  $(\operatorname{Sol}_{\widetilde{M}}, \prec_{\widetilde{M}})$ . In other words, we can reduce the study of  $\widetilde{M}$  to the study of M. Observe, however, that M also has the following properties: for almost every  $\xi \in \mathbb{R}$ ,

(8.30) 
$$M(\xi) + M(\xi + 1/2) = 0 \text{ or } 1,$$

and

(8.31) 
$$M(\xi) + M(\xi + 1/2) = 0 \Leftrightarrow p_{\Phi}(\xi) + p_{\Phi}(\xi + 1/2) > 0.$$

REMARK 8.32. (i) Consider  $M : \mathbb{R} \to ][0,1]$ , measurable, 1-periodic, such that (8.30) holds and  $|Z_M| > 0$  and  $|H_M| > 0$ . Since ergodic properties do not play a role in this case, observe that in order to have non-trivial  $\mathrm{Sol}_M$ , it is sufficient to have

$$|\{\xi \in H_M : \liminf_{n \to \infty} M(2^{-n}\xi) > 1/2\}| > 0.$$

(ii) Suppose that  $\varphi \in L^2(\mathbb{R})$  is such that  $\langle \varphi \rangle \subseteq D(\langle \varphi \rangle), \varphi \neq 0$ , and the corresponding *m* has the property that  $|\{\xi : m(\xi) = 0\}| > 0$ . We can still observe that  $\varphi_0 := \left(p_{\varphi}^{-1/2}\chi_{p_{\varphi}>0}\right) \bullet \varphi$ , and it is well-known that  $\langle \varphi_0 \rangle = \langle \varphi \rangle$ , with  $\mathcal{B}_{\varphi_0}$  forming a Parseval frame for  $\langle \varphi \rangle$ . Let us denote the corresponding filter by  $m_0$  and  $M := |m_0|^2, \Phi := |\widehat{\varphi_0}|^2$ . It follows then that *M* is non-FO, that  $\Phi \in \operatorname{Sol}_M$ , but also that *M* satisfies (8.30) and that, for almost every  $\xi \in \mathbb{R}, p_{\Phi}(\xi) = 0$  or 1. As before, we can remove "non-essential" zeroes from *M*, and obtain (8.31). Hence, from the point of view of non-FO principal shift-invariant spaces  $\langle \varphi \rangle$ , our reduction to (8.30) and (8.31) allows us still to capture all principal shift-invariant spaces of interest.

Consider now a 1-periodic, measurable  $M : \mathbb{R} \to [0, 1]$  such that (8.30) holds. As in the FO case (see (4.10)) we can define  $f_M : \mathbb{R} \to [0, 1]$  by

$$f_M(\xi) := \prod_{n=1}^{\infty} M(2^{-n}\xi) \text{ for } \xi \in \mathbb{R}.$$

Again,  $f_M$  is measurable and satisfies  $f_M(2\xi) = M(\xi)f_M(\xi)$ . Observe that we can again apply a partial version of the "peeling-off argument"; only the part which applies to the estimate of the norm of  $f_M$  (since (8.30) does not allow the orthogonality property, but it does give  $M(\xi) + M(\xi + 1/2) \leq 1$ ). Hence, we do obtain (4.14) in this case, as well:

$$(8.33) ||f_M||_{L^1(\mathbb{R})} \le 1.$$

Therefore, in this case we also have (see Section 4 for comparison)

$$(8.34) f_M \in \mathrm{Sol}_M.$$

Again, it is possible to have trivial  $f_M$  and yet have non-trivial  $\operatorname{Sol}_M$ . Similarly as before, we have, in this case, that  $f_M$  is a maximal solution in  $(\operatorname{Sol}_M, \prec_M)$  if and only if

(8.35) 
$$f_M(\xi) > 0$$
 for almost every  $\xi \in H_M$ .

Again, positivity leads to dyadic continuity at zero, i.e. for  $\xi \in H_M$ , we have

(8.36) 
$$f_M(\xi) > 0 \Rightarrow \lim_{n \to \infty} M(2^{-n}\xi) = 1$$
$$f_M(\xi) > 0 \Rightarrow \lim_{n \to \infty} f_M(2^{-n}\xi) = 1,$$

where the second limit is an increasing one. The following examples (rather well-known ones) emphasize a few points about positivity and  $H_M$ ,  $A_M^{(1)}$ , (8.30), and (8.31).

EXAMPLE 8.37. (i) Consider a 1-periodic function M such that  $M|_{[-1/2,1/2)} = \chi_{[0,1/2)}$ . In this case, we have  $|Z_M| > 0$ ,  $H_M = [1/2, 1)$ ,  $A_M^{(1)} = [-1, -1/2)$ ,  $f_M = \chi_{[0,1)}$ ,  $p_{f_M} \equiv 1$ , and, for almost every  $\xi \in \mathbb{R}$ ,  $M(\xi) + M(\xi + 1/2) = 1$ . (ii) Consider a filter associated to the Shannon wavelet, i.e. 1-periodic M with

 $M|_{[-1/2,1/2)} = \chi_{[-1/4,1/4)}$ . In this case, we have  $|Z_M| > 0$ ,  $H_M = \frac{1}{2}I$ ,  $A_M^{(1)} = \emptyset$ ,  $f_M = \chi_{[-1/2,1/2)}$ ,  $p_{f_M} \equiv 1$ , and, for almost every  $\xi \in \mathbb{R}$ ,  $M(\xi) + M(\xi + 1/2) = 1$ .

 $\diamond$ 

It is also not difficult to see that a theorem analogous to Theorem 4.16 holds in this case, as well. Likewise, the proof of Proposition 4.24 also goes through in this case. Hence we can similarly develop a remark analogous to Remark 4.26. Observe, however, that all these results hold within a special subclass of non-FO filters. This is the content of the following result.

PROPOSITION 8.38. If  $M : \mathbb{R} \to [0, \infty)$  is measurable, 1-periodic, with  $|Z_M| > 0$ and such that M is dyadically continuous at zero, then  $|A_M^{(1)}| = 0$ .

PROOF. Obviously, for almost every  $\xi \in \mathbb{R}$ , we have  $\lim_{n\to\infty} M(2^{-n}\xi) = 1$ . This implies that  $M(2^{-j}\xi) \neq 0$  for j large enough. Hence  $\operatorname{orb}(\xi) \cap H_M \neq \emptyset$ .  $\Box$ 

Observe that in the previous statement (unlike in Corollary 8.19) we did not require any assumptions on  $H_M$ , but we do get "maximal horizon" as a consequence.

EXAMPLE 8.39. Consider  $0 < \varepsilon < 1/4$  and define M to be 1-periodic and such that  $M|_{[-1/2,1/2)} = \chi_{[-\varepsilon,\varepsilon)}$ . Then M is dyadically continuous at zero,  $M(\xi) + M(\xi + 1/2) = 1$  for  $\xi \in [-\varepsilon,\varepsilon)$ ,  $M(\xi) + M(\xi + 1/2) = 0$  for  $\xi \in [-1/4, 1/4) \setminus [-\varepsilon,\varepsilon)$ ,

 $f_M = \chi_{[-2\varepsilon,2\varepsilon)}, f_M$  is dyadically continuous at zero,  $p_{f_M}|_{[-1/2,1/2)} = \chi_{[-2\varepsilon,2\varepsilon)}, |A_M^{(1)}| = 0$ , and  $H_M = [-2\varepsilon,2\varepsilon) \setminus [-\varepsilon,\varepsilon).$ 

REMARK 8.40. The previous example provides an illustration of the generality of our method. For  $0 < \varepsilon \leq 1/4$ , denote  $\varphi_{\varepsilon}$  the function in  $L^2(\mathbb{R})$  such that  $\widehat{\varphi_{\varepsilon}} = \chi_{[-2\varepsilon,2\varepsilon)}$ . Obviously,  $\langle \varphi_{\varepsilon} \rangle \subseteq D(\langle \varphi_{\varepsilon} \rangle)$ , and let us introduce

$$W_{\varepsilon} := D(\langle \varphi_{\varepsilon} \rangle) \cap \langle \varphi_{\varepsilon} \rangle^{\perp}$$

which, of course, means  $W_{\varepsilon}$  is a shift-invariant space. Consider the dimension functions,  $\dim_{W_{\varepsilon}}$  of  $W_{\varepsilon}$ . It is not difficult to check that the following identities hold:

$$0 < \varepsilon \le 1/8 \Rightarrow \dim_{W_{\varepsilon}}(\xi) = \begin{cases} 0 & \text{if } \xi \in [-2\varepsilon, 2\varepsilon) \\ 1 & \text{if } \xi \in [-4\varepsilon, 4\varepsilon) \setminus [-2\varepsilon, 2\varepsilon) \\ 0 & \text{if } \xi \in [-1/2, 1/2) \setminus [-4\varepsilon, 4\varepsilon), \end{cases}$$
$$1/8 < \varepsilon < 1/6 \Rightarrow \dim_{W_{\varepsilon}}(\xi) = \begin{cases} 0 & \text{if } \xi \in [-2\varepsilon, 2\varepsilon) \\ 1 & \text{if } \xi \in [-1+4\varepsilon, -2\varepsilon) \cup [2\varepsilon, 1-4\varepsilon) \\ 2 & \text{if } \xi \in [-1/2, -1+4\varepsilon) \cup [1-4\varepsilon, 1/2), \end{cases}$$
$$\varepsilon = 1/6 \Rightarrow \dim_{W_{\varepsilon}}(\xi) = \begin{cases} 0 & \text{if } \xi \in [-1/3, 1/3) \\ 2 & \text{if } \xi \in [-1/2, 1/2) \setminus [-1/3, 1/3), \end{cases}$$
$$1/6 < \varepsilon < 1/4 \Rightarrow \dim_{W_{\varepsilon}}(\xi) = \begin{cases} 0 & \text{if } \xi \in [-1+4\varepsilon, 1-4\varepsilon) \\ 1 & \text{if } \xi \in [-1/2, 1/2) \setminus [-1/3, 1/3), \end{cases}$$
$$\varepsilon = 1/4 \Rightarrow \dim_{W_{\varepsilon}}(\xi) = \begin{cases} 0 & \text{if } \xi \in [-1+4\varepsilon, 1-4\varepsilon) \\ 1 & \text{if } \xi \in [-1+4\varepsilon, 1-4\varepsilon) \\ 2 & \text{if } \xi \in [-1/2, 1/2) \setminus [-2\varepsilon, 2\varepsilon), \end{cases}$$
$$\varepsilon = 1/4 \Rightarrow \dim_{W_{\varepsilon}} \equiv 1. \end{cases}$$

We would like to emphasize a few points here (in what follows, we take M to be as it was in Example 8.39, i.e.  $M|_{[-1/2,1/2)} = \chi_{[-\varepsilon,\varepsilon)}$ .

(i) In the case  $\varepsilon \in [0, 1/8] \cup \{1/4\}$ ,  $\dim_{W_{\varepsilon}} \leq 1$ , i.e.  $W_{\varepsilon}$  is a principal shift-invariant space. We should approach this in the spirit of the discussion of (8.26) and (8.27). For some  $\varepsilon$ , there will be  $\xi$  such that  $M(\xi) + M(\xi + 1/2) = 0$ . Of course, for  $\varepsilon = 1/4$ ,  $M(\xi) + M(\xi + 1/2) = 1$  almost everywhere. For  $\varepsilon \in (0, 1/8]$ , one has that  $M(\xi) + M(\xi + 1/2) = 0$  for any  $\xi \in [\varepsilon, 1/2 - \varepsilon)$ , but this is a non-essential issue in the sense that we can replace M by M' given by

$$M'|_{[-1/2,1/2)} := \chi_{[-\varepsilon,\varepsilon)\cup[-1/2+\varepsilon,-1/2+2\varepsilon)\cup[2\varepsilon,1/2-\varepsilon)},$$

which satisfies  $\operatorname{Sol}_M = \operatorname{Sol}_{M'}$  and, for almost every  $\xi$ ,

$$M'(\xi) + M'(\xi + 1/2) = 1.$$

In this sense, the values of  $\varepsilon \in (0, 1/8]$  and  $\varepsilon = 1/4$  are "related".

For  $\varepsilon \in (1/8, 1/4)$ , however, it is not possible to perform a similar replacement, and that  $M(\xi) + M(\xi + 1/2)$  must equal zero for  $\xi \in [\varepsilon, 1/2 - \varepsilon)$ since any modification otherwise would force  $\operatorname{Sol}_M$  to change — for example,  $\Phi := \widehat{\varphi_{\varepsilon}}$  would be "pushed out" of  $\operatorname{Sol}_M$ .

(ii) The case  $\varepsilon \in (0, 1/8] \cup \{1/4\}$  actually belongs to the theory of MRA Parseval frame wavelets, as developed in [**PŠWX01**], [**PŠWX03**], and [**ŠSW08**]. We just need to replace M with M' as above, and M' is a generalized low-pass filter (in the terminology of the aforementioned papers); the corresponding pseudoscaling function is  $\varphi_{\varepsilon}$ . However, when  $\varphi \in (1/8, 1/4)$ , we have filters which cannot be captured by the theory of MRA Parseval frame wavelets: observe that  $W_{\varepsilon}$  is a "2-dimensional" shift-invariant space and cannot be spanned by a single generating wavelet  $\psi$ .

(iii) As we have just seen, this approach to filters is more comprehensive than previous approaches. It is interesting, though, that from the point of view of the corresponding pre-GMRA structures we do not obtain anything new. More precisely, if  $\varepsilon \in (1/8, 1/4)$ , then  $\varepsilon/2 < 1/8$  and

$$D(\langle \varphi_{\varepsilon/2} \rangle) = \langle \varphi_{\varepsilon} \rangle.$$

It is not difficult to check that in both cases we do get a GMRA, and the two structures consist of the same spaces — the only difference is that the core space is "shifted". For the  $\varepsilon$ -case,  $V_0 = \langle \varphi_{\varepsilon} \rangle$ , while for the  $\varepsilon$ /2-case,  $V_0 = \langle \varphi_{\varepsilon/2} \rangle = D^{-1}(\langle \varphi_{\varepsilon} \rangle)$ . Observe that  $\langle \varphi_{\varepsilon/2} \rangle$  is the core space of an MRA PFW structure as described in [**ŠSW08**].

It is useful to compare the previous Remark with Remark 4.18, in particular with respect to Theorem 4.16. As we mentioned earlier, the theorem analogous to Theorem 4.16 holds in the non-FO case, as well. However, it does not characterize all the non-FO filters induced by generalized low-pass filters (in the terminology of Remark 4.26). Using (8.26), (8.27), and (8.31), it is not difficult to check that the following result holds.

PROPOSITION 8.41. Let  $M : \mathbb{R} \to [0,1]$  be measurable and 1-periodic, such that  $|Z_M| > 0$  and (8.30) holds. If  $f_M(\xi) > 0$  for almost every  $\xi \in H_M$ , then the following are equivalent:

- (a) M is induced by a generalized low-pass filter (i.e. there exists a generalized low-pass filter m so that  $f_M = f_{|m|^2}$ );
- (b)  $|A_M^{(1)}| = 0$  and

 $|\{\xi \in \mathbb{R} : p_{f_M}(2\xi) = 0 \text{ and } p_{f_M}(\xi) + p_{f_M}(\xi + 1/2) > 0\}| = 0.$ 

Let us now turn our attention to the filters induced by low-pass filters of MRA orthonormal wavelets. Observe that Proposition 8.41 shows that in this case we can focus our attention, without loss of generality, on the class

# (8.42)

 $\mathcal{M}_{SB}^{non-FO} := \{ M : \mathbb{R} \to [0,1] : M \text{ is measurable, 1-periodic, } |Z_M| > 0, |A_M^{(1)}| = 0, \\ \text{Sol}_M \neq \{0\}, M(\xi) + M(\xi + 1/2) = 1 \text{ almost everywhere} \}.$ 

Again, as in the FO case, the main insight is essentially given in Theorem 3.17 from **[PŠW99**]:

THEOREM 8.43 ([ $\mathbf{P}\tilde{\mathbf{S}}\mathbf{W}\mathbf{99}$ ]). Let  $m : \mathbb{R} \to \mathbb{C}$  be a measurable, 1-periodic function such that  $M := |m|^2 \in \mathcal{M}_{SB}^{non-FO}$ . Then m is a low-pass filter (for an MRA orthonormal wavelet) if and only if  $f_M(\xi) > 0$  for almost every  $\xi \in H_M$ , and

$$\int_{\mathbb{R}} f_M(\xi) d\xi = 1.$$

REMARK 8.44. Observe that Example 8.37i provides an M which is *not* induced by an MRA orthonormal wavelet filter, but it does satisfy the conditions that  $f_M(\xi) > 0$  for almost every  $\xi \in H_M$  and  $\int_{\mathbb{R}} f_M(\xi) d\xi = 1$ . Observe, however, that the condition  $|A_M^{(1)}| = 0$  is not satisfied.

The analysis of the condition (8.35) is analogous to the FO case and we leave the details to the interested reader. Let us explore the condition

(8.45) 
$$\int_{\mathbb{R}} f_M(\xi) d\xi = 1$$

some more. First of all, using (8.12) and  $f_M \leq 1$ , we obtain

(8.46) 
$$\int_{\mathbb{R}} f_M(\xi) d\xi = \int_{H_M} \left( \sum_{n=0}^{\infty} \frac{f_M(\xi/2^n)}{2^n} \right) d\xi \le 2|H_M|.$$

Hence if (8.45) holds, then we have

(8.47) 
$$|H_M| \ge 1/2.$$

PROPOSITION 8.48. If  $M \in \mathcal{M}_{SB}^{non-FO}$  and  $f_M$  satisfies (8.45) and  $|H_M| = 1/2$ , then

$$f_M = \chi_{\bigcup_{n=0}^{\infty} 2^{-n} H_M}.$$

PROOF. Directly from (8.45) and (8.46).

The following list of examples covers various aspects related to conditions (8.35) and (8.45).

EXAMPLE 8.49. Let  $0 < \varepsilon < 1/2$ . Consider the 1-periodic function M such that  $M|_{[-1/2,1/2)} = \chi_{[\varepsilon-1/2,\varepsilon)}$ . Then  $M \in \mathcal{M}_{SB}^{non-FO}$ ,  $H_M = [2\varepsilon - 1, \varepsilon - 1/2) \cup [\varepsilon, 2\varepsilon)$ ,  $|H_M| = 1/2$ ,  $f_M = \chi_{[2\varepsilon-1,2\varepsilon)}$ , and  $f_M$  satisfies both (8.35) and (8.45). This example is well-known (see, for example, [**HW96**]).

$$\diamond$$

Consider M' from Remark 8.40 with  $\varepsilon \in (0, 1/8]$ . Then  $M' \in \mathcal{M}_{SB}^{non-FO}$ ,  $|H_{M'}| = 2\varepsilon \leq 1/4 < 1/2$  (i.e. (8.45) does not hold), and  $f_{M'} = \chi_{[-2\varepsilon, 2\varepsilon)}$  satisfies (8.35).

EXAMPLE 8.50. Consider the 1-periodic function M such that

$$M|_{[-1/2,1/2)} = \chi_{[0,1/4)} + \frac{1}{2}\chi_{[-1/4,0)\cup[1/4,1/2)}$$

It is not difficult to check that  $M \in \mathcal{M}_{SB}^{non-FO}$ , but  $f_M$  does not satisfy (8.35), since  $f_M(\xi) = 0$  for  $\xi \in (-\infty, 0)$ . Observe also that  $H_M \cap (-\infty, 0) = [-1/2, -1/4)$ . Considering  $[0, \infty)$ , observe that  $f_M(\xi) = 1$  for  $\xi \in [0, 1/2)$ . Using induction over  $n \in \mathbb{N} \cup \{0\}$ , it is not difficult to prove that for  $\xi \in [2^n - 1/2, 2^n)$  we have  $f_M(\xi) = 2^{-(n+1)}$ . Hence

$$\int_{\mathbb{R}} f_M(\xi) d\xi = \frac{1}{2} + \sum_{n=0}^{\infty} \frac{1}{2^{n+1}} \cdot \frac{1}{2} = 1.$$

Using induction we can also show that

$$H_M \cap [0,\infty) = \bigcup_{n=0}^{\infty} [2^n - 1/2, 2^n - 1/4)$$

and

$$|H_M| = \infty.$$

~	
23	
$\sim$	
~	

#### 2. MRA STRUCTURE

## 9. Pre-GMRA Core

We begin with an example. It illustrates the point of view we take in this section.

EXAMPLE 9.1. Consider one of the well-known Lemarié wavelets (see [Lem90] and [HW96]) given by

(9.2) 
$$\psi = \chi_{[-4/7, -2/7) \cup [2/7, 3/7) \cup [12/7, 16/7)}.$$

Observe that  $T_{\alpha}\psi \in \langle \psi \rangle$  for every  $\alpha \in \mathbb{R}$ . Recall that  $\psi$  is a non-MRA orthonormal wavelet (and also an MSF wavelet, see [**HW96**]). Nevertheless, there is a GMRA structure associated with  $\psi$ ; there is a shift-invariant space V such that

$$(9.3) D(V) = V \oplus \langle \psi \rangle$$

Using standard dimensions function techniques (see, for example, [HW96] and  $[\tilde{S}SW08]$ ) it is straightforward to show that V is a "two-dimensional" shift-invariant space since

(9.4)

$$\dim_V(\xi) = \begin{cases} 2 & \text{if } \xi \in [-1/7, 1/7) \\ 1 & \text{if } \xi \in [-1/2, -3/7) \cup [-2/7, -1/7) \cup [1/7, 2/7) \cup [3/7, 1/2) \\ 0 & \text{if } \xi \in [-3/7, -2/7) \cup [2/7, 3/7), \end{cases}$$

V is then the core of the GMRA of  $\psi$ . It may be surprising to see that, despite the fact that  $(D_j(V), j \in \mathbb{Z})$  is a GMRA but not an MRA, we can actually consider this same structure as an MRA by "shifting" the core space. More precisely, consider

$$\psi_0 := \frac{1}{\sqrt{2}} D^{-1} \psi,$$

i.e.

(9.5) 
$$\psi_0 = \chi_{[-2/7, -1/7] \cup [1/7, 3/14] \cup [6/7, 8/7]}.$$

Observe that  $\widehat{\psi_0} \in \langle \psi_0 \rangle \leq V$  and, since  $T_{1/2}\psi \in \langle \psi \rangle$ ,

$$(9.6) D^{-1}(\langle \psi \rangle) = \langle \psi_0 \rangle$$

Furthermore,

(9.7) 
$$\dim_{\langle \psi_0 \rangle} |_{[-1/2,1/2)} = \chi_{[-2/7,3/14)}$$

It follows that the space  $V_0 := V \cap \langle \psi_0 \rangle^{\perp}$  is a shift-invariant space such that

(9.8) 
$$V_0 = D^{-1}(V)$$

and

(9.9) 
$$\dim_{V_0}|_{[-1/2,1/2)} = \chi_{[-1/2,-3/7)\cup[-1/7,1/7)\cup[3/14,2/7)\cup[3/7,1/2)}.$$

We conclude that  $V_0$  generates essentially the same structure as V; more precisely,  $D_{j+1}(V_0) = D_j(V)$  for  $j \in \mathbb{Z}$ . Furthermore, by (9.9) and direct calculation, it follows that  $\psi_0$  is an MRA Parseval frame wavelet (see [**ŠSW08**] for more on Parseval frame wavelets).

The result above is not "an accident", as the following proposition shows.

PROPOSITION 9.10. If  $\psi \in L^2(\mathbb{R})$  is a Parseval frame wavelet such that  $\langle \psi \rangle_{\frac{1}{2}\mathbb{Z}} = \langle \psi \rangle_{\mathbb{Z}}$ , then  $\psi_0 := \frac{1}{\sqrt{2}} D^{-1}(\psi)$  is also a Parseval frame wavelet and  $D^{-1}(\langle \psi \rangle) = \langle \psi_0 \rangle$ .

PROOF. The last statement holds since  $T_{1/2}\psi \in \langle \psi \rangle$ . In order to prove the first part, we need to check that two basic equations hold; see [**ŠSW08**] for details. For the first equation, we have

$$\sum_{j \in \mathbb{Z}} |\widehat{\psi}_0(2^j \xi)|^2 = \frac{1}{2} \sum_{j \in \mathbb{Z}} |\sqrt{2}\widehat{\psi}(2 \cdot 2^j \xi)|^2 = \sum_{j \in \mathbb{Z}} |\widehat{\psi}(2^{j+1}\xi)|^2 = \sum_{j \in \mathbb{Z}} |\widehat{\psi}(2^j \xi)|^2 = 1.$$

For the second equation, recall Lemma 1.3.7. For  $\xi \in \mathbb{R}$  and q an odd integer, we obtain

$$\sum_{j\geq 0} \widehat{\psi_0}(2^j \xi) \overline{\widehat{\psi_0}(2^j (\xi+q))} = \frac{1}{2} \sum_{j\geq 0} \sqrt{2} \widehat{\psi}(2^{j+1} \xi) \overline{\sqrt{2}} \widehat{\psi}(2^{j+1} (\xi+q))$$
$$= \sum_{j\geq 1} \widehat{\psi}(2^j \xi) \overline{\widehat{\psi}(2^j (\xi+q))}$$
$$= \left( \sum_{j\geq 0} \widehat{\psi}(2^j \xi) \overline{\widehat{\psi}(2^j (\xi+q))} \right) - \widehat{\psi}(\xi) \overline{\widehat{\psi}(\xi+q)}$$
$$= 0 - 0$$
$$= 0.$$

REMARK 9.11. (i) Even if  $\psi$  is an orthonormal wavelet,  $\psi_0$  is not going to be one. Observe that  $\|\psi_0\|_2^2 = \frac{1}{2} \|\psi\|_2^2$ , i.e.  $\|\psi_0\|_2^2 \le 1/2$ , always.

- (ii) It is not difficult to extend the above to other powers of 2. However, we will take a somewhat more general approach.
- (iii) If, in the result above, we have a shift-invariant space V such that  $D(V) = V \oplus \langle \psi \rangle$ , then  $V_0 := D^{-1}(V)$  satisfies  $V = D(V_0) = V_0 \oplus \langle \psi_0 \rangle$  and

$$\dim_V(\xi) = \dim_{V_0}(\xi) + \dim_{(\psi_0)}(\xi) \le \dim_{V_0}(\xi) + 1.$$

(iv) If  $\psi$  is of Type 1, then the result above, Propsition 9.10, is not going to be satisfied in many cases. However, compare the result with Theorem 7.21.

We turn our attention to the Type 3 case now; recall that MSF Parseval frame wavelets (and MSF orthonormal wavelets) are of Type 3 (see [ $\mathbf{\check{S}SW08}$ ] and [ $\mathbf{\check{S}W11}$ ]). We shall consider an even more general situation where V may not be a principal space.

THEOREM 9.12. A shift invariant space  $V \leq L^2(\mathbb{R})$  satisfies the property  $T_{\alpha}(V) = V$  for every  $\alpha \in \mathbb{R}$  if and only if there exists a measurable set E such that  $V = L^2(E)^{\vee}$ .

PROOF. The proof of sufficiency follows directly from the fact that the set of support of  $\widehat{f}$  equals the set of support of  $\widehat{T_{\alpha}f}$ . Let us prove the necessity of the given condition.

Suppose that  $V \leq L^2(\mathbb{R})$  is a closed subspace such that  $T_{\alpha}(V) = V$  for every  $\alpha \in \mathbb{R}$ . If V is trivial, there is nothing to prove. Consider any  $\varphi \in V \setminus \{0\}$ . Denote by  $S_{\varphi} := \operatorname{ssupp} \widehat{\varphi}$ . Consider the space  $L^2(\mathbb{R}, |\widehat{\varphi}|^2 d\xi)$ . Obviously,  $m \in L^2(\mathbb{R}, |\widehat{\varphi}|^2 d\xi)$  if and only if  $m \bullet \varphi \in L^2(\mathbb{R})$ . Furthermore,

$$L^{2}(S_{\varphi})^{\vee} = \{ m \bullet \varphi : m \in L^{2}(\mathbb{R}, |\widehat{\varphi}|^{2}d\xi) \}.$$

We claim first that  $m \bullet \varphi \in V$  for every  $m : \mathbb{R} \to \mathbb{C}$  with m continuous with compact support. Take  $\varepsilon > 0$ . There exists N > 0 sufficiently large so that  $m \equiv 0$  outside of [-N/2, N/2] and

(9.13) 
$$\frac{1}{2\|m\|_{\infty}} \left( \int_{\mathbb{R} \setminus [-N/2, N/2]} |\widehat{\varphi}(\xi)|^2 d\xi \right)^{1/2} \le \frac{\varepsilon}{2}$$

By the Stone-Weierstrass theorem, we can choose a trigonometric polynomial  $\mu$  which is N-periodic and

(9.14) 
$$\|\mu|_{[-N/2,N/2]} - m\|_{L^2(\mathbb{R},|\widehat{\varphi}|^2 d\xi)} < \frac{\varepsilon}{2}$$

and

(9.15) 
$$\|\mu\|_{\infty} \le 2\|m\|_{\infty}.$$

From (9.13) through (9.15), it then follows that

$$\|m \bullet \varphi - \mu \bullet \varphi\|_2 = \|\mu - m\|_{L^2(\mathbb{R}, |\widehat{\varphi}|^2 d\xi)} < \varepsilon.$$

Recall that  $\mu$  is a finite linear combination of exponentials,  $e_{k/N}$  for  $k \in \mathbb{Z}$  which are *N*-periodic. By our assumption,  $e_{k/N} \bullet \varphi \in V$  i.e.  $\mu \bullet \varphi \in V$ . Since  $\varepsilon$  was arbitrary and *V* is closed, we obtain  $m \bullet \varphi \in V$ .

Since every  $m \in L^2(\mathbb{R}, |\widehat{\varphi}|^2 d\xi)$  can be approximated via a sequence of continuous, compactly supported functions, and since V is closed, we conclude that, for every  $\varphi \in V \setminus \{0\}$  we have

$$(9.16) L^2(S_{\varphi})^{\vee} \le V.$$

Finally, since V is a shift-invariant space, we know that there exists a countable family  $\{\varphi_i : i \in \mathbb{N}\} \subseteq V$  such that  $\varphi_i + (\chi_{S_{\varphi_{i+1}} \setminus S_{\varphi_i}}) \bullet \varphi_{i+1} \in V$  and  $\langle \{\varphi_i : i \in \mathbb{N}\} \rangle = V$ . It is then not difficult to construct a function  $\psi \in V$  such that  $S_f \subseteq S_{\psi}$ , modulo null sets, for every  $f \in V$ . It follows that  $V \subseteq L^2(S_{\psi})^{\vee} \subseteq V$ , i.e.  $V = L^2(S_{\psi})^{\vee}$ .  $\Box$ 

REMARK 9.17. Consider  $V = L^2(S)^{\vee}$ , where  $S \subseteq \mathbb{R}$  is measurable. Obviously, for every  $j \in \mathbb{Z}$ ,  $V_j := D_j(V) = L^2(2^j S)^{\vee}$ . Hence the property  $V_j \subseteq V_{j+1}$  holds for every  $j \in \mathbb{Z}$  if and only if  $V \subseteq D(V)$  if and only if  $S \subseteq 2S$  (modulo null sets).

If S is bounded, then we can choose  $j_0 \in \mathbb{Z}$  such that  $2^{j_0}S \subseteq [-1/4, 1/4)$ . Obviously in such a case,  $V_{j_0}$  is a principal shift-invariant space generated by  $(\chi_{2^{j_0}S})^{\vee}$  and this is a core space of an MRA Parseval frame wavelet of MSF-type if and only if

$$\mathbb{R} = \bigcup_{j \in \mathbb{Z}} 2^j S \text{ (modulo null sets).}$$

COROLLARY 9.18. Let  $\psi \in L^2(\mathbb{R})$  be an MSF orthonormal wavelet (recall that there is a GMRA structure  $\{V_j\}$  associated with  $\psi$ ). Then, for every  $n \in \mathbb{N}$ , we have  $\psi_n := \frac{1}{2^{n/2}} D_{-n}(\psi)$  is a Parseval frame wavelet associated with the GMRA structure  $\{V_j^n\}$ , where  $V_j^n := V_{j-n}$ . Furthermore, if  $\hat{\psi}$  is compactly supported, then there exists  $n_0 \in \mathbb{N}$  such that  $\psi_{n_0}$  is an MRA Parseval frame wavelet.

PROOF. Since  $\psi$  is an MSF wavelet, it follows that  $T_{\alpha}\psi \in \langle \psi \rangle$  for every  $\alpha \in \mathbb{R}$ . By Proposition 9.10,  $\psi_1$  is a Parseval frame wavelet and  $D_{-1}(\langle \psi \rangle) = \langle \psi_1 \rangle$ . Recall that  $D(V_0) = V_0 \oplus \langle \psi \rangle$ . It follows then, as in Remark 9.11iii, that  $V_{-1} \oplus \langle \psi_1 \rangle = V_0 = D(V_{-1})$ .

#### 9. PRE-GMRA CORE

Recall that, for every  $\alpha \in \mathbb{R}$ , we have that  $T_{\alpha}D_{-1}\psi = D_{-1}T_{\alpha/2}\psi$ . Hence, for every  $\alpha \in \mathbb{R}$ , we have  $T_{\alpha}\psi_1 \in \langle \psi_1 \rangle$ . We can now repeat these steps, going from  $\psi_1$ to  $\psi_2$ , and so on, so that the first part of the theorem follows by induction on n.

If  $\widehat{\psi}$  is compactly supported, then, for  $n_0 \in \mathbb{N}$  sufficiently large, the support of  $\widehat{\psi_{n_0}}$  is contained in [-1/2, 1/2). It follows that  $V_{-n_0}$  is a shift-invariant space contained in  $L^2([-1/2, 1/2))^{\vee}$ . This implies that  $\dim_{V_{-n_0}} \leq 1$ , i.e. that  $V_{-n_0}$  is a principal shift-invariant space. Hence  $D(V_{-n_0}) = V_{-n_0} \oplus \langle \psi_{n_0} \rangle$  and  $\psi_{n_0}$  is an MRA Parseval frame wavelet.

REMARK 9.19. Suppose that we have a GMRA  $\{V_j\}$  such that  $D(V_0) = V_0 \langle \psi \rangle$ and  $\psi \in L^2(\mathbb{R})$  is such that

$$(9.20) T_{1/2}\psi \notin \langle \psi \rangle$$

If this holds, then  $V_{-1} = D^{-1}(V_0)$  is not a shift-invariant space, i.e.  $V_0$  is also a natural core of the GMRA. Observe that we must have  $V_0 = V_{-1} \oplus D^{-1}(\langle \psi \rangle)$ . Hence, it is enough to prove that  $D^{-1}(\langle \psi \rangle)$  is not a shift-invariant space. And, indeed, if it were a shift-invariant space, then we would have

$$D^{-1}(T_{1/2}\psi) = TD^{-1}\psi \in D^{-1}(\langle\psi\rangle),$$

i.e.  $T_{1/2}\psi \in \langle \psi \rangle$ , which clearly contradicts (9.20).

This shows that if we have a Parseval frame wavelet and a shift-invariant space V such that  $D(V) = V \oplus \langle \psi \rangle$ , then we can apply  $D_{-1}$  and obtain the same type of structure if and only if  $T_{1/2}\psi \in \langle \psi \rangle$ . In other words, we can "shift" a core space "one step down". However, if we encounter (9.20) such a procedure cannot continue and we have reached the natural core of the corresponding GMRA structure.

## CHAPTER 3

# Wavelet Structure

# 1. The Space of Negative Dilates

Given  $\psi \in L^2(\mathbb{R})$ , we are interested in the behavior of the "wavelet family",  $\{\psi_{jk} : j, k \in \mathbb{Z}\}$ ; recall the notation from (2.1.2). We begin by introducing some standard notation. For  $\psi \in L^2(\mathbb{R})$ , we denote the "main resolution level" by

(1.1) 
$$W_0 = W_0(\psi) := \langle \psi \rangle.$$

For every  $j \in \mathbb{Z}$ ,

(1.2) 
$$W_j = W_j(\psi) = D_j(W_0) = \overline{\operatorname{span}}\{\psi_{jk} : k \in \mathbb{Z}\}.$$

If  $j \in \mathbb{Z}$  with  $j \ge 0$ , then

(1.3) 
$$W_j(\psi)$$
 is a shift-invariant space,

and its spectral function is

(1.4) 
$$\sigma_{W_j}(\xi) = \begin{cases} \frac{|\widehat{\psi}(\xi/2^j)|^2}{p_{\psi}(\xi/2^j)} & \text{if } \xi/2^j \in U_{\langle\psi\rangle} \\ 0 & \text{otherwise,} \end{cases}$$

and its dimension function is

(1.5) 
$$\dim_{W_j}(\xi) = \sum_{k \in \mathbb{Z}} \sigma_{W_j}(\xi+k) = \sum_{\ell=0}^{2^j-1} \chi_{U_{\langle \psi \rangle}}\left(\frac{\xi+\ell}{2^j}\right).$$

If  $j \in \mathbb{Z}$  and j < 0, then  $W_j(\psi)$  may or may not be a shift-invariant space. More precisely, and using the notation from (II1.2), we have that, for  $j \in \mathbb{Z}$  with j < 0, the following equivalencies hold:

(1.6)  

$$W_j$$
 is a shift-invariant space  $\iff T_{2^j}\psi \in \langle \psi \rangle$   
 $\iff W_j(\psi) = \langle D_j\psi \rangle$   
 $\iff W_j(\psi) = \overline{\operatorname{span}}\{\psi^{jk} : k \in \mathbb{Z}\}$ 

If this is the case, observe that  $W_j(\psi)$  is then a principal shift-invariant space. It follows directly from (1.6) that

(1.7)  $W_j(\psi)$  is a shift-invariant space for every  $j \in \mathbb{Z} \iff \langle \psi \rangle$  is of Type 3.

As we have seen, negative dilate spaces for individual dilate levels often do not preserve shift invariance. It is then natural to consider the space of (all) negative dilates,

(1.8) 
$$V_0(\psi) := \overline{\operatorname{span}}\{\psi_{jk} : j < 0, k \in \mathbb{Z}\}.$$

Again,  $V_0(\psi)$  may or may not be a shift-invariant space. Obviously we will have

(1.9) 
$$V_0(\psi) \text{ is a shift-invariant space } \iff V_0 = \langle D_j \psi : j < 0 \rangle \\ \iff V_0 = \overline{\operatorname{span}} \{ \psi^{jk} : j < 0, k \in \mathbb{Z} \}.$$

REMARK 1.10. The question of the shift-invariance of  $V_0(\psi)$  has been studied by many authors. Let us briefly recall some of the main directions.

- (i) If  $\{\psi_{jk} : j, k \in \mathbb{Z}\}$  is a Riesz basis for  $L^2(\mathbb{R})$ , then there is a complete characterization in the sense of the dual system; it must be of the same form,  $\{\varphi_{jk} : j, k \in \mathbb{Z}\}$  for some  $\varphi \in L^2(\mathbb{R})$  (see [**DH02**], [**Zal99**], and [**KKL01**] for more details).
- (ii) If  $\{\psi_{jk} : j, k \in \mathbb{Z}\}$  is a frame for  $L^2(\mathbb{R})$ , then the characterization issue is significantly more complicated. For a nice overview and several important results, see [**BW03**]. Briefly, the existence of the standard dual frame of the same form will ensure the shift-invariance of  $V_0(\psi)$ . However, this condition is not a necessary one. Furthermore, there are other conditions that may provide (1.9).

This question is also closely related to the question of the period of the frame  $\{\psi_{jk} : j, k \in \mathbb{Z}\}$  introduced by I. Daubechies and B. Han; see [**DH02**] and [**BW03**].

(iii) Systems of the form  $\{\psi_{jk} : j, k \in \mathbb{Z}\}$  are known as *affine systems*, while systems of the form

(1.11) 
$$\{\psi_{jk} : j \ge 0, k \in \mathbb{Z}\} \cup \{\psi^{jk} : j < 0, k \in \mathbb{Z}\}$$

are known as *quasi-affine systems*. They were introduced by A. Ron and Z. Shen in [**RS97**] (see also [**CSS98**], [**CS94**], and [**BW03**]). Let us mention that M. Bownik and E. Weber ([**BW03**]) prove that a system of the form (1.11) which is also a frame has canonical dual of the same form (i.e. form (1.11)) if and only if, for every  $q \in 2\mathbb{Z} + 1$  for almost every  $\xi \in \mathbb{R}$ ,

(1.12) 
$$\sum_{j=0}^{\infty} \widehat{\psi}(2^j \xi) \overline{\widehat{\psi}(2^j (\xi+q))} = 0$$

Recall that (1.12) is the " $t_q$  equation" which plays a crucial role in the characterization of orthonormal wavelets and Parseval frame wavelets — see Chapter 7 in [**HW96**] for details.

(iv) If  $\psi \in L^2(\mathbb{R})$  is a Parseval frame wavelet, then  $V_0(\psi)$  is a shift-invariant space. This is a well-known result of L. Baggett; see the nice survey in [**Bow08**].

Let us denote by

(1.13)  $\mathcal{V}_{SIS} := \{ \psi \in L^2(\mathbb{R}) : V_0(\psi) \text{ is a shift-invariant space} \}.$ 

Observe that [**ŠSW08**, p.268–269] shows that for  $\psi \in L^2(\mathbb{R})$ , we have

(1.14) 
$$V_0(\psi) \text{ is a shift-invariant space} \Rightarrow T_{1/2}D_j\psi \in \langle D_\ell\psi : \ell \leq 0 \rangle$$
for every  $j \in \mathbb{Z}, j \leq 0$ .

Consider now  $\psi \in L^2(\mathbb{R})$  such that  $V_0(\psi)$  is a shift-invariant space. It follows then that

(1.15) 
$$V_0(\psi) \le V_0(\psi) + \langle \psi \rangle = D(V_0(\psi)).$$

Observe that the sum in (1.15) is not necessarily an orthogonal one. Actually, our functions now split into two very different classes. Consider first  $\psi \in \mathcal{V}_{SIS}$  such that

(1.16)  $\psi \in V_0(\psi).$ 

This property is equivalent to

(1.17) 
$$D(V_0(\psi)) = V_0(\psi).$$

REMARK 1.18. Recall (2.7.11), (2.7.12), and Example 2.7.13 for the description of such principal shift-invariant spaces that satisfy (2.7.11). Clearly, our class of spaces satisfying (1.17) is a subclass of those spaces. In particular, if  $\psi \neq 0$ , then (1.16) implies

(1.19) 
$$\dim_{V_0(\psi)} \equiv \infty$$

As it turns out,  $\{\psi_{jk} : j, k \in \mathbb{Z}\}$  can have a variety of complicated structures and it may well be that (1.16) could possibly hold. M. Bownik and Z. Rzeszotnik, in [**BR05**], constructed examples of functions  $\psi_{\delta} \in L^2(\mathbb{R})$  with  $\delta > 0$  such that  $\{(\psi_{\delta})_{jk} : j, k \in \mathbb{Z}\}$  is a frame for  $L^2(\mathbb{R})$  with frame bounds 1 and  $1 + \delta$  such that

(1.20) 
$$V_0(\psi_\delta) = L^2(\mathbb{R}).$$

Observe that (1.15) shows that, for every  $\psi \in \mathcal{V}_{SIS}$ ,

(1.21) 
$$\{V_j(\psi) := D_j(V_0(\psi)) : j \in \mathbb{Z}\}$$

is a pre-GMRA. If, in addition,  $\psi$  satisfies (1.16), then

(1.22) 
$$V_{-\infty}(\psi) = V_0(\psi) = V_{\infty}(\psi)$$

observe that even (1.20) is possible. In particular, assuming  $\psi \neq 0$ , we get from (1.16) that

(1.23) 
$$\bigcap_{j\in\mathbb{Z}} D_j(V_0(\psi)) \neq \{0\}.$$

REMARK 1.24. Given a pre-GMRA (in the general sense) it is natural to ask about the relationship of properties analogous to (1.16), (1.19), and (1.23). Using **[Bow08]**, **[Bow09]** (see also Remark 2.7.16) we have, assuming  $V_0 \neq \{0\}$ ,

$$D(V_0) = V_0 \Rightarrow \bigcap_{j \in \mathbb{Z}} D_j(V_0) \neq \{0\} \Rightarrow \dim_{V_0} \equiv \infty,$$

and none of the reversed implications are true.

What happens if we restrict ourselves to pre-GMRAS  $\{V_j : j \in \mathbb{Z}\}$  given in (1.21)? Obviously, the given implications remain true. The first implication cannot be reversed since M. Bownik constructed in [**Bow08**] an example of a  $\psi \in L^2(\mathbb{R})$  such that  $\psi \notin V_0(\psi)$  such that  $\psi$  satisfies (1.23) and  $\{\psi_{jk} : j, k \in \mathbb{Z}\}$  is a frame for  $L^2(\mathbb{R})$ . The question of whether

$$\dim_{V_0(\psi)} \equiv \infty \Rightarrow \bigcap_{j \in \mathbb{Z}} D_j(V_0(\psi)) \neq \{0\}$$

is, as far as we know, open at this time.

If we restrict ourselves to the case of  $\psi$  belonging to the class of Parseval frame wavelets, then it has been shown in [**ŠSW08**] that

(1.25) 
$$\psi \in V_0(\psi) \iff V_0(\psi) = L^2(\mathbb{R}).$$

Whether any of the implications can be reversed is, as far as we know, an open problem. Actually, even more basic questions remain open as well. Considering all three properties, (1.16), (1.19), and (1.23), is there a Parseval frame wavelet which satisfies at least one of these conditions? This question applied to (1.23) is known as the Baggett problem; see [**Bow08**] for details.

Let us turn our attention to the second important class. Consider  $\psi_0 \in \mathcal{V}_{\rm SIS}$  such that

(1.26) 
$$\psi_0 \notin V_0(\psi_0).$$

Consider the space  $U_0 := V_1(\psi_0) \cap V_0(\psi_0)^{\perp}$ . By (1.26),  $U_0$  is a non-trivial shiftinvariant space, and it is easy to see that  $\sigma_{U_0} \leq \sigma_{\langle \psi_0 \rangle}$ ; hence  $\dim_{U_0} \leq \dim_{\langle \psi_0 \rangle} \leq 1$ . Hence,  $U_0$  is a principal shift-invariant space, and there exists a function  $\psi \in L^2(\mathbb{R})$ such that

(1.27) 
$$U_0 = \langle \psi \rangle$$
 and  $\mathcal{B}_{\psi}$  is a Parseval frame for  $\langle \psi \rangle$ .

Hence

(1.28) 
$$V_1(\psi_0) = V_0(\psi_0) \oplus \langle \psi \rangle$$

and  $\psi \neq 0$ . Since D is a unitary operator, we obtain that, for every  $j \in \mathbb{N}$ ,

(1.29) 
$$V_j(\psi_0) = V_0(\psi_0) \oplus \left(\bigoplus_{\ell=1}^j W_\ell(\psi)\right).$$

Observe that, despite this property, it can happen that  $\dim_{V_0(\psi)} \equiv \infty$ ; we can even have that  $\{(\psi_0)_{jk} : j, k \in \mathbb{Z}\}$  is a frame for  $L^2(\mathbb{R})$  (see Remark 1.24). However, we have the following result which generalizes slightly some well-known results for GMRAs and Parseval frame wavelets.

PROPOSITION 1.30. Let  $\{V_j : j \in \mathbb{Z}\}$  be a pre-GMRA and  $\psi \in L^2(\mathbb{R}) \setminus \{0\}$  such that  $\mathcal{B}_{\psi}$  is a Parseval frame for  $\psi$ . If

(i)  $V_1 = V_0 \oplus \langle \psi \rangle$ , and

(*ii*)  $|\{\xi \in \mathbb{R} : \dim_{V_0}(\xi) < \infty\}| > 0$ ,

then  $V_{-\infty} = \{0\}, \dim_{V_0} < \infty$  almost everywhere,  $V_{\infty} = \bigoplus_{j \in \mathbb{Z}} W_j(\psi)$ , and

$$\sigma_{V_0}(\xi) = \sum_{j=1}^{\infty} |\widehat{\psi}(2^j \xi)|^2.$$

If this is the case, then the following are equivalent:

- (a)  $\{V_i\}$  is a GMRA;
- (b)  $\{\psi_{jk} : j, k \in \mathbb{Z}\}$  is a semiorthogonal Parseval frame wavelet;
- (c) For almost every  $\xi \in \mathbb{R}$ ,  $\sum_{j \in \mathbb{Z}} |\widehat{\psi}(2^j \xi)|^2 = 1$ .

PROOF. By Proposition 2.7.10 we conclude that  $\dim_{V_0} < \infty$  almost everywhere. By the Bownik theorem [**Bow09**] we have  $V_{-\infty} = \{0\}$ . This and a property analogous to (1.29) leads to  $V_{\infty} = \bigoplus_{j \in \mathbb{Z}} W_j(\psi)$ .

Regarding the spectral function, observe that, for almost every  $\xi \in \mathbb{R}$ , we have (by a standard argument)

(1.31) 
$$1 \ge \sigma_{V_0}(\xi) = \sigma_{V_1}(2\xi) = \sigma_{V_0}(2\xi) + \sigma_{\langle\psi\rangle}(2\xi) \\ = \sigma_{V_0}(2\xi) + |\widehat{\psi}(2\xi)|^2.$$

Using the recursion, boundedness, and monotonicity in (1.31), it follows by a standard argument that, for almost every  $\xi \in \mathbb{R}$ ,

$$1 \ge \sigma_{V_0}(\xi) = H(\xi) + \sum_{j=1}^{\infty} |\widehat{\psi}(2^j \xi)|^2$$

where  $H(\xi) = \lim_{N \to \infty} \sigma_{V_0}(2^N \xi)$ . In particular,  $H : \mathbb{R} \to [0, 1]$  is a measurable function such that, for almost every  $\xi \in \mathbb{R}$ ,  $H(\xi) = H(2\xi)$ . We wish to prove that  $H(\xi) = 0$  almost everywhere. Suppose, to the contrary, that  $|\{\xi \in \mathbb{R} : H(\xi) > 0\}| > 0$ . Then there exists a  $\delta > 0$  such that the set  $A := \{\xi \in I : H(\xi) \ge \delta\}$  has positive measure. It is then obvious that we can form infinitely many sets  $(A_i : i \in \mathbb{N})$  such that they are disjoint, that  $\bigcup_{i \in \mathbb{N}} A_i \subseteq A$ , and  $|A_i| > 0$ , for every  $i \in \mathbb{N}$ . Using now Lemma 2.2.31, we conclude that  $E_{A_i} = \mathbb{R}$  almost everywhere for each  $i \in \mathbb{N}$ . It follows that, for almost every  $\xi \in \mathbb{R}$ ,  $H(\xi + k) \ge \delta$  for infinitely many  $k \in \mathbb{Z}$ . Since

$$\dim_{V_0}(\xi) = \sum_{k \in \mathbb{Z}} \sigma_{V_0}(\xi + k) \ge \sum_{k \in \mathbb{Z}} H(\xi + k) = \infty \text{ almost everywhere,}$$

we obtain a contradiction with (ii). Hence  $H \equiv 0$  almost everywhere, which implies that  $\sigma_{V_0}(\xi) = \sum_{j=1}^{\infty} |\hat{\psi}(2^j \xi)|^2$ , which leads to

(1.32) 
$$\sigma_{V_{\infty}}(\xi) = \sum_{j \in \mathbb{Z}} |\widehat{\psi}(2^{j}\xi)|^{2} \text{ almost everywhere.}$$

Hence  $V_{\infty} = L^2(\mathbb{R})$  if and only if

$$\sum_{j \in \mathbb{Z}} |\widehat{\psi}(2^j \xi)|^2 = 1 \text{ almost everywhere.}$$

The rest of the proof is now straightforward.

Hence, if we are in a fairly "non-extreme" case, i.e.  $\psi_0 \in \mathcal{V}_{SIS}$  with  $\psi_0 \notin V_0(\psi)$  and  $\dim_{V_0(\psi)} \neq \infty$  then, in theory, we obtain a nice pre-GMRA structure in standard form.

# 2. Orthogonality

Orthogonal structures are perhaps the most thoroughly studied among wavelet structures. We briefly revisit some of the results from a slightly different point of view. For every  $\psi \in L^2(\mathbb{R})$  we have (recall also results from [**HW96**])

(2.1) 
$$\langle \psi \rangle \perp \langle D\psi \rangle \iff \sum_{k \in \mathbb{Z}} \widehat{\psi}\left(\frac{\xi+k}{2}\right) \overline{\widehat{\psi}(\xi+k)} = 0 \text{ almost everywhere,}$$

and

(2.2) 
$$\langle \psi \rangle \perp \langle DT\psi \rangle \iff \sum_{k \in \mathbb{Z}} (-1)^k \widehat{\psi} \left(\frac{\xi+k}{2}\right) \overline{\widehat{\psi}(\xi+k)} = 0$$
 almost everywhere.

It is not difficult to check (and it is well-known, for example see [**HW96**]) that (2.3)

$$\begin{split} \langle D\psi \rangle \perp \langle \psi \rangle \perp \langle DT\psi \rangle \iff \langle \psi \rangle \perp D(\langle \psi \rangle) \\ \iff \sum_{k \in \mathbb{Z}} \widehat{\psi}(2(\xi+k))\overline{\widehat{\psi}(\xi+k)} = 0 \text{ almost everywhere.} \end{split}$$

Since  $D_j$  is an orthogonal operator, it is obvious that (2.3) is equivalent to

(2.4) 
$$D_j(\langle\psi\rangle) = W_j(\psi) \perp D_{j+1}(\langle\psi\rangle) = W_{j+1}(\psi),$$

for every  $j \in \mathbb{Z}$ . Following (1.7), we examine first the special case where  $\langle \psi \rangle$  is of Type 3.

Consider  $\psi \in L^2(\mathbb{R})$  such that  $\langle \psi \rangle$  is of Type 3. Recall (see (1.3.5)) that in this case there exists an almost everywhere-measurable partition of [0, 1), say  $\{A_k : k \in \mathbb{Z}\}$  such that

(2.5) 
$$\operatorname{ssupp} \widehat{\psi} \subseteq \bigcup_{k \in \mathbb{Z}} (A_k + k).$$

If we denote, for every  $k \in \mathbb{Z}$ , the set  $B_k$  by

(2.6) 
$$B_k := \operatorname{ssupp} \,\widehat{\psi} \cap (A_k + k),$$

then  $B := \bigcup_{k \in \mathbb{Z}} B_k$  = ssupp  $\widehat{\psi}$ . In particular, if  $g \in L^2(\mathbb{R})$  is such that  $\widehat{g} = \chi_B$ , then

(2.7) 
$$\langle \psi \rangle = \langle g \rangle,$$

and  $\mathcal{B}_g$  is a Parseval frame for  $\langle \psi \rangle$ . Observe also that in this case (2.3) is equivalent to

(2.8) For almost every 
$$\xi \in \mathbb{R}$$
, if  $\widehat{\psi}(\xi) \neq 0$ , then  $\widehat{\psi}(2\xi) = 0$ 

REMARK 2.9. Observe that, even in this case, having  $W_{-1}(\psi) \perp W_0(\psi) \perp W_1(\psi)$  does not necessarily ensure that  $W_{-1}(\psi)$  is orthogonal to  $W_1(\psi)$ . Indeed, take  $\psi \in L^2(\mathbb{R})$  such that

$$\widehat{\psi} = \chi_{[1/8, 1/4) \cup [1/2, 1)}.$$

It is obvious that  $\langle \psi \rangle$  is of Type 3 and that  $\psi$  satisfies (2.8). However,  $W_{-1}(\psi)$  is not orthogonal to  $W_1(\psi)$  since

$$\widehat{D_{-1}\psi} = \sqrt{2}\chi_{[1/16,1/8)\cup[1/4,1/2)}$$
 and  $\widehat{D\psi} = \frac{1}{\sqrt{2}}\chi_{[1/4,1/2)\cup[1,2)}$ .

Therefore, even in this case, we need the full scope of the orthogonality property. More precisely, it follows easily from [**HW96**, p. 102] that, for every  $\psi \in L^2(\mathbb{R})$ ,

(2.10) 
$$\langle \psi \rangle \perp D_n(\langle \psi \rangle)$$
 for every  $n \in \mathbb{N}$ 

if and only if

(2.11) 
$$W_j(\psi) \perp W_k(\psi) \text{ for all } j, k \in \mathbb{Z}, j \neq k$$

if and only if, for every  $n \in \mathbb{N}$  and for almost every  $\xi \in \mathbb{R}$ ,

(2.12) 
$$\sum_{k \in \mathbb{Z}} \widehat{\psi}(2^n(\xi+k))\overline{\widehat{\psi}(\xi+k)} = 0$$

Observe that (2.12) is one of the four characterizing equations for the orthonormal wavelet (see [**HW96**, Ch. 7]). Nevertheless, the analysis of the Type 3 case is simpler, since every  $\psi \in L^2(\mathbb{R})$  such that  $\langle \psi \rangle$  is of Type 3 satisfies the " $t_q$ -equation" given in (1.12).
We shall say that  $\psi \in L^2(\mathbb{R})$  is a semiorthogonal pre-wavelet if  $\psi$  satisfies (2.11). Hence, if  $\psi \in L^2(\mathbb{R})$  is a semiorthogonal pre-wavelet and  $\langle \psi \rangle$  is of Type 3, then  $\psi$  satisfies two of the characterizing equations for orthonormal wavelets. Furthermore, if  $\psi = g$  (g as described in (2.7)), then the more general version of the third equation is satisfied as well, i.e., for almost every  $\xi \in \mathbb{R}$ ,

(2.13) 
$$\sum_{k \in \mathbb{Z}} |\widehat{\psi}(\xi + k)|^2 = 0 \text{ or } 1.$$

Obviously, the orthogonality properties of  $W_j(\psi)$  spaces in the Type 3 case, as they relate to the wavelet structure, are going to depend mainly on the fourth equation. Observe that (1.7) ensures that, in this case, we cannot have  $\dim_{V_0(\psi)} \equiv \infty$ .

LEMMA 2.14. If  $\psi \in L^2(\mathbb{R})$  is a semiorthogonal pre-wavelet such that  $\langle \psi \rangle$  is of Type 3, then  $\dim_{V_0} < \infty$  almost everywhere.

PROOF. By (1.7),  $W_j(\psi)$  is a principal shift-invariant space for every  $j \in \mathbb{Z}$ . By (2.11) we have that

$$\bigoplus_{j<0} W_j(\psi)$$

is a shift-invariant space which contains all  $D_j \psi$  for j < 0. Using (1.9) we conclude that  $V_0(\psi)$  is a shift-invariant space and

(2.15) 
$$V_0(\psi) = \bigoplus_{j<0} W_j(\psi).$$

By (1.7) again, we have

$$\sigma_{V_0(\psi)} = \sum_{j < 0} \sigma_{W_j(\psi)}.$$

By taking  $g := \left(\frac{1}{\sqrt{p_{\psi}}}\chi_{U_{\langle\psi\rangle}}\right) \bullet \psi$ , we obtain that, for almost every  $\xi \in \mathbb{R}$ ,

$$\sigma_{V_0(\psi)}(\xi) = \sum_{j=1}^{\infty} |\widehat{g}(2^j \xi)|^2.$$

It follows then that (see  $[\mathbf{\check{S}SW08}, (27)]$ )

$$\int_0^1 \dim_{V_0(\psi)}(\xi) d\xi = \int_0^1 \sum_{j=1}^\infty \sum_{k \in \mathbb{Z}} |\widehat{g}(2^j(\xi+k))|^2 d\xi = \|\widehat{g}\|_2^2 < \infty$$

Hence we conclude that  $\dim_{V_0(\psi)}$  must be finite almost everywhere.

It is now straightforward to describe completely the structure of  $\{\psi_{jk} : j, k \in \mathbb{Z}\}$  for functions  $\psi$  for which  $\langle \psi \rangle$  is of Type 3. Observe that this completely covers the "MSF-case" orthogonality properties.

THEOREM 2.16. Let  $\psi \in L^2(\mathbb{R})$  and let  $K := ssupp(\widehat{\psi})$ .

- (a)  $\langle \psi \rangle$  is of Type 3 if and only if  $\{K + k : k \in \mathbb{Z}\}$  is an almost everywhere-disjoint family. If  $\langle \psi \rangle$  is of Type 3, then  $\mathcal{B}_{\psi}$  is a Parseval frame for  $\langle \psi \rangle$  if and only if  $\widehat{\psi} = \chi_K$ .
- (b) If  $\langle \psi \rangle$  is of Type 3, then  $\psi$  is a semiorthogonal pre-wavelet if and only if  $\{2^{j}K : j \in \mathbb{Z}\}$  is an almost everywhere disjoint family. If  $\langle \psi \rangle$  is of Type 3 and  $\psi$  is a semiorthogonal pre-wavelet, then the following properties hold:
  - $V_0(\psi)$  is a shift-invariant space.

- $\dim_{V_0(\psi)} < \infty$  almost everywhere.
- $\{V_j : j \in \mathbb{Z}\}$  is a pre-GMRA.
- $V_j(\psi)$  is shift-invariant space for every  $j \in \mathbb{Z}$ .
- $V_j(\psi) = \bigoplus_{\ell=-\infty}^{j-1} W_\ell(\psi)$  for every  $j \in \mathbb{Z}$ .  $V_{-\infty}(\psi) = \{0\}$ .
- $V_{-\infty}(\psi) = \{0\}.$   $V_{\infty}(\psi) = L^2(\bigcup_{j \in \mathbb{Z}} 2^j K)^{\vee}.$   $\sigma_{V_j}(\psi) = \sum_{\ell=j+1}^{\infty} \chi_K(2^{\ell} \cdot) = \chi_{\bigcup_{\ell=j+1}^{\infty} 2^{-\ell} K} \text{ for every } j \in \mathbb{Z}.$   $\sigma_{V_{\infty}}(\psi) = \chi_{\bigcup_{j \in \mathbb{Z}} 2^j K}.$   $\dim_{V_0(\psi)} = \sum_{j < 0} \chi_{\bigcup_{k \in \mathbb{Z}} (2^j K + k)}.$
- (c) If  $\langle \psi \rangle$  is of Type 3 and  $\psi$  is a semiorthogonal pre-wavelet, then  $\psi$  is a Parseval frame wavelet if and only if, for almost every  $\xi \in \mathbb{R}$ ,

(2.17) 
$$\sum_{j \in \mathbb{Z}} |\widehat{\psi}(2^{j}\xi)|^{2} = 1.$$

If this is the case, then  $\widehat{\psi} = \chi_K$  (i.e.  $\psi$  is of MSF type),  $\{2^j K : j \in \mathbb{Z}\}$  is an almost everywhere partition of  $\mathbb{R}$ , and  $\{V_i(\psi) : j \in \mathbb{Z}\}$  is a GMRA. Furthermore, these last two conditions are equivalent and are equivalent to  $(\chi_K)^{\vee}$ being a Parseval frame wavelet.

(d) If  $\langle \psi \rangle$  is of Type 3 and  $\psi$  is a semiorthogonal Parseval frame wavelet, then  $\psi$  is an orthonormal wavelet if and only if  $\{K + k : k \in \mathbb{Z}\}$  is an almost everywhere partition of  $\mathbb{R}$ . If  $\langle \psi \rangle$  is of Type 3 and  $\psi$  is a semiorthogonal pre-wavelet, then  $\psi$  is an orthonormal wavelet if and only if, for almost every  $\xi \in \mathbb{R}$ ,

$$\sum_{k\in\mathbb{Z}}|\widehat{\psi}(\xi+k)|^2 = 1 \ and \ \sum_{j\in\mathbb{Z}}|\widehat{\psi}(2^j\xi)|^2 = 1$$

REMARK 2.18. If we combine the previous theorem with Proposition 2.9.10. then we conclude that the choice of GMRA structures is perhaps somewhat more limited than one may expect.

First of all, if  $\psi \in L^2(\mathbb{R})$  is such that  $\widehat{\psi} = \chi_K$  and  $\psi$  is an MSF Parseval frame wavelet, then, for every  $n \in \mathbb{N}, \psi_n := 2^{-n/2} D_{-n}(\psi)$  is an MSF Parseval frame wavelet. Furthermore, they share essentially the same GMRA  $\{V_j : j \in \mathbb{Z}\}$ , except that the core space for the " $\psi_n$ -GMRA" is "shifted" to  $V_{-n}(\psi)$ .

Secondly, recall that every orthonormal wavelet,  $\eta$ , is associated with a GMRA  $\{V_i(\eta): j \in \mathbb{Z}\}$ . Furthermore, for every such GMRA, there exists an MSF wavelet  $\psi$  such that  $\dim_{V_0(\eta)} = \dim_{V_0(\psi)}$ . If, in addition,  $\widehat{\psi}$  is compactly supported, then there exists an MRA Parseval frame wavelet which generates essentially the same GMRA. More precisely, there is an MRA Parseval frame wavelet pseudo-scaling function  $\varphi$  (see [**PŠWX01**], [**PŠWX03**], [**ŠSW08**] for details) and  $n \in \mathbb{N}$  such that  $V_0(\psi) = D_n(\langle \varphi \rangle).$ 

When considering functions  $\psi \in L^2(\mathbb{R})$  such that  $\langle \psi \rangle$  is of Type 1 or of Type 2, several aspects of the above construction change. Some of the issues are illustrated in the following example.

EXAMPLE 2.19. Consider  $\psi_0 \in L^2(\mathbb{R})$  such that

$$\psi_0 = \chi_{[-2,-1)} + \chi_{[1,2)},$$

and  $\psi_1 \in L^2(\mathbb{R})$  such that

$$\hat{\psi}_1 = -\chi_{[-2,-1)} + \chi_{[1,2)}.$$

Observe that  $\mathcal{T}_{\langle\psi_0\rangle} = \mathcal{T}_{\langle\psi_1\rangle} = \{3\}$ , i.e. both  $\langle\psi_0\rangle$  and  $\langle\psi_1\rangle$  are of Type 2. Furthermore, we have that  $\psi_0$  (and  $\psi_1$ , for that matter) is a semiorthogonal prewavelet. Notice that  $\langle\psi_0\rangle \perp \langle\psi_1\rangle$ , that, for every  $j \in \mathbb{Z}$ ,  $W_j(\psi_0) \perp \langle\psi_1\rangle$ , and that  $T_{1/2}\psi_0 \in \langle\psi_1\rangle$ . To understand this example, it is useful to notice that

$$L^{2}([-2,-1)\cup[1,2))^{\vee}=\langle\psi_{0}\rangle\oplus\langle\psi_{1}\rangle$$

and

$$\dim_{\langle \psi_0 \rangle} \equiv 1 \equiv \dim_{\langle \psi_1 \rangle}.$$

It follows that

$$V_0(\psi_0) = \bigoplus_{\ell = -\infty}^{-1} W_\ell(\psi)$$

and

(2.20) 
$$T_{1/2}\psi_0 \notin V_0(\psi_0).$$

It follows (consult (1.14)) that  $V_0(\psi_0)$  is not a shift-invariant space. Moreover, by essentially the same argument, none of the spaces  $D_j(V_0(\psi_0))$ , for  $j \in \mathbb{Z}$  are shiftinvariant spaces (despite the fact that  $D(V_0(\psi_0)) = V_0(\psi_0) \oplus \langle \psi_0 \rangle$ ). Even the space  $\bigoplus_{j \in \mathbb{Z}} W_j(\psi_0)$  is not a shift-invariant space.

Observe also that  $\mathcal{B}_{\psi}$  is an orthonormal basis for  $\langle \psi_0 \rangle$ , where

$$\psi := \frac{1}{\sqrt{2}} \bullet \psi_0.$$

Moreover,  $\{\psi_{jk} : j, k \in \mathbb{Z}\}$  is an orthonormal system (see [**HW96**, p.100–103]) and, for almost every  $\xi \in \mathbb{R}$ ,

$$\frac{1}{2} = \sum_{j \in \mathbb{Z}} |\widehat{\psi}(2^j \xi)|^2 > 0.$$

Still,  $V_0(\psi) = V_0(\psi_0)$  is not a shift-invariant space. Notice also that  $\psi_0$  and  $\psi$  do not satisfy the " $t_q$ -equation" for q = 3.

 $\diamond$ 

Going beyond the Type 3 case, let us observe a few simple details. Consider a semiorthogonal pre-wavelet  $\psi_0$  and define  $\psi \in L^2(\mathbb{R})$  by

(2.21) 
$$\psi := \left(\frac{1}{\sqrt{p_{\psi_0}}}\chi_{U_{\langle\psi_0\rangle}}\right) \bullet \psi_0$$

Then  $\psi$  is a semiorthogonal pre-wavelet,  $\langle \psi \rangle = \langle \psi_0 \rangle$ , and  $\mathcal{B}_{\psi}$  is a Parseval frame for  $\langle \psi_0 \rangle$ . By a slight abuse of notation, for  $j \in \mathbb{Z}$ , we define a closed subspace,

(2.22) 
$$V_j := \bigoplus_{\ell = -\infty}^{j-1} W_\ell(\psi).$$

It follows that  $DV_j = V_{j+1}$  for every  $j \in \mathbb{Z}$ , but  $V_0$  is not(!) necessarily a shift-invariant space. Let us also define two more closed subspaces:

(2.23)  
$$V_{\infty} := \bigoplus_{j \in \mathbb{Z}} W_j(\psi), \text{ and}$$
$$U_0 := \bigoplus_{j=0}^{\infty} W_j(\psi).$$

Notice that  $U_0$  is a shift-invariant space (and, therefore,  $U_0^{\perp}$  is also a shift-invariant space), but  $V_{\infty}$  may or may not be a shift-invariant space. Furthermore,

$$(2.24) V_0 = V_\infty \cap U_0^\perp.$$

The following statement is now a straightforward consequence.

LEMMA 2.25. If  $\psi_0 \in L^2(\mathbb{R})$  is a semiorthogonal pre-wavelet and  $\psi$  is defined by (2.21), then the following are equivalent.

- (a)  $V_0$  is a shift-invariant space;
- (b)  $V_{\infty}$  is a shift-invariant space; (c)  $V_0 = \langle D_j \psi : j \in \mathbb{Z}, j < 0 \rangle$ ;
- (c)  $V_0 = \langle D_j \psi : j \in \mathbb{Z}, j < 0 \rangle$ ; (d)  $\langle D_j \psi : j \in \mathbb{Z}, j < 0 \rangle \subseteq V_{\infty}$ .
- $(a) \quad (\Delta f) \neq (f) \in \Delta f, f \in \mathcal{O}, f \in \mathcal{O}, f \in \mathcal{O}$

Observe also that for  $\psi$  given by (2.21), we have, for almost every  $\xi \in \mathbb{R}$ ,

(2.26) 
$$\sigma_{U_0}(\xi) = \sum_{j=-\infty}^{0} |\widehat{\psi}(2^j \xi)|^2.$$

It follows that, for almost every  $\xi \in \mathbb{R}$ ,

(2.27) 
$$\sum_{j\in\mathbb{Z}} |\widehat{\psi}(2^j\xi)|^2 \le 1$$

Furthermore, since  $\mathcal{B}_{\psi}$  is a Parseval frame for  $\langle \psi \rangle$  and D is a unitary operator, it is not difficult to see that

(2.28) 
$$\{\psi_{jk} : j, k \in \mathbb{Z}\}$$
 is a Parseval frame for  $V_{\infty}$ 

THEOREM 2.29. Let  $\psi_0 \in L^2(\mathbb{R})$  be a semiorthogonal pre-wavelet and let  $\psi$  be defined by (2.21). If  $\psi$  satisfies (1.12) — the " $t_q$  equation" — and, for almost every  $\xi \in \mathbb{R}$ ,

(2.30) 
$$\sum_{j \in \mathbb{Z}} |\widehat{\psi}(2^j \xi)|^2 = 0 \text{ or } 1,$$

then  $V_0 = V_0(\psi) = V_0(\psi_0)$  is a shift-invariant space and, for almost every  $\xi \in \mathbb{R}$ ,

$$\sigma_{V_0(\psi)}(\xi) = \sum_{j=1}^{\infty} |\widehat{\psi}(2^j \xi)|^2;$$

moreover,  $V_{\infty} = V_{\infty}(\psi) = V_{\infty}(\psi_0) = L^2(E)^{\vee}$ , where

$$E:=\{\xi\in\mathbb{R}:\sum_{j\in\mathbb{Z}}|\widehat{\psi}(2^{j}\xi)|^{2}=1\}.$$

Furthermore,  $\psi$  is a semiorthogonal Parseval frame wavelet (for  $L^2(\mathbb{R})$ ) if and only if  $E = \mathbb{R}$  up to a null set.

PROOF. Using a standard argument from [HW96, p.338–342] we can show that for every f in a dense subset of  $L^2(R)^{\vee}$  we have

$$\begin{split} \|f\|_{2}^{2} &= \int_{\mathbb{R}} |\widehat{f}(\xi)|^{2} \left( \sum_{j \in \mathbb{Z}} |\widehat{\psi}(2^{j}\xi)|^{2} \right) d\xi \\ &= \int_{\mathbb{R}} |\widehat{f}(\xi)|^{2} \left( \sum_{j \in \mathbb{Z}} |\widehat{\psi}(2^{j}\xi)|^{2} \right) d\xi + \int_{\mathbb{R}} \overline{\widehat{f}(\xi)} \left( \sum_{p \in \mathbb{Z}} \sum_{q \in 2\mathbb{Z}+1} \widehat{f}(\xi + 2^{p}q) t_{q}(2^{-p}\xi) \right) d\xi \\ &= \sum_{j,k \in \mathbb{Z}} |\langle f, \psi_{jk} \rangle|^{2}. \end{split}$$

Hence  $\{\psi_{jk} : j, k \in \mathbb{Z}\}$  is a Parseval frame for  $L^2(E)^{\vee}$ . In particular,  $L^2(E)^{\vee} \subseteq V_{\infty}$ , and, obviously,  $V_{\infty} = V_{\infty}(\psi) = V_{\infty}(\psi_0)$  is a shift-invariant space. By Lemma 2.25,  $V_0 = V_0(\psi) = V_0(\psi_0)$  is a shift-invariant space as well. Using a standard argument (see [**PŠWX01**], [**PŠWX03**], [**ŠSW08**]) we obtain that, for almost every  $\xi \in \mathbb{R}$ ,

(2.31) 
$$\dim_{V_0(\psi)}(\xi) = \sum_{j=1}^{\infty} \sum_{k \in \mathbb{Z}} |\widehat{\psi}(2^j(\xi+k))|^2.$$

Integrating both sides over [0, 1] leads to  $\dim_{V_0(\psi)}$  being finite almost everywhere. It now follows immediately that, for almost every  $\xi \in \mathbb{R}$ ,

$$\sigma_{V_0(\psi)}(\xi) = \sum_{j=1}^{\infty} |\widehat{\psi}(2^j \xi)|^2.$$

The last statement of this theorem is now obvious.

A natural question is now whether (1.12) (the " $t_q$  equation") and (2.30) (let us call it the "generalized Calderón condition") are also necessary. In the case of a Parseval frame wavelet, the answer is well known and positive (see [**HW96**, Section 7]). The issue is a bit subtler when we consider it in greater generality. In the Parseval frame wavelet case, the role of  $V_{\infty}$  is played by  $L^2(\mathbb{R})$ , and it is not immediately clear which of  $L^2(\mathbb{R})$ 's many properties are essential to prove the desired result. We found it useful to consult the proof for general reproducing function systems given in [**Lab02**] and [**HLW02**]. It turns out that the invariance to all translations plays a crucial role. We begin with the following auxiliary result which, at least partially, would be considered "folklore".

PROPOSITION 2.32. If  $V \leq L^2(\mathbb{R})$  is a shift-invariant space, then the following are equivalent.

(a) D(V) = V.

(b)  $T_{\alpha}(V) = V$  for every  $\alpha \in \mathbb{R}$  and D(V) = V;

(c)  $V = L^2(E)^{\vee}$ , where  $E \subset \mathbb{R}$  is measurable and E = 2E up to null sets.

PROOF. It is obvious that  $(c) \Rightarrow (b) \Rightarrow (a)$ . Let us prove that  $(a) \Rightarrow (c)$ . Given (a), recall that, for every  $j \in \mathbb{Z}$ , we have

$$(2.33) D_j T_k \psi = T_{k/2^j} D_j \psi.$$

Since V is a shift-invariant space, we have  $T_k(V) = V$  for every  $k \in \mathbb{Z}$ . Since D(V) = V, we obtain from (2.33) that, for every  $k \in \mathbb{Z}$  and every  $n \in \mathbb{N}$ ,

$$(2.34) T_{k/2^n}(V) = V$$

Since translational invariances form a closed subgroup of  $(\mathbb{R}, +)$ , we obtain that, for every  $\alpha \in \mathbb{R}$ ,

$$(2.35) T_{\alpha}(V) = V$$

By Theorem 2.9.12, we obtain  $V = L^2(E)^{\vee}$  for some measurable set E. Applying (a) again, we conclude that E = 2E almost everywhere.

THEOREM 2.36. Let  $\psi \in L^2(\mathbb{R})$  be a semi-orthogonal pre-wavelet such that  $\mathcal{B}_{\psi}$  is a Parseval frame for  $\langle \psi \rangle$ . If  $V_0(\psi)$  is a shift-invariant space, then  $\psi$  satisfies (1.12) and (2.30).

PROOF. By Lemma 2.25,  $V_0(\psi)$  being a shift-invariant space implies  $V_{\infty}(\psi)$  is a shift-invariant space. By the definition of  $V_{\infty}(\psi)$  we obtain that  $D(V_{\infty}(\psi)) = V_{\infty}(\psi)$ . By Proposition 2.32, there exists  $E \subseteq \mathbb{R}$  which is measurable, satisfies E = 2E almost everywhere, and

(2.37) 
$$V_{\infty}(\psi) = L^2(E)^{\vee}.$$

In particular, for every  $j, k \in \mathbb{Z}$ , ssupp  $(\widehat{\psi_{jk}}) \subseteq E$  almost everywhere. Hence, for almost every  $\xi \in E^c$ ,

$$\sum_{j\in\mathbb{Z}} |\widehat{\psi}(2^j\xi)|^2 = 0$$

Similarly, if at least one of the points  $\xi$  or  $\xi + q$  belongs to  $E^c$ , we have (1.12) for such a  $\xi$ . It follows that we need to prove that for almost every  $\xi \in E$ ,

$$\sum_{j\in\mathbb{Z}} |\widehat{\psi}(2^j\xi)|^2 = 1$$

and that for almost every  $\xi \in E$ , we have (1.12) whenever  $\xi + q \in E$ , too.

Observe that, since  $\sigma_{V_{\infty}(\psi)} = \chi_E$  for almost every  $\xi \in E$ , we have

$$1 \ge \sigma_{V_0(\psi)}(\xi) + \sum_{j=0}^{\infty} \sigma_{W_j(\psi)}(\xi).$$

Since E = 2E almost everywhere, we obtain that, for almost every  $\xi \in E$ ,

$$\sum_{j\in\mathbb{Z}} |\widehat{\psi}(2^j\xi)|^2 \le 1;$$

in particular,  $\xi \mapsto \sum_{j \in \mathbb{Z}} |\widehat{\psi}(2^j \xi)|^2$  is locally integrable. We can now repeat the standard proof from [**HW96**], Section 7.1, with all functions being adjusted on E versus  $\mathbb{R}$ , to conclude the proof of the theorem.

REMARK 2.38. It is worth mentioning that even a more general proof, the one given for the main result in [**HLW02**], applies and will lead to the proof of the theorem above. The significance of Proposition 2.32 may be even more transparent in that context since it allows for a function " $\omega(x) = N^2(T_x f)$ " (given in Proposition 2.4 in [**HLW02**]) to be defined for all  $x \in \mathbb{R}$ , i.e. for  $f \in V_{\infty}(\psi)$  we need that  $T_x f \in V_{\infty}(\psi)$  for every  $x \in \mathbb{R}$ .

It is now straightforward to prove the following results.

COROLLARY 2.39. If  $\psi \in L^2(\mathbb{R})$  is a semiorthogonal pre-wavelet such that  $V_0(\psi)$  is a shift-invariant space, then

 $\dim_{V_0(\psi)} < \infty$  almost everywhere.

For the following result, recall Section 2.7.

COROLLARY 2.40. If  $\{V_j\}$  is a pre-GMRA (in a general sense) such that (2.7.19) holds, then there exist two measurable sets  $E_{-\infty} \subseteq E_{\infty} \subseteq \mathbb{R}$  such that  $2E_{-\infty} = E_{-\infty}$  almost everywhere,  $2E_{\infty} = E_{\infty}$  almost everywhere, and

$$V_{-\infty} = L^2(E_{-\infty})^{\vee} \le L^2(E_{\infty})^{\vee} = V_{\infty}.$$

We conclude this section with a remark about coefficients. Consider a semiorthogonal pre-wavelet  $\psi \in L^2(\mathbb{R})$  such that  $V_0(\psi)$  is a shift-invariant space. Then, for some set  $E \subseteq \mathbb{R}$  with E = 2E almost everywhere, we have

(2.41) 
$$L^{2}(E)^{\vee} = \bigoplus_{j \in \mathbb{Z}} W_{j}(\psi).$$

Some level of the reproducing property is possible even if  $\mathcal{B}_{\psi}$  is not a Parseval frame for  $\langle \psi \rangle$ . Let us be more precise. Given a function  $f \in L^2(E)^{\vee}$ , consider, for every  $j \in \mathbb{Z}$ , a function  $f_j \in W_j(\psi)$  which is the orthogonal projection of f on  $W_j(\psi)$ . Recall that then the sum

$$\sum_{j\in\mathbb{Z}} \|f_j\|_2^2$$

converges and is equal to  $||f||_2^2$ . Hence, we have unconditional convergence in the following formula:

$$(2.42) f = \sum_{j \in \mathbb{Z}} f_j.$$

Using results from Section 1.6 we obtain that, for every  $j \in \mathbb{Z}$ ,

(2.43) 
$$p_{\psi} \bullet (D_{-j}f_j) = \sum_{k \in \mathbb{Z}} \langle D_{-j}f_j, T_k \psi \rangle T_k \psi;$$

notice that  $D_{-j}f_j \in \langle \psi \rangle$ . Using the notation  $\nu_j(\xi) := p_{\psi}(2^{-j}\xi), j \in \mathbb{Z}$ , we apply  $D_j$  on (2.43) and, since  $D_j$  is unitary, we obtain, for every  $j \in \mathbb{Z}$ ,

(2.44)  
$$(\nu_j \hat{f}_j)^{\vee} = \sum_{k \in \mathbb{Z}} \langle f_j, \psi_{jk} \rangle \psi_{jk}$$
$$= \sum_{k \in \mathbb{Z}} \langle f, \psi_{jk} \rangle \psi_{jk}$$

## 3. General Case

In this section, we consider  $\psi \in L^2(\mathbb{R})$  such that  $V_0(\psi)$  is a shift-invariant space; in other words,  $\psi \in \mathcal{V}_{SIS}$  (recall (1.13)). Using (1.16), (1.17), (1.21), and Proposition 2.32, we obtain directly a complete description for the class of functions which satisfy (1.16).

COROLLARY 3.1. If  $\psi \in \mathcal{V}_{SIS}$  and  $\psi \in V_0(\psi)$ , then there exists a measurable set  $E \subset \mathbb{R}$  such that E = 2E almost everywhere and, for every  $j \in \mathbb{Z}$ ,

$$L^2(E)^{\vee} = V_j(\psi) = V_{-\infty}(\psi) = V_{\infty}(\psi).$$

If, in addition, |E| > 0, then

$$\dim_{V_0(\psi)} \equiv \infty.$$

REMARK 3.2. In [**BR05**] the authors constructed examples of functions  $\varphi \in L^2(\mathbb{R})$  such that  $V_0(\varphi) = L^2(\mathbb{R})$ . Consider a measurable set  $E \subseteq \mathbb{R}$  with 2E = E almost everywhere. Define  $\psi \in L^2(\mathbb{R})$  such that  $\widehat{\psi} := \widehat{\varphi}\chi_E$ . Observe that we have  $\widehat{\psi_{jk}} = \widehat{\varphi_{jk}}\chi_E$ , since E = 2E almost everywhere. It follows then easily that  $V_0(\psi) = L^2(E)^{\vee}$  and  $\psi \in V_0(\psi)$ .

We turn our attention now to the more interesting case of  $\psi \in \mathcal{V}_{SIS}$  such that

$$(3.3) \qquad \qquad \psi \notin V_0(\psi).$$

Let us denote by  $\eta = \eta(\psi)$  the orthogonal projection of  $\psi$  on (the closed space)  $V_0(\psi)$  and denote by  $\varphi$ ,

(3.4) 
$$\varphi = \varphi(\psi) := \psi - \eta$$

Since  $V_0(\psi)$  is a shift-invariant space, it is easy to check (and it is well known) that, for every  $k \in \mathbb{Z}$ ,

(3.5)  $T_k \eta =$  the orthogonal projection of  $T_k \psi$  on  $V_0(\psi)$ .

Hence, we have the well-known result that

$$(3.6) D(V_0(\psi)) = V_0(\psi) \oplus \langle \varphi \rangle.$$

It follows that for every  $n \in \mathbb{N}$ ,

$$(3.7) D_{-n}(\langle \varphi \rangle) \le V_0(\psi) \perp \langle \varphi \rangle.$$

Hence  $\varphi$  is a semiorthogonal pre-wavelet and

$$(3.8) V_0(\varphi) \le V_0(\psi).$$

To understand better what can transpire, it is useful at this point to consider the following example.

EXAMPLE 3.9. Take a function  $\eta \in L^2(\mathbb{R})$  such that  $V_0(\eta) = L^2((-\infty, 0))^{\vee}$ (see Example 3.2). Take a function  $\varphi \in L^2(\mathbb{R})$  such that  $\widehat{\varphi} := \chi_{[1/2,1)}$ . Consider  $\psi := \eta + \varphi$  and notice that  $\eta \perp \varphi$ . Observe that, for every  $n \in \mathbb{N}, \eta \in V_{-\infty}(\eta) \leq V_{-n}(\eta)$  and  $\lim_{n\to\infty} 2^{-n/2}D_{-n}\varphi = 0$ . It is not difficult to see that

$$V_{-\infty}(\eta) = V_{\infty}(\eta) = L^2((-\infty, 0))^{\vee}$$

and

$$V_{-\infty}(\varphi) = \{0\} \le V_0(\varphi) = L^2([0, 1/2))^{\vee} \le V_{\infty}(\varphi) = L^2([0, \infty))^{\vee}.$$

It follows that, for every  $j \in \mathbb{Z}$ ,

$$V_j(\psi) = L^2((-\infty, 2^{j-1}))^{\vee}.$$

In particular,  $\varphi = \varphi(\psi)$  and  $\eta = \eta(\psi)$ .

It turns out that the key property is the shift-invariant property of  $V_0(\varphi)$ .

 $\diamond$ 

THEOREM 3.10. Let  $\psi \in \mathcal{V}_{SIS}$  and let  $\eta$  be the orthogonal projection of  $\psi$  on  $V_0(\psi)$ . Then  $V_{\infty}(\psi)$  is a shift-invariant space and

$$V_{\infty}(\psi) = V_0(\psi) \oplus \left(\bigoplus_{j \ge 0} W_j(\varphi)\right),$$

where  $\varphi := \psi - \eta$ . Furthermore,  $\langle \varphi \rangle = \{0\}$  if and only if  $\psi \in V_0(\psi)$ . Moreover, if  $V_0(\varphi)$  is a shift-invariant space, then  $\dim_{V_0(\varphi)} < \infty$  almost everywhere and  $U := V_0(\psi) \cap (V_0(\varphi)^{\perp})$  is a shift-invariant space such that D(U) = U and

$$V_{\infty}(\psi) = U \oplus \left(\bigoplus_{j \in \mathbb{Z}} W_j(\varphi)\right)$$

PROOF. The first statement follows from Lemma 2.25, (3.6), and (3.7). The second statement is obvious. Let us prove the third statement. If  $V_0(\varphi)$  is a shift-invariant space, then  $V_{\infty}(\varphi)$  is a shift-invariant space, too. Obviously then  $V_{\infty}(\varphi) = \bigoplus_{j \in \mathbb{Z}} W_j(\varphi)$  and there exists  $E \subseteq \mathbb{R}$ , measurable and with E = 2E almost everywhere, such that  $V_{\infty}(\varphi) = L^2(E)^{\vee}$  and, moreover,  $\dim_{V_0(\varphi)} < \infty$  almost everywhere (see Theorem 2.36 and Corollary 2.39). Since both  $V_0(\varphi)$  and  $V_0(\psi)$  are shift-invariant spaces and (3.8) holds, we obtain that U is shift invariant as well. Observe that

$$V_0(\varphi)^{\perp} = V_{\infty}(\varphi)^{\perp} \oplus \left(\bigoplus_{j \ge 0} W_j(\varphi)\right),$$
$$V_{\infty}(\varphi)^{\perp} = L^2(E^c)^{\vee},$$

and

$$\bigoplus_{j\geq 0} W_j(\varphi) \perp V_0(\psi).$$

It follows that

$$(3.11) U = V_0(\psi) \cap L^2(E^c)^{\vee}$$

Since D is a bijection and  $2E^c = E^c$  almost everywhere we obtain

$$D(U) = D(V_0(\psi)) \cap D(L^2(E^c)^{\vee})$$
$$= (V_0(\psi) \oplus \langle \varphi \rangle) \cap L^2(E^c)^{\vee}$$
$$= V_0(\psi) \cap L^2(E^c)^{\vee}$$
$$= U,$$

since  $\langle \varphi \rangle \subseteq L^2(E)^{\vee}$ . It follows that there exists a measurable set  $G \subseteq \mathbb{R}$  such that G = 2G almost everywhere and  $U = L^2(G)^{\vee}$ . Observe that  $G \subseteq E^c$  almost everywhere and that

(3.12) 
$$V_{\infty}(\psi) = L^2(G \cup E)^{\vee}$$

The last statement follows easily, and also we have that

(3.13) 
$$V_{\infty}(\psi) = L^2(\mathbb{R}) \Leftrightarrow G = E^c$$
 almost everywhere.

Recall now the open questions listed in Remark 1.24. As the following result shows, we have actually resolved (in a positive way) one of these questions.

COROLLARY 3.14. If  $\psi \in \mathcal{V}_{SIS}$ , then

$$\bigcap_{j\in\mathbb{Z}} D_j(V_0(\psi)) \neq \{0\} \Leftrightarrow \dim_{V_0(\psi)} \equiv \infty.$$

PROOF. As mentioned in Remark 1.24 the proof of " $\Rightarrow$ " is an important theorem by M. Bownik, [**Bow09**]. We need to prove " $\Leftarrow$ ", i.e.

(3.15) 
$$\bigcap_{j \in \mathbb{Z}} D_j(V_0(\psi)) = \{0\} \Rightarrow \dim_{V_0(\psi)} < \infty \text{ almost everywhere.}$$

Observe first that if the intersection is trivial, then either  $\psi = 0$  or  $\psi \notin V_0(\psi)$  (see Corollary 3.1).

Furthermore, we know that both  $V_0(\varphi)$  and  $V_{\infty}(\varphi)$  are closed subspaces (not necessarily shift-invariant spaces) and we can define  $U := V_0(\psi) \cap (V_0(\varphi)^{\perp})$ . Then U is a closed subspace of  $L^2(\mathbb{R})$  and arguing as in the proof of Theorem 3.10 shows that U satisfies (3.11) in the sense that

$$U = V_0(\psi) \cap V_\infty(\varphi)^{\perp}$$

and D(U) = U — observe that  $D(V_{\infty}(\varphi)) = V_{\infty}(\varphi)$  by its definition (irrespective of  $V_{\infty}(\varphi)$  being a shift-invariant space). Since  $U \leq V_0(\psi)$  and D(U) = U, we obtain

(3.16) 
$$U \leq \bigcap_{j \in \mathbb{Z}} D_j(V_0(\psi)) = \{0\}$$

i.e. U is trivial. It follows that  $V_0(\psi) = V_0(\varphi)$ . In particular,  $V_0(\varphi)$  is a shiftinvariant space and the corresponding U is trivial. By Theorem 3.10, we obtain that  $\dim_{V_0(\psi)} < \infty$  almost everywhere.

Notice that we have also proved the following result.

COROLLARY 3.17. Let  $\psi \in \mathcal{V}_{SIS}$ , let  $\eta$  be the orthogonal projection of  $\psi$  on  $V_0(\psi)$ , and let  $\varphi := \psi - \eta$ . Then

$$\bigcap_{j\in\mathbb{Z}} D_j(V_0(\psi)) = \{0\} \Leftrightarrow V_0(\psi) = V_0(\varphi).$$

# Bibliography

- [ACH<sup>+</sup>10] Akram Aldroubi, Carlos Cabrelli, Christopher Heil, Keri Kornelson, and Ursula Molter, *Invariance of a shift-invariant space*, J. Fourier Anal. Appl. **16** (2010), no. 1, 60–75. MR 2587581 (2011a:42052)
- [ACP10] Magalí Anastasio, Carlos Cabrelli, and Victoria Paternostro, Extra invariance of shift-invariant spaces on LCA groups, J. Math. Anal. Appl. 370 (2010), no. 2, 530– 537. MR 2651674 (2011h:43005)
- [ACP11] \_\_\_\_\_, Invariance of a shift-invariant space in several variables, Complex Anal. Oper. Theory 5 (2011), no. 4, 1031–1050. MR 2861548 (2012k:47017)
- [Aus95] Pascal Auscher, Solution of two problems on wavelets, J. Geom. Anal. 5 (1995), 181–236.
- [BHP15] Davide Barbieri, Eugenio Hernández, and Victoria Paternostro, The zak transform and the structure of spaces invariant by the action of an LCA group, Journal of Functional Analysis 269 (2015), no. 5, 1327 – 1358.
- [BL98] John J. Benedetto and Shidong Li, The theory of multiresolution analysis frames and applications to filter banks, Appl. Comput. Harmon. Anal. 5 (1998), no. 4, 389–427. MR 1646534 (99k:42054)
- [BM99] Lawrence W. Baggett and Kathy D. Merrill, Abstract harmonic analysis and wavelets in R<sup>n</sup>, The functional and harmonic analysis of wavelets and frames (San Antonio, TX, 1999), Contemp. Math., vol. 247, Amer. Math. Soc., Providence, RI, 1999, pp. 17–27. MR 1735967 (2001b:42043)
- [BMM99] Lawrence W. Baggett, Herbert A. Medina, and Kathy D. Merrill, Generalized multiresolution analyses and a construction procedure for all wavelet sets in R<sup>n</sup>, J. Fourier Anal. Appl. 5 (1999), no. 6, 563–573. MR 1752590 (2001f:42055)
- [Bow00] Marcin Bownik, The structure of shift-invariant subspaces of  $L^2(\mathbf{R}^n)$ , J. Funct. Anal. **177** (2000), no. 2, 282–309. MR 1795633 (2001k:42037)
- [Bow08] M Bownik, Baggetts problem for frame wavelets, representations, wavelets, and frames, Appl. Numer. Harmon. Anal., Birkhäuser Boston, Boston, MA (2008), 153– 173.
- [Bow09] Marcin Bownik, Intersections of Dilates of Shift-Invariant Spaces, Proc. Amer. Math. Soc. 137 (2009), no. 2, 563–572.
- [BR03] Marcin Bownik and Ziemowit Rzeszotnik, *The spectral function of shift-invariant spaces*, Michigan Math. J. **51** (2003), no. 2, 387–414.
- [BR05] \_\_\_\_\_, On the existence of multiresolution analysis of framelets, Math. Ann. **332** (2005), no. 4, 705–720. MR 2179772 (2006e:42051)
- [BRS01] Marcin Bownik, Ziemowit Rzeszotnik, and Darrin Speegle, A characterization of dimension functions of wavelets, Appl. Comput. Harmon. Anal. 10 (2001), no. 1, 71–92. MR 1808201 (2001m:42058)
- [BW03] Marcin Bownik and Eric Weber, Affine frames, gmra's, and the canonical dual, Studia Mathematica 159 (2003), 453–479.
- [Chu92] Charles K. Chui, An introduction to wavelets, Wavelet Analysis and its Applications, vol. 1/2, Academic Press, Inc., Boston, MA, 1992.
- [Coh90] Albert Cohen, Ondelettes, analyses multirésolutions, et filters miroir en quadrature, Ann. Inst. H. Poincaré Anal. Nonlineéaire 7 (1990), 439–459.
- [Coh92] \_\_\_\_\_, Ondelettes et traitment numerique du signal, Research Notes in Mathematics, Masson, Paris, 1992.
- [Con98] The WUTAM Consortium, Basic properties of wavelets, J. Fourier Anal. Appl. 4 (1998), no. 4-5, 575–594. MR 1658652 (99i:42056)

#### BIBLIOGRAPHY

- [CS94] Charles K Chui and Xian Liang Shi,  $n \times$  oversampling preserves any tight affine frame for odd n, Proceedings of the American Mathematical Society 121 (1994), no. 2, 511-517. [CSS98] Charles K. Chui, Xianliang Shi, and Joachim Stöckler, Affine frames, quasi-affine frames, and their duals, Adv. Comput. Math. 8 (1998), no. 1-2, 1-17. MR 1607452 (99b:42037) [Dau92] Ingrid Daubechies, Ten lectures on wavelets, CBMS-NSF Regional Conference Series in Applied Mathematics, vol. 61, Society for Industrial and Applied Mathematics (SIAM), Philadelphia, PA, 1992. MR 1162107 (93e:42045) [dBDR94] Carl de Boor, Ronald A. DeVore, and Amos Ron, The structure of finitely generated shift-invariant spaces in  $L_2(\mathbf{R}^d)$ , J. Funct. Anal. **119** (1994), no. 1, 37–78. MR 1255273 (95g:46050) [DGH00] V. Dobrić, R.F. Gundy, and P. Hitczenko, Characterizations of orthonormal scale functions: A probabilistic approach, J. Geom. Anal. 10 (2000), 413-430. [DH02] Ingrid Daubechies and Bin Han, The canonical dual frame of a wavelet frame, Applied and Computational Harmonic Analysis 12 (2002), no. 3, 269-285. [Gra04] Loukas Grafakos, Classical and modern fourier analysis, Pearson/Prentice-Hall, 2004.[Gun00] Richard F. Gundy, Low-pass filters, martingales, and multiresolution analyses, Appl. Comput. Harmon. Anal. 9 (2000), no. 2, 204-219. [Hel64] Henry Helson, Lectures on invariant subspaces, Academic Press, New York-London, 1964. MR 0171178 (30 #1409) [HK65] Isidore I. Hirschman and Yitzakh Katznelson, Sets of Uniqueness and Multiplicity for  $\ell^{p,\alpha}$ , Israel J. Math **3** (1965), 221–231. [HLW02] Eugenio Hernández, Demetrio Labate, and Guido Weiss, A unified characterization of reproducing systems generated by a finite family, ii, The Journal of Geometric Analysis 12 (2002), no. 4, 615. [HŠWW10a] Eugenio Hernández, Hrvoje Šikić, Guido Weiss, and Edward Wilson, Cyclic subspaces for unitary representations of LCA groups; generalized Zak transform, Collog. Math. 118 (2010), no. 1, 313-332. MR 2600532 (2011e:43009) [HŠWW10b] \_, On the properties of the integer translates of a square integrable function, Harmonic analysis and partial differential equations, Contemp. Math., vol. 505, Amer. Math. Soc., Providence, RI, 2010, pp. 233–249. MR 2664571 (2011g:42077) [HW96] Eugenio Hernández and Guido Weiss, A first course on wavelets, Studies in Advanced Mathematics, CRC Press, Boca Raton, FL, 1996, With a foreword by Yves Meyer. MR 1408902 (97i:42015) [Ive15] Joseph W. Iverson, Subspaces of invariant under translation by an abelian subgroup, Journal of Functional Analysis **269** (2015), no. 3, 865 – 913. [Kat04] Yitzakh Katznelson, An Introduction to Harmonic Analysis, 3rd ed., Cambridge University Press, 2004. [KKL01] Hong Oh Kim, Rae Young Kim, and Jae Kun Lim, Characterizations of biorthogonal wavelets which are associated with biorthogonal multiresolution analyses, Applied and Computational Harmonic Analysis 11 (2001), no. 2, 263–272. [Lab02] Demetric Labate, A unified characterization of reproducing systems generated by a finite family, The Journal of Geometric Analysis 12 (2002), no. 3, 469-491. [Lem90] Pierre Gilles Lemarié, Analyse multi-échelles et ondelettes à support compact, Les ondelettes en 1989 (Orsay, 1989), Lecture Notes in Math., vol. 1438, Springer, Berlin, 1990, pp. 26-38, 198-199. MR 1083581 Pierre-Gilles Lemarié-Rieusset, Existence de "fonction-père" pour les ondelettes à [LR92] support compact, C. R. Acad. Sci. Paris Sér. I Math. 314 (1992), no. 1, 17-19. MR 1149631 (93c:42033) [LWW15] Peter M. Luthy, Guido L. Weiss, and Edward N. Wilson, Projections and dyadic Parseval frame MRA wavelets, Appl. Comput. Harmon. Anal. 39 (2015), no. 3, 511 - 533.[MC97] Yves Meyer and Ronald Coifman, Wavelets: Calderón-zygmund and multilinear operators, vol. 48, Cambridge University Press, 1997.
- [Mey90] Yves Meyer, Ondelettes et opérateurs. i: Ondelettes, Hermann, Paris, 1990.

#### BIBLIOGRAPHY

[MŠWW13] Kabe Moen, Hrvoje Šikić, Guido Weiss, and Edward Wilson, A panorama of sampling theory, Excursions in harmonic analysis. Volume 1, Appl. Numer. Harmon. Anal., Birkhäuser/Springer, New York, 2013, pp. 107-127. MR 3050336 [NŠ07] Morten Nielsen and Hrvoje Šikić, Schauder bases of integer translates, Appl. Comput. Harmon. Anal. 23 (2007), no. 2, 259-262. [Pal10] Maciej Paluszyński, A note on integer translates of a square integrable function on R, Colloq. Math. 118 (2010), no. 2, 593–597. [Pap00] Manos Papadakis, Generalized frame multiresolution analysis of abstract Hilbert spaces and its applications, SPIE Proc. 4119 Wavelet Applications in Signal Analysis and Image Processing VIII, 2000, pp. 165-175. [PŠW99] Manos Papadakis, Hrvoje Šikić, and Guido Weiss, The characterization of low pass filters and some basic properties of wavelets, scaling functions and related concepts, J. Fourier Anal. Appl. 5 (1999), no. 5, 495-521. MR 1755101 (2001d:42026) [PŠWX01] Maciej Paluszyński, Hrvoje Šikić, Guido Weiss, and Shaoliang Xiao, Generalized low pass filters and MRA frame wavelets, J. Geom. Anal. 11 (2001), no. 2, 311–342. MR 1856182 (2002g:42054) , Tight frame wavelets, their dimension functions, MRA tight frame wavelets [PŠWX03] and connectivity properties, Adv. Comput. Math. 18 (2003), no. 2-4, 297-327. MR 1968123 (2004b:42087) [RS95] Amos Ron and Zuowei Shen, Frames and stable bases for shift-invariant subspaces of  $L_2(\mathbf{R}^d)$ , Canad. J. Math. 47 (1995), no. 5, 1051–1094. MR 1350650 (96k:42049) [RS97] , Affine systems in  $L_2(\mathbf{R}^d)$ : the analysis of the analysis operator, J. Funct. Anal. 148 (1997), no. 2, 408-447. MR 1469348 (99g:42043) [Rze00] Ziemowit Rzeszotnik, Characterization theorems in the theory of wavelets, Ph.D. thesis, Washington University in St. Louis, 2000. [Sal13] Sandra Saliani,  $\ell^2$ -linear independence for the system of integer translates of a square integrable function, Proc. Amer. Math. Soc. 141 (2013), no. 3, 937-941. [Sin70]Ivan Singer, Bases in Banach Spaces I, Grundlehren Math. Wissenschaften, no. 154, Springer-Verlag, Berlin -Heidelberg -New York, 1970. Ivana Slamić,  $\ell^p$ -linear independence of the system of integer translates, J. Fourier [Sla14] Anal. Appl. 20 (2014), no. 4, 766-783. [ŠS07] Hrvoje. Šikić and Darrin Speegle, Dyadic PFW's and Wo-bases, Functional analysis IX, Various Publ. Ser. (Aarhus), vol. 48, Univ. Aarhus, Aarhus, 2007, pp. 85–90. MR 2349443 (2008i:42073) [ŠS12] Hrvoje Šikić and Ivana Slamić, Linear independence and sets of uniqueness, Glasnik Matematicki 47 (2012), no. 2, 415-420. [ŠSW08] Hrvoje Šikić, Darrin Speegle, and Guido Weiss, Structure of the set of dyadic PFW's, Frames and operator theory in analysis and signal processing, Contemp. Math., vol. 451, Amer. Math. Soc., Providence, RI, 2008, pp. 263–291. MR 2422251 (2009f:42035) [Ste93] Elias M. Stein, Harmonic Analysis: Real-variable Methods, Orthogonality, and Oscillatory Integrals, Princeton University Press, 1993. [ŠW11] Hrvoje Šikić and Edward N. Wilson, Lattice invariant subspaces and sampling, Appl. Comput. Harmon. Anal. 31 (2011), no. 1, 26–43. MR 2795873 (2012i:42042) [TL77] Lior Tzafriri and Joram Lindenstrauss, Classical banach spaces i: Sequence spaces, Ergebnisse der Mathematik und ihrer Grenzgebiete, no. 92, Springer-Verlag, Berlin -Heidelberg -New York, 1977. [Wal00] Peter Walters, An Introduction to Ergodic Theory, Springer Science & Business Media, 2000. [Wic94] Mladen Victor Wickerhauser, Adapted wavelet analysis from theory to software, A K Peters, Ltd., Wellesley, MA, 1994, With a separately available computer disk (IBM-PC or Macintosh). [WW01] Guido Weiss and Edward N. Wilson, The mathematical theory of wavelets, Twentieth century harmonic analysis—a celebration (Il Ciocco, 2000), NATO Sci. Ser. II Math. Phys. Chem., vol. 33, Kluwer Acad. Publ., Dordrecht, 2001, pp. 329–366. MR 1858791 (2002h:42078) [You01] Robert M. Young, An introduction to non-harmonic fourier series, Academic Press, 2001.

## BIBLIOGRAPHY

[Zal99] RA Zalik, Riesz bases and multiresolution analyses, Applied and Computational Harmonic Analysis 7 (1999), no. 3, 315–331.